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. PART I

Item 1. Business '
Overview

Biogen Idec .creates new standards of care in oncology and immunology. As a global leader in the
development manufacturing, and commercialization of novel therapies, we transform scientific discoveries
into advances n hurnan healthcare We currently have five products:

AVONEX® (mterferon beta-1a). ' AVONEX is approved for the treatment of relapsing forms of
multiple-sclerosis, or MS, and is the most prescribed therapeutic product in MS worldwide. Globally over
130,000 pat1ents have chosen AVONEX as their treatment of choice. In 2004, sales of AVONEX generated
worldwide revenués of $1.42 billion as compared to worldwide sales of $1. 17 billion in 2003.

RITUXAN® ( rztuxzmab} RITUXAN is approved worldwide for the treatment of certain B-cell non-
Hodgkin’s lymphomas or B-cell NHLs. We market RITUXAN in the U.S. in collaboration with Genentech,
Inc., or Genentech. All U.S. sales of RITUXAN are recognized by Genentech and we record our share of the
pretax copromotlon proﬁts on a quarterly basis. In 2004, RITUXAN generated U.S. net sales of $1.57 billion
of which we recorded $469.5 million as our share of copromotion profits ‘as compared to U.S. net sales of
$1.36 billion in 2003 of which we recorded $419.2 million as our share of copromotion profits. F. Hoffmann-
La Roche Ltd., or Roche sells rituximab outside the U.S.; except in Japan where it co-markets RITUXAN in
collaboratron with Zenyalcu Kogyo Co. Ltd., or Zenyaku. We received royaltles through Genentech on sales of
rituximab outside of the U.S. of $121.0 million in 2004 as compared to $67.9 million in 2003. We are working
with Genentech and Roche on the development of RITUXAN in additional oncology indications and
rheumatoid arthritis, or RA. RITUXAN is the trade name for the compound rituximab in the U.S., Canada
and Japan. MabThera'is the tradename for rituximab in the EU. In this Form 10-K, we refer to rituximab,
RITUXAN, and MabThera collectively as RITUXAN, except where we have otherwise indicated.

TYSABRI® ( natalzzumab ), formerly known as ANT. EGREN® TYSABRI was approved by the United
States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA), in November 2004 to treat relapsing forms of MS to reduce
the frequency of clinical relapses. In February 2005, in consultation with the FDA, we and Elan Corporation,
plc, or Elan, voluntanly suspended the marketmg and commercial distribution of TYSABRI, and informed
physrclans that they should suspend dosing of TYSABRI until further notification. In addition, we suspended
dosing in clinical studies of TYSABRI in MS, Crohn’s disease and RA. These decisions were based on reports
of two serious adverse events that occurred in patients treated with TYSABRI in combination with AVONEX
in. MS clinical studies. These events involved: two cases, of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, or
PML, a rare‘and frequently fatal, demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. Both patients received
more than two years of TYSABRI in combination with AVONEX. In light of the two reports of PML, the
compaties initiated a systematic review of the TYSABRI safety database. On March 30, 2005, we and Elan
announced that the review of the safety database led a serious adverse event previously reported by a clinical
investigator in a clinical study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s disease to be reassessed as PML. The case was
originally reported by the investigator as malignant astrocytoma in July 2003 The patient died in December
2003. The patient had received 8 doses.of TYSABRI over an 18 month period and prior medication history
included multiple courses of immunosuppressant .agents. We and Elan are working with clinical investigators
to evaluate patients 'treated with TYSABRI in clinical studies and are consulting with leading experts to better
understand the possible risk of PML. The outcome of these evaluations will be used to determine possible re-
initiation of dosing in clinical studies and future commercial availability.

ZE VALIN®‘( ibritumomab tiuxetan). ZEVALIN was the first radioimmunotherapy approved by the
FDA for thetreatment of cancer. ZEVALIN, as part of the ZEVALIN therapeutic regimen, is approved in
the U:S. as a treatment for relapsed or refractory low-grade, follicular, or transformed B-cell NHL including
patients with RITUXAN refractory follicular non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. In 2004, sales of ZEVALIN in the
U.S. generated revenues of $18.7 million as compared to revenues of $19.6 million in 2003. Outside the U.S.,
we have licensed our marketing rights in ZEVALIN to Schering AG. In January 2004, the European
Medicines Agehcy, or EMEA, granted marketing approval of ZEVALIN in the EU for the treatment of adult




patients with CD20+ follicular B-cell NHL who are refractory to or have relapsed following RITUXAN
therapy. Rest of world product sales for ZEVALIN for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $4.3 million.
The $4.3 million relates to ZEVALIN sold to Schering AG in 2003 and 2004, recognition of which had been
deferred.

AMEVIVE® (alefacept). AMEVIVE is approved in the U.S. for the treatment of adult patients with
moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis who are candidates for systemic therapy or phototherapy. In 2004,
AMEVIVE was approved for the same indication in Argentina, Australia, Canada, Israel, Kuwait and
Switzerland. In 2004, sales of AMEVIVE generated worldwide revenues of $43.0 million, substantially all of
which were generated from sales in the U.S., as compared to sales of $40.4 million in 2003.

We also receive royalty revenues on sales by our licensees of a number of products covered under patents
that we control. In addition, we have a pipeline of research and development products in our core therapeutic
areas and in other areas of interest.

We devote significant resources to research and development programs. Qur research and development
efforts are primarily focused on finding therapeutics in our focus areas of oncology, neurobiology and
immunology. These efforts include our collaboration with Elan on the development of TYSABRI as a
potential treatment for Crohn’s disease and RA, our work with Genentech and Roche on the development of
RITUXAN in additional oncology indications and RA, and our collaboration with Fumapharm AG, or
Fumapharm, on development of an oral therapy as a potential treatment for psoriasis and MS. We supplement
our internal research efforts to find novel therapeutics in these areas and in other areas of interest with
genomics tools and other innovative technologies. We also seek to advance our research and development
efforts through collaborations. '

Merger. On November 12, 2003, Bndges Merger Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of IDEC
Pharmaceuticals Corporation, was merged with and into Biogen, Inc. with Biogen, Inc. continuing as the
surviving corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation. At the same
time, IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation changed its name to Biogen Idec Inc. The merger and name change
were made under an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 20, 2003. As a result of the merger, each
issued and outstanding share of Biogen, Inc. common stock was converted into the right to receive 1.15 shares
of Biogen Idec common stock. Our stock trades on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “BIIB.”
The results of Biogen, Inc.’s operations from November 13, 2003, the day after the effective date of the
merger, to December 31, 2003 have been included in the 2003 consolidated financial statements filed in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information. We are a Delaware corporation with principal executive offices located "at 14
Cambridge Center, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02142. Our telephone number is (617) 679-2000 and our
website address is www.biogenidec.com. We make available free of charge through the Investor Relations
section of our website our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports
on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is
electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. We include our
website address in this Annual Report on Form 10-K only as an inactive textual reference and do not intend it
to be an active link to our website.




Our Prbductg —_ Aubroyed‘ Indications and Ongoing Development

Our products are targeted to address a vanety of key medlcal needs 1n the areas of oncology, neurology,
derrnatology and rheumatology They are as follows ’

T , Development and/or
Product . ‘Product'lndications StatuS‘ . Marketing Collaborators
MVONEX (Certain forms of MS Approved worldwide Nore
" Chronic Inflammatory Phase 2b'— enrollment " None -
‘Demyelinating S .
| Polyradloneuropathy
RITUXAN ;B-ccll NHLs Approved worldwide " US. — Genentech
‘ B {’ e QOutside U.S. and Japan —
i Roche
¥ ‘ Japan — Roche and Zenyaku
Relapsed chromc Phaseé 3 . © U.S. — Genentech -~
1lymphocytlc leukemra " *+ Outside U.S. and Japan —
; A + ‘Roche
Japan — Roche and Zenyaku
Phase 3 TNF farlurcs U.S. — Genentech
Phase Zb DI\}[ RD faxluresr' © Outside U.S. and Japan —
> i R o, Roche
o 3 1+ Japan — Roche and Zenyaku
Phase-2 o U.S. — Genentech
B = - ;i Outside U.S. and Japan —
| . Roche
o ‘ o - Japan — Roche and Zenyaku
ZEVALIN Cemam'a" il NHLs ~ Approved — U'S: and EU ' ” Outside U.S. — Schering AG
‘ - (radrmmmunotherapy) : 1 et
MEVIVE . rModeratefto-sevcre chronic Approved — U.S., Argentina,”© . None
' plaque psoriasis Australia, Canada, Israel, Kuwait -
ot and Switzerland AP
. Under regulatory review — .,
New Zealand )
‘ Application w1thdrawn —EU
: e N;‘:l‘ T o ar. ;
TYSABRI ., MS: .-, Approved —u " Elan
S commercial distrik
R dosing in clinigal 'tudaes
: sugpended in Eebruary 2005
Under regulatéry eview —EU .
. Crohn’s disease Phase 3 — two Phase 3'trials Elan
‘ completed; dosing in all clinical
studies, including additional
‘ Phase 3 induction trial,
suspended in February 2005
r Under regulatory review — EU |
" ‘,‘ Phase 2% dosm Elan

studles stispen g
2005




AVONEX

We currently market and sell AVONEX worldwide for the treatment of relapsing MS. In 2004, sales of
AVONEX generated worldwide revenues of $1.42 billion as compared to worldwide sales of $1.17 billion in
2003. AVONEX was sold by Biogen, Inc. until November 12, 2003. Our consohdated‘ financial statements
include only the results of operations of Biogen, Inc. since November 13, 2003. Our revenues from AVONEX
during the pericd from November 13, 2003 to December 31, 2003 were $142.6 million. :

MS is a progressive neurological disease in which the body loses the ability to transmit messages along
nerve cells, leading to a loss of muscle control, paralysis and, in some cases, death. Patients with active
relapsing MS experience an uneven pattern of disease progression characterized by periods of stability
interrupted by flare-ups of the disease after which the patient returns to a.new baseline of functioning.
AVONEX is a recombinant form of a protein produced in the body by fibroblast cells in response to viral
infection. AVONEX has been shown in clinical trials in relapsing forms of MS both to slow the accumulation
of disability and to reduce the frequency of flare-ups. AVONEX is approved to treat relapsing forms of MS,
including MS patients with a first clinical episode and MRI features consistent with MS. Biogen, Inc. began
selling AVONEX in the U.S. in 1996, and in the EU in 1997. AVONEX is on the market in more than 60
countries. Based on data from an independent third party research organization, information for our
distributors and internal analysis, we believe that AVONEX is the most prescribed therapeutic product for the
treatment of MS worldwide. Globally, over 130,000 patients have selected AVONEX as their treatment of
choice.

As part of our commitment to AVONEX, we work to make treatment and delivery more convenient. For
example, AVONEX is now available in a pre-filled syringe formulation as well as a dry powder form. A
syringe grip device to aid patients with compromised manual dexterity in injecting AVONEX was approved by
the FDA in 2004.

We also continue to work to expand the data available about AVONEX., We have extended the
Controlled High Risk AVONEX Multiple Sclerosis Prevention Study In Ongoing Neurological Surveillance,
or CHAMPIONS. CHAMPIONS was originally designed to determine whether the effect of early treatment
with AVONEX in delaying relapses and reducing the accumulation of MS brain lesions could be sustained for
up to five years. The study results showed that AVONEX altered the long-term course of MS in patients who
began treatment immediately after their initial MS attack compared to initiation of treatment more than two
years after onset of symptoms. The five-year study extension is intended to determine if the effects of early
treatment with AVONEX can be sustained for up to 10 years. We are conducting a study with Surromed, Inc.
to investigate the biologic markers and phenotype of MS patients with and without AVONEX treatment. We
also continue to support Phase 4 investigator-run studies evaluating AVONEX in combination with other
therapies. In addition, we recently initiated enrollment into a Phase 2b study of AVONEX as a treatment for
Chronic Inflammatory Demyelinating Polyradioneuropathy.

In February 2005, in consultation with the FDA, we and Elan voluntarily su'spended the marketing and
commercial distribution of our other MS drug TYSABRI and suspended dosing in all clinical studies of
TYSABRI, including clinical studies of TYSABRI in combination with AVONEX. These decisions were
based on reports of two serious adverse events that have occurred in patients treated with TYSABRI in
combination with AVONEX. These events involved two cases of PML, a rare and frequently fatal,
demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. Both patients received more than two years of TYSABRI
in combination with AVONEX. For additional information related to TYSABRI and PML, see “Qur
Products - Approved Indications and Ongoing Development — TYSABRI.”

RITUXAN

Overview. RITUXAN is approved worldwide for the treatment of certain B-cell NHLs. We market
RITUXAN in the U.S. in collaboration with Genentech. All U.S. sales of RITUXAN are recognized by
Genentech and we record our share of the pretax copromotion profits on a quarterly basis. In 2004,
RITUXAN generated U.S. net sales of $1.57 billion of which we recorded $469.5 million as our share of
copromotion profits as compared to U.S. net sales of $1.36 billion in 2003 of which we recorded $419.2 million
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as our ‘'share 'of eopromotion profits. Roche sells RITUXAN outside. the U.S., except in Japan where it co-
markets: RITUXAN in collaboration with Zenyaku. We received royalties through Genentech on sales of
RITUXANt out51de of.the U.S. of $121.0 million in 2004 as compared, to $67.9 million in 2003.

In the U S., we copromote RITUXAN with Genentech and share responsibility with Genentech for
contmued development Such continued development includes conductlng supportive research and post-
approval clinical studles and seeking potential approval for additional indications. Genentech provides the
support functions for the commercialization of RITUXAN in the U.S. and has worldwide manufacturing
responsibilities. See ““Sales, Marketing and Distribution — RITUXAN and ZEVALIN” and “Manufacturing
and Raw Matenals We also have the right. to. collaborate with Genentech on the development of other
‘humanized ‘anitl -CD20 antibodies targeting B-cell disorders for a broad range of indications, and to copromote
with Genentech any new products resulting from such development in the U.S.

RITUXAN 1s approved in the U.S. for single agent;use in relapsed or refractory, low grade or follicular
CD20—posmve B-cell NHL which comprise approx1mately half of the B-cell NHLs dxagnosed in the
U.Ss. RITUXAN is administered as outpatient therapy by personnel trained in administering chemotherapies
or biologicsi:A standard course of RITUXAN therapy consists of four intravenous infusions given on days one,
eight, 15 andl 22, unlike chemotherapy which is given typically in repeating cycles for up to four to eight
months; RITUXAN is also approved to be administered as an 8-dose regimen, for retreatment of patients with
B-cell 'NHL who have previously responded to RITUXAN and, for use. in patients who have bulky tumors.
RITUXAN is unique in the treatment of B-cell NHLs due.to its specificity for the antigen CD20, which is
expressed only on the surface of normal B cells and malignant B cells. Stem cells (including B-cell progenitors
or precursor, B-cells) in bone marrow lack the CD20 antigen. This allows healthy B-cells to regenerate after
treatment with RITUXAN and to return to normal levels within several months. RITUXAN’s mechanism of
action utlhzes the body $ own immune system as compared to conventional lymphoma theraples

RITUXAN in. Oncology ‘In an eﬁoﬂ to 1dent1fy expanded applications for R][TUXAN we, in
conjunction with Genentech and Roche, continue to support RITUXAN post-marketing studies. Ongoing and
completed ‘Phase 2 ‘and 3 studies suggest that RITUXAN may have promise as a front-line therapy in
combination w1th various chemotherapies in indolent -and aggréessive-non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, as a single
‘agent in thertreatment of dggressive B-cell NHLs and relapsed. chronic lymphocytic leukemia, or CLL, and as
mamtenance therapy in indolent B-cell NHLs. These studies include:

e A randomlzed Phase 3 study of the addition of RITUXAN to a chemotherapy regimen of
cyclophosphamlde vincristine and prednisone, also kiown as CVP, in previously untreated, or front
line patients with indolent non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. In this investigator-run study, 321 patients who
had not received previous treatment for CD20 positive follicular or indolent non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma
“were randomized-to receive either CVP alone or CVP with RITUXAN, The initial results of the study

tlndlcated that the addition .of RITUXAN to CVP prolonged time to treatment failure, the primary

endpomt of. the study, to 26 months compared to seven months for patients treated with CVP alone.
Based\on the tesults from this study, in August 2004, MabThera was approved by the EMEA as a first
line treatment for indolent non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma in combination with CVP.

e ‘Azrandoml‘zed:Phase 3 study, known as E4494, of patients age’ 60 or older with newly diagnosed,
diffuse, large' B-cell, or aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, comparing a chemotherapy regimen
‘.‘con‘siSting ‘of cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine and prednisone, also known as CHOP, alone

to a-regimen of RITUXAN plus CHOP, also known.as-R-CHOP; as a front-line or induction therapy
‘followed by: ‘RITUXAN maintenance therapy;or observation for those patients who responded
posmvely to'either R-CHOP or CHOP alone. The study:is a U.S: Intergroup study led by the Eastern
Cooperatlve Oncology Group, or ECOG. The primary endpoint of the induction and maintenance
il phases of tlie study was time toitreatment failure..Due to the observed interaction between RITUXAN
" | maintenarce and induction therapy, additional analyses were performed to compare induction therapy
o withi R CHOP versus CHOP alone, removing the effects of subsequent RITUXAN maintenance
o therapy Based on these additional analyses, the investigators concluded that patients who received
x"ReCHOP'{"induction therapy experienced prolonged.time to treatment failure and overall survival
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compared to patients who received induction therapy with CHOP alone. In the maintenance phase of
the study, patients treated with RITUXAN maintenance therapy for up to an additional two years after
completing induction therapy had a statistically significant delay in time to treatment failure compared
to patients who did not receive RITUXAN maintenance therapy following induction. At the time of
the interim analysis, this advantage appears predominantly confined to patients who received CHOP
alone during the induction phase.

« A multi-center, randomized Phase 2 study of 114 patients with relapsed indolent non-Hodgkin’s
lymphoma designed to compare the efficacy of RITUXAN maintenance therapy to retreatment with
RITUXAN. Maintenance therapy was defined as treatment with RITUXAN every six months for two
years with the objective of keeping lymphoma from returning or progressing. Retreatment was defined
as waiting until the disease progressed prior to administering another course of RITUXAN. The initial
results of this investigator-run study showed that patients who received RITUXAN maintenance
therapy experienced 31 months of progression-free survival as compared to eight months of progres-
sion-free survival for those patients who received retreatment.

+ A large Phase 3 randomized study of 824 patients, known as MinT, designed to evaluate RITUXAN in
combination with chemotherapy as a front-line treatment for aggressive large, B-cell NHL in patients
age 18 to 60. This study, which was conducted by an international cooperative group and sponsored by
Roche, met its pre-specified primary efficacy endpoint early. Positive results from the study were
announced in June 2004. The study authors concluded that data from the study demonstrated a
significant improvement in time to treatment failure, the primary endpoint of the study. At two years,
81% of patients who received RITUXAN and chemotherapy did not experience treatment failure
compared to 58% of patients who received chemotherapy alone.

+ A Phase 3 study, known as E1496, designed to compare RITUXAN maintenance therapy versus
observation in patients with previously untreated indolent non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma who achieved
stable disease or better after induction therapy with CVP. The study, which was led by ECOG, met its
pre-specified primary efficacy endpoint early. Positive results from the study were announced in June
2004, The study authors concluded that there was a significant improvement in progression free
survival, the primary endpoint of the study. The authors estimated that 73% of patients who received
RITUXAN maintenance therapy were free of disease progression and alive at two years compared to
43% of patients who received no further treatment. In this trial, maintenance therapy began four weeks
after the last cycle of chemotherapy and was defined as four doses of RITUXAN every six months for
two years.

We, along with Genentech and Roche, are also conducting a multi-center global Phase 3 registrational
study in patients with relapsed CLL comparing the use of fludarabine, cyclophosphamide and RITUXAN
together, known as FCR, versus fludarabine and cyclophosphamide alone. This study is open at multiple sites
worldwide. Additional clinical studies are ongoing in other B-cell malignancies such as lymphoproliferative
disorders associated with solid organ transplant therapies, relapsed aggressive non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma and
mantle cell non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. ‘

RITUXAN in RA. The positive results from a Phase 2a study of 161 patients with moderate-to-severe,
active, long-standing RA who had previously failed one to five disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs
(DMARDs) were announced in October 2003 and published in the New England Journal of Medicine in
June 2004. The study was a four arm, placebo controlled trial in which patients were randomized to receive
RITUXAN alone, RITUXAN in combination with cyclophosphamide, RITUXAN in combination with
methotrexate, or methotrexate alone. All patients also received a brief course of corticosteroids. The study
showed that two doses of RITUXAN, administered two weeks apart, improved symptoms for up to 48 weeks
in all arms in which it was administered. Investigators followed-up with patients at 48 weeks in order to assess
duration of response beyond the primary endpoint of 24 weeks. At 24 weeks, investigators found that patients
receiving the combination of RITUXAN and methotrexate had the greatest improvement in symptoms as
assessed by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) response criteria: 73% of patients showed at least
a 20% improvement, 43% showed at least a 50% improvement and 23% showed at least a 70% improvement.
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At 48 weeks,v65% of the pattents in the RITUXAN and methotrexate combination arm of the trial showed at
least a 20%: 1rnprovement 35% showed at least a 50% 1rnprovement ‘and 15% showed at least a. 70%

1mprovement RTINS Ca

' l

Based on results from the Phase’ 2a study, we, along with Genentech and Roche 1n1t1ated additional
studies evaluating RITUXAN in the treatment of RA. One of these studies is a Phase 3 study known as
REFLEX, studying the use of RITUXAN in treating patients:who have had an inadequate response to tumor
necrosis factor. (TNF) inhibitor therapies. Datafrom REFLEX is expected to be available in the first half of
2005. The other study, a multi-center, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, Phase 2b dose optimiza-
tion study, known as*DANCER, is evaluating the efficacy and safety of varying doses of both RITUXAN and
cortlcosterords in. combination with a stable dose of methotrexate in pat1ents who have failed one to five
DMARDs and are inadequately responding to methotrexate. In DANCER, a total of 465 patients were
randomized to'receive a stable dose of methotrexate and a'varying dose of RITUXAN and corticosteroids. In
November 2004, we, along with Genentech and Roche, announced that DANCER met its primary endpoint
ofa greater proportion of RITUXAN-treated patients achieving an ACR«20 response at week 24, compared to
placebo, in: pattents Who were also treated w1th methotrexate. Further analyses of the data from DANCER are

ongoing.. . fii .o bl : o n
.

RI TUXAN m Other Immunology Indzcatzons Based on results from the Phase 2a study of RITUXAN
in RA, as well as other small investigator-sponsored studies in various autoimmune- mediated diseases, we,
along w1th Genentech have 1n1t1ated early stage chmcal tr1als studylng RITUXAN in MS and lupus.

S - N R L
! . . i : . '

TYSABRI : ;

Overwew The FDA granted accelerated approval for TYSABRI in: November 2004 to treat relapsing
forms of MS to reduce thé frequency of clinical relapses. The approval was-based on one-year data from two
Phase 3 'clinical studies:' AFFIRM . (natalizumab safety and -efficacy in telapsing-remitting MS) and
SENTINEL i(safety and' efficacy. of natalizamab in - ¢ombination' with AVONEX), each a two-year,
randomized multi‘center, placebo-controlled and double blinded study. In February 2005, in consultation with
the FDA, 'we and'Elan voluntarily suspended the marketing and commercial distribution of TYSABRI, and
informed physicians that they should suspend: dosing of TYSABRI until further notification.: In addition, we
suspended dosmg in clinical studies of TYSABRI in MS, Crohn’s disease and RA. These decisions were based
on reports of two serious adverse events that occurred in patients.treated with TYSABRI in combination with
AVONEX in MS clinical studies. These events involved two cases (one confirmed and one suspected at the
time of the dectsrons) of PML, a rare and frequently. fatal, demyehnatmg disease of the central nervous
system The suspected case of PML " was subsequently conﬁrmed Both patients ‘received more than two years
of TYSABRI therapy in combination with AVONEX. In hght of the two reports of PML the companies
initiated a systematrc review of the TYSABRI safety database On March .30, 2005, we and Elan announced
that the rewew of the safety database led a serious adverse event prevxously reported by a clinical investigator
ina cl1n1ca1 study of TYSABRI in Crohn ) dtsease to be Teassessed as PML. The case was originally reported
by the 1nvest1gator as malignant astrocytoma in July 2003 The patient died in Decémber 2003. The patient
had recerved 8 doses of TYSABRI over an 18 month penod and prior medication history included multiple
COurses, of 1mmunosuppressant agents. We and Elan are working with clinical investigators to evaluate patients
treated w1th TYSABRI in clinical trials and are consulting with leading experts to better understand the

poss1ble nsk of PML The outcome of these evaluations will be used to determine possible re-initiation of
dosing’.in cltnlcal studies and future commercial avarlabthty We ' canrot predict the outcome of these
evaluattons See. “Forward- Lookmg Informat1on and Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results — Safety

Issues with TYSABRI Could Slgmﬁcantly Aﬂ'ect our Growth.”

roe In June! 2004,\ Elan submitted a Marketing Authorisation- Apphcatron or MAA, to the EMEA for
approval of TYSABRI iin MS. We are working closely-with the EMEA in order to provide .them with
information regarding: the 'status of ‘our evaluation-of the possible risk of PML with TYSABRI and any
additional information that they may request so that they ‘can conduct a risk/benefit assessment in accordance
with regulatory requirements. See “Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors That May Affect Future
Results + Safety Tssues with TYSABRI Could Significantly. Affect our, Growth.” i
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TYSABRI binds to adhesion molecules on the immune cell surface known as alpha-4 integrin. Adhesion
molecules on the surface of the immune cells play an important role in the migration of the immune cells in
the inflammatory process. Research suggests that by binding to alpha-4 integrin, TYSABRI prevents immune
cells from migrating from the bloodstream into tissue where they can cause inflammation and potentially
damage nerve fibers and their insulation.

PHASE 3 Studies of TYSABRI in MS. Prior to the suspension of dosing in clinical studies of TYSABRI
we, along with Elan, had completed the AFFIRM study and had substantially completed the SENTINEL
study. The AFFIRM study was designed to evaluate the ability of natalizumab to slow the progression of
disability in MS and reduce the rate of clinical relapses. The SENTINEL study was designed to evaluate the
effect of the combination of natalizumab and AVONEX compared to treatment with AVONEX alone in
slowing progression of disability and reducing the rate of clinical relapses. Both studies have protocols that
included a one-year analysis of the data. The one-year data from the AFFIRM study showed that TYSABRI
reduced the rate of clinical relapses by 66% relative to placebo, the primary endpoint at one year, AFFIRM
also met all one-year secondary endpoints, including MRI measures. In the TYSABRI treated group, 60% of
patients developed no new or newly enlarging T2 hyperintense lesions compared to 22% of placebo treated
patients. On the one-year MRI scan, 96% of TYSABRLI treated patients had no gadolinium enhancing lesions
compared to 68% of placebo treated patients. The proportion of patients who remained relapse free was 76% in
the TYSABRI treated group compared to 53% in the placebo treated group. The one-year data from the
SENTINEL combination study also showed that the study achieved its one-year primary endpoint. The
addition of TYSABRI to AVONEX resulted in a 54% reduction in the rate of clinical relapses over the effect
of AVONEX alone. The annualized relapse rate was 0.36 for patients receiving TYSABRI when added to
AVONEX versus 0.78 with AVONEX plus placebo. SENTINEL also met all secondary endpoints, including
MRI measures. In the group treated with TYSABRI plus AVONEX, 67% of the patients developed no new
or newly enlarging T2 hyperintense lesions compared to 40% in the AVONEX plus placebo group. On the
one-year MRI scan, 96% of TYSABRI plus AVONEX treated patients had no gadolinium enhancing lesions
compared to 76% of AVONEX plus placebo treated patients. The proportion of patients who remained relapse
free was 67% in the TYSABRI plus AVONEX treated group compared to 46% in the AVONEX plus placebo
treated group. In February 2005, we and Elan announced that the AFFIRM study also achieved the two-year
primary endpoint of slowing the progression of disability in patients with relapsing forms of MS. In the
TYSABRI treated group, there was a 42% reduction in the risk of disability progression relative to placebo,
and a 67% reduction in the rate of clinical relapses over two years, which was sustained and consistent with the
one-year results.

TYSABRI in Crohn’s Disease. We, along with Elan, have completed two Phase 3 studies of TYSABRI
in Crohn’s disease. In February 2005, we suspended dosing in an additional fully enrolled Phase 3 induction
study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s disease until we complete our evaluation of the possible risk of PML in
patients treated with TYSABRI. On March 30, 2005, we and Elan announced that the review of the safety
database led a serious adverse event previously reported by a clinical investigator in a clinical study of
TYSABRI in Crohn’s disease to be reassessed as PML. The case was originally reported as malignant
astrocytoma. The two completed Phase 3 studies are known as ENACT-2 (Evaluation of Natalizumab as
Continuous Therapy-2) and ENACT-1 (Evaluation of Natalizumab as Continuous Therapy-1). In the
double-blinded, placebo controlled ENACT-2, 428 patients who were responders in ENACT-1, the Phase 3
induction study, were re-randomized to one of two treatment groups, TYSABRI or placebo, both adminis-
tered monthly for a total of 12 months. In ENACT-1, the primary endpoint of “response,” as defined by a 70-
point decrease in the Crohn’s Disease Activity Index, or CDAI, at week 10, was not met. In ENACT-2, the
primary endpoint of “maintenance of response,” as defined by a sustained CDAI score of less than 220 as well
as no use of rescue intervention throughout six months of the study, was met. The primary endpoint of
ENACT-2 looked at results through month six. Through month six, there was a significant treatment
difference of greater than 30% in favor of patients taking TYSABRI compared to those taking placebo. In
September 2004, we and Elan announced new 12-month data from ENACT-2 showing a sustained and
clinically significant response throughout 12 months of extended TYSABRI infusion therapy, confirming
findings in patients who had previously shown a sustained response throughout six months. Maintenance of
response was defined by a CDAI score of less than 220, and less than 70-point increase from baseline, in the
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absence|of. rescue intervention throughout the study. Response was maintained by 54% of patients treated with
natahzumabtcompared 10 20% .of those treated with placebo. In addition; 39% of patients on TYSABRI
maintained; ¢linical ‘remission during the study period, versus 15% of those. on placebo. By the end of
month- 12,/49% of patients treated with TYSABRI who had previously been treated with corticosteroids were
able to wrthdraw from: steroid therapy compared to 20% of placebo-treated patients. In September 2004, Elan
submitted an MAA to the EMEA for approval of TYSABRI as a treatment for Crohn’s disease. This
application i is at an, earlier stage than the MS application. However, as with the MAA for MS, we are working
closely with the EMEA in order to provide them with information regarding the status of our evaluation of the
possrble nsk of PML with TYSABRI and any additional information that they may request. See “Forward- .
Lookmg Informatron and Risk Factors That' May Affect! Future Results — Safety Issues with TYSABRI
Could. Srgnrﬁcantly At’fect our Growth:” ‘ “

. TYSABRI in RA In February 2005, we, along w1th Elan, suspended dosmg in'a recently fully enrolled
Phase 2 study of TYSABRI in RA until we complete our evaluation of the possible risk of PML in patients
treated with TYSABRI. The study is a multi-center, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of the efficacy,
safety and'tolerability. of- intravenous TYSABRI in patients with moderate to-severe RA receiving concomi-
tant treatment w1th methotrexate

K.

ZEVALIN R

ZEVALIN was the first radro1mmunotherapy approved by the lFDA for the treatment of cancer.
ZEVALIN 1as part of. the ZEVALIN .therapeutic regimen, is indicated for the treatment of patients with
relapsed or refractory low- grade follicular, or transformed B-cell non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, including patients
with RITUXAN Lrelapsed or refractory non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. In 2004, sales of ZEVALIN in the
U.sS. generated revenues, of $18.7 million as compared to, revenues of $19. 6.million in 2003. In January 2004,
the EMEA granted marketmg approval of ZEVALIN in the EU for the treatment of adult patients with
CD20+ follicular B-cell NHL who are refractory to or have relapsed following RITUXAN therapy. We sell
ZEVALIN to Schenng AG for distribution, in the EU, and receive royalty revenues from Schering AG on
sales of ZEVALIN in the EU. Rest of world product sales for ZEVALIN for the year ended December 31,
2004 were $4.3 million., The $4.3 million relates to ZEVALIN sold to Schenng AG in 2003 and 2004,
recogmtron fof whlch had been deferred. o

_ Radratton therapy plays an 1mportant role in the management of B cell lymphomas due to the sensitivity
of B- cell, tumors to radratron Tradrtlonal radiation therapy consists of an. external beam of radiation focused
on 1solated areas of the body or areas with high tumor burden. The ZEVALIN therapeutic regimen combines
a monoclonal antrbody with a radioisotope. Following mtravenous 1nfusxon the monoclonal antibody
recogmzes and attaches to the CD20 antigen. This allows’ ZEVALIN 0 specifically target B-cells, destroying
the mahgnant NHL B cells and also normal B-cells.

ZEVALIN therapy consists of two kits: an imagingkit for use wrth mdlum-l 11 and a therapeutic kit for
use with' \yttnum -90. The ZEVALIN therapeutic regrmen can be cornpleted on an outpatient basis' in
approxnnat’ely Tt09 days and includes:

e admlmstratron of orie dose of RITUXAN to deplete penpheral blood B cells and improve ZEVALIN
brodrstnbutlon

. 1mag1ng w1th the ZEVALIN imaging kit using indium-111, followed by gamma camera images at two
to 24 hours; 48 to 72 hours, and an optional image at 90 to 120 hours, to confirm biodistribution of
o ZEVALIN i

. If acceptable hrodrstnbutlon of ZEVALIN 1s demonstrated another dose of RITUXAN is
- admlmstered,t and

e irtfuslon of the ZEVALIN therapeutic kit using yttrium-90.

-We are Worklng with third party investigators to expand the quality and quantity -of data available about
ZEVALIN. ZEVALIN is being investigated in a variety of lymphoma’ subtypes including diffuse B cell
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lymphoma. ZEVALIN is also being studied in a number of different treatment strategies including
combinations with front-line and salvage chemotherapy regimens and as part of autologous and allogeneic
stem cell transplantation in both indolent and aggressive lymphoma subtypes. For example, in June 2004, we
announced positive results from a Phase 2 study showing that the ZEVALIN therapeutic regimen may
produce high complete remission rates in previously untreated patients w1th low-grade folhcular lymphoma
when used following RITUXAN and a short course of CHOP. ~

AMEVIVE

In February 2003, Biogen, Inc. began marketing and selling AMEVIVE in the U.S. for the treatment of
patients with moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis who are candidates for systemic therapy or
phototherapy. In 2004, AMEVIVE was approved for the same indication in Argentina, Australia, Canada,
Israel, Kuwait and Switzerland. Our filing for approval in New Zealand is currently being reviewed. Qur
application for approval in the EU was withdrawn in February 2003.

In 2004, sales of AMEVIVE generated worldwide revenues of $43.0 million, substantially all of which
were generated from sales in the U.S., as compared to sales of $40.4 million in 2003. AMEVIVE was sold by
Biogen, Inc. until November 12, 2003. Our consolidated financial statements include only the results of
operations of Biogen, Inc. since November 13, 2003. Our revenues from AMEVIVE during the period from
November 13, 2003 to December 13, 2003 were $9.4 million.

Psoriasis is an autoimmune skin disease in which skin cells multiply 10 times faster than the normal rate.
The excess cells pile up on' the skin’s surface, forming red, raised, scaly plaques that can be painful and
disfiguring. AMEVIVE is a systemic therapy that works by helping to rebalance the overactive cells in the
immune system that cause psoriasis. These cells, called T-cells, are central to the immune response when
working properly, but are directed inappropriately against the body’s own tissues in psoriasis and other
autoimmune disorders. AMEVIVE has a dual mechanism of action that is designed to 1nterfcre with T-cell
activation and to reduce the number of so-called memory T-cells.

We continue to conduct clinical stud1es of AMEVIVE. We are investigating AMEVIVE in combination
with other systemic therapies. We are conducting open label studies of AMEVIVE in combination with
common psoriasis treatments, including topical steroids, methotrexate, cyclosporine and phototherapy
Interim analyses of these studies indicate that AMEVIVE in combination with common psoriasis treatments
is well tolerated for patiénts with moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis. In February 2005, we
announced preliminary results from a double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 2 study of 185 patients with

active psoriatic arthritis who were randomized to receive either methotrexate and AMEVIVE or methotrex-
ate. Patients in the AMEVIVE group received 15 mg of AMEVIVE by intramuscular injection once a week
for 12 weeks, followed by a 12-week observation period. In the study, 54% of patients who received
AMEVIVE for 12 weeks achieved an ACR 20 response, or at least a 20 percent improvement in the signs and
symptoms of psoriatic arthritis, at 24 weeks, in contrast to 23% of patients achieving at least a 20 percent
improvement in the methotrexate alone group. As part of our post marketing commitments to the FDA, we
have completed a Phase 3b international study designed to provide further safety data regarding the use of
AMEVIVE and which also measured the efficacy of AMEVIVE gver multiple courses.

Our Other Research and Development Programs

We focus our research and development efforts on finding novel therapeutics in areas of high unmet
medical need. Our focus areas are in oncology, neurobiology and autoimmune disease. Below is a brief
summary of some of our research and development product candidates.

Oncology

+ an adenoviral vector encoding the human IFN-P gene, designed to deliver high local concentrations of
IFN-§ to tumors

10




o+ an’ ant1 lymphotoxm beta receptor monoclonal antrbody, which has shown activity in 1nh1b1t1ng tumor
growth in ammal models

san ant1body to’ tumor antigen TAG72 desrgned to dehver radioimmunotherapy to carcinomas that
icarry the ant1gen whrle m1n1m1zmg the radiation to- normal tissues such as bone marrow

e

,ann CDSO and antr CD23 ant1bod1es usrng our ananzed® antrbody technology

B a monoclonal antrbody directed against Cnpto, a novel cell surface s1gnahng molecule that is over-
* expressed in sohd tumors ‘ . _
Autoimmuné ‘Di’seasé "
. an oral fumarate that is a second generatlon fumarate denvatlve w1th an 1mmunomodulatory mecha-
. nism’ of act1on which we licensed from Fumapharm AG. A ﬁrst-generatron product is currently
‘T‘marketed by Fumapharm as FUMADERM® in Germany,‘where it is the most prescribed oral
. systemlc treatment for severe psoriasis. Fumapharm ‘has’ completed a small Phase 3 double-blind,
) multi- center cl1mcal study of the second-generation product in"psoriasis and plans to seek approval in
» Germany based on the results of the Phase 3 study, and is currently conducting a safety extension study
‘in psonas1s 1n ‘the EU We began a Phase b clinical study of the second generation product in patients
. w1th relapsrng remrttmg MS in November 2004 ‘

* ini separate . colldborations with Genentech, a new humanlzed ‘antr CD2O antibody targeting B-cell
 disorders for a broad range of indications, and a BR3 protein therapeutic as a potential treatment for
drsorders assoctated w1th abnormal B-lymphocyte activity, such as RA and lupus

v a monoclonal ant1body directed against alpha-l /beta-1 integrin (VLA—I). VLA-1 is found on a variety
of cells associated with tissue inflammation and fibrosis, including activated T-cells, macrophages and
myoﬁbroblasts Reduction of VLA-1 activity is associated with sharply reduced 1nﬁamrnat10n and
ﬁbrosrs in expenmental models of disease
" ““ ' | AT " ce . ..

Neurobzology Lo S i

* in collaboranon wrth Vernahs plc V2006, the lead compound in Vemahs adenosine A2A receptor
antagonlst program whrch targets Parkmson s d1sease and other central nervous system disorders

+ ‘neublastin, a‘protem ‘therapeutic that appears to maintains the viability and physiology of peripheral
sensory neurons Neublastrn has shown act1v1ty in ammal models-of neuropathle pain :

Except as otherw1se noted all of these product candldates are in pre -clinical or earlier stage of
development. + e . o

R
|

We supplement our internal research and development efforts to find novel therapeutics in these areas
and.in other areas of interest. with genomics tools and other innovative technologres We also seek to advance
our research and development efforts through collaboratlons K

h [T, . [ : 3

Researchr and Development Costs

For the years ‘ended December 31 12004, 2003 and 2002 our- research and development costs were
approxrmately $686. 7 million, $233.3 million and $100.9 m1lhon respectively. Research and development
costs in 2003 1nclude the results of operations of Biogen, Inc. ;only for. the period from November 13, 2003, the
day after. the eﬁ'ectrve date of the merger, through. December 31, 2003

Principal Llcensed Products ’ T

-As descnbed above, we .receive royalties onsales of, RITUXAN outside the U.S. as :part of our
collaboranon wrth Genentech and royalties on sales of ZEVALIN in the EU from Schering AG. We also
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receive royalties from sales by our licensees of a number of other products covered under patents that we
control. For example:

+ We receive royalties from Schering-Plough Corporation on sales of its alpha interferon products in the
U.S. and Italy under an exclusive license to our alpha interferon patents and patent applications.
Schering-Plough sells its INTRON® A (interferon alfa-2b) brand of alpha interferon in the U.S. for a
number of indications, including the treatment of chronic hepatitis B and hepatitis C. Schering-Plough
also sells other alpha interferon products for the treatment of hepatitis C, including REBETRON®
Combination Therapy containing INTRON A and REBETOL® (ribavirin, USP), PEG-INTRON®
(peginterferon alfa-2b), a pegylated form of alpha interferon, and PEG-INTRON in combination with
REBETOL. See “Patents and Other Proprietary Rights — Recombinant Alpha Interferon.”

+ We hold several important patents related to hepatitis B antigens produced by genetic engineering
techniques. See “Patents and Other Proprietary Rights — Recombinant Hepatitis B Antigens.” These
antigens are used in recombinant hepatitis B vaccines and in diagnostic test kits used to detect hepatitis
B infection. We receive royalties from sales of hepatitis B vaccines in several countries, including the
U.S., from GlaxoSmithKline plc and Merck and Co. Inc. We have also licensed our proprietary
hepatitis B rights, on an antigen-by-antigen and nonexclusive basis, to several diagnostic kit manufac-
turers, including Abbott Laboratories, the major worldwide marketer of hepatitis B diagnostic kits. For
a discussion of the length of the royalty obligation of GlaxoSmithKline and Merck on sales of hepatitis
B vaccines and the obligation of our other licensees on sales of hepatitis B-related diagnostic products,
see “Patents and Other Proprietary Rights — Recombinant Hepatitis B Antigens.”

+ We also receive ongoing royalties on sales of ANGIOMAX®(bivalirudin) by The Medicines
Company, also known as TMC. TMC selils ANGIOMAX in the U.S., Europe, Canada and Latin
America for use as an anticoagulant in combination with aspirin in patients with unstable angina
undergoing percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. ‘

Patents and Other Proprietary Rights

We have filed numerous patent applications in the U.S. and various other countries seeking protection of
inventions originating from our research and development, including a number of our processes and products.
Patents have been issued on many of these applications. We have also obtained rights to various patents and
patent applications under licenses with third parties, which provide for the payment of royalties by us. The
ultimate degree of patent protection that will be afforded to biotechnology products and processes, including
ours, in the U.S. and in other important markets remains uncertain and is dependent upon the scope of
protection decided upon by the patent offices, courts and lawmakers in these countries. There is no certainty
that our existing patents or others, if obtained, will afford us substantial protection or commercial benefit.
Similarly, there is no assurance that our pending patent applications or patent applications licensed from third
parties will ultimately be granted as patents or that those patents that have been issued or are issued in the
future will prevail if they are challenged in court.

‘A substantial number of patents have already been issued to other biotechnology and biopharmaceutical
companies. Competitors may have filed applications for, or have been issued patents and may obtain
additional patents and proprietary rights that may relate to products or processes competitive with or similar to
our products and processes. Moreover, the patent laws of the U.S. and foreign countries are distinct and
decisions as to patenting, validity of patents and infringement of patents may be resolved differently in
different countries. In general, we try to obtain licenses to third party patents which we deem necessary or
desirable for the manufacture, use and sale of our products. We are currently unable to assess the extent to
which we may wish to or may be required to acquire rights under such patents and the availability and cost of
acquiring such rights, or whether a license to such patents will be available on acceptable terms or at all. There
may be patents in the U.S. or in foreign countries or patents issued in the future that are unavailable to license
on acceptable terms. Our inability to obtain such licenses may hinder our ability to market our products. -

We are aware that others, including various universities and companies working in the biotechnology
field, have filed patent applications and have been granted patents in the U.S. and in other countries claiming
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subject rnatter potent1a11y useful to our business. Some of. those patents-and patent applications claim only
specific products or 'methods of making such products, while others' claim more general processes or
techniques useful « or now used in the biotechnology industry. There is considerable uncertainty within the
biotechnology: industry about the validity, scope and enforceability of many issued patents in the U.S. and
elsewhere in the world, and; to date, there is no consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in
biotechnology patents. We cannot currently determine the uitimate scope and validity of patents which may be
granted to third parties in the future or which patents mlght be: asserted to be infringed by the manufacture,
use and sale of our’ products \ :

' There has been, and we expect that there may contmue to, be, srgmﬁcant litigation in the industry
regardrng patents and other intellectual property rights. We expect that litigation may be necessary in some
instances to determrne the vahdlty and scope of certain of our propnetary rights. Conversely, litigation may be
necessary in some mstances to determine the validity, scope and/or nomnfrmgernent of certain patent rights
claimed by thrrd partres to be pertinent to the manufacture, use or sale of our products. Intellectual property
litigation could therefore create business uncertainty and consume substantial financial and human resources.
Ultimately, the outcome of such litigation could adversely affect the validity and scope of our patent or other
propnetary rights, or, conversely, hinder our ability to market our products See “Item 3 — Legal Proceed-
ings” for a descnptron of our patent litigation. o ‘

Our trademarks RITUXAN AVONEX, AMEVIVE ZEVALIN and TYSABRI are important to us
and are generallylcovered by trademark apphcatrons or reglstratlons owned or controlled by us in the
USs. Patent and Trademark Office and in other countries.

Recombmant Beta Interferon . B

Thlrd parties have pending patent applications or 1ssued patents in the U.S., Europe and other countries
with claims to key'intermediates in the production of beta interferon.’ These are known as the Taniguchi
_patents. Third: partres’also ‘have pending patent-applications of issued patents with claims to beta interferon
itself. These are known as the Roche patents and the Rentschler patents, respectively. We have obtained non-
exclusive nghts in various countries of the world, including the U.S., Japan and Europe, to manufacture, use
and sell AVONEX ‘our brand of recombinant beta interferon, under the Taniguchi, Roche and Rentschler
issued patents The last of the Taniguchi patents expire in the U.S. in May, 2013 and have expired already in
other countries of the world. The Roche patents expire in the U S in May, 2008 and also have generally
exprred elsewhere in the world. The Rentschler EU patent explres in July, 2012.

RIT UXAN ZEVALIN and Anti- CD20 Anttbodtes -

We have several issued U.S. patents and U.S. patent apphcatrons and numerous corresponding foreign
counterparts: dlrected to anti-CD20 antibody technology,-including RITUXAN and ZEVALIN. We have also
been granted patents.covering RITUXAN and ZEVALIN by the European and Japanese Patent Offices. In
the U.S..our pnncrpal patents covering the drugs or their'uses expire between 2015 and 2018. With regard to
the rest of the' world our principal patents covering the drug products expire in 2013 subject to potential patent
term’ extensions in countries’ where such’ extensions are available. In addition Genentech, our collaborative
partner for RITUXAN, has secured an exclusive license to five U.S. patents and counterpart U.S. and foreign
patent applications assigned to Xoma Corporation that relate to chimeric antibodies against the CD20 antigen:
These patents expire between 2006 and 2014. Genentech has granted us a non-exclusive sublicense to make,
have made, use and sell RITUXAN under these patents and patent applications. We, along with Genentech,
share the COst of : any royalties due to Xoma in the Genentech/ Biogen Idec copromotion territory on sales of
RITUXAN -

AMEVIVE " o o
AMEVIVE! 1s presently clarmed in a number of patents’ granted in- the U.S. and the EU which cover
LFA-3 polypeptides and DNA, LFA-3 fusion proteins and DNA, host cells, manufacturing methods and

pharmaceutical compositions. We have obtained composition of matter patent coverage for the commercial
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product and important intermediates in the manufacturing process. Our patent portfolio also includes patents
granted in the U.S. and the EU, which cover the use of LFA-3 polypeptides and LFA-3 fusion proteins in
methods to inhibit T cell responses and use of LFA-3 polypeptides and fusion proteins to treat skin diseases,
specifically including psoriasis. Our patent portfolio further includes pending patent applications, which seek
coverage for the use of LFA-3 polypeptides and fusion proteins in the treatment of other indications of
possible future interest as well for certain combination ‘therapy treatments of potential interest and utility.
Patents issued or which may be issued on these various patent applications expire between 2007 (for patents
relating to manufacturing intermediates) and 2021 (in the case of recently filed patent applications). Our
principal patents covering the drug product expire in 2013 subject to potential patent term extensions in
countries where such extensions are available and by supplemental protection certificates in countries of the
EU where such certificates may be obtained if and when approval of the product in the EU is obtained.
Method of use patent protection for the product to treat skin diseases, including psoriasis, extends until 2017 in
the U.S. and generally until 2015 in the rest of the world. '

Recombinant Alpha Interferon

In 1979, we granted an exclusive worldwide license to Schering-Plough under our alpha interferon
patents. Most of our alpha interferon patents have since expired, including expiration of patents in the U.S,,
Japan and all countries of Europe other than Italy. We have obtained a supplementary protection certificate in
Italy extending the coverage until 2007, although the Italian Legislature intends to implement legislation that
may shorten this period to December 31, 2005. Schering-Plough pays us rpyalty payments on U.S. sales of
alpha interferon products under an interference settlement entered into in 1998. Under the terms of the
interference settlement, Schering-Plough agreed to pay us royalties under certain patents to be issued to
Roche and Genentech in consideration of our assignment to Schering-Plough of the alpha interferon patent
application that had been the subject of a settled interference with respect.to a Roche/Genentech patent.
Schering-Plough entered into an agreement with Roche as part of settlement of the interference. The first of
the Roche/Genentech patents was issued on November 19, 2002 and has a seventeen-year term.

Recombinant Hepatitis B Antigens

We have obtained numerous patents in countries around the world, including in the U.S. and in European
countries, covering the recombinant production of hepatitis B surface, core and “e” antigens. We have
licensed our recombinant hepatitis B antigen patent rights to manufacturers and marketers of hepatitis B
vaccines and diagnostic test kits, and receive royalties on sales of the vaccines and test kits by our licensees.
See “Principal Licensed Products.” The obligation of GlaxoSmithKline and Merck to pay royalties on sales of
hepatitis B vaccines and the obligation of our other licensees under our hepatitis B patents to pay royalties on
sales of diagnostic products will terminate upon expiration of our hepatitis B patents in each licensed country.
Following the conclusion of a successful interference proceeding in the U.S., we were granted patents in the
U.S. expiring in 2018. These patents claim hepatitis B virus polypeptides and vaccines and diagnostics
containing such. polypeptides. Our European hepatitis B patents expired at the end of 1999, except in those
countries in which we have obtained supplementary protection certificates. Coverage under supplementary
protection certificates still exists in France, Italy and Sweden. The additional coverage afforded by the
supplementary protection certificates ranges from one to five years. See “Item 3 — Legal Proceedings” for a
description of our litigation with Classen Immunotherapies, Inc.-

TYSABRI

" We are developing TYSABRI with Elan. TYSABRI is presently claimed in a number of pending patent
applications and issued patents held by both companies in the U.S. and abroad. These patent applications and
patents cover the protein, DNA encoding the protein, manufacturing methods and pharmaceutical composi-
tions, as well as various methods of treatment using the product. In the U.S. the principal patents covering the
product and methods of manufacturing the product generally expire between 2015 and 2020, subject to any
available patent term extensions. In the remainder of the world patents on the product and methods of
manufacturing the product generally expire between 2014 and 2016, subject to any supplemental protection
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certificates., that may be obtained. Both companies have method of treatment patents for a variety of
indications mcludmg the: treatment of MS and Crohn’s disease and treatments of inflammation. These patents
expire m the“U S. generally between 2012 and 2020 and outside the U.S. generally between 2010 and 2016,
: subject to, any avallable patent term extens1ons and/or supplemental protection certificates. extending such
terms N . ‘ , .

T rade Secrets and Conﬁdenttal Know-How

We also! rely lupon. unpatented trade secrets, and we cannot assure:that others will not independently
develop substantrally equlvalent proprietary information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade
secrets of, dlSClOSC such . technology, or .that we can meaningfully protect such rights. We require our
employees, consultants outside scientific collaborators, scientists whose research we sponsor and other
advisers to rexecute . confidentiality agreements upon the commencement of employment or consulting
relationships with us. These agreements provide that all confidential information developed or made known to
the individual -during the- course of the individual’s relationship with us is to be kept confidential and not
disclosed .to”third’ pames except in specific circumstances. In the case of our employees, the agreement
provrdes that all mventrons concewed by such employees shall be our exclusive property. These agreements
may not provrde meanmgful protection or adequate remedies for our ‘trade secrets in the event of unauthorized
use or d1sclosure of such mformatlon

Sales, Marketmg and Drstnbutlon

In Generalm ‘ 9 o

Our sales and marketmg efforts are generally focused on specialist physicians in private practice or at
major medlcal centers We utilize common pharmaceutlcal company practices to market our products and to
educate’ physmans mcludmg sales representatives calling on individual physicians and distributors, advertise-
ments, profes‘s[xonal symposra direct mail, selling initiatives, “public relations and other methods. We provide
certain customer service and other related programs for our products, such as disease and product-specific
websites, msurance research services and order, delivery and fulfillment services. We have also established
programs m the U S - which provide qualified uninsured or underinsured patients with commercial products at
no charge. Spec1ﬁcs concernmg the sales, marketmg and dlstnbutlon of each of our commercialized products

are as, follows:| [l

AVONEXJ n

Wwe contmue to focus our marketing and sales activities on maximizing the potential of AVONEX in the
U.S. and the. EU i in the face of increased competition. In the U.S., Canada, Australia and most of the major
countnes of the EU, Wwe use our own sales forces and marketmg groups to market and sell AVONEX. In these
countnes we d1str1bute AVONEX pnnc1pally through wholesale  distributors of pharmaceutical products,
mail order spe01alty dlstnbutors or shipping service providers. In countries outside the U.S., Canada, Australia
and the major countnes of the EU, we sell AVONEX to’ dlstnbutlon partners who are then responsible for
most marke g and d1str1but10n act1v1t1es

In February 2005 in consultatlon with the FDA, we and Elan voluntanly suspended the marketing and
commer01al d1str1but10n of TYSABRI, and informed physicians that they should suspend dosing of
TYSABRI untll further notlﬁcatron Seé “Our Products - Approved Indications and Ongoing Development -
TYSABRI 5 Pnor to suspension of marketmg and distribution of TYSABRI, we used our own sales force and
marlcetmg group to market TYSABRI in the U.S,, and Elan dlstnbuted TYSABRI in the U S.

RITUXAN AND ZEVALIN

14

RITUXAN, and ZEVALIN are complementary products for the management of B-cell NHLs. Most
B-cell NHLs are treated today in community-based group oncology practices. RITUXAN fits well into the
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community practice, as generally no special equipment, training or licensing is required for its administration
or for management of treatment-related side effects. By contrast, ZEVALIN is administered by nuclear
medicine specialists or radiation oncologists at medical or cancer centers that are licensed and equipped for
the handling, administration and disposal of radioisotopes.

RITUXAN. We market and sell RITUXAN in the U.S. in collaboration with Genentech. Genentech
has a sales and marketing staff dedicated to RITUXAN. Beginning in 2004, we also established a sales and
marketing staff dedicated to RITUXAN. Sales efforts are focused on hematologists and medical oncologists in
private practice, at community hospitals and at major medical centers in the U.S. RITUXAN is generally sold
to wholesalers, specialty distributors and. directly to hospital pharmacies. We rely on Genentech to supply
marketing support services for RITUXAN including customer service, order entry, shipping, billing, insurance
verification assistance, managed care sales support, medical information and sales training. Under our
agreement with Genentech, all U.S. sales of RITUXAN are recognized by Genentech and we record our
share of the pretax copromotion profits on a quarterly basis.

ZEVALIN. We use our own sales force and marketing group to market and sell ZEVALIN in the
U.S. To date, we have focused our sales and marketing activities on educating physicians about ZEVALIN's
efficacy in relapsed indolent lymphoma, its safety profile and patient tolerance. In the U.S., we sell ZEVALIN
to radiopharmacies that radiolabel, or combine, the ZEVALIN antibody with an indium-111 isotope or an
yttrium-90 radioisotope and then distribute the finished product to hospitals or licensed treatment facilities for
administration. In the EU, we sell ZEVALIN to Schering AG, our exclusive licensee for ZEVALIN outside
the U.S. Schering AG is responsible for sales, marketing and distribution activities for ZEVALIN in the EU.
We have appointed MDS (Canada) Inc., or MDS (Canada), as our exclusive supplier of the yttrium-90
radiocisotope required for therapeutic use of ZEVALIN to radiopharmacies. MDS (Canada) is the only
supplier of the yttrium-90 radioisotope that is approved by the FDA. Radiopharmacies independently obtain
the indium-111 isotope required for the imaging use of ZEVALIN from one of the two third party suppliers
currently approved by the FDA to supply the indium-111 isotope.

AMEVIVE

We use'our own sales force and marketing group to market and sell AMEVIVE in the U.S. To date, we
have focused our sales and marketing activities on physician education, payor coverage and acceptance, and
improving physician and patient access to AMEVIVE through various initiatives including a sampling
program. We distribute AMEVIVE in the U.S. principally through specialty distributors.

Competition
In General

Competition in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries is intense and comes from many and
varied sources. We do not believe that any of the industry leaders can be considered dominant in view of the
rapid technological change in the industry. We experience significant competition from specialized biotechnol-
ogy firms in the U.S., the EU and elsewhere and from many large pharmaceutical, chemical and other
companies. Certain of these companies have substantially greater financial, marketing, research and develop-
ment and human resources than us. Most large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have considera-
ble experience in undertaking clinical trials and in obtaining regulatory approval to market pharmaccutlcal
products.

We believe that competition and leadership in the industry will be based on managerial and technological
superiority and establishing proprietary positions through research and development. Leadership in the
industry may also be influenced significantly by patents and other forms of protection of proprietary
information. A key aspect of such competition is recruiting and retaining qualified scientists and technicians.
We believe that we have been successful in attracting skilled and experienced scientific personnel. The
achievement of a leadership position also depends largely upon our ability to identify and exploit commercially
the products resulting from research and -the availability of adequate financial resources to fund facilities,
equipment, personnel, clinical testing, manufacturing and marketing.
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Many of our cOmpetrtors are working to develop products similar to those that we are developing. The
timing of the entry of : a new pharrnaceutrcal product into the- market can be an important factor in determining
the product S eventual success and profitability. Early entry may have important advantages in gaining product
acceptance and market share Moreover under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA is prevented for a period of
seven years ‘from approvrng ‘more than one applrcatron for the “same’ product for the same indication in
certam drseases ‘with hmlted patient populatrons unless a. later product is considered chmcally superior. The
EU has similar laws and other jurisdictions have or are consrdenng such laws. Accordingly, the relative speed
with which we can develop products, complete the testing and approval process and supply commercial
quantities- of’ t\h}e product . to the market will have an important impact on our competitive position. An
abbrevidted process exists ‘for approval of small. molecule drugs in the U.S. that are comparable to existing
products: It is ;possible that legislative bodies in the U.S. and ithe EU may provide -a similar abbreviated
prdcess for comparable biologic products. Competition among products approved for sale may be based,
among other thrngs on patent position, product-efficacy, safety, convenience,. relrabrlrty, availability and price.

" rf . T { - ' :

AVONEX AND TYSABRI

AVONEX whrch generated $1 42 brlhon of worldwrde revenues m 2004 competes prrmarrly wrth three
other products e L

° REBIF® (1nterferon beta la), which is co-promoted by Serono, Inc. and Pfizer in the U.S. and sold by
Serono AGin the EU. REBIF generated worldwrde revenues of approxrmately $1.09 brlhon in 2004,

o BETASERON® (1nterferon beta la) sold by. Berlex in the U S. and sold under the name
BETAFERON® by Schering A.G. in the EU. BETASERON and BETAFERON together generated
- ‘worldwide revenues of approxrmately $972 ‘million in 2004,

. COPAXONE® (glatlramer acetate 1njectron) sold by Teva Neuroscience, Inc. in the U.S. and co-
promoted by Teva' and Aventis Pharma in the EU. COPAXONE' generated worldwide revenues of
approxrmately $936 million in 2004, : ‘

Along vvrth us, a number of companies are working to develop products to treat MS that may in the future
compete with AVONEX. For example; wé are developing TYSABRI with Elan. TYSABRI was approved by
the FDA iin"November 2004 to treat relapsing forms.of MS to reduce the frequency of clinical relapses. In
February/. 2005, /in” consultation- with the FDA, we and Elan voluntarily suspended the marketing and
commercial distribution .of TYSABRI, and informed physicians that' they should suspend dosing of
TYSABRI until! further notification. These decisions were:based on reports of two serious adverse events that
have occurred in patients treated with TYSABRI in combination with AVONEX in MS clinical studies.
These, events mvolved .two cases of PML, a rare and frequently fatal, demyelinating disease of the central
nervous system ' Both’ patients received more than two' years of TYSABRI therapy in combination with
AVONEX., 1In l1ght of the two reports of PML, the companies initiated a systematic review of the TYSABRI
safety’ database On March 30, 2005, we and Elan announced that the review of the safety database led a
serious adverse event prev1ously reported by a clinical investigator in a clinical study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s
disease, «to ‘be reassessed as PML. The case was originally reported by the investigator as malignant
astroeytoma in July 2003. The patient died in December.2003. The patient had received 8 doses of TYSABRI
overan 18 month penod and prior medication history included multiple courses of i immunosuppressant agents.
We and Elan are workmg with clrnrcal investigators to. evaluate patients treated with TYSABRI in clinical
studres and are consultrng with leading experts to better understand the’ possible risk of PML. The outcome of
thesé’ evaluatrons will be uséd to determine possible re- initiation of dosing in clinical studies and future
commerciil avallabllrty If we are able to reintroduce TYSABRI to the market, it would compete with the
products hsted above’ 1ncludrng AVONEX See “Our Products——Approved Indrcanons and Ongoing
Development — TYSABRI ?

- . [ : DR :

AVONEX also faces competition from oﬁ"—label uses of drugs approved for other indications. Some of our
current competrtors are also working to devélop alternatlve formulatrons for delivery of their products which
may in. the future: compete with AVONEX.. ' ‘
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RITUXAN AND ZEVALIN

RITUXAN received designation as an Orphan Drug from the FDA for the treatment of relapsed or
refractory low-grade or follicular, CD20+ B-cell NHLs. Marketing exclusivity resulting from this Orphan
Drug designation expired in November 2004. ZEVALIN received designation as an Orphan Drug from the
FDA for the treatment of relapsed or refractory low grade, follicular, or transformed B-cell NHLs, including
patients with RITUXAN refractory follicular NHL. Marketing exclusivity resulting from this Orphan Dryg
designation will expire in February 2009. ‘

RITUXAN is typically used after patients fail to respond or relapse after treatment with traditional
radiation therapy or standard chemotherapy regimes, such as CVP and CHOP. ZEVALIN is typically used
after patients fail to respond or relapse following treatment with RITUXAN. ZEVALIN competes with
BEXXAR® (tositumomab, iodine I-131 tositumomab), a radiolabeled molecule developed by Corixa
Corporation which is now being developed and commercialized by. GlaxoSmithKline. BEXXAR is approved
to treat patients with CD20+, follicular, non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, with and without transformation, whose
disease is refractory to RITUXAN and has relapsed following chemotherapy.

A number of other companies; including us, are working to develop products to treat B-cell NHLs and
other forms of non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma that may ultimately compete with RITUXAN and ZEVALIN.

AMEVIVE
AMEVIVE competes with several different types of therapies including:

+ traditional therapies for moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis, such as oral retinoids, steroids,
methotrexate, cyclosporin, PUVA and UVB radiation,

« RAPTIVA® (efalizumab), a drug co-developed by Genentech and Xoma Corporation that was
approved by the FDA in November 2003 to treat moderate-to-severe psoriasis.

» ENBREL® (etanercept), a drug sold by Amgen, Inc. and Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, Inc. that was
approved by the FDA to treat moderate-to-severe psoriasis in April 2004.

 drugs approved for other indications that are used to treat psoriasis. Among these drugs are
REMICADE® (infliximab) ‘and HUMIRA® (adalimumab). REMICADE, which is sold worldwide
by Centocor, Inc., a subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson, as a treatment for other indications, including
RA, is currently in clinical studies as a potential treatment for psoriasis. HUMIRA, which is sold by
Abbott Laboratories, or Abbott, is approved to treat RA. Abbott is undertaking clinical studies in
psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis,

In addition, a number of other companies, including us, are working to develop products to treat psoriasis
that may ultimately compete with AMEVIVE.

Regulatory

Our current and contemplated activities and the products and processes that will result from such
activities are subject to substantial government regulation.

Before new pharmaceutical products may be sold in the U.S. and other countries, clinical trials of the
products must be conducted and the results submitted to appropriate regulatory agencies for approval. These
clinical trial programs generally involve a three-phase process. Typically, in Phase 1, trials are conducted in
volunteers or patients to determine the early side effect profile and, perhaps, the pattern of drug distribution
and metabolism. In Phase 2, trials are conducted in groups of patients with a specific disease in order to
determine appropriate dosages, expand evidence of the safety profile and, perhaps, determine preliminary
efficacy. In Phase 3, large scale, comparative trials are conducted on patients with a target disease in order to
generate enough data to provide the statistical proof of efficacy and safety required by national regulatory
agencies. The results of the preclinical and clinical testing of a biologic product are then submitted to the FDA
in the form of a Biologics License Application, or BLA, or a New Drug Approval Application, or NDA. In
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response to a BLA or NDA the FDA smay grant.marketing approval, request additional information or deny
the apphcatron if it detérmines the application does not provide adequate basis for approval. The receipt of
regulatory’ approval often takes a number of years, involving the expenditure of substantial resources and
depénds en'a number of factors, including the severity. of the disease in question, the availability of alternative
treatments and the risks and benefits.demonstrated in clinical trials. On occasion, regulatory authorities may
require larger, or additional studies, leading to-unanticipated.delay or expense. Even after initial FDA approval
has been obtained, further clinical trials may be required to provide additional data on safety and effectiveness
and are requtred to gain clearance for the use of a product as a treatment for indications other than those
rnrtlally approved When approval is granted under the “accelerated approval” provrsrons of FDA’s regula-
tions, the BLA or NDA holder must conduct certaln additional studies to verify the clinical benefit
attrrbutable to the product Fallure to conduct the requrred studies, or to comply with certain other conditions
of accelerated approvals, may result, followrng a hearing, in FDA’s w1thdraw1ng or modifying that part of the
approval that was granted under the accelerated approval provisions. Approval of ZEVALIN and TYSABRI
was granted underithe accelerated approval provisions. If we fail to conduct the required studies or otherwise
fail to comply with the condltrons of accelerated approval, the FDA may take action to seek to withdraw that
approval; | RSN B ! N :

Regulatory authontles track information on side. effects and adverse events reported during clinical
studtes and after marketmg approval Side eifects or adverse events that are reported during clinical trials can
delay, 1mpede, or prevent rnarketmg approval. Srmrlarly, adverse events that are reported after marketing
approval can result in’ addltronal limitations belng placed on the product s use and, potentially, withdrawal or
suspensron of the product from the market. For example, in February 2005, in consultation with the FDA, we
and Elan voluntarily: suspended the marketmg and commercial. distribution of TYSABRI, and informed
physicians that they.should suspend.dosing of TYSABRI until further notification. In addition, we suspended
dosing in: clrmcal studies of TYSABRI in.MS; Crohn’s diséase and-RA. These decisions were based on reports
of two serious’ adverse events that occurred in patients treated with TYSABRI in clinical studies. These events
involved. two cases of: PML, a rare and frequently fatal, demyelinating disease of the central nervous system.
See “Our Products.~Approved Indications and Ongoing Deyelopment — TYSABRI.” Any adverse event,
either before -or, after. marketing approval, including the TYSABRI-related events described above, could
resalt-in. product lrabllrty claims against- us. Non-compliance with FDA safety reporting reqmrements may
result in FDA regulatory action that may include civil action or criminal penalties.

If we seek to make certam changes to an approved product such as addmg a new indication, making
certain manufacturmg changes or changing manufacturers or suppliers of ¢ertain ingredients or components,
we will need FDA rev1ew and approval before the change can be rmplemented

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug desrgnatron to drugs rntended to tréat a
“rare disease or condmon .which generally is a disease’ or condition that affects fewer than 200,000
individuals in the U.S. ‘Orphan drug designation must be requested before-submitting a BLA or NDA. After
the FDA grants orphan drug designation, the generic identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan
use are publicly disclosed by the FDA. Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten
the duratlon of the regulatory review and approval process. lt‘ a product which has an orphan drug designation
subsequently recerves the first F DA approval for the indication for which it has such designation, the product
is entitled to orphan exclusrvrty, i.e., the FDA may not approve any other appllcatrons to market the same drug
for the same 1ndrcatlon for a pertod of seven years followmg marketing approval except in certain very limited
c1rcumstances 1nclud1ng a showmg of ¢linical superlorrty ZEVALIN received orphan drug exclusivity in the
U.S. Orphan Drug status for ZEVALIN will exprre in February 2009.

The FDA, .the EMEA and other. regulatory. agencies regulate and inspect equrpment facrlmes and
processes usedsin the.manufacturing of pharmaceutical and-biologic products' prior to providing approval to
market a. preduct. If -after receiving. clearance from regulatory. agencies, a material change is made in
manufacturing equipment, location, or process, additional regulatory review and approval may be required. We
also must adhere to:current Good Manufacturing: Practices, or- cGMP, and product-specific regulations
enforced by the’ FDA' through 'its facilities inspection program. The FDA, the EMEA and other regulatory
agencies: also conduct regular, periodic visits to re-inspect equipment, facilities, and processes following the
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initial approval. If, as a result of these inspections, it is determined that our equipment, facilities, or processes
do not comply with applicable regulations and conditions of product approval, regulatory agencies may seek
civil, criminal, or administrative sanctions and/or remedies against us, including the suspension of our
manufacturing operations. In addition, the FDA regulates all advertising and promotion activities for products
under its jurisdiction both prior to and after approval. Companies must comply with all applicable FDA
requirements. If they do not, they are subject to the full range of civil and criminal penalties available to the
FDA. ‘

In the EU, Canada, and Australia, regulatory requirements and approval processes are similar in principle
to those in the U.S. Depending on the type of drug for which approval is sought, there are currently two
potential tracks for marketing approval in EU countries: mutual recognition and the centralized procedure.
These review mechanisms may ultimately lead to approval in all EU countries, but each method grants all
participating countries some decision-making authority in product approval.

In the U.S., the federal government regularly considers reforming health care coverage and costs. For
example, recent reforms to Medicare have reduced the reimbursement rates for many of our products and,
beginning in 2006, added a prescription drug benefit for all Medicare beneficiaries. Resulting legislation or
regulatory actions may have a significant effect on our business. Our ability to successfully commercialize
products may depend in part on the extent to which reimbursement for the costs of our products and related
treatments will be available in the U.S. and worldwide from government health administration authorities,
private health insurers and other organizations. Substantial uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status
of newly approved health care products by third-party payors.

We are also subject to various federal and state laws pertaining to health care “fraud and abuse,”
including anti-kickback laws and false claims laws. Anti-kickback laws make it illegal for a prescription drug
manufacturer to solicit, offer, receive, or pay any remuneration in exchange for, or to induce, the referral of
business, including the purchase or prescription of a particular drug. Due to the breadth of the statutory
provisions and the absence of guidance in the form of regulations or court decisions addressing industry
practices, it is possible that our practices might be challenged under anti-kickback or similar laws. False
claims laws prohibit anyone from knowingly and willingly presenting, or causing to be presented for payment
to third party payors (including Medicare and Medicaid) claims for reimbursed drugs or services that are false
or fraudulent, claims for items or services not provided as claimed, or claims for medically unnecessary items
or services. Our activities relating to the sale and marketing of our products may be subject to scrutiny under
these laws. Violations of fraud and abuse laws may be punishable by criminal and/or civil sanctions, including
fines and civil monetary penalties, as well as the possibility of exclusion from federal health care programs
(including Medicare and Medicaid). If the government were to allege or convict us of violating these laws, our
business could be harmed. For a description of litigation in this area in which we are currently involved, see
“Item 3 — Legal Proceedings.” Qur activities could be subject to challenge for the reasons discussed above
and due to the broad scope of these laws and the increasing attention being given to them by law enforcement
authorities.

We also participate in the Medicaid rebate program established by the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation
Act of 1990, and under amendments of that law that became effective in 1993. Under the Medicaid rebate
program, we pay a rebate for each unit of product reimbursed by Medicaid. The amount of the rebate for each
product is set by law as a minimum 15.1% of the average manufacturer price, or AMP, of that product, or if it
is greater, the difference between AMP and the best price available from us to any commercial or non-
governmental customer. The rebate amount also includes an inflation adjustment if AMP increases faster than
inflation. The rebate amount is recomputed each quarter based on our reports of current average manufacturer
price and best price for each of our products to.the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. The terms of
our participation in the program impose an obligation to correct the prices reported in previous quarters, as
may be necessary for up to three years. Any such corrections could result in an overage or underage in our
rebate liability for past quarters, depending on the direction of the correction. In addition to retroactive
rebates, if we were found to have knowingly submitted false information to the government, in addition to
other penalties available to the government, the statute provides for civil monetary penalties in the amount of
$100,000 per item of false information. Participation in the Medicaid rebate program includes extending
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discounts under’ the ‘Public Health Service, or PHS, pharmaceutrcal pricing program. The PHS pricing
program ‘extends drscounts to a variety of community health clinics and other entities that receive health
services grants from' the PHS, as well as hosprtals that serve a disproportionate share of poor Medrcare
beneﬁc1ar1es et ' , : ‘

We also make our products available for purchase by authonzed users off of our Federal Supply Schedule
(FSS) contract with_the Department of Veterans Affarrs 'As a result.of the Veterans Health Care Act of
1992, or the VHC Act federal law requires that FSS contract prices for our products for purchases by the
Veterans Admrmstratron the Department of Defense, Coast Guard, and the PHS (including the Indian
Health §emce) be capped at “federal ceiling prices,” or ]FCPs FCPs are computed by taking, at a minimum,
a 24% reductron off the “non-federal average manufacturer price,” or non- -FAMP. Our reported non- -FAMPs
and FCPs for’ our vanous products are used in establishing the FSS. prtccs available to these government
agencies. The ;accuracy of the reported non-FAMPs and FCPs may be audited by the government under
apphcable federal procurement laws. Among the remedies available to the government for infractions of these
laws is recoupment of any overages paid by FSS users durmg the audlted years. In addition, if we were found
to have knowmgly reponed a false non-FAMP or FCP, the VHC Act prov1des for civil monetary penalties of
$100,000 per item of false information,

We are’.also subJect to the US Foreign Corrupt Practrces Act whrch prohibits corporations and
individuals; from paying, offering to pay, or authorizing' the’ payrnent of dnything of value to any foreign
government ofﬁcral government stafl member, poht1ca1 party, or pohtrcal candidate in an attempt to obtain or
retam busmess or to otherwise mﬂuence .a person workmg in an ofﬁc1a1 capac1ty

We ‘conduct relevant research at all of our research facrhtres in the U S. in compliance with the current
U.S. National Institutes 'of Health Guidelines for Research:Involving Recombinant DNA Molecules, or the
NIH Gurdehnes and all other applicable federal. and state regulations. By local ordinance, we are required to,
among other-things, comply with the NIH Guidelines in relation to. our facrhtres in Cambridge, Massachu-
setts, and-are: required to operate pursuant to cértain permlts

Our present and future business has been and will continue to be subject to various ‘other laws and
regulations. Various laws, regulations and recommendations relating to safe working conditions, laboratory
practices, the experimental use of animals, and the purchase, storage, movement, import and export and use
and disposal'of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances, including radioactive compounds and infectious
disease agents, used in connection with our research work are or may be applicable to our activities. Certain
agreements entered into by us involving exclusive license rights may be subject to national or supranational
antitrust regulatory control, the effect of which also cannot be predicted. The extent of government regulation
which might result-from future legislation or administrative action cannot accurately be predicted.

Manufacturing and Raw Materials

We currently produce all of our bulk AVONEX, AMEVIVE and TYSABRI at our manufacturing
facilities located in Research Triangle Park, North Carolina and Cambridge, Massachusetts. We are in the
process of 'transferring the process for manufacturing the commercial requirements of the antibody for
ZEVALIN to Cambridge, Massachusetts from our pilot manufacturing facility in Oceanside, California.
Genentech is responsible for all worldwide manufacturing activities for bulk RITUXAN and has sourced the
manufacturing of certain bulk RITUXAN requirements to an independent third party. We manufacture
clinical products in Cambridge. We are developing 'a large-scale manufacturing facility in Oceanside,
California. We completed construction of this facility and obtained the certificate of occupancy in the fourth
quarter of 2004. ‘Commissioning and validation is expected to continue through 2005, We expect the facility to
be licensed in 2006. In addition, we recently re-started construction of a large-scale manufacturing facility in
Hillerod, Denmark which we expect to be licensed in 2008. For a discussion of the potential impact of the
suspension of TYSABRI on our plans for these facilities, see “Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors
That May Aﬁect Future Results — We are Subject to Risks Related to the Products That We Manufacture.”

We source all of our fill-finish and the majority of final product storage operations for our products, along
with a substantlal part of ‘our packaging operations, to a concentrated group of third party contractors. Raw
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materials and supplies required for the production of AVONEX, ZEVALIN, AMEVIVE and TYSABRI, are
generally available from various suppliers in quantities adequate to meet our needs, except for chelates and the
radioisotope yttrium-90 used with ZEVALIN which are available from a limited number of suppliers. We
source manufacturing of chelates to a concentrated group of third party manufacturers. We made MDS
(Canada) our exclusive supplier of the radioisotope yttrium-90 used with ZEVALIN. If we were to lose the
services of MDS (Canada) or our third party manufacturers of chelates, we would be forced to find other
providers, which could delay our ability to sell ZEVALIN. In addition, radiopharmacies independently
purchase the indium-111 isotope required for the imaging use of ZEVALIN. Currently, only two suppliers are
approved by the FDA to supply the indium-111 isotope. Each of our third-party service providers, suppliers
and manufacturers, along with the suppliers of the indium-111 isotopes, are subject to continuing inspection
by the FDA or comparable agencies in other jurisdictions. Any delay, interruption or other issues that arise in
the manufacture, fill-finish, packaging, or storage of our products, including as a result of a failure of our
facilities or the facilities or operations of third parties to pass any regulatory agency inspection, could
significantly impair our ability to sell our products. See “Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors That
May Affect Future Results — We are Subject to Risks Related to the Products That We Manufacture,” and
“Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results — We Rely to a Large
Extent on Third Parties in the Manufacturing of Our Products.”

We believe that our existing manufacturing facilities and outside sources will allow us to meet our near-
term and long-term manufacturing needs for our current commercial products and our other products
currently in clinical trials. Qur existing licensed manufactunng facilities operate under multiple licenses from
the FDA, regulatory authorities in the EU and other regulatory authorities. For a discussion of risks related to
our ability to meet our manufacturing needs for our commercial products and our other products currently in
clinical trials; see “Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results — We
are Subject to Risks Related to the Products That We Manufacture,” and “Forward-Looking Information-and
Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results — We Rely to a Large Extent on Third Parties in the
Manufacturing of Our Products.” Additional manufacturing facilities and outside sources may be required to
meet our long term research, development and commercial production needs.

Our Employees
As of December 31, 2004, we had 4,266 employees.
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The followm“? is a hst of our executwe pfﬁcers therr ages as of March .10, 2005 and their, principal
posmons Execut1 ‘ fﬁcers are appointed and ,may be removed by, the Board of Directors. We currently have
employment“ greements with Dr. Rastetter and Mr Mullen ' :

LR I

gy % . ) : Position

Name ‘
erham I-I Rastetter Ph D. .. ' - 56 Executrve Chalrman ‘ L
. James C Mullen .;_,'”.u e -.: P ‘4'6‘. . Chlef Execut1ve Oﬁicer and Presrdent
- Burt A Adelman M. D it 5 S 52 Executlve V1ce Pres1dent Development
-~ Anne: Mane Cook, Bsq. ....... Y 43 «Actmg General Counsel
John M.-Dunn, ‘Esq Lo 53000 Exebutive Vice! Presrdent New Ventures . -
Mlchael Gllman Ph. D. T A Executrve Vice' Presrdent Research
' ‘Peter N Kellogg. LT aS T Exeeutive Vice Pres1dent Flnance and Chlef ’
: : ‘ » Financial Officer .
_Conn‘le‘ L. M: sjui,i. ;{,'.:;; e R 1}).51 ., Executive' Vice Presrdent Corporate Strategy .

and Commun1cat10n

N
Executlve V1ce Presrdent Human Resources

Craig,E.:Sch ,
Executtve Vice Pres1dent Busmess Development .

Mark C, .Wrggms ! ' J N ’-.

s

Reference to" our “or “us” in the followmg descnpnons of the background of our executive oﬂicers
1nclude< Blogen Idec and Idec Pharmaceutjcals Corporatlon e :

Wzllzam H R""“‘tener Ph D. is our Executrve Cha1rman and has served in that posrtlon since the merger
in November 2003 Dr. Rastetter was formerly our Chalrman and Ch1ef Executwe Officer. He was “appointed
Charrman of our Board of‘ Directors in* May 1996. He served as our Pres1dent and Chief Executive Officer
from’ ‘December 1986 untrl January 2002 and servéd s o our ‘Chief Executlve Oﬁicer from J anuary. 2002 unt1l
November 2003. D’r 'Rastetter was also our’ Chref Finaricial Officer from 1988 t0/1993. He has served as'one
of our ‘Dlrectors smce 1986. From 1984 to" 1986, Dr. ‘Rastetter Wwas. Dlrector of Corporate Ventures~at
Genentech From' 1982 to 1984 he served ina sc1ent1ﬁc capac1ty at Genentech dlrectmg the Biocétalysis and
Chem1cal Sc1ences groups "From 1975 1 1982 Dr Rastetter held vanous faculty positions at thé Massachi-
setts’ Inst1tute of Technology He “received his’ PhD i ‘Chemistry from ‘Harvard University in 1975. In
addltlon to his posrtlon at Biogen Idec, Dr. Rastetter serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Illumina,
Inc., a company that develops parallel mmratunzed and.jflexrble b1osensors He also serves on board of the
Cahforma Healthc‘ ;stltute (CHI), and 1s an R ;

s.ouf’ Chref Execunve Oﬁlcer and Presrdent and has served in these posmons since-the
merger i ‘November 2003! Mr. Mullen was: formerly Charrman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of
Biogen; Inc tHe was‘xnamed Chairman -of: the® Board: of Dlrectors of Biogen, The. in July 2002, after bemg
named Presrdent and Chief Executive Officer of Blogen Tne! inJune 2000; Mr. Mullen joined: Biogen, Inc. in
1989 "as" Dlrector Fac1l1t1es and Englneermg He was nafred Biogen, ' In¢.’s Vice President,’ Operations; in
1992. From 1996 to 1999, Mr. Mullen:served-as Vice President, Internationdl, with: responsibility for building
all Blogen Inc operat1ons outside North America. From 1984 to 1988, Mr. Mullen held various positions at
SmlthKhne Beckma ‘”Corporatmn (now GlaxoSm1thK11ne plc) He holds ‘a B'S. in Chemical Engineering
from Rensselaer Polytechmc Institute and' a'M. B.A. from’ Vrllanova Unrversrty Mr. Mullen is also a director
of PerklnElmer Inc serves on the Board of D1rectors of the B1otechnology Industry Orgamzanon (BIO) and

is co-charr of'Cambndge Famrly and Chlldren s’ Serv1ce Capltal Campalgn Steermg Committee.
B R T L s

Burt A, Adelman M D: is.our Execut1ve V]CC Pres1dent Development and has- served in that. posrtlon
since the- merger mmNovember 2003. Dr. Adelman.was previously Executive Vice President, Research and
Development at Brogen Inc:, a position he attained in October 2001. Prior tothat, he served.as Vice President
of Medrcal Research {from.January:1999 to:October-2001 4dnd Vice: President:of Development Operations from
Avigust” 1996((0 January 1999. He began his- career with ‘Biogen, Inc. in1991;; +joining the company as Director
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of Medical Research, and has held positions of increasing responsibility including Vice President, Regulatory
Affairs, and Vice President, Development Operations. In that role he oversaw the Preclinical Development,
Medical Operations and Regulatory Affairs groups. Since 1992, Dr. Adelman has served as a lecturer at
Harvard Medical School. He is 2 member of the Board of Directors for the New England Healthcare Instltute
and a New England Division Board of Directors member for the American Cancer Society.

Anne Marie Cook is our Acting General Counsel. Ms. Cook has served as Acting General Counsel
since March 2005. From November 2003 to March 2005, Ms. Cook served as our ‘Vice President, Chief
Corporate Counsel. Prior to the merger, Ms. Cook was Vice President, Chief Corporate Counsel of Biogen,
Inc., a position she held from October 2001 to November 2003. Before that, she served as Associate General
Counsel, Chief Corporate Counsel of Biogen, Inc. from June 1999 to October 2001, Associate General
Counsel of Biogen, Inc. from December 1995 to June 1999, and Assistant General Counsel of Biogen, Inc.
from November 1992 to December 1995. Before joining Biogen, Inc., Ms. Cook was an associate in the
corporate group of Testa, Hurwitz & Thibeault, LLP. She holds a B.S. from Tufts University and a J.D. from
Notre Dame Law School. ' ‘ ‘

John M. Dunn is our Executive Vice President, New Ventures and has served in that position since the
merger in November 2003. Mr. Dunn was our Senior Vice President, Legal and Compliance, and General
Counsel from January 2002 to November 2003. Prior to that, he was a partner at the law firm of Pillsbury
Winthrop LLP specializing in corporate and business representation of public and private companies.
Mr. Dunn received his B.S. and J.D. from the University of Wyoming.

Michael Gilman, Ph.D. is our Executive Vice President, Research and has served in that position since
July 2004, Prior to that, Dr. Gilman has been our Senior Vice President, Research since the merger in
November 2003 and served in that same capacity for Biogen, Inc. from October 2001 until November 2003.
Dr. Gilman previously served as Vice President — Research of Biogen, Inc. from April 2000 until October
2001. Dr. Gilman joined Biogen, Inc. as Director of Molecular Biology in 1999 and served in that capacity
until April 2000. Dr. Gilman spent the previous five years at ARIAD Pharmaceuticals in Cambridge, most
recently as Executive Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer. Prior to that, Dr. Gilman spent eight years
on the scientific staff of Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory in New York, where his research focused on
mechanisms of signal transduction and gene regulation. Dr. Gilman holds a Ph.D. in Biochemistry from
University of California, Berkeley, and a S.B. in Life Sciences from Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Peter N. Kellogg is our Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer and has served in
that position since the merger in November 2003. Mr. Kellogg was formerly Executive Vice President,
Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Biogen, Inc. after serving as Vice Président — Finance and Chief
Financial Officer since July 2000. He joined Biogen, Inc. in 2000 from PepsiCo Inc., where he most recently
served as Senior Vice President, PepsiCo E-Commerce from March to July 2000 and as Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer, Frito-Lay International, from March 1998 to March 2000. From 1987 to 1998, he
served in a variety of senior financial, international and general management positions at PepsiCo and the
Pepsi-Cola International, Pepsi-Cola North America, and Frito-Lay International divisions. Prior to joining
PepsiCo, Mr. Kellogg was a senior consultant with Arthur Andersen & Co. and Booz Allen & Hamilton. He
received a B S.E. from Princeton University and an M.B.A. from The Wharton School.

Connie L. Matsui is our Executive Vice President, Corporate Strategy and Communications and has
served in that position since the merger in November 2003. Ms. Matsui was previously our Senior Vice
President, Planning and Resource Development. She joined us in November 1992 as Senior Director,
Planning and Resource Development with primary responsibility for strategic planning and human resources.
In December 1994, Ms. Matsui was promoted to Vice President, Planning and Resource Development. In
2000 Ms. Matsui was promoted to Senior Vice President, overseeing investor relations, corporate communica-
tions, human resources, project management and strategic planning. From 1977 to 1991, she served in a
variety of marketing and general management positions at Wells Fargo Bank, including Vice President and
Manager responsible for Consumer Retirement Programs and Vice President and Manager in charge of
company-wide Employee Relations and Communications. Ms. Matsui has been active on a number of not-for-
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profit boards and ser\ied as National Presidentof the Girl Scouts of the USA from 1999 to 2002. Ms. Matsui
rece1ved her B A, and M. B A. from Stanford University.

- Crazg E. Schnezer PhD i1s our Executive -Vice Pres1dent Human Resources and has served in that
position' since/the merger in November 2003. Dr. Schneier was previously Executive Vice President, Human
Resources of;B1ogen Inc., a position he has held since Janwary 2003. He joined Biogen, Inc. in.2001 as Senior
Vice Pres1dent ‘Strategic Organization Design and Effectiveness, after having served as an external consultant
to the company for: eight years. Prior to joining Biogen, Inc., Dr. Schneier was president of his own
mana‘gement COnsulting firm il Princeton, NJ, where he provided consulting services to over 70 of the Fortune
100 companies, as.well as several of the largest' European and Asian firms. Dr. Schneier held a tenured
'professorshlp at the Umvers1ty of Maryland’s Smith School of Business and has held teaching positions at the
business" schools of the University of Michigan and Columbia University. He currently teaches at the Tuck
School of Busmess‘ Dartmouth College. He holds aPh.D.in psychology and business strategy and an M.B.A.
from the Umvers1ty of Colorado.

Mark C. Wzggms is our ‘Executive Vice Pre51dent Business Development and has served in that capacity
since Julyl2004 Pnor 10 that Mr. Wiggins served as our Senior Vice President, Business Development from
November 2003 to July 2004 Vice President of Marketing and lBusmess Development from November 2000
to November 2003 and V1ce Presrdent of Busmess Development from May 1998 to November 2000. From
1986 to 1996 he held vanous positions at Schermg -Ploughi, including D1rector of Business Development and
from 1996 to 1998 'he was Vice President of Business Development and Marketing for Hybridon. Mr. Wiggins
received a B.S. from Syracuse University in finance and received his M.B.A from the University of Arizona.

o o
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Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results

The SEC encourages public companies to disclose forward-looking information so that investors can
better understand a company’s future prospects and make informed investment decisions. In addition to
historical information, this report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those reflected in such forward-looking statements.
Reference is made in particular to forward-looking statements regarding the anticipated level of future product
sales, royalty revenues, expenses and profits, the timing of clinical trials, the potential outcome of clinical
programs, regulatory approvals, our ability to continue development of TYSABRI and reintroduce TYSABRI
into the market, the marketing of additional products, the impact of competitive products, the anticipated
outcome of pending or anticipated litigation and patent-related proceedings, the completion and licensure of
our large-scale manufacturing facilities and our ability to meet our manufacturing needs, and the value of
investments in certain marketable securities. These and all other forward-looking statements are made based
on our current belief as to the outcome and timing of such future events. Risk factors which could cause actual
results to differ from our expectations and which could negatively impact our financial condition and results of
operations are discussed below and elsewhere in this report. Although we believe that the risks described below
represent all material risks currently applicable to our business, additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that are currently not believed to be significant to our business may also affect our
actual results and could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Unless required by
law, we do not undertake any obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements.

" Our Revenues Rely Significantly on a Limited Number of Products .

Our current and future revenues depend substantially upon continued sales of our commercial products.
Revenues related to sales of two of our products, AVONEX and RITUXAN, represented approximately 92%
of our total revenues in 2004. See “Our Products — Approved Indications and Ongoing Development —
AVONEX" and “Our Products — Approved Indications and Ongoing Development — RITUXAN.” We
cannot assure you that AVONEX or RITUXAN will continue to be accepted in the U.S. or in any foreign
markets or that sales of either of these products will not decline in the future. A number of factors may affect
market acceptance of AVONEX, RITUXAN and our other products, including:

« the perception of physicians and other members of the health care community of their safety and
efficacy relative to that of competing products;

+ patient and physician satisfaction with these products;

« the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts and those of our marketing partners and licensees in
the U.S,, the EU and other foreign markets;

« the size of the markets for these products;

+ unfavorable publicity concerning these products or similar drugs;

+ the iﬁtroduction, availability and acceptance of competing tre‘atments;
« the availability and level of third-party reimbursement;

« adverse event information relating to any of these products, including additional reports or findings of
progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, or PML, in patients treated with TYSABRI;

+ changes to product labels to add significant warnings or restrictions on use;
« the success of ongoing development work on RITUXAN;

« the continued accessibility of third parties to vial, label, and distribute these products on acceptable
terms;

 the unfavorable outcome of patent litigation related to any of these products;

e the ability to manufacture commercial lots of products successfully and on a timely basis; and
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. regulatory developments related to the manufacture or continued use of these products. -

Any matenal adverse developments with respect to the commercialization of these products may cause
our revenue to grow at a slower than expected rate, or even decrease, in the future.

Safety Issues ‘with TYSABRI Could Significantly Ajfect our Growth =~

TYSABRI was approved by the FDA il November 2004 to treat relapsing forms of MS to reduce the
frequency of cl1n1cal relapses. In February 2005, in consultation with the FDA, we and Elan voluntarily
suspended the marketmg and commercial distribution of TYSABRI. We also suspended dosing in all clinical
trials of TYSABRI ‘These- decisions were based on reports of two serious adverse events that occurred in
patrents treated with TYSABRI in combination with AVONEX in MS clinical studies. These events involved
two'cases' ‘of PML,! a‘rare and frequently fatal, demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. In light of
the tw6 reports of PML, the companies 1mt1ated a systematic review of the TYSABRI safety database. On
March 30, 2005, weiand’ Elan announced that the review of the safety database led'a serious adverse event
prewously reported by a clinical 1nvest1gator in a clinical study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s -disease to be.
reassessed as PMD‘ The case was originaily reported by the investigator as malignant astrocytoma in July
2003, ThlS patlent died in December 2003: The-patient had received 8 doses of TYSABRI over an 18 month
penod and prior med1cat1on history 1ncluded multiple courses. of immunosuppressant agents. We and Elan are
workmg wrtht, clinical investigators to evaluate patients treated with TYSABRI in clinical studies and
consultmg wrth leadmg experts to better understand the possible risk of PML. At this time, we cannot predict
the outcome of these evaluations. The outcome of these evaluations, if unfavorable or inconclusive, could
result in our permanently withdrawing TYSABRI from the market and terminating clinical studies of
TYSABRI or could result in the need for additional testing, or, if, in consultation with the FDA, we are
allowed to reintroduce TYSABRI to the market, could result in. s1gn1ﬁcantly restricted use with an ongoing
extensive pat1ent nsk management program, or with blackbox or other significant safety warnings in the label.
If the outcome of our evaluations are not satisfactory to regulatory authorities in the EU, we would likely be
required | to. w1thdraw our.applications.for approval of TYSABRI as a treatment for MS and Crohn’s disease in
the EU. 1f we are able to reintroduce TYSABRI to the market, the success of such reintroduction will depend
upon its: acceptance, by the medical community and ‘patients, which cannot be certain given questions
regardlng ity safety ralsed by these adverse events. Our inability to return TYSABRI to the market in the
U.S. or to get TYSABRI approved in the EU or any significant restrictions or warnings on use or lack of
acceptance of TYSABRI by the medlcal community or patients would materially affect our growth and
impact vanous aspects of our business and our plans for the future. This impact could include, among other
things, matenal write offs of mventory, 1ntang1ble assets or goodwill, 1mpa1rment and sale of capital assets, and
could affect our workforce

e SETEREE. : ‘
Our‘Llong‘-;T erm :Success Depends Upon the Successful Developnient and Commercialization of Other
Produetstfrbm Our Research and Development Activities and Collaborations

" Our'lonig-term viability and growth will depend upon the successful development and commercialization
of other products from our research and development activities and collaborations. We continue to expand our
developmentl efforts related to RITUXAN and other potential products in:our pipeline. The expansion of our
pipeline may 1nclude increases in spending on internal projects, the acquisition of third-party technologies or
products or; other types of investments. Product development and commercialization involve a high degree of
risk, Only a’ small number of research and development programs result in the commercialization of a product.
Many. 1mportant factors alfect our ability to successfully develop and commercialize other products, including
the ability to,

. obtaln and mamtam necessary patents and hcenses

fea ! t‘,

. demonstrate safety and efficacy of drug- cand1dates at each stage of the clinical trial process;
¢ enroll pat1ents in our clinical tnals and complete clinical trials;

v overcome techmcal ‘hurdles that may arise;
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« successfully manufacture products in sufficient quantities to meet demand;

« meet applicable regulatory standards; : : (

« obtain reimbursement coverage for the products;

« receive required regulatory approvals;

« produce drug candidates in commercial quantities at reasonable costs; and

. compefe successfully against other products and to market products successfully.

Success in early stage clinical trials or preclinical work does not ensure-that later stage or larger scale
clinical trials will be successful. Even if later stage clinical trials are successful, the risk exists that unexpected
concerns may arise from additional data or analysis or that obstacles may arise or issues be identified in
connection with review of clinical data with regulatory authorities or that regulatory authorities may disagree
with our view of the data or require additional data or information or additional studies.. .

Competition in Our Industry and in the Markets for Our Products is Intensely Competitive - l

The biotechnology industry is intensely competitive. We compete in the marketing and sale of our
products, the development of new products and processes, the acquisition of rights to new products with
commercial potential and the hiring of personnel. We compete with biotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies that have a greater number of products on the market, greater financial and other resources and
other technological or competitive advantages. We cannot be certain that one or more of our competitors will
not receive patent protection that dominates, blocks or adversely affects our product development or business;
will benefit from significantly greater sales and marketing capablhtles or will not develop products’ that are
accepted more widely than ours.

AVONEX competes with three other products:

+ REBIF, which is co-promoted by Serono, Inc. and Pfizer Inc. in the U. S. and sold by Scrono AG in
the EU;

+ BETASERON, sold by Berlex in the U.S. and sold under the name BETAFERON by Schering A.G.
in the EU; and

+ COPAXONE, sold by Teva Neurosmence Inc. in the U.S. and co- promoted by Teva and Aventis
Pharma in the EU.

In addition, a number of companies, including us, are working to develop products to treat MS that may
in the future compete with AVONEX. If we are able to reintroduce TYSABRI to the market, it would
compete with the products listed above, including AVONEX.

AVONEX also faces competition from off-label uses of drugs approved for other indications. Some of our
current competitors are also working to develop alternative formulations for delivery of their products, which
may in the future compete with AVONEX :

RITUXAN received designation as an Orphan Drug from the FDA for the treatment of relapsed or
refractory low-grade or follicular, CD20+ B-cell NHLs. Marketing exclusivity resulting from this Orphan
Drug designation expired in November 2004. ZEVALIN received designation as an Orphan Drug from the
FDA for the treatment of relapsed or refractory low grade, follicular, or transformed B-cell non-Hodgkin’s
lymphoma, including patients with RITUXAN refractory follicular NHL. Marketing exclusivity resulting
from this Orphan Drug designation expires in February 2009. RITUXAN is typically used after patients fail to
respond or relapse after treatment with traditional radiation therapy or standard chemotherapy regimes, such
as CVP and CHOP. ZEVALIN is typically used after patients fail to respond or relapse following treatment
with RITUXAN. ZEVALIN competes with BEXXAR, a radiolabeled molecule developed by Corixa
Corporation which is now being developed and commercialized by GlaxoSmithKline. BEXXAR received
FDA approval in June 2003 to treat patients with CD20+, follicular, NHL, with and without transformation,
whose disease is refractory to RITUXAN and has relapsed following chemotherapy. A number of other
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companiés,’ including ‘us, are working to develop products to treat B-cell NHLs and other forms of non-
Hodgkin’s Iymphoma that wmay ultimately compete with RITUXAN and ZEVALIN.

AMEVIVE competes with several dtﬁ’erent types of therapies 1nclud1ng

e tradmonal theraples for moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis, such as oral retinoids, ster01ds
methotrexate, cyclosporm PUVA and UVB radiation.

RAPTIVA a drug co- developed by Genentech and Xoma Corporatlon that was approved by the FDA
t 1n November 2003: to treat moderate-to-severe psonasrs

- ENBREL a drug sold by Amgen Inc and Wyeth Pharmaceutlcals Inc. that was approved by the
. FDA to treat moderate to- severe psonasrs in Apnl 2004.

. idrugs approved for other indications .that are:used to treat ‘psoriasis. Among these drugs are
:REMICADE and HUMIRA. REMICADE, which is sold worldwide by Centocor, Inc., a subsidiary

: of Johnsori” & Johnson, as a treatment for other indications, including RA, is currently in clinical

~ studies as| 'a‘potential treatment for psoriasis. HUMIRA, which is sold by Abbott is approved to treat
RA. Abbott is undertaking clinical trials of HUMIRA in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis.

In add1t1on a number of other compames 1nc1udmg us, are worklng to develop products to treat psoriasis
that may ultlmately compete with AMEVIVE. ‘

o
1

We are Subject to stks Related to the Products that We Manufacture

‘We! manufacture and expect to continue. to manufacture our. own commercial requirements of bulk
AVONEX, AMEVIVE, TYSABRI and ‘the ZEVALIN bulk antibody. Our inability to successfully
manufacture bulk product and to maintain. regulatory approvals.of our. manufacturing facilities would harm
our ab1hty to ttmely produce sufficient quantities of commercial supplies of AVONEX, AMEVIVE,
TYSABRI and ZEVALIN to meet demand. Prob]ems with manufactunng processes could result in product
defects or manufactunng failures, Wthh could require.us to delay shipment of products or recall products
prevrously shlpped or could i 1mpa1r our ablhty to expand into new markets or supply products in existing
markets Any such problem ‘would be exacerbated by unexpected demand for our products. We anticipate
commrssmnmg and validation of our large-scale manufacturlng facility in Oceanside, California to continue
through 2005 and expect the facility to be licensed for use in 2006. In addition, we initiated construction of a
large-scale manufacturmg facility in Hlllerod Denmark durlng 2004 and expect it to be licensed in 2008. The
timing of the ant1c1pated licensing of the Oceanside facﬂlty and the Hillerod facility is dependent upon the
commercial’ ava11ab111ty and potent1a1 market acceptance of TYSABRI ‘See “Our Products — Approved
Indications and Ongoing Development — TYSABRI,” and “Forward- Looklng Information and Risk Factors
That May Affect Future Results — Safety Issues with TYSABR]I Could Significantly Affect our Growth.” If
TYSABRI is permanently withdrawn from the market,’ we would need to evaluate our long-term plans for
these facilities. If we. are able to reintroduce TYSABRI to: the market, we would need to evaluate our
requiréments: for'existing inventory and additional manufacturing capacity in light of the approved label and
our judgment of' the potential U.S. market: racceptance of TYSABRI:in MS, the probability of obtaining
marketing. approval of TYSABRI in MS in the EU and other jurisdictions, and the probability of obtaining
marketmg approval of TYSABRI in additional indications in the U.S.,; EU and other jurisdictions.

If we cannot produce sufficient commercxal requlrements of bulk product of our products to meet
demand We., would need to rely on third- -party manufacturers of Wthh there are only a limited number
capable of manufactunng bulk products as contract supphers We canriot be certain that we could reach
agreement on reasonable terms, if at all, with those manufacturers Even if we were to reach agreement, the
transmon of the manufacturlng process to a “third party to enable commercial supplies could take a significant
amount of time. Our ability to supply products in sufficient capacity to meet demand is also dependent upon
third party contractors to fill-finish, package and store such products. For a discussion of the risks associated
with using third partles to perform manufacturing-related services for our products, see “Forward- -Looking
Informauon and Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results.— We Rely to a Large Extent on Third Parties
in the Manufacturing of Our Products.” In the past, we:have had to write down and incur other charges and
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expenses for products that failed to meet specifications. Similar charges may occur in the future. Any
prolonged interruption in the operations of our existing manufacturing facilities could result in cancellations of
shipments or loss of product in the process of being manufactured. Because our manufacturing processes are
highly complex and are subject to a lengthy FDA approval process, alternative qualified production capacity
may-not be available on a timely basis or at all.

We Rely to a Large Extent on Third Parties in the Manufacturing of Our Products

We rely on Genentech for all RITUXAN manufacturing. Genentech relies on a third party to
manufacture certain bulk RITUXAN requirements. If Genentech or any third party upon which it relies does
not manufacture or fill/finish RITUXAN in sufficient quantities and on a timely and cost-effective basis or if
Genentech or any third party does not obtain and maintain all required manufacturing approvals, our business
could be harmed. We also rely heavily upon third-party manufacturers and suppliers to manufacture and
supply significant portions of the product components of ZEVALIN other than the bulk antibody, including
chelates necessary for the ZEVALIN therapeutic regimen and the radioisotope yttrium-90 and the indium-
111 isotope used with the therapeutic and imaging kits of ZEVALIN, respectively. The radioisotope yttrium-
90 is only available from a limited number of suppliers. We made MDS (Canada) our exclusive supplier of
the radioisotope yttrium-90 used with ZEVALIN. MDS (Canada) is the only manufacturer of the
radioisotope yttrium-90 used with ZEVALIN approved by the FDA. If we were to lose the services of MDS
(Canada) or our third party manufacturers of chelates, we would be forced to find other third party providers,
which could delay our ability to manufacture and sell ZEVALIN. In addition, radiopharmacies independently
purchase the indium-111 isotope required for the imaging use of ZEVALIN. Currently, only two suppliers are
approved by the FDA to supply the indium-111 isotope. Our inability to find replacement suppliers for
materials used in our marketed products and our primary product candidates that are available only from a
single supplier or a limited number of suppliers could significantly impair our ability to sell our products.

We also source all of our fill-finish and the majority of our final product storage operations, along with a
substantial portion of our packaging operations of the components used with our products, to a concentrated
group of third party contractors. The manufacture of products and product components, fill-finish, packaging
and storage of our products require successful coordination among ourselves and multiple third-party
providers. Our inability to coordinate these efforts, the lack of capacity available at the third party contractor
or any other problems with the operations of these third party contractors could require us to delay shipment of
saleable products, récall products previously shipped or could impair our ability to supply products at all. This
could increase our costs, cause us to lose revenu¢ or ‘market share and damage our reputation. Any third party
we use to fill-finish, package or store our products to be sold in the U.S. must be licensed by the FDA. As a
result, alternative third party providers may not be readily available on a timely basis.

The Manufacture of Our Products is Subject to Government Regulation

We and our third party providers are generally required to maintain compliance with current Good
Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, and are subject to inspections by the FDA or comparable agencies in other
jurisdictions to confirm this compliance: Any changes of suppliers or modifications of methods of manufactur-
ing require amending our application to the FDA and ultilmate amendment acceptance by the FDA prior to
release of product to the market place. Our inability or the inability of our third party service providers to
demonstrate ongoing ¢cGMP compliance could require us to withdraw or recall product and interrupt
commercial supply of our products.” Any delay, interruption or other issues that arise in the manufacture, fill-
finish, packaging, or storage of our products as a result of a failure of our facilities or the facilities or operations
of third parties to pass any regulatory agency inspection could significantly impair our ability to develop and
commercialize our products. This could increase our costs, cause us to lose revenue or market share and
damage our reputation.

Royalty Revenues Contribute to Our Overall Profitability and Are Not Within Our Control

Royalty revenues contribute to our overall profitability. Royalty revenues may fluctuate as a result of
" disputes with licensees, collaborators and partners, future patent expirations and other factors such as pricing
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reforms, health care reform initiatives, other legal and regulatory developments and the introduction of
competitive products that may have an impact on product sales by our licensees and partners. In addition,
sales levels of products:sold by our licensees, collaborators and partners may fluctuate from quarter to quarter
due to the t1m1ng and extent of major events such as new indication approvals or government-sponsored
programs. Smce we are not involved in the developmcnt or sale of products by our licensees, collaborators and
partners, we cannot be certain of the timing or potential impact of factors which may affect their sales. In
addltron the obligation. of licensees to pay us royalties generally terminates upon expiration of the related
patents For a further discussion of future patent expirations affectmg certain royalty revenues, see “Principal
Licensed. Products and “Patents and Other Proprietary Rights.”

Our Operatmg Results Are Subject to Szgmﬁcant Fluctuatwns '

Our quarterly revenues, expenses and operatmg results have ﬂuctuated in the past and are likely to
ﬂuctuate s1gmﬁcantly in the future. Fluctuatron may result from a vanety of factors, mcludrng

ll' . v 1
b . .

demand and pncmg for our products

"
i

phys101an and patient acceptance of our products;

°

3 amount and t1mmg of sales orders for our products;

our ach1evement of product development ObJCCthCS and m1lestones,

]

research and development and manufacturing expenses;

chmcal tr1al enrollment and expenses;

i

our manufactunng performance and capacity and that of our partners;

_ e

°

percentage of time that our manufactunng facrlmes are utilized for commercial versus clinical
‘ manufacturmg,

jrate- and success of product approvals,

o

costs related 1o obtain product approvals launchmg new products and mamtarmng market acceptance
for e)dstmg ‘products; v

. t1m1ng of regulatory approval, if any, of competmve products and the rate of market penetration of
» competmg products

. new data ‘or mformatron posmve or negatlve, on the beneﬁts and risks of our products or products
‘ under development : ‘

( .. expenses related to protectmg our 1ntellectual property,
° expenses related to litigation and settlement of litigation;
© payments made to acquire new products or technology;
o wnte downs and write offs of mventones 1ntang1ble assets, goodw1ll or 1nvestments
° 1mpa1rment of assets, such as bu1ld1ngs and manufacturmg fac1ht1es
government or pnvate healthcare relmbursement policies;
o collaboratlon obligations and- copromot10n payments we make or receive;

5 tlmrng and nature of contract manufactunng and contract research and development payments and
- rece1pts ' ‘

° 1nterest rate ﬁuctuat1ons
o forergn currency exchange rates; and

° overall economic conditions.
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Our operating results during any one quarter do not necessarily suggest the anticipated results of future
quarters.

Our Sales Deperid on Payment and Reimbursement from Third-Party Payors, and a Reduction in
Payment Rate or Reimbursement Could Result in Decreased Use or Sales of Our Products.

In both domestic and foreign markets, sales of our products are dependent, in part, on the availability of
reimbursement from third-party payors such as state and federal governments, under programs such as
Medicare and Medicaid in the U.S., and private insurance plans. In certain foreign markets, the pricing and
profitability of our products generally are subject to government controls. In the U.S,, there have been, there
are, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of state and federal proposals that could limit the
amount that state or federal governments will pay to reimburse the cost of pharmaceutical and biologic
products. Recent Medicare reforms have lowered the reimbursement rate for many of our products. We are
not able to predict the full impact of these reforms and its regulatory requirements on our business. However,
we believe that legislation that reduces reimbursement for our products could adversely impact our business.
In addition, we believe that private insurers, such as managed care organizations, may adopt their own
reimbursement reductions in response to such legislation. Reduction in reimbursement for our products could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. Also, we believe the increasing emphasis on
managed care in the U.S. has and will continue to put pressure on the price and usage of our products, which
may adversely impact product sales. Further, when a new therapeutic product is approved, the availability of
governmental and/or private reimbursement for that product is uncertain, as is the amount for which that
product will be reimbursed. We cannot predict the availability or amount of reimbursement for our approved
products or product candidates, including those at a late stage of development, and current reimbursement
policies for marketed products may change at any time.

Recent Medicare reforms also added a prescription drug reimbursement beginning in 2006 for all
Medicare beneficiaries. In the meantime, a temporary drug discount card program is being established for
Medicare beneficiaries. The federal government, through its purchasing power under these programs, is likely
to demand discounts from pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies that may implicitly create price
controls on prescription drugs. On the other hand, the drug benefit may increase the volume of pharmaceutical
drug purchases, offsetting at least in part these potential price discounts. In addition, Managed Care
Organizations, or MCOs, Health Maintenance Organizations, or HMOs, Preferred Provider Organizations, or
PPOs, institutions and other government agencies continue to seek price discounts. MCOs, HMOs and PPOs
and private health plans will administer the Medicare drug benefit, leading to managed care and private health
plans influencing prescription decisions for a larger segment of the population. In addition, certain states have
proposed and certain other states have adopted various programs to control prices for their seniors’ and low
income drug programs, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, restrictions on access to certain
products, importation from other countries, such as Canada, and bulk purchasing of drugs.

If reimbursement for our marketed products changes adversely or if we fail to obtain adequate
reimbursement for our other current or future products, health care providers may limit how much or under
what circumstances they will prescribe or administer them, wh1ch could reduce the use of our products or
cause us to reduce the price of our products.

In 2003, Congress revised the statutory provisions governing Medicare payment for drugs and biologicals
furnished in hospital outpatient” departments, including many of our products. These revisions included a
transitional change to the payment methodology in 2004 and 2005, which has lowered payment rates for our
products in these years. The methodology will change in 2006, when the statute provides that rates are to be
set based on hospital acquisition cost surveys, or some other means if survey data are not available. Some of
our products, such as RITUXAN, are not frequently provided in hospital outpatient departments such that the
majority of patients receiving the products should not be affected by the rates for 2005. Other products, such
as ZEVALIN, are used primarily in the hospital outpatient setting and we are uncertain as to whether
hospitals will view the 2005 rates favorably and therefore choose to provide ZEVALIN to their patients.
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We encounter similar regulatory'and legislative issues in most other countries. In the EU and some other
intemational-imarkets,; the government provides health care at low direct cost to consumers and regulates
phatmaceutical prices or patient reimbursement levels to control costs for the government-sponsored health
care system. This international patchwork of price regulation may lead to inconsistent prices and some third-
party trade in our products from markets with lower prices. Such trade explortmg price differences between
countrles could undermme our sales in markets with hrgher pnces

SN L Ve ‘
We May Be Uriable to- Adequately Protect or Enforce Our Intellectual Property Rights or Secure Rzghts
toT htrd-Party Patents ‘

We have ﬁled :numerous patent applications in the U.S. and various other countries seeking protection of
inventions ofiginating from our research and.dévelopment, including a number of our processes and products.
Patents have been issued on many of these applications. We have also obtained rights to various patents and
patent apphcatrons under licenses with third parties, which provide for the payment of royalties by us. The
ultimate degree of! patent protection that will be afforded to brotechnology products and processes, including
ours, in the U.S, and in other important markets remains uncertain and is dependént upon’the scope of
protectron decrded upon by the patent offices, courts and lawmakers in these countries. There is no certainty
that our emstmg patents or others, if obtained, will afford us substantial protection or commercial benefit.
Slmrlarly, there is no assurance that our pending patent apphcatrons or patent applications licensed from third
parties will ultrmately be granted as patents or that those patents that have been issued or are issued in the
future will prevail if: they are challenged in court.

substant1al number of patents have already been 1ssued to other biotechnology and biopharmaceutical
companles Competltors may have filed applications for, or have been” issued patents and may obtain
addltlonal patents and propnetary rights that may relate to products or processes competitive with or similar to
our products and processes Moreover, the patent laws of the U.S. and foreign countries are distinct and
de01srons as’ to patentmg, validity of patents and infringement of patents may be resolved differently in
drﬁ"erent countnes In general we obtain licensés to third party patents, which we deem necessary or. desrrable
for the manufacture, use and sale of our products We are ,currently unable to assess the extent to which we
may wrsh or be requrred to acquire rights under such patents and the avaﬂabthty and cost of acquiring such
nghts, or whether a license to such patents will be avarlable on acceptable terms or at all, There may be
patents m the US. or in forelgn countries or patents 1ssued in the future that are unavailable to license on
acceptable terms Our mablhty to obtain such licenses may hindef our ability to market our products

We are aware. that others, including various universities and companies working in the biotechnology
field, have. ﬁled patent! apphcatlons and have been granted patents in'the U.S. and in other countries claiming
subject matter potenttally useful to our business. Some ‘of those patents and patent apphcatlons claim only
pecrﬁc products or methods of ‘making such’products, while others ¢laim more general processes or
techmques useful or now used'in the biotechnology industry. There is con51derab1e uncertamty within the
biotechnalogy’ 1ndustry ‘about the validity, scope and enforceability of many issued patents in the U.S. and
elsewhere in the world, arid, to date, there is no consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in
brotechnology patents‘ We cannot currently determine the ultimate scope and validity of patents which may be
granted to third parttes in the future or which patents might be asserted to be infringed by the manufacture,
use and sale of our products

’

There has been, and we expect that there may ‘continue to be s1gn1ﬁcant htrgatron in the industry
regardmg patents and other intellectual property rights. Litigation, including our current:patent litigation with
Columbia; Umversrty, and -Classen Immunotherap1es and other proceedings concerning patents and other
intellectual property rights may be protracted, expensive and distracting to management. Competitors may sue
us-as a way of delayrng the introduction of our products. Any litigation, including any interference proceedings
to determine priority of inventions, oppositions to patents in foreign countries or litigation against our partners,
may be costly:and time consuming and could harm our business. We.expect. that litigation may be necessary in
some instancés to ‘detérmine ‘the validity and scope of certain .of -our proprietary rights. Litigation may be
necessary in' other instances to determine the validity, scopé and/or noninfringement of certain patent rights
claimed by third parties to be pertinent to the manufacture, use or sale of our products. Ultimately, the

. ' '
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outcome of such litigation could adversely affect the validity and scope of our patent or other proprietary
rights, or, conversely, hinder our ability to market our products. See “Item 3 — Legal Proceedings” for a
description of litigation regarding our patents and other proprietary. rights.

Legislative or Regulatory Changes Could Harm Our Business

Our business is subject to extensive government regulation and oversight. As a result, we may become
subject to governmental actions which could adversely affect our business, operations or financial condition,
including:

"« new laws, regulations or judicial decisions, or new interpretations of existing laws, regulations or
decisions, related to health care availability, method of dehvery and payment for health care products
and services;

. changes in the FDA and foreign régulatory approval processes that may delay or prevent the approval
of new products and result in lost market opportunity; .

» new laws, regulations and judicial decisions affecting pricing or marketing; and

s changes in the tax laws relating to our operations.

Failure to Comply with Government Regulations Regarding Our Products Could Harm Our Business -

Our activities, including the sale and markeéting of our products, are subject to extensive government
regulation and oversight, including regulation under the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and other
federal and state statutes. Pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have been the target of lawsuits and
investigations alleging violations of government regulation, including claims asserting antitrust violations,
violations of the Federal False Claim Act, Anti-Kickback Act, the Prescription Drug Marketing Act or other
violations in connection with Medicare and/or Medicaid reimbursement or related to environmental matters
and claims under state laws, including state anti-kickback and fraud laws. For example, we and a number of
other major pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies are named defendants in certain Average Whole-
sale Price litigation pending in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts alleging, among other
things, violations in connection with Medicaid reimbursement. See “Item 3 — Legal Proceedings” for a
description of this litigation.

Violations of governmental regulation may be punishable by criminal and civil sanctions, including fines
and civil monetary penalties, as well as the possibility of exclusion from federal healthcare programs
(including Medicare and Medicaid). We cannot predict with certainty the eventual outcome of any pending
litigation. If we were to be convicted of violating laws regulating the sale and marketing of our products in the
current proceedings or in new lawsuits or claims brought against us, our business could be materially harmed.

Failure to Prevail in Litigation or Satisfactorily Resolve a Third Part;y Investigation Could Harm Our
Business v

_ Pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have been the target of lawsuits relating to product liability

claims and disputes over intellectual property rights (including patents). See “Forward-Looking Information
and Risk. Factors That May Affect Future Results — We May Be Unable to Adequately Protect or Enforce
Our Intellectual Property Rights or Secure Rights to Third-Party Patents.” Additionally, the administration of
drugs in humans, whether in clinical studies or commercially, can result in product liability claims whether or
not the drugs are actually at fault in causing an injury. Our products or product candidates mdy cause, or may
appear to have caused, injury or dangerous drug interactions that we may not learn about or understand until
the -product or product candidate has been administered to patients for a prolonged period of time. For
example, we may face product liability claims by patients treated with TYSABRI that have developed PML, a
rare and frequently fatal, demyelinating disease of the central nervous system, Whlle using TYSABRI, whether
or not. TYSABRI is at fault in causing the disease.
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Public companres may also be; the subject of certain other types ‘of claims, including those asserting
violations of secuntles laws and denvatrve actions. For example, we face several stockholder-derivative actions
and class actlon lawsuits related to our announcement of the suspension of marketing and commercial
distribution of TYSABRI See “Item 3 — Legal Proceedlngs” for a description of these matters. In addition,
we are. pr0v1d1ng the SEC with information in connection with the SEC’s informal inquiry into the suspension
of marketmg and. commercial distribution of TYSABRI and trading in our securities by certain of our
dlrectors ofﬁcers and employees. » r

We cannot predlct with certainty the eventual outcome of any pending litigation or third-party inquiry.
We may not. be successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights in the litigation or informal inquiry to
which we are’ currently subject, or in new lawsuits, investigations or claims brought against us, and, as a result,
our busmess could’ be ‘materially harmed. These lawsuits, investigations or claims may result in large
' Judgments ot settlements ‘against us, any of which could have a negative effect on our financial performance
and busrness Addmonally, lawsuits and investigations can be expensive'to defend, whether or not the lawsuit
or 1nvest1gat10n has, mefit, and the defense of these actiofis may divert the attention of our management and
other resources that would otherwise be engaged in running our busmess

We maintain product liability and drrector and oﬁicer insurance that we regard as reasonably adequate to
protect us from potentral clarms however we cannot assure you that it will. Also, the costs of insurance have
increased dramatlcally in recent years, and the. ava11ab111ty of coverage has decreased. As a result, we cannot

|
assure you that we w1H be able to maintain its, current product 11ab111ty msurance ata reasonable cost, or at all.

Our Busmess Involves Envzronmental Risks

Our busrness and the busmess of several of our strategrc partners 1nclud1ng Genentech and Elan, involve
the controlled use of hazardous materials, chemicals, biologics and radioactive compounds. Biologics
manufactunng is extremely susceptible to product loss due to microbial or viral contamination, material
equrpment failure, or 'veridor or operator error. Although we believe that 6ur safety procedures for handling
and drsposmg of such matenals comply with state and federal standards, there will always be the risk of
accidental contamination or injury. In addition, microbial or viral contamination may cause the closure of a
manufacturing facility for an extended period of time. By law, radioactive materials may only be disposed of at
state- approved facrhtres We currently store radioactive materials, from our California operation on-site
because, the‘(approval of a disposal site in California for, all -California-based companies has been delayed
1ndeﬁn1tely 1If and when a disposal site.is approved, we may incur substantial costs related to the disposal of
these materrals Ifi we ‘were to become liable for an accident, or if we were to suffer an extended facility
shutdown 4we could mcur s1gn1ﬁcant costs, damages and penaltles ‘that could harm our business.

n

We Rely Upan Key Personnel

Our suecess \yljll depend, to a great extent, upon the experience, abilities and continued services of our
executive officers and key scientific personnel. If we lose the services of any of these individuals, our business
could be harmed "We currently have employment agreements with William H. Rastetter, Ph.D.,
Executrve Chalrman and James C. Mullen, our Chief Executive Officer and President. Our success also w111
depend. upon our abrhty to attract and retain other hlghly quahﬁed scientific, managerial, sales and
manufactunng personnel and ‘our ability to develop and maintain relationships with qualified clinical
researchers. Competrtron to obtain the services of these personnel and relatlonshlps is intense and we compete
with numerous pharmaceutical and blotechnology companies as well as with universities and non-profit
research organizations. We may not be able to continue to attract and retain quahﬁed personnel or develop and
malntam relatlonshlps w1th clinical researchers.
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Future Transactions May Harm Our Business or the Market Price of Our Stock

We regularly review potential transactions related to technologies, products or product rights and
businesses complementary to our business. These transactions could include:

 mergers,
 acquisitions;

« strategic alliances;

» licensing dgreements; and
* copromotion agreements.

We may choose to enter into one or. more of these transactions at any time, Wthh may cause substantial
fluctuations to the market price of our stock. Moreover, dependlng upon the nature of. any transaction, we may
experience a charge to earnings, which could also harm the market price of our stock.

We are Subject to Market Risk

We have exposure to financial risk in several areas including changes in foreign exchange rates and
interest rates. We attempt to minimize our exposures by using certain financial instruments, for purposes other
than trading, in accordance with our overall risk management guidelines. See “Critical Accounting Estimates”
in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for information
regarding our accounting policies for financial instruments and disclosures of financial instruments.

Our Financial Position, Results of Operations and Cash Flows can be Affected by Fluctuations in
Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

We have operations in Europe, Japan, Australia and Canada in connection with the sale of AVONEX.
We also receive royalty revenues based on worldwide product sales by our licensees and through Genentech on
sales of RITUXAN outside of the U.S.. As a result, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows
can be affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates (pnmanly Euro, Swedish krona, British
pound, Japanese yen, Canadian dollar and Swiss franc).

We use foreign currency forward contracts to manage foreign currency risk and do riot engage in currency
speculation. We use these forward contracts to hedge certain forecasted transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. A hypothetical adverse 10% movement in foreign exchange rates compared to the U.S. dollar
across all maturities (for example, a strengthening of the Euro) would result in a hypothetical loss in fair value
of approximately $35 million. Our use of this methodology to quantify the market risk of such instruments
should not be construed as an endorsement of its accuracy or the accuracy of the related assumptions. The
quantitative information about market risk is necessarily limited because it does not take into account
operating transactions.

We are Exposed to Risk of Interest Rate Fluctuations

The fair value of our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are subject to ¢change as a result of
potential changes in market interest rates. The potential change in fair value for interest rate sensitive
instruments has been assessed on a hypothetical 100 basis point adverse movement across all maturities, We
estimate that such hypothetical adverse 100 basis point movement would not have matcnally impacted net
income or materially affected the fair value of interest rate sensitive instruments,

Volatility of Our Stock Price

The market prices for our common stock and for securities of other companies engaged primarily in
biotechnology and pharmaceutical development, manufacture and distribution are highly volatile. For
example, the closing selling price of our common stock fluctuated between $36.94 per share and $67.92 per
share during 2004, and between $37.53 per share and $67.80 per share from January 3, 2005 and March 15,

36




2005, The market pncet of our common stock. likely will continue to fluctuate due to a variety of factors,
mcludmg Z;t;}l :

. materral pubhc announcements .
: ‘the announcement ‘and timing of new' product introductions by us'or others;

. matenal developments relating to TYSABRI including the outcome of our evaluations of the risk of
‘ PML in patrents treated with TYSABRI;

¢ events related to our products of those of our compet1tors 1nclud1ng the withdrawal or suspension of
lproducts from the market;

!

techn1cal 1nnovatrons or product development by us or our cornpetltors

e

regulatory approvals or regulatory 1ssues Co

avarlabﬂlty and level of third- party rermbursement

o developments relatmg to patents, proprietary r1ghts and orphan drug status;

results of late stage clm1cal tnals w1th respect to our products under development or those of our
_‘competxtors, " ‘j;_‘ . : S

e ‘new 'data, or’1nformat10n positive or negauve on the beneﬁts and nsks of our products or products
‘ 'under development ‘

polttrcal developments or proposed legrslanon in the pharmaceut1cal or healthcare mdustry,

e ,econom1c and other external factors dlsaster or. cnsrs

‘hedge and/ or arbltrage activities by holders of our convertible promissory notes;

»',perrod -to-period fluctuations i in our financial results or results Wthh do not meet or exceed analyst
expectatrons, and

‘market trends relatmg to or affecting stock prices throughout our industry, whether or not related to
;results or, news regardmg us or our competltors

OurlOutstanding‘ ‘Corivertible Promissory Notes Leverage Us Considembly

’ As a result of i 1ssu1ng our subordmated notes due 2019 i in February 1999 and issuing our senior notes due
2032 in Aprrl and'May 2002, we incurred indebtedness of approxrmately $345.0 million at maturity in 2019
and approx1mately $1.2 billion at maturity in 2032. As of December 31, 2004, our remaining indebtedness
under the subordinated notes was approximately $219.2 million at maturity, due to conversion of subordinated
notes into common stock in accordance with the conversion features of the notes. Holders of the subordinated
notes may requrre us to purchase all or a portion of the notes on February 16, 2009 and 2014 at a price equal to
the issue price plus ‘the accrued original issue discount to the date of purchase, payable at our option in cash,
common stock or a combination of cash and stock. Holders of the senior notes may require us to purchase all
ora portlon of the notes in cash on April 29, 2005, 2007, 2012 and 2017 at a price equal to the issue price plus
the accrued or1g1nal issue discount to the date of purchase. The aggregate purchase price of our outstanding
senior notes on Aprtl 29,°2005 is approximately $753 million. Based on the range of stock prices since the
announcement of the'suspension of the marketing and commercial distribution of TYSABRI on February 28,
2008, it is h1gh1y probable that we will be required to repurchase all or a substantial portion of the senior notes
on Aprll 29, 2005

The degrec to wh1ch we are leveraged could harm our ability to obtain future ﬁnancmg and could make us
more, vulnerable to 1ndustry downturns and competitive pressures. Our ability to meet our debt obligations will
be dependent upon our future performance, which will be subject to financial, business and other factors
aﬁ'ectmg our operatlons, many of which are beyond our control.
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We Have Adopted Several Anti-takeover Measures As Well As Other Measures to Protect Certain
Members of Our Management Which May Discourage or Prevent a Third Party From Acquiring Us

A number of factors pertaining to our corporate governance discourage a takeover attempt that might be
viewed as beneficial to stockholders who wish to receive a premium for their shares from a potential bidder.
For example:

« we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which provides that we may
not enter into a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after the
date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business
combination is approved in the manner prescribed in Section 203;

» our stockholder rights plan is designed to cause substantial dllutlon to a person who attempts to acquire
us on terms not approved by our board of directors;

» our board of directors has the authority to issue, without vote or action of étockholders, up to
8,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to fix the price, rights, preferences and privileges of those.
shares, each of which could be superior to the rights of holders of common stock;

» our collaboration agreement with Genentech provides Genentech with the option to buy the rights to
RITUXAN and retain control of any additional anti-CD20 products developed under the collaboration
in the event that we undergo a change of control, which may limit our attractiveness to potential
acquirors;

» our collaboration agreement with Elan provides Elan with the option to buy the rights to TYSABRI in
the event that we undergo a change of control, which may limit our attractiveness to potential
acquirors;

+ under the terms of our senior notes we would be required to repurchase the notes for cash if we undergo
a change of control before 2007;

» our directors are elected to staggered terms, which prevents the entlre board from being replaced in any
single year; and

+ our bylaws provide that, until November 12, 2006, the affirmative vote of at least 80% of our board of
directors (excluding directors who are serving as an officer or employee) will be required to remove
William H. Rastetter, Ph.D. from his position as our Executive Chairman and to remove James C.
Mullen as our Chief Executive Officer and President. '
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Item 2 Properttes

Cambndge, Massachusetts

§

Our prmcrpal executrve oﬁices are located in Cambndge Massachusetts In Cambridge, we own
approximately 537 ,292 square feet of real estaté space, consisting of a 150,000 square foot building that houses
laboratory. and office space; an approximately 259,000 square foot building that primarily contains research
and development and process development operations; and two other buildings, consisting of an aggregate of
approxrmately 128,292 Square feet, which-primarily contain laboratories, purification, aseptic botthng facilities,
office space, and 6,130 square feet which we lease to'a third party under a'lease which expires in 2008. We
have~also started construction of an; “approximately 96,500 square foot:building that will primarily house
laboratory and office space. We also have development options for additional property in Cambridge. We lease
a total of apprommately 415,900 square feet, consisting of additional office; manufacturing, and research and
development 'space, in -all or part of five other buildings in Cambridge. One of the -leases expired on
. December 31, 12004, We are leasing this space on a month-to-month basis while we negotrate a'new lease. The

lease exprranon dates for the other leased sites range from 2005 to 2015.

vty l AN !

San Dtego and Oceanszde, Caltforma R
rr - -
We also own, approxrmately 42.6 acres of land in San Diego, Cahfornta In September 2004, we opened
our new research and corporate campus on this property. The campus consrsts of five interconnected buildings
and substantrally all of our San Diego employees now work at this cdmpus. The transition of our San Diego
employees. from our four leased sites in San Diego to this new campus was completed in October 2004. We
have sublet or are-in the process of subletting the vacated lease sites for which we have outstanding
obligations. We also;own approximately 90 acres of land in Oceanside, California where we have completed
construcnon of a large -scale manufacturing facility, and obtained the certificate of occupancy in the fourth
quarter of 2004. Commrssromng and validation is expected to continue through 2005. We expect the facility to
be licensed:for use in 2006. We discontinued operations at our Oceanside. pilot manufacturing facility:in July
2004. For a d1scussron of the potential impact of the suspension of TY.SABRI on our plans for the Oceanside
large- scale manufactunng facility and the Hillerod, Denmark large -scale manufacturing facility discussed
below, see ‘Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors That. May Affect Future Results — We are
Subject:to Rlsks Related to the Products That We. Manufacture T
i i . . ©
Research Trtangle Park North Carolina . - l
. l
We own a 108 0[)0 square foot biologics manufacturrng facrlrty,‘a 232, 000 square foot large scale
manufactunng plant and a second large scale purification facility of 42,000 square feet, and a 150,000 square
foot laboratory office butldmg in Research Triangle Park, North-Carolina. We manufacture bulk AVONEX at
the biologics; manufactunng facﬂrty ‘We manufacture bulk AMEVIVE and TYSABRI at the large-scale
manufactunng facility. We plan to use this facrllty to manufacture other products.in our pipeline. We are
continuing further expansion in Research Triangle Park with ongoing construction of several projects to
increase our manufactunng flexibility, mcludmg the construction of a. clrmcal aseptic fill-finish facility.
Uy l RS '
Internauonal e S t )
e l'.‘“““-.n . ' : :
We lease office. space in Zug, Swrtzerland our . 1nternat10nal headquarters, the United ngdom
Germany, Austnag,France Belgium, Spain, Portugal, Denmark Sweden, Finland, Norway, Japan, Australia
and Canada, In addition, we lease approximately 29,200 square feet of real estate in Hoopddorf, The
Netherlands, which consists of office space, a storage facility, a packaging facility where we perform some of
our AVONEX packaging operations, and quality control operations. We also lease 9,015 square meters of real
estate space in Lr;nden in the Netherlands consisting of office space and warehouse space. In addition, we own
approximately 60 acres of property in Hillerod, Denmark. We recently re- started constructron of a large-scale
manufacturlng facrhty at the Hillerod site.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On March 2, 2003, we, along with William H. Rastetter, our Executive Chairman, and James C. Mullen, our
Chief Executive Officer, were named as defendants in a purported class action lawsuit, captioned Brown v. Biogen
Idec Inc., et al;, filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts. The complaint alleges violations
of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The
action is purportedly brought on behalf of all purchasers of our publicly-traded securities between February 18,
2004 and February 25, 2005. The plaintiff alleges that the defendants made materially false and misleading
statements regarding potentially serious side effects of TYSABRI in order. to gain accelerated approval from the
FDA for the product’s distribution and sale. The plaintiff alleges that these materially false and misleading
statements harmed the purported class by artificially inflating our stock price during the purported class period and
that company’ insiders benefited personally from the.inflated price by selling our stock. The plaintiff seeks
unspecified damages, as well as interest, cost and attorneys’ fees. A substantially similar action, captionéd Grill v.
Biogen Idec Inc., et al., was filed on March 10, 2005 in the same court by another purported class representative.
We believe that the actions are without merit and intend to contest them vigorously. At this stage of htlgatlon we |
cannot make any estimate of a potential loss or range of loss.

On March 4, 2005, a purported shareholder derivative action, captioned Halpern v. Rastetter, et al., was
filed in the Court of Chancery for the State of Delaware, in New Castle County, on our behalf of Biogen Idec
Inc., against us as nominal defendant, our Board of Directors and our former general counsel. The plaintiff
derivatively claims breaches of fiduciary duty by our Board of Directors for inadequate oversight of our
_policies, practices, controls and assets, and for recklessly awarding executive bonuses despite alleged
awareness of potentially serious side effects of TYSABRI and the potential for related harm to our financial
position. The plaintiff also derivatively claims that our Executive Chairman, former general counsel and a
director misappropriated’ confidential company information for personal profit by selling our stock while in
possession of material, non-public information regarding the potentially serious side effects of TYSABRI, and
alteges that our Board of Directors did not ensure that appropriate policies were in place regarding the control
of confidential information and personal trading in our securities by officers and directors. The plaintiff seeks
unspecified damages, profits, the return of all bonuses paid by us, costs and attorneys’ fees. A substantially
similar action; captioned Golaine v. Rastetter, et al., was filed on March 14, 2005 in the same court. Neither of
the ‘plaintiffs made presuit demand on our Board of Directors prior to filing their respective actions: As
required by applicable law, we and our Board of Directors are considering the derivative claims in the
complaints and will respond in a time and manner consistent with applicable Delaware statutory and common
law. These purported derivative actions do not seek affirmative relief from the Company.

On March 9, 2005, two additional purported shareholder derivative actions, captioned Carmona v.
Mullen, et al. and Fink v. Mullen, et al., were brought in the Superior Court of the State of California, County
of San Diego, on our behalf, against us-as nominal defendant, our Board of Directors and our chief financial
officer. The plaintiffs derivatively claim breach of fiduciary’ duties, abuse of control, gross mismanagement,
waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment against all defendants. The plaintiffs also derivatively claim
insider selling in violation of California Corporations Code § 25402 and breach of fiduciary duty and
misappropriation of information against certain defendants who 'sold our securities during the period of
February 18, 2004 to the date of the complaints. The plaintiffs allege that the defendants caused and/ or
allowed us to issue, and conspired, aided and abetted and acted in concert in concealing that we were issuing,
false and misleading press releases about the safety of TYSABRI and its financial prospects which resulted in
legal claims being asserted against us, irreparable harm to our corporate image, depression of our stock price
and impairment of our ability to raise capital. The plaintiffs also allege that certain defendants sold personally
owned shares of our stock while in possession of material, undisclosed, adverse information. The plaintiffs seek
unspecified damages, treble damages for the purported insider trading in violation of California Corporate
Code §25402, equitable relief including restriction of the defendants’ trading proceeds or other assets,
restitution, disgorgement and costs, including attorneys’ fees and expenses. Neither of the plaintiffs made
presuit demand on the Board of Directors prior to filing their respective actions. As required by applicable law;
we and our Board of Directors are considering the derivative claims in the complaints and will respond in a
time.and manner consistent with applicable statutory and common law These purported denvatlve actions do
not seek affirmative rellef from the Company.
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Qur Board. of ‘Directors has received letters, dated March. 1 and 15; 2005, respectively, on behalf of
purported owners of our securities purportedly constituting demands under Delaware law. A supplement to the:
March' 1 1etter was ‘received on March 2, 2005. The letters generally allege that certain of our officers and
directors breached their ﬁdu01ary duty to us by selling personally held shares our securities while in possession
of material, non-public information about potential serious side effects of TYSABRI. The letters generally
request that our Board of Directors take action on our behalf to recover compensation and profits from the
officers; and dlrectors ‘consider enhanced corporate governance- controls. related to .the sales of securities by
1ns1ders and pursue. other such equrtable relief, damages, and other remedles as may be appropriate. As
requrred by applrcable law, .our Board of Directors is currently con51der1ng the letters and will respond in a
time and manner consistent with Delaware law.

We: aré provrdmg information to the SEC regarding ‘the SEC ] 1nforma1 inquiry .into the suspension of
marketing and commerc1a1 distribution of TYSABRI and tradrng in our secuntles by certain of our directors,
officers’ and employees ’

-On’ July 15 2003, Biogen, Inc. (now Blogen Idec MA; Inc one of our wholly owned subsidiaries), along
with’ Genzyme Corporatron and Abbott Bioresearch Center Inc., filed suit against The Trustees of Columbia
Umversrty in the Clty of New York, or Columbia, in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts,
contendmg that we, 1o longer have any obligation to pay royalties to Columbia on sales of our products under a
1993 license agreement between us and Columbia related to U.S. Patent Nos. 4,399,216, 4,634,665, and
5,179,017, “also referred to as the Original Patents, or under a newly issued patent, U.S. Patent No. 6,455,275,
also referred to as the ‘275 patent (the 2003 action). Based, in part, on the court’s subsequent finding that we
had made'a strong| showrng that we might prevail in proving the ‘275 patent is invalid under the doctrine of
non- statutory double patentmg, Columbia has since covendnted not to sue Biogen Idec MA, Inc. on any claim
of the 275, patent and any claim that is-the same or substantially the same as the claims of the ‘275 patent if
such clarm(s) emerge from the reexamination or reissue proceedmgs currently pending before the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Ofﬁce or USPTO, with respect to the 275 patent. As a result of Columbia’s covenant not to
sue, and. Columbra s assertion that Biogen Idec'MA, Inc. is'a licensee in good standing, the court issued an
order ofi November 5, 2004, in which it dismissed Biogen Idec MA Inc.’s clarms for declaratory relief for lack
of subJect‘ matter Jur"lsdrctlon At this time, we are unable to predict whether any claims will issue from the
USPTO on the réexamination or reissue proceedings « eoncermng the ‘275 patent, or whether, 1f any claims do
issue, such’ clalms w111 pose a risk of 1nfr1ngement with respect to our activities.

On September 17 2004 Brogen Idec Inc., Brogen Idec MA Inc and Genzyme Corporation, filed suit
against Columbla in the U. S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts (the 2004 action). In the 2004
action we reasserted some of the contentions made in our complaint in the action filed in 2003 action. For
example that. we are seekrng a declaratory judgment that we have no obligation to pay any further royalties
under the hcense agreement because the Original Patents have expired and the 275 patent is invalid and
unenforceable; and that Columbia should be permanently enjomed from demanding any further royalties
based on the: ‘275 patent or.on any pending continuations, contlnuatlons -in- part, or divisional applications of
the Onglnal Patents We have also asserted claims for rehef based on abuse of process, breach of contract,
violation of Massachusetts laws concerning unfair and "deceptive trade practices, prosecution laches and
1nequ1tab1e conduct To date Columbia has refused to extend its covenant not to sue on the ‘275 patent to
Biogen Idec Inc In the everit that we are unsuccessful in the present litigation and Columbia asserts a claim
for 1nfr1ngement agamst Blogen Idec Inc., we may be liable for damages suffered by Columbia with respect to
unpaid royaltles and such other relief as Columbia may seek and be granted by the Court At this stage of the
htrgatlon we cannot ‘make any estimate of a potential loss or range of loss.

On August 10, 2004 Classen Immunotherapies, Inc filed suit against us, GlaxoSmlthKlrne Chiron
Corporatron, ‘Merck & Co., Inc., and Kaiser-Permanente, Inc., in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Maryland, contendmg that we induced infringement of U.S. patents 6,420,139, 6,638,739, 5,728,385, and
5,723,283, all of which are directed to various methods of immunization or determination of immunization
schedules. The inducement of infringement claims are based on allegatrons that we “provided instructions
and/ot recommendations on a proper immunization schedule for vaccines” to other defendants who are
alieged to have directly infringed the patents at issue. We are investigating the allegations, however, we do not
believe them to be based in fact. Under our 1988 license agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, GlaxoSmithKline
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is obligated to indemnify and defend us against these claims. In the event that the nature of the claims change
such that GlaxoSmithKline is no longer obligated to indemnify and defend us and we are unsuccessful in the
present litigation we may be liable for damages suffered by Classen and such other relief as Classen may seek
and be granted by the court. At this stage of the litigation, we cannot make any estimate of a potential loss or
range of loss.

Along with several other major pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, Biogen, Inc. (now Biogen
Idec MA, Inc., one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries) or, in certain cases, Biogen Idec Inc., was named as a
defendant in lawsuits filed by the County of Suffolk, New York, the County of Westchester, New York, the
County of Rockland, New York, the County of Nassau, New York, the County of Onondaga, New York, the
County of Chenango, New York, the County of Erie, New York, the City of New York and the County of
Chautauqua, New York. All of the cases are pending in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Massachusetts, with the exception of the Onondaga, Chenango and Chautauqua lawsuits, which are expected
to be transferred to the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts, and the Erie lawsuit, which is
pending in the Supreme Court of the State of New York for the County of Erie. The complaints allege that
the defendants fraudulently reported the Average Wholesale Price for certain drugs for which Medicaid
provides reimbursement, also referred to as Covered Drugs; marketed and promoted the sale of Covered Drugs
to providers based on the providers’ ability to collect inflated payments from the government and Medicaid
beneficiaries that exceeded payments possible for competing drugs; provided financing incentives to providers
to over-prescribe Covered Drugs or to prescribe Covered Drugs in place of competing drugs; and overcharged
Medicaid for illegally inflated Covered Drugs reimbursements. The complaints allege violations of New York
state law and advance common law claims for unfair trade practices, fraud, and unjust enrichment. In
addition, all of the complaints, with the exception of the County of Erie, allege that the defendants failed to
accurately report the “best price” on the Covered Drugs to the Secretary of Health and Human Services
pursuant to rebate agreements entered into with the Secretary of Health and Human Services, and excluded
from their reporting certain drugs offered at discounts and other rebates that would have reduced the “best
price.” The Suffolk, Westchester, Rockland, and Nassau County complaints also claim that Biogen violated
the Racketeering Influence and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). In September
2003, Biogen joined other named defendants in filing a motion to dismiss the Suffolk County complaint.
Biogen also separately filed a motion on its own behalf arguing that the plaintiffs made no specific factual
allegations against Biogen to connect it with the alleged scheme. In September 2004, the court, in ruling on
defendants’ joint motion to dismiss, allowed the motion, in part, and dismissed the RICO claim, the Medicaid
best price claim, the breach of contract claim, and the common law fraud claim. The court did not dismiss the
claims brought under the New York State Medicaid and Social Services statutes, the unfair trade practices
claim, or the claim for unjust enrichment. In October 2004, the court issued a partial decision on Biogen’s
individual motion to dismiss. The court dismissed all of the state law claims against Biogen based on the
alleged failure to report best price, but deferred ruling on the fraud-based claims and ordered Suffolk County
to produce all documents in support of its fraud-based claims. Suffolk County subsequently produced
documents in response to the court’s request and Biogen renewed its motion to dismiss. Neither Biogen nor
the other defendants have answered or responded to the other complaints, as all of the plaintiffs except Erie
County have agreed to stay the time to respond until the resolution of the pending motion to dismiss the
Suffolk County complaint. Biogen Idec intends to defend itself vigorously against all of the allegations and
claims in these lawsuits. At this stage of the litigation, we cannot make any estimate of a potential loss or
range of loss.

In addition, we are involved in certain other legal proceedings generally incidental to our normal business
activities. While the outcome of any of these proceedings cannot be accurately predicted, we do not believe the
ultimate resolution of any of these existing matters would have a material adverse effect on our business or
financial condition. '

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
Not Applicable.
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Item 5 | Market Jfor.Registrant’s Common Eqmty, Related Stockhalder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

 Equity Securztzes | : ‘ ‘ :
Market Informatlon : g '

Our commonh stock trades on The Nasdaqg Stock Market under the symbol “BIIB.” Prior to changmg our
name to Biogen Idec in November 2003, we traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol “IDPH.”
The following table. shows the high and low sales price for our common stock as reported by The Nasdaq
Stock Market for each quarter in the years' ended December 31 2004 and 2003

Common Stock Price

2004 2003
Vo B . . ". _High . Low High Low
First Quarter. ................. P ..., $59.63  $36.60 $37.14  $27.80
Second QUATET . .. vvvve et 6400 5456  42.15  30.01
Third Quarter. ... .o Vidiiiifpei... 6350 5306 3895 3173

Fourth Quarter' .. i .. 68.13 5430 3941  31.63

Holders‘ 5

As of March 10 2005 there were approx1mately 4, 158 ‘stockholders of record of our common stock. In
addition, 871 stockholders of record of Biogen, Inc. common stock have yet to exchange the1r shares of Blogen
common stock for- -our common stock. as contemplated by the merger

.\\l

Dmdends I ‘

We have not‘ pald cash dividends since our inception. We currently intend to retain all earnings, if any, for
use in the expanswn of ‘our business and therefore do not anticipate paying any cash d1v1dends in the
foreseeable fiture. - .

Cond .
Recent*SaleSjof U,megistered Securities

‘Nohe, '

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Issuer Purchases of Equnty Securities

IR N : K ‘ Total Number of
: Shares Purchased as Number of Shares

R i Total Number of . Part of Publicly that may yet be
R Shares Purchased  Average Pnce Paid ' Announced Program  Purchased under Our

Period ' ' (#) (a) per Share ($) (#) (a) Program (#)
October 1 — October 31, 2004 .. R TR 20,000,000
November 1 — November 30, ‘

2004 .0 200,582 58.66 200,000 19,800,000
December -1 — December 31, ‘ '

2004 ...l e 406,993‘ 60.22 - 403,600 19,396,400
Total ............. [ 607,575(b) - 59.71 603,600 19,396,400

(a) In October 2004, our Board of Directors authorized' the repurchase of up to 20 million shares of our
common stock.” This repurchase program will expire no later than October 4, 2006. We publicly
announced the repurchase program in our press release dated Cctober 27, 2004 which was furnished to
(and not filed wrth) the SEC as Exhibit 99.1 of our Current Report of Form 8-K filed on October 27,
2004
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(b) 603,600 of these shares were repurchased as part our publicly announced repurchase program. The
remaining shares are shares that were used by certain employees to pay the exercise price of their stock
options in lieu of paying cash or utilizing our cashless option exercise program. In our Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2004, we incorrectly reported that an aggregate
of 11,199 shares were used by employees to pay the exercise price of their stock options during the third
quarter when only 370 shares were so used.

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following financial data should be read in éorijunctiox} with our consolidated financial statements and
related notes appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K, beginning on page F-1.

BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
' Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003(2) 2002 2001 2000
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Product revenues. .................. $1,486,344 § 171,561 $ 13,711 § — 3 —_
Revenues from unconsolidated joint ‘

business ... 615,743 493,049 385,809 251,428 132,782
Royalties ........ccovivniineennn... , 98,945 12,010 - — B — -
Corporate partner Tevenue ........... 10,530 2,563 4,702 - 21,249 21,900
Total revenues .........ovvernnvenns 2,211,562 679,183 404,222 272,677 154,682
Total costs and expenses(1) ......... 2,168,146 1,548,852 190,346 141,540 98,823
Income (loss) before income taxes

(benefit) . .oovvvveennn.. Ceeee 64,093 (880,624) 231,522 161,604 69,347
Net income (loss) ................. 25,086 (875,097) 148,090 101,659 48,145
Diluted earnings (loss) per share . .... 0.07 - (4.92) 0.85 0.58 0.30
Shares used in calculating diluted

earnings (loss) per share .......... 343,475 177,982 176,805 178,117 152,616
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable

securities available-for-sale ........ 2,167,566 2,338,286 1,447,865 866,607 750,526
Total assets ...............covvunns 9,165,758 9,503,945 2,059,689 1,141,216 856,406
Notes payable, less current portion. . .. 101,879 887,270 866,205 135,977 128,888
Shareholders’ equity ................ 6,826,401 7,053,328 1,109,690 956,479 694,619

(1) Included in total costs and expenses in 2003 is a charge of $823.0 million for in-process research and
development.

(2) Includes the impact of our Merger with Biogen, Inc. on November 12, 2003,
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Item 7 i Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

) The followrng drscussron should be read’i 1n conjunctron wrth our consohdated financial statements and
related notes appeanng elsewhere in this Form 10-K, begmnrng on page F L.

-rl‘ o ' 5 Ce
Brogen Idec creates new standards of care in oncology and 1mmunology As a global leader in the
development,’ manufacturmg, and commercialization. of novel therapies, we transform scientific discoveries

into. advances in hurnan healthcare. We currently have ﬁve products:
' . AVONEX® (mterferon beta- la) for the treatment of relapsmg forms of multiple sclerosis, or MS.

L RITUXAN® (ntuxrmab) and ZEVALIN®(1br1tumomab truxetan) both of which treat certain B-cell
non-Hodgkin’s lymphomas, or B-cell NHLs. We collaborate with Genentech Inc., or Genentech, on
the, development and commercialization of RITUXAN. RlTUXAN 1s the trade name in the United
‘States, or U S., Canada and Japan for the compound rituximab. ‘MabThera is the tradename for

' rrtuxrmab in: the European Union, or EU. In this Form 10-K, we refér to rituximab, RITUXAN and
MabThera collectlvely as RITUXAN except where ‘we have otherwrse indicated.

K TYSABRI® (natahzumab) formerly known as ANTEGREN® which was approved by the U. S. Food
-1.and Drug Administration, or FDA, in November 2004 to treat relapsing forms of MS to reduce the
‘ frequency‘ of clinical relapses. In February 2005, in. consultation with the FDA, we and Elan
. Corporation ple, or Elan, voluntarily. suspended the marketing and commercial distribution of
TYSABRI; and. informed physicians that they should suspend' dosing of TYSABRI until further
B nottﬁcatron ‘In-addition, we suspended dosing in clinical studies of TYSABRI in MS, Crohn’s disease
“ and rheumato1d arthritis, or RA. These decisions were based on reports of two serious adverse events
: that have occurred in patients treated with TYSABRI in combination with AVONEX in MS clinical
: studres These events involved two cases of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, or PML, a
: rare and frequently fatal, demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. Both patients received
:,’ ) han two years of TYSABRI in combination with AVONEX. In light of the two reports of PML,
-the companles initiated a systematic review of the TYSABRI safety database. On March 30, 2005, we
. and Elan announced that the review of the safety database led a serious adverse event previously
o reported by g cl1n1cal 1nvest1gator in a clinical study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s disease to be reassessed
~as PML The ‘case was originally reported by the investigator as malignant astrocytoma in July 2003.
 The patlent died in December 2003. The patiént had received 8 doses of TYSABRI over an 18 month
penod and prior medication history included multiple courses of i 1mmunosuppressant agents. We and
Elan.'are workmg with clinical investigators to evaluate patients treated with TYSABRI in clinical
stud1es and are consulting with leading experts to better understand the possible risk of PML. The
outcome of these evaluations will be used to determine possible re-initiation of dosing in clinical studies
" and future commercial availability. See “Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors That May
”Affect Future Results — Safety Issues with TYSABRI Could Significantly Affect our Growth.”

. AMEVIVE® (alefacept) for the tréatment of adult patients with moderate-to-severe chronic plaque
: psonas1s who- -are candidates for systemic therapy or phototherapy.

We also recerve royalty revenues on sales by our licensees of a number of products covered under patents
that we control 1nc1ud1ng on sales by Schering AG of ZEVALIN in the EU. In addition, we have a number of
ongomg research and development programs in our core. therapeutrc areas and in other areas of interest.

I SN
Merger, § . .
On November 12 2003 IDEC Pharmaceutrcals Corporatron and Biogen, lnc completed a merger
transaction, Ior' the iMerger, resulting in Biogen,. Inc.. becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of IDEC
Pharmaceuticals Corporation. The business combination: was tfeated. as an acquisition of Biogen, Inc. by
IDEC Pharmaceutrcals Corporation ."for accounting purposes. In connection with the Merger IDEC

Pharmaceutrcals Corporat1on changed its name to Biogen [dec¢ Inc.
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As a result of the Merger, Biogen, Inc. stockholders received 1.15 shares of Biogen Idec common stock
for each share of Biogen, Inc. common stock. As a result, Biogen Idec issued approximately 171.9 million
shares of common stock at a fair value of approximately $6.48 billion (based on the average of the closing
price of IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation’s common stock for the period from two days before through two
days after the public announcement of the Merger on June 23, 2003). In addition, options to purchase Biogen,
Inc. common stock outstanding at November 12, 2003 were assumed by Biogen Idec and converted into
options to purchase approximately 20.7 million shares of Biogen Idec common stock at a fair value of
approximately $295 million (based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model, as described in more detail
below). We paid approximately $19.9 million in fees for banking, legal, accounting and tax related services
related to the Merger. Merger related fees of $21.5 million paid by Biogen, Inc. prior to completion of the
Merger are not included in this amount as they were expensed as incurred. The total Merger purchase price
was approximately $6.8 billion. The Merger qualified as a tax-free reorganization within the meaning of
Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. :

The fair value of Biogen Idec’s shares used in determining the purchase price was $37.69 per share based
on the average of the closing price of IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation’s common stock for the period two
days before through two days after public announcement of the Merger on June 23, 2003. The fair value of
stock options assumed by Biogen Idec in the Merger was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions: stock price of $37.69, which is the value ascribed to IDEC shares in
determining the purchase price; volatility of 40%; risk-free interest rate of 1.8%; and an expected life of

4.0 years. B

The purchase price is as follows (table in thousands): .

Fair value of Biogen Idec common stock $6,480,339
Fair value of replacement stock options ............ e e 295,399
Cash paid for fractional Shares..............vutieiitiiierii .. <27
Acquisition related costs .. ... ... i i e P 19,872
" Total purchase price ........... R $6.795,637

The purchase price has been allocated to the acquired tangible and intangible assets and liabilities based
on their fair values as of November 12, 2003, the date that the Merger was consummated (table in
thousands):

Inventory........... A e e $ 706,957

Accounts receivable . ... oL IR | 216,221
Property, plant and equipment ........... ... ..., e e 713,719
Acquired identifiable intangible assets............ ... oo oo iiii oo 3,664,000
Goodwill .......... P e 1,151,105
In-process research and development .................... P . 823,000
Deferred stock-based compensation............... e e, ‘ 2,261
Other current and long-térm ASSELS ... 1,106,112
Assumed liabilities . .. ........ooii e e (424,648)
Increase benefit plan liability to fairvalue .......... ... ... ... ... .. ... . (26,650) |
Deferred tax liabilities arising from fair value adjustments..................... (1,136,440)
Total purchase priCe .. ... .....cviuuirtuit i e e $ 6,795,637

The allocation of the purchase price was based, in part, on a third-party valuation of the fair value of in-
process research and development, identifiable intangible assets, and certain property, plant and equipment.
The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired is allocated to goodwill.
See “Biogen, Inc. Purchase Price Allocation” under Critical Accounting Estimates.-
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The: dlscussrons for'the year ended December 31, 2004 in this Form: 10-K represent our financial
condition and' results of operatrons for the-year ended December 31, 2004 and include the results of operations
of the merged companies. The discussions for the year ended December 31, 2003 in this Form 10-K, unless
indicated otherw1se represent our financial condition and results of operations for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 and mclude the results of operations of Brogen Inc. for the period commencing November 13,
2003 through December 31,2003 only: The results of operations of Brogen Inc. (revenues and expenses) for
the period commencrng Jz anuary 1, 2003 through November 12, 2003, unless indicated otherwise, are excluded
from this Form 10 K. Compansons are made to our results of operations for the year ended December 31,
2002, Wthh only 1nclude the historical results of IDEC Pharmaceut1cals Corporation.’

L o .h‘i“
k]

Results ofOperatlons T R L

" [ . o ) o R R i

Revenues

2004 2003 . 2002
“v t . . BT ‘ © (In thousands)

Product sales

United States . . . .' U e o $ 986,050 SI21,589 - § 13,711
Rest of world [ ... . e e 500,294 49,972 —
Total product sales ....... BT .', RO © 1,486,344 171,561 13,711
Revenues from unconsohdated JOIIlt busmess cimewe. 615743 493,049 385,809
Royalt1es...‘,J.;.:."‘.‘l«,r.v;................;i ...... A 98,945 12,010 —
Corporate partner revenue. ........ F R T T w . -N0,530 2,563 4,702
Total reveriues . L......... e U $2211.562  $679,183  $404,222

, " ln L o . . ' . . l,'. - '

Product Sales Lo - ' t
PP e g 2004 2003 2002°
o S ‘ : (In thousands) " ‘

AVONEX.‘:‘.“.,.L...‘H ................. SN el S1A17,157  $142,603 S —
: AMEVIVE ........ e P S - 43,030 . 9,356 —
ZEVALIN ' ......... ' 23,036 19,602, 13,711
TYSABRI....".‘..L‘ ........................ s 321 - =
Total, product sales ........... e $1, 486 344  $171,561  $13,711

AVONEX is the most prescribed therapeutrc product in MS wotldwide. Globally over 130,000 patients
have chosen’ AVQNEX as'their treatment of choice. During 2004, sales of AVONEX generated worldwide
revenues of $1.4 billion, of which $922.6 million was generated in the U.S. and $494.6 million was generated
outside.the U:S., pnmarily in the EU. Product sales from AVONEX represent approximately 64% of our total
revenues in 2004.,Our results of operations for 2003 include sales of AVONEX: for the period.from
November 13, 2003 through December 31, 2003. During that period, sales.of AVONEX generated worldwide
revenues of $142.6 million; of which $92.6 million was generated in the U.S. and $50.0 million in the rest of
the world prtmarlly the EU. Product sales from AVONEX répresented approximately 21% of our total
revenues 'in 2003 ‘We expect to face increasing’ competition.in the MS marketplace in and outside the
U.S. from existing and new MS treatments, including TYSABRI if it is reintroduced to the market, that may
impact’ sales of AVONEX We expect future growth in AVONEX revenues to be dependent to a large extent
on our ab111ty to compete successfully ‘

AMEVIVE wa$ approved in the U.S. in 2003 for the. treatment of adult patrents with moderate to-severe
chronic plaque psoriasis who are candidates for systemic therapy or phototherapy. During 2004, sales of
AMEVIVE ‘generated 'revenues of $43.0 million, substantially all in the U.S. Our results of operations for
2003 1nclude sales of AMEVIVE for the period from November 13, 2003 through December 31, 2003. During
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that period, sales-of AMEVIVE generated revenues of $9.4 million, substantially all in the U.S. Product sales
from AMEVIVE represent approximately 2% and 1% of our total revenues in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In February 2002, ZEVALIN became the first radioimmunotherapy approved by the FDA for the
treatment of certain B-cell NHLs. ZEVALIN, as part of the ZEVALIN therapeutic regimen, is approved as
a treatment for relapsed or refractory low-grade, follicular, or transformed B-cell NHL including patients with
RITUXAN refractory follicular NHL. We launched ZEVALIN in the U.S. in April 2002. In 2004, sales of
ZEVALIN generated revenues of $18.7 million in the U.S. as compared to $19.6 million in 2003. Outside the
U.S., we have licensed our marketing rights in ZEVALIN to Schering AG. In January 2004, the European
Medicines Agency, or EMEA, the regulatory authority in the EU, granted marketing approval of ZEVALIN
in the EU for the treatment of adult patients with CD20+ follicular B-cell NHL who are refractory to or have
relapsed following treatment with RITUXAN. Rest of world product sales for ZEVALIN for the year ended
December 31, 2004 were $4.3 million. The $4.3 million relates to ZEVALIN sold to Schering AG in 2003 and
2004, recognition of which had been deferred. The revenue was recognized in the fourth quarter of 2004 when
an amendment to the license agreement was executed and the price of ZEVALIN became determinable.
Product sales from ZEVALIN represented approximately 1% and 3% of our total revenues in 2004 and 2003,
- respectively.

In November 2004, TYSABRI was approved by the FDA as treatment for relapsing forms of MS to
reduce the frequency of clinical relapses. In the U.S., prior to the suspension, we sold TYSABRI to Elan who
then distributed TYSABRI to third party distributors and other customers. In 2004, our revenue associated
with sales of TYSABRI was $3.1 million, which represents less than 1% of our total revenues in 2004, In
_February 2005, in consultation with the FDA, we and Elan voluntarily suspended the marketing and
commercial distribution of TYSABRI, and informed phy51c1ans that they should suspend dosing of
TYSABRI until further notification. The voluntary suspension will not affect 2004 revenue. We and Elan are
working with clinical investigators to evaluate patients treated with TYSABRI in clinical studies and are
consulting with leading experts to better understand the possible risk of PML. The outcome of these
evaluations will be used to determine the possibility of re-initiation of dosing in clinical studies and future
commercial availability. See also “Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable” under Critical Accounting
Estimates for our method of recording revenue from TYSABRI sales.

See also the risks affecting revenues described in “Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors That
May Affect Future Results — OQur Revenues Rely Significantly on a Limited Number of Products” and
“Forward-Looking Information and Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results — Safety Issues with
TYSABRI Could Significantly Affect our Growth.”

Unconsolidated Joint Business Revenue

RITUXAN is currently marketed and sold worldwide for the treatment of certain B-cell NHLs. We
copromote RITUXAN in the U.S. in collaboration with Genentech under a collaboration agreement between
the parties. Under the collaboration agreement, we granted Genentech a worldwide license to develop,
commercialize and market RITUXAN in multiple indications. In exchange for these worldwide rights, we
have copromotion rights in the U.S. and a contractual arrangement under which Genentech shares a portion of
the pretax U.S. copromotion profits of RITUXAN with us. This collaboration was created through a
contractual arrangement not through a joint venture or other legal entity. In June 2003, we amended and
restated our collaboration agreement with Genentech to include the development and commercialization of
one or more anti-CD20 antibodies targeting B-cell disorders, in addition to RITUXAN for a broad range of
indications. :

In the U.S., we contribute resources to selling and the continued development of RITUXAN. Genentech
is responsible for worldwide manufacturing of RITUXAN. Genentech also is responsible for the primary
support functions for the commercialization of RITUXAN in the U.S. including selling and marketing,
customer service, order entry, distribution, shipping and billing. Genentech also inecurs the majority of
continuing development costs for RITUXAN. Under the arrangement, we have a hmlted sales force as well as
limited development activity.
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i lt‘: “.’hrl : S i : .
Under the terms of separate sublicense: agreements between Genentech and Roche, commercialization of
RITUXAN outs1de the-~U.S. is the responsibility of Roche, except’ in Japan where Roche copromotes

RITUXAN 1n collaboratlon with Zenyaku. There is no drrect contractual arrangement between Biogen Idec
and Roche or Zeny‘ u‘ t

Revenue from unconsolrdated _]Olnt business cons1sts of our share of pretax copromotion profits which is
calculated by Genentech and includes: consideration of our RITUXAN-related sales force and development
expenses;’ and royalty revenue from. sales. of RITUXAN outside - the U.S. by Roche and Zenyaku.
Copromotron proﬁti cons1sts of U.S. sales of RITUXAN to th1rd -party: ‘customers net of discounts and
allowances and less; cost to manufacture RITUXAN th1rd party royalty expenses, distribution, selling and -

marketmg expenses and Jomt development expenses 1ncurred by Genentech and us.

Under the amended and restated collaboration agreement ‘our current pretax copromotion profit-sharing
formula has two thI‘S We ¢arn a higher percentage of the pretax copromotion profits at the upper tier once @ |
fixed pretax copromotlon ‘profit level is met.; The profit- shanng formula resets annually at the beginning of
each year to. the lower tier. We began recordmg our proﬁt share at the higher percentage during the first
quarter of 2004 2003 and 2002. Upon. approval of the' first new ‘anti-CD20. product the pretax copromotion
profit- shanng formula for RITUXAN and other ant1-ClD20 products sold-by us and Genentech will change
over.a penod of t1me to a fixed annual profit- shanng percentage at the lower tier.

Copromotronlproﬁts for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, consist of the followmg»
(table in thousands) ;

TR . Lo 2004 2003 2002
:Product revenues, net T oot $1,573228 0 $1,360,537 51,080,240 -
’Costs and expenses D e, e pewde b 418,190 299,398 | 256,496 . -

i

©$1,155,038. .$1,061,139 $ 823,744
$ 457025 $ 419,197 $ 324,498

Net sales of RITUXAN to th1rd party customers in the U.S. recorded by Genentech for 2004 were
$1.6 bllhon compared to $l 4 b1111on in 2003 and $LL b1111on in- :2002. The increase in. 2004 from 2003 and '

lymphocytrc leukemla and increases in the wholesale price . of RITUXAN effectrve September 2004, March
2003 anduMarch 2002 T o ‘

i

We rece1ved royalt1es on sales 6f RITUXAN outs1de of the U.S. of $12l 0 million in 2004 as compared
to $67.9 m1lhon in! 2003 and $45:4 million in 2002, which we mclude under “Revenue from unconsolidated
joint business” in our consohdated statements of income.. .

Revem;les from, unconsolldated joint busrness for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
consist of the ! followmg (table in thousands) o

© 2004 2003 2002

‘Copromotlon proﬁts S T . L R o ..1 '$457,025  $419,197 $324,49.8‘ ‘
’ ‘:Re1mbursement of selling and development expenses. e 37 710 18,400 , 15,879:
“ Royalty revenue on sales of RITUXAN outside the U.S. . l2l ,008 67,869 45,432

RITUXAN clrmcal data purchased from Roche ........... — (9,353)“ —

Columbra patent royalty and 1nterest payment e — . (3,064) —

S ““L EEEIE T L : “.;.. ' $615 743 - $493,049 $385 809

(!
twt

Our royalty revenue on sales of RITUXAN outs1de the U. S is based on Roche and Zenyaku’s net sales
to thlrd-party customers and is recorded on-a cash basis. The increase in royalty revenues in 2004 and 2003 is
due; to* 1ncreased sales of RITUXAN. outside’ the U.S. Under the amended and . restated collaboration
agreement we wrll recelve lower royalty revenue.from Genentech on sales by Roche and Zenyaku of new
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anti-CD20 products and will only receive:such royalty revenues for the first eleven years from the date of first
commercial sale of such new anti-CD20 products S : :

o

During 2003 ‘Genentech purchased Certain cl1n1cal data from Roche that supported a potentral label
expansion of RITUXAN. Additionally, in 2003, we, along with Genentech, agreed that payments were owed
to Columbia University for royalties related to past sales of RITUXAN in the U.S. As-a-result, we recognized
$2.6 million in royalty payments and; $0.5 million in-interest charges related to these royalties.

Revenues from unconsohdated Jomt bus1ness represented 28%, 73% and 95% of our total revenues in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectlvely The decreases i in 2004 and 2003 are primarily due to former Blogen, Inc.
reveriue included in our results of operattons for all of 2004 and for the penod of November 12 2003 through
December 31, 2003.

, Royalty Revenue

We receive revenues from royaltles on sales by our hcensees of a number of products covered under
patents that we control. During 2004 and 2003, we recerved approx1mate1y $98.9 million’and $12.0 million,
respectively, in royalty revenues representrng 4% and 2% of total revenues. The increase in royalty revenue is
primarily dué to a full year of the former Biogen; Inc. royalty revenue being included in our results of
operations in 2004 compared to the period from November 12, 2003 through December 31, 2003. Our royalty
revenues on sales ‘:of RITUXAN. outside..the U.S. are included in “Revenue from:. unconsolldated joint
business.” : v

We receive royalties. from Schering-Plough Corporation, or Schering-Plough, on sales of its alpha
interferon products in the U.S. and Italy-under an exclusive license to our alpha interferon. patents and patent
applications. Schering-Plough sells its INTRON® A (interferon alfa-2b) brand of alpha interferon in the
U.S. for a number of indications, including the treatment of chronic hepatitis B and hepatitis C. Schering-
Plough also sells other- alpha interferon products-for the treatment of hepatitis C, including REBETRON®
Combination - Therapy . containing INTRON A and REBETOL® (ribavirin, USP), PEG-INTRON®
(peginterferon alfa-2b), a pegylated -form" of alpha interferon, and PEG-INTRON in combination with
REBETOL. AR ‘

We hold several important patents related to hepatltls B antlgens produced by genetic engineering
techhiques. These antigens are used in recombinant hepatitis B vaccines and in diagnostic test kits used to
detect: hepatitis B infection. We receive royalties' from sales of hepatitis B vaccines in several countries,
including the U.S., from GlaxoSmithKline plc and Merck and Co. Inc. We have also licensed our proprietary
hepatitis B rights, on an antigen-by-antigen and nonexclusive basis, to several diagnostic kit manufacturers,
including Abbott Laboratories, the major worldw1de marketer of hepat1t1s B diagnostic kits.

t

We also receive ongoing royalties on sales of ANGIOMAX®. (bivalirudin) by The Medicines Company,
or TMC. TMC sells ANGIOMAX in the U.S. for, use as an anticoagulant in combination with aspirin in
patients with” unstable angina undergomg percutaneous transluminal coronary ang1oplasty TMC sells
ANGIOMAX through distributors in Europe, Canada and Latin America.

We ant1c1pate that total royalty revenues in 2005 will be slightly higher as compared to our total royalty
revenues in 2004, Royalty revenues may fluctuate as a result of fluctuations in sales levels of products sold by
our hcensees from quarter to quarter due to the timing and extent of major events such as new indication
approvals or government sponsored programs. S -

g

Corporate Partner Revenues

Corporate partner revenues consist of contract revenues and license fees. Corporate partner revenues
totaled $10.5 million in 2004 compared to $2.6 million in 2003 and $4.7 million in 2002. Corporate partner
revenues represented less than 1% of total revenues in.2004 .and 2003 "and approximately 1% of total revenues
{in 2002. In 2004, we received a $10.0 million payment from Schering AG for the EMEA grant of marketing
approval of ZEVALIN in the-EU. The payment represented, in-part,:d milestone payment to compensate us
for preparing, generating, and collecting data that was critical to the EMEA marketing approval process and,
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to which'wé! have no'continuing involvement. The decrease in corporate partner revenues in 2003 is primarily
due to decreased research and development funding in 2002 under our collaborations with Taisho Pharmaceu-
tical Co.:Ltd. of Tékyo, or Taisho, as a result of the termination of our collaboration with Taisho, and under
our collaboranons with Seikagaku Corporation, or Seikagaku. Contract revenues and license fees are, in part,
dependernit upon the achievement of certain research and development and commerc1a11zat10n objectives and,
accordmgly, may vary from year to year.

Operatmg Cjosts and Exp'enses
B L AT R . -
\ ‘ 2004 2003 2002

U ‘ m l T . . . o (In thousands)
Cost,of product and royalty revenues ........... ST $ 554,319 § 284,739 § 1,457
. Research and development ... S B 687,663 233337 100,868
- Selling;: general and administrative ....+......... S 578,487 174,596 88,021
- Writé-off of' acqulred in-process research and development e i— 823,000 —
) ‘Amortlzatlon of acqurred 1ntang1bles e e 347 677 33,180 —
\ Total operatlng costs and expenses ........... T $2 168 146  $1,548,852  $190,346

P TN ‘ . : : v ' . J
R .M 1 . ;

Cost ‘6f‘Prdduct3 and Royalty Revenues

In 2004; total cost of product and royalty revenues was $554.3 million and consisted of product cost of
revenues|of $548.7 million and cost of royalty revenues-of $5.6 million. Product cost of revenues consisted of
$480.0 millidn related to AVONEX, $27.8 million related to AMEVIVE, $19.0 million relatéd to ZEVALIN
and $17 3 rh’illion“related to TYSABRI. Approximately $295.1 million in cost of product revenues represents
the dlﬁ‘erence between: the cost of AVONEX and AMEVIVE inventory recorded at the Merger date and its
h1storlca1 manufactunng cost, which was recognized as cost of product revenues when the acquired inventory
was sold ‘or ‘written-down in 2004. All AVONEX inventory acquired in the Merger was sold or written off as of
December31; 2004.. We expect that product cost of revenues in 2005 related to AMEVIVE will include
approxunately $16 'million related to the difference between the cost of AMEVIVE inventory recorded at the
Merger and 1ts hlstorlcal manufactunng cost, as the acquired 1nventory is sold or written-down.

In February 2005 we and Elan voluntanly suspended the marketmg and commercial distribution of
TYSABRI based ﬁ)n .reports of two serious adverse events that occurred in patients treated with TYSABRI in
comblnanon w1th AVONEX in MS chmcal studies. These events involved two cases, of PML, a rare and
frequently fatal demyehnatmg disease of the central nervous system. In light of the two reports of PML, the
companies initiated a systematic review of the TYSABRI safety database. On March 30, 2005, we and Elan
announcéd that the review of the safety database led a serious adverse event previously reported by a clinical
mvestlgator in a chmcal study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s disease to be reassessed as PML. The case was
originally- reported by the investigator as malignant astrocytoma in July 2003, The patient died in Decem-
ber 2003. The patlent ‘had received 8 doses of TYSABRI over an 18 month period and prior medication
hlstory included: multlple courses of .immunosuppressant agents. We. and Elan are working with clinical
investigators'to évaluate patients treated with TYSABRI in clinical studies and are consulting with leading
exper.ts‘ftfo:b‘e‘tteraunderstand the possible risk of PML. The outcome of these evaluations will be used to
determine future commercial availability. We cannot predict the cutcome of these evaluations. An unfavora-
ble 'or incoriclusive. outcome could result in the permanent withdrawal of TYSABRI from the market and
termination’ of .clinical studies of TYSABRI, or the re-introduction of TYSABRI to the market with
significant restrictions on-its permissible uses, blackbox or other significant safety warnings.in its label and
such other restrictions, requirements and limitations as the FDA may require. While we presently believe that
we will be able to, find apath forward for TYSABRI, there are no assurances as to the likelihood of success. In
light of-our mabdxty to predict to the required degree of certainty that our TYSABRI inventory will be realized
in commercial sales prior to the expiration of its shelf life, we have written down all of the $19.1 million of
TYSABRI;inventory that had been included on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2004, which was
charged ‘ro’ cost of product revenues. We are continuing to manufacture TYSABRI. Because of the
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uncertainty described above, in the first quarter of 2003, we also expect to expense between $22 million to
$25 million of TYSABRI that was manufactured in the first quarter of 2005. In subsequent periods, we wiil
continue to assess TYSABRI to determine if it needs to be expensed in light of existing information related to
the potential future commercial availability of TYSABRI and applicable accounting standards. See “Forward
Looking Information and Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results — Safety Issues with TYSABRI
Could Significantly Affect Our Growth.”

We periodically review our inventories for excess or obsolete inventory and write down obsolete or
otherwise unmarketable inventory to its estimated net realizable value. If the actual realizable value is less
than that estimated by us, or if there are further determinations that inventory will not be marketable based on
estimates of demand, additional inventory write-offs may be required. This periodic review led to the write-
downs of TYSABRI inventory as of December 31, 2004 and the expensing of TYSABRI expected to occur in
the first quarter of 2005, as described above, and may lead us to expense TYSABRI in subsequent periods.
Also included in product cost of revenues were write-downs of commercial inventory that did not meet quality
specifications or became obsolete due to dating expiration, in all cases this product inventory was written-down
to its net realizable value. In 2004, we wrote-down $16.2 million, $9.7 million, $1.7 million and $19.1 million
of unmarketable inventory related to AVONEX, ZEVALIN, AMEVIVE and TYSABRI, respectively, which
was charged to cost of product revenues. The AVONEX and AMEVIVE inventory was written-down when it
was determined that the inventory did not meet quality specifications. The ZEVALIN inventory was written-
down when it was determined that the inventory did not meet quality specifications and when it was
determined to not be marketable based on estimates of demand.

In 2003, total cost of revenues was $284.7 million and consisted of product cost of revenues of
$283.8 million and cost of royalty revenues of $0.9 million. In November 2003, we recorded the inventory that
we acquired from Biogen, Inc. at its estimated fair value. Product cost of revenues consisted of $254.3 million
related to AVONEX, $18.7 million related to ZEVALIN and $8.7 million related to AMEVIVE. In 2003,
included in product cost of revenues was approximately $231.6 million in fair market value purchase
accounting adjustments related to AVONEX and AMEVIVE, which represents the difference between the
cost of inventory recorded at the acquisition date and its historical manufacturing cost. The increase to fair
market value was recognized as cost of product revenues when the acquired inventory was sold or written-
down. Included in product cost of revenues were write-downs of commercial inventory that did not meet
quality specifications or became obsolete due to dating expiration. In all cases this product inventory was
written-down to its net realizable value. In 2003, we wrote-down $160.8 million related to AVONEX,
$1.0 million related to AMEVIVE and $12.1 million related to ZEVALIN. Of the $160.8 million write-down
related to AVONEX, $149.6 million represented the increase to fair market value of inventory acquired at the
Merger and $11.2 million represented the hlstoncal manufacturing costs.

The AVONEX inventory that was written- down had been assessed as commermally viable and saleable
and there were no known contingent issues at the acquisition date. This inventory was recorded at the
estimated selling price less the costs to complete, costs of disposal and a reasonable distribution profit
allowance. Our products are required to meet numerous stringent quality specifications that are agreed upon
with the FDA at various times prior to and after approval. Based on, quality testing performed subsequent to
the Merger date, we became aware of certain lots of our pre-filled syringe formulation of AVONEX that
previously had been approved for sale, but after additional testing no longer met the established quality
specifications. Substantially all of the AVONEX inventory write-down was related to our pre-filled syringe
formulation of AVONEX, in which certain lots had aggregate levels that exceeded the approved specifica-
tions. As a result of extensive discussions with the FDA, a new set of testing protocols were agreed to and
certain lots were deemed unmarketable. Upon management’s determination that the inventory was unmarket-
able, we wrote off the carrying value of the inventory in the fourth quarter of 2003 because the cost of the
inventory would not be recoverable. In 2004, we developed a new pre-filled syringe formulation of AVONEX,
which was approved by the EMEA in November 2004 and the FDA in March 2005. We do not expect to
experience interruption in the supply of AVONEX. However, we expect to write-down between $6 million and
$8 million of the remaining supplies of the older formulation in the first quarter of 2005, related to the FDA
approval.
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Non-GAAP: gross margin on product revenues, which includes inventory written-down to its net
realizable value; was approximately 63% and (65)% in 2004 and 2003, respectively. The large fluctuation of
gross margin‘on product revenues is due primarily tosinventory acquired from Biogen, Inc. through the
Merger. During 2003, we recorded thé'inventory that we acquired from Biogen, Inc. at its estimated fair value.
The 1nCrease in fair market value was recognized as cost of product revenues when the acquired inventory was
sold or wntten down: During the first half of 2004, we sold or.wrote-down all remaining AVONEX inventory
acquired throughr*the Merger. As a result, we expect that gross margins will increase during 2005. Excluding
the i 1ncrease in fairrmarket.value related to purchase accounting and the effects of write-downs of commercial
1nventory to net: reahzable value, gross margins of product revenues would have been 86% and 84% in 2004 and
2003, respect1vely We expect that gross margms will fluctuate in the future based on changes in product mix,
write-downs. of excess or obsolete inventories and new product initiatives. Gross margin on royalty revenues
were approximately 94% and 92% in 2004 and 2003, respectively. We expect that gross margins on royalty
revenues will-fluctuate in the future based on changes in sales volumes for specific products from which we
recelve royalt1es H - . : .

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses totaled $687 7 million in 2004 compared to $233 3 million in 2003
and $100. 9.million i in 2002. The increase in research and development expenses in 2004 over 2003 primarily
related to a full year of the former Biogen, Inc. expenses in 2004 compared to the period from November 12,
2003 through December 31, 2003. The increase related to the former Biogen, Inc. was $432.8 million and
consrsted pnmarlly of $74 3 million of expenses related to pre-clinical research activities, $144.0 million of
development research activities, including clinical trials, related to TYSABRI and AMEVIVE, $84.2 million
of b1opharrnaceut1cal operatlons expenses ‘mainly attnbutable to manufacturing and supply chain functions,
$96.1 million-of mcreased depreciation and infrastructure costs related to the expansion of our manufacturing
and research facilities, and $17.5 million for our joint development collaboration agreements.

The increase in research and development expenses in 2003 over 2002 primarily related to the acquisition
of Biogen, Inc. which contributed $63.6 million in research and development expenses for the period from
November;13, 2003: through December 31, 2003, a $20 million payment to Genentech in conjunction with
entering into, an . amended and restated collaboration agreement in June 2003, a $17.6 million increase in
personnel expenses resulting from the expansion of our manufacturing and research functions, a $12.8 million
1ncrease‘ in contract research and manufacturing expenses primarily related to oncology development and a

$22.3. m1111on increase, in manufacturlng expenses recorded as research and development

Research and. development expenses are expected to increase in 2005: We expect to continue incurring
additional fesearch and development eéxpenses due to: work with clinical investigators and neurological experts
related to our evaluations of TYSABRI resulting from the suspension of TYSABRI from the market in
February 2005 prechmcal and cllnlcal testing: of our various products under development; the expansion or
addition of research and developrnent programs and facilities; technology in-licensing; and regulatory-related
expenses. :

Selling, _Ceneral ‘and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general:and administrative expenses totaled'$578.5 million in 2004 compared to $174.6 million in
2003 and $88:0 niillion in 2002. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended
December31, 2004 primarily related to a full year of the-former Biogen, Inc. expenses in 2004 compared to
the penod from November 12, 2003. through December 31, 2003. The increase related to the former Biogen,
Inc. was $410.1' ‘million -and consisted primarily of $192.9 million of expenses related to neurology and
dermatology sales! and; marketlng activities, primarily due to the launch of TYSABRI, $112.9 million of
expenses: related to our international selling, general and administrative initiatives, $64.2 million of expenses
related to our finance and information technology infrastructure, and $34 6 million of expenses related to the
expansion of our global medical affairs Phase IV initiatives.
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The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003
primarily related to the acquisition of Biogen, Inc. which contributed $73.9 million in selling, general and
administrative expenses for the period from November 13, 2003 through December 31, 2003, including
$10.2 million related to restructuring costs associated with the relocation of our European headquarters, a
$4.5 million increase in personnel expenses resulting from the expansion in sales and marketing expenses to
support the commercialization of ZEVALIN, a $2.5 million increase in legal fees to protect our intellectual
© property rights, a $2.2 million increase in insurance expenses due to higher premiums, a $1.3 million increase
in travel expenses primarily related to integration efforts associated with the Merger with Biogen, Inc., and a
$1.3 million increase in information technology expenses with the remaining. increase due to the expansion .of
our administrative function to support growth in manufacturing and research.

In 2004, we recorded charges of $4.4 million related to severance obligations for certain employees
affected by the Merger in our San Diego facilities. At December 31, 2004, we had a remaining accrual of
approximately $0.4 million related to the San Diego severance obligations. In 2004, we accrued approximately
$2.3 million of restructuring costs related to the relocation of our European headquarters. Our remaining
liability related to these European headquarters restructuring costs was $1.1 million at December 31, 2004. In
2003, we accrued $2.1 million of restructuring costs related to severance obligations for certain employees
affected by the Merger in our Cambridge facilities, and accrued an additional $1.0 million of charges in 2004.
At December 31, 2004, our remaining hablhty related to the Cambridge severance obligations was
$0.2 million.

We anticipate that total selling, general, and administrative expenses in 2005 will be higher than 2004 due
to sales and marketing and other general and administrative expenses to primarily support AVONEX and
TYSABRI, despite the voluntary suspension of the marketing and commercial distribution of TYSABRI in
February 2005, and legal expenses related to lawsults, 1nvest1gat10ns and other matters resulting from the
suspension of TYSABRI.

Other Income (Expense), Net
December 31,

2004 - 2003 2002
. . (In thousands)
Interest income ................ e . $ 57,225 $ 33,610 $ 34,528
Interest expense............... T Yo (18,898)  (15,182) (16,073)
Other EXPENSE . ..ottt ettt e (17,650)  (29,383) (809)

Total other income (expense), net............. e $ 20,677  $(10,955) $ 17,646

Interest income totaled $57.2 million in 2004 compared to $33.6 million in 2003 and $34.5 million in
2002. The increase in interest income in 2004 as compared to 2003 is primarily due to higher cash levels and
higher yields on our marketable securities portfolio. The decrease in interest income in 2003 as compared to
2002 is primarily due to lower rates of return on marketable securities available-for-sale on our investments.
Interest income levels that may be achieved in the future are, in part, depcndent upon market condmons

Interest expense totaled $18.9 million in 2004 compared to $15.2 million in 2003 and $16 1 m11110n in
2002. The increase in interest expense in 2004 compared to 2003 related to an updated estimation of the life of
the senior notes due in 2032, which we expect holders will require us to repurchase in April 2003, As a result,
amortization of the issuance costs related to the senior notes increased $7.1 million. This was offset by lower
noncash interest expense due to conversions throughout 2004 of our subordinated notes issued in February
1999, and higher capitalized interest expense in 2004. The decrease in interest expense in 2003 compared to
2002 is due to the capitalization of $6.8 million in 2003 and $0:4 million in 2002 of interest costs largely
related to the development of a consolidated west coast research and development and administration campus
in San Diego, California and our large-scale manufacturing fac111ty in Ocean51de California, offset by hlgher
" noncash interest expense from our senior notes.
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Other< expense as set forth in the precedmg table included the followrng (table ‘in thousands)
. ‘ December 31,

' J o 2004 2003 2002
Impairments of marketable securities .......... [T $(18 482) 3 - % —
E Forelgn exchange remeasurement gams B R " 5,353 1,319 —
Loss on sale of’ marketable secuntres avmlable for-sale s c oy _‘f +(4,090) — —
, (‘}am on mvestments in executive deferred compensat1on plan L 1,029 — —
Donation to Blogen Idec Foundation. .. . U .' .. —  (10,000) —
‘ Settlement of patent disputes .......... T PR : — {20,668) —
, Mrscellaneous .............. e floond oo 0 (1,460) - (34) (809)
Total other, expense R AP Y §17 650) $(29 383) $(809)

n‘ b

In 2004 ,we recorded charges totaling $18.5 million-to other expense when it was’ determmed that certain
‘ marketable secunt1es were impaired on an other-than- temporary basrs

In Octoberr 2002 Brogen Inc. estabhshed The Blogen Foundatlon a pnvate U.S. based, non-profit
phllanthroprc organization, In December 2002, Biogen, Inc. made a charitable contribution of $15.0 million to
fund the Biogen Foundation. As a result of the Merger, we changed the name of the foundation to The Biogen
Idec Foundation and in December 2003 contributed an additional $10.0 million. The foundation s to operate
exclusrvely for the benefit of charitable, educational and scientific purposes. Certain executive officers and
other employees serve as d1rectors and ofﬁcers of the foundat1on We clas51fy chantable contnbutrons to other

mcome (expense)
A

In December 2003 we recorded charges of $2.5 mrllron and $18 2 million related to the final settlement
of patent 1nfnngement disputes with Apoxis S.A. and Corixa Corporatlon respectively. These payments were
charged t0vother expense in the fourth quarter of 2003 .

Acqulred In: Process Research and Development

W £ o Ty [ : . : .

In the fourth, quarter of 2003, we incurred a charge of $823 0 mtlhon related to the wrrte off of acqu1red
in-process, research:and. development, or-IPR&D, related to-the Merger. The amount expensed as IPR&D
represents the est1mated fair value of purchased in- process technology for projects that, as of the acquisition
date, had not reached technologrcal feasibility and hadino alternative future use. The estimated fair value of
these pro;ects was. determined ‘based on the use of -a discounted cash.flow model. For each project, the
estimated after-tax cash flows were probability weighted to-take into account the-stage of completion and the
risks’ surroundmg the successful development.and: commerc1alrzatron These cash flows were then discounted
to present value usmg a discount rate of 16% :

As of December 3l 2004, we estrmated future research «and development expenses of approximately
$65 mllhon $34. m1lhon and $177, million, respectrvely, would ;be-incurred to complete the purchased
neurology,, ‘dermatology, and rheumatology research projects. Smce the ‘date of the Merger, November 12,
2003, we have discontinued certain clinical trials. Addttlonally, in connection with the voluntary suspension of
marketmg and, commercral drstnbution of TYSABRI in February 2003, we suspended dosing in clinical trials
of TYSABRI 1n MS Crohn s disease-and RA. Estimates of expenses are net of any research and development
expenses that were shared under collaborations with corporate partners. The projects, which were in various
stages of’ Udevelopment from preclinical through Phase III clinical trials, are, unless they have been
drsconttnued expected to reach completion at various dates ranging from 2005 through 2009.

Thes major risks and.uncertamtres associated with.the timely and successful completion of these projects
are that ‘we will not be ‘able to confirm the safety and efficacy of the technology with data from clinical trials
and that we will not be able. to obtain necessary regulatory approvals. No assurance can be given that the
underlylng assumptrons used to forecast the cash flows or the timely and successful completion of such
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projects will materialize, as estimated. For these reasons, among others, actual results may vary significantly
from estimated results.

Amortlzatlon of Intangible Assets

In 2004 and 2003, we recorded amomzatlon expense of $347. 7 million and $33.2 million, respectively,
related to the intangible assets of $3.7 billion acquired in the Merger with Biogen, Inc. Intangible assets
consist of $3.0 billion in core technology, $5780 million in patents and $64.0 million in trademarks.
Amortization of the core technology is provided over the estimated useful lives of the technology ranging from
15 to 20 years, based on the greater of straight-line basis or economic consumption each period. Amortization
of the out-licensed patents for which we receive royalties is provided over the remaining lives of the patents of
11 years. Trademarks have an indefinite life and, as such, are not amortized.

We review our intangible assets for impairment periodically and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. In the third quarter of 2004,
management determined that certain clinical trials would not continue which indicated that the carrying value
of certain core technology intangible assets related to AMEVIVE may not be recoverable. As a result, in the
third quarter of 2004, we recorded an impairment charge of approximately $27.8 million to amortization of
acquired intangible assets, which reflects the adjustment to net realizable value of core technology intangible
assets related to AMEVIVE. If futufe events or circumstances indicaté that the cartying value of these assets
may not be recoverable, we may be required to record additional charges to our results of operations.

Income Tax Provision -

Our effective tax rate in 2004 was ‘approxi'mately 61% compared to 1% in 2003 and 36% in 2002. Our
effective tax rate for 2004 varied substantially from the U.S. federal statutory rate and prior years primarily
due to the IPR&D write-off in 2003, the acquisition-related intangible amortization and inventory fair value
adjustments arising from purchase accounting related to foreign jurisdictions-offset, in part, by the effect of
lower income tax rates (less than the 35% U.S. statutory corporate rate) in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions in
which we operate and tax credits allowed for research and experimentation expenditures in the U.S. Excluding
the effect of purchase accounting adjustments, our adjusted 2004. effective tax rate would have been
approximately 32%. Our effective tax rate for 2003 varied substantially from the U.S. federal statutory rate
and prior years primarily due to.the pre-tax loss resulting from the write-off of non-deductible IPR&D and
other costs in connection with the Merger with ‘Biogen, Inc, ‘'which were not deductible for income tax
purposes. Excluding the effect of our write-off of IPR&D, eur:2003 effective tax rate would have been
approximately 35%. Our effective tax rate for 2002 was higher thari the federal statutory rate primarily because
of state taxes. We have tax credit carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes available to offset
future taxable income. The utilization of our tax credits may be subject to an annual limitation under the
‘Internal Revenue Code due to a cumulative change of ownership of more than 50% in prior years. However,
we anticipate that this annual limitation will result only in a slight deferral in the utilization of our net tax
credits. During 2002, we decreased our valuation allowance for deferred tax assets to zero. Each reporting
period we evaluate the realizability of our deferred tax assets based upon the level of historical taxable income
and income tax liabilities and projections for future taxable income over the periods that our deferred tax
asséts are either tax deductible or to which our tax credits may be carried. Based on the evaluation performed
as of December 31, 2004, we believe it is more likely than not that we will realize the entire benefits of our
deferred tax assets: In the event that actual results differ from our estimates of future taxable income or we
adjust our estimates in future periods, we may need to establish a valuation allowance which could materially
1mpact our ﬁnanc:lal position and results of opcratlons :

Financial Condition

We have financed our operating and capital expenditures principally through profits and other revenues
from our joint business arrangement with Genentech related to the sale of RITUXAN, sales of AVONEX,
AMEVIVE, and ZEVALIN, royalty revenues, corporate partner revenues,. debt financing transactions and
interest income. We expect to finance our current and planned operating requirements principally through

56




Mok

cash on hand whrch includes the proceeds from the April-and May 2002 issuance of our senior notes, funds
from our; Jomt business arrangement with Genentech related to the:sale of RITUXAN, commercial sales of
AVONEX, ,AMEV][VJE and ZEVALIN, royalties and éxisting collaborative agreements and contracts, and
sales of TYSABRI'if we are able to re-launch this product which is dependent on the results of our evaluation
of the' risk. of PML, and discussions with regulatory authotities: We believe that these funds will be sufficient to
meet-iour Opérating requirements for the foreseeable future. However, we may, from time to time, seek
additional funding; through a combination of.new collaborative agreements, strategic alliances and additional
equity anda debt financings or from other sources. Our. ‘workrng capital:and capital requirements will depend
upon numerous factors, including: the continued commercial success of AVONEX and RITUXAN and, to 2
lesser; extent AMEVIVE and ZEVALIN; the future commercial availability of TYSABRI if we are able to
re-launch thrs product the timing and expense of obtaining regulatory approvals for products in development;
the cost of,launchmg new products, and the success of those products; funding and timing of payments related
to several srgmﬁcant ‘capital projects, the progress of our preclinical and clinical testing; fluctuating or
increasing’ manufacturmg requirements and research and development programs; levels of resources that we
need. to ‘dévote 'to/the development .of manufacturing, sales and marketing capabilities, including resources
devoted to the marketing of AVONEX, RITUXAN, AMEVIVE, and ZEVALIN and future products, as
well as the future marketing and manufacturing of TYSABRI if we are able to re-launch this product;
technologlcal advances; status of products being developed by competitors; our ability to establish collabora-
tive: arrangements with other organizations; and workirig capital required to satisfy the options of holders of our
senior- ‘notes and subordinated notes to- requrre us to repurchase therr notes on specified terms or upon the
occurrence of spe01ﬁed events. :

Untrl requrred for operatrons ‘we 1nvest our cash reserves in bank deposrts certrﬁcates of deposit,
commerc:lal ,paper, corporate notes, foreign and uU.S. government instruments and other readily marketable
debt mstruments m accordance with our 1nvestment policy.. .

Cash cash equrvalents and marketable securities available-for-sale decreased to $2.2 billion at Decem-
ber'31, 2004 from $2.3 billion at December 31, 2003. Our operatingactivities generated $728.0 million of cash
for the year ‘ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $170.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Net cash from operatrng activities includes our net income of $25 1 million, noncash charges of $439.4 million
for deprecratlon and arortization; $289.5 ‘million of i impact on sales of stepped-up 1nventory, and $144.6 mil-
lion of tax. beneﬁts related to stock options offset by $135.6 million for' deferred income taxes. Our investing
activities utlhzed $382 4 million of cash in 2004 compared to $256.4 million in 2003, and included
$361.0 mrllrdn to'fundiconstruction projects and purchase real property and equipment, including our research
and developrnent and administration campus in San Diego and manufacturing facility in Oceanside. Cash
generated from financing activities included $273.5 million from the issuance of common and treasury stock
under employee stock option and stock purchase plans oﬁ’set by $734 4 million used for the repurchase of
shares under our repurchase programs in 2004.

In Apnl and May 2002; we rarsed through the issuance of our senior notes, approximately $696 million,
‘net of underwriting commissions and expenses of $18.4 million. Simultaneously with the issuance of the senior
.notes, we used a portion of the proceeds to fund the repurchase of $135.0 million of our outstanding common
stock: The senior notes ‘are zero coupon and were priced with a yield to maturity of 1.75% annually. We will
pay contmgent cash interest to the holders of these senior notes during any nine-month period commencing on
or after April 30 2007 if the average market price of the senior notes for a five-trading-day measurement
period preccdlng such nine-month period equals- 120% or more of the sum of the issue price and accrued
original issue disceunt for, such sénior note. The contingent interest payable per senior note with respect of any
quarterly: penod ‘within such nine-month period where: contingent interest is determined to be payable will
equal the-greater: of (1). the amount of regular cash dividends paid by us per share on our common stock
during that quarterly period multiplied by ‘the then applicable conversion rate or (2).0.0625% of the average
market price of a:senior note for the five- tradmg-day measurement period preceding such nine-month period,
provided: that if we do not pay regular cash' dividends during a semiannual period; we will pay contingent
interest semrannually at a rate of 0.125% of the average market price of a senior note for the five-trading-day
measurement period immediately preceding such nine-month period.
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Upon maturity, the senior notes will have an aggregate principal face value of $1.2 billion. Each $1,000
aggregate principal face value senior note is convertible at the holder’s option at any time through maturity
into 7.1881 shares of our common. stock at an initial conversion price of $82.49, resulting in total potential
common shares to be issued upon conversion of 8.7 million shares. In addition, holders of the senior notes may
require us to purchase all or a portion of the senior notes on April 29, 2005, 2007, 2012 and 2017 at a price
equal to the issue price plus the accrued original issue discount to the date of purchase, payable in cash. We
expect that en Aprih:29, 2005, holders of the senior notes will require us to purchase all or a substantial portion
of the notes which could result in a cash outflow of up to approximately $809 million. This outflow includes
payment of the aggregate purchase price of the notes of approximately $753 million plus the payment of tax
for which deferred tax liabilities have been previously established related to additional deductible interest
expense. As a result, these senior notes are included in notes payable under current liabilities in our
consolidated balance sheets. We would be required to liquidate a portion of our marketable securities portfolio
to purchase the notes. In addition, if a change in control in our company occurs on or before April 29, 2007,
holders may require us to purchase all or a portion of their senior notes for cash. We have the right to redeem
at a price equal to the issue price plus the accrued original issue discount to the date of redemption all or a
portion of the senior notes for cash at any time on or after April 29 2007.

In February 1999, we raised through the issuance of our subordinated notes, approximately $112.7 mil-
lion, net of underwriting commissions and expenses of $3.9 million. The subordinated notes are zero coupon
and were priced with a yield to maturity of 5.5% annually. Upon maturity, the subordinated notes will have an
aggregate principal face value of $345.0 million. As of December 31, 2004, our remaining indebtedness under
the subordinated notes was approximately $219.2 million at maturity, due to conversion of subordinated notes
into common stock. Each $1,000 aggregate principal face value subordinated note is convertible at the holders’
option at any time through maturity into 40.404 shares of our common stock at an initial conversion price of
$8.36 per share. The holders of the subordinated notes may require us to purchase the subordinated notes on
February 16, 2009 or 2014 at a price equal to the issue price plus accrued original issue discount to the date of
purchase with us having the option to repay the subordinated notes plus accrued original issue discount in
cash, common stock or a combination of cash and stock. We have the right to redeem at a price equal to the
issue price plus the accrued .original issue discount to the date of redemption all or a portion of the
subordinated notes for cash at any time. During 2004, holders of subordinated notes with a face value of
approximately $125.7 million elected to convert their subordinated notes to approximately 5.1 million shares
of our common stock. To date, in the first quarter of 2003, holders of subordinated notes with a face value of
approximately $18.1 million elected to convert their subordinated notes to approximately 0.7 million shares of
our common stock. ‘

In August 2004, we restarted construction of our large-scale biologic manufacturing facility in Hillerod,
Denmark to be used to manufacture TYSABRI and other products, in our pipeline. The cost of the project is
estimated to be $372.0 million. As of December 31, 2004, we had committed approximately $129.0 million to
the project, of which $17.3 million has been paid. We expect this facility to be substantially complete in 2007
and available for commercial production in 2008. As of March 31, 2005, we determined that we would no
longer proceed with the fill-finish component of our large-scale biologic manufacturing facility in Hillerod. As
a result, we expect to write-off in the first quarter of 2005 to research and development expense approximately
$6.5 million of engineering costs which had previously been capitalized.

In September 2000, we purchased a 60-acre site in Oceanside, California for approximately $18.9 million
in cash. In December 2002, we purchased an additional 27 acres of land at the Oceanside site for $7.9 million.
We are building a large-scale manufacturing facility.at this location, which we anticipate using to manufacture
TYSABRI and other commercial products. We have completed construction of this facility and obtained the
certificate of occupancy in the fourth quarter of 2004. Commissioning and validation is expected to continue
through 2005. We expect the facility to be licensed in 2006. Including start-up costs, total costs of this facility
upon completion are estimated to be $480.0 million. As of December 31, 2004, we have committed
approximately $413.0 million to the .construction of this large-scale manufacturing facility, of which
$388.4 million has been paid. ' :
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The timingvoff'the anticipated completion, licensing and use of the Oceanside facility and the Hillerod
facility is. dependent upon the commercial availability and potential market acceptance of  TYSABRI. See
“Forward-Looking ; Information .and Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results — Safety Issues with
TYSABRI Could Slgmﬁcantly Affect.our Growth.” If TYSABRI is permanently withdrawn from the market,
we would rneed to! evaluate our-long-term plans for these facilities. If we are able to reintroduce TYSABRI to
the market, we would need to evaluate our requirements for TYSABRI inventory and additional manufactur-
ing capa01ty in hght of the approved label and our judgment of the. potential U.S. market acceptance of
TYSABRI in MS the probabrhty of obtammg marketmg approval of TYSABRI in MS in the EU and other

U.s., EU and other Junsdrctlons

In June 2004 we commenced constructlon to add addltronal research facilities and admlmstratlve space
to. one of Sur’ emstrng buildings in“Cambridge, Massachusetts. The cost of the project isestimated to be
$65.0 mhillion] As' of December 31, 2004, we had committed approximately $29.0 million to the project, of
which $18. 5 mrlhon had been paid. The project is expected to be substantially complete in ‘late’ 2005.

In’ September 2001 we purchased approx1mately 42.6 acres of 'land in San Diego, California for
approxm‘rately $31.7 million in cash where we'are building a consolidated research and development and
admrmstranon campus ‘We substantially completed constructlon and tdok occupancy in the building in'the
fourth' quarter of 2004. The estimated total cost of the project is $169.0° million. As of December 31, 2004, we
have commrtted approxrmately $168 0 mrlhon to the constructron of this campus, of which $167.0-million has
beenpard B L R ‘

In February 2004 our Board of Drrectors authorrzed the repurchase of up to 12.0 mlllron shares of our
common stock During 2004, we repurchased all 12.0 million shares at a cost of $698.4 million, completing
this: program The: repurchased stock - provided’ us with' treasury: shares to be used for general corporate
purposes such aStcommon stock to be issued under our employee equlty and stock purchase plans.

Inroctober 004 our Board of Drrectors authonzed the repurchase of up to 20.0 million shares of our
common, stock. The ‘repurchased stock will provide us w1th treasury shares for general corporate purposes,
such as common stock to be issued under our employee equity and stock purchase plans. This repurchase
program will .expire no later than October 4, 2006. During the fourth’ quarter of 2004, we repurchased
0.6 mllhon shares ‘at a cost of $36.0 million. Approximately 19.4 million shares remam authorized for
repurchase under this program at December 31, 2004. To date, in the first quarter of 2005 we repurchased
approx1mately 35 tmrlhon shares under this program, at a-cost of $168 5-million.

In May 1999 we entered 1nto an arrangement Wwith MDS (Canada) Inc MDS Nordion Division,
successor to MDS ‘ordron Inc., or MDS (Canada), under which, MDS. (Canada) agreed to supply us
‘yttnum 90 a ralelsotope used in connection. with adm1n1ster1ng ZEVALIN. MDS (Canada) initially
supplied product for use in the ZEVALIN chnlcal trials. In anticipation of commercial launch of ZEVALIN,
we subsequently determlned that add1t10na1 commercral productlon capac1ty for yttrium-90 would be
necessary To obtam a commrtment from MDS (Canada) that, suiﬁcrent commercial supply would be
available, 'we agreed to minimum purchase commitments of - $55.0 mllhon and to make periodic cash
payments totahng $25.0 million into an escrow account1 The supply agreement was amended in November
2001 to glve efTect to these mutual commitments. '

“In December 2003 in hght of the reduced expectatlons for 'ZEVALIN sales levels, we agreed to release
the '$25'0 million’ of escrowed funds to MDS (Canada),”and MDS (Canada) agreed to eliminate the
minimum purchase commitments from the supply arrangement. MDS (Canada)’s obligation to supply
yttrium-90 remams in ‘effect. We are amort1zmg the prepayment over the economic life of the agreement.

In connectron with the Merger, we assumed Blogen Inc.’s Retirement Plan, a tax-qualified defined
benefit pension plan Prior to November 13, 2003, we did not have a pension plan. Prior to the Merger, the
Retirement Plan covered substantially all of Biogen, Inc.’s regular U.S. employees and provided compensation
credits and mterest credits to participants’ Retirement Plan accounts using a cash balance method. We also
assumed Brogen Inc.’s unfunded Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, or SERP, which covered a select
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group of highly compensated U.S. employees. The plans are noncontributory. The Retirement Plan’s benefit
formula was based on employee earnings and age. The SERP provided benefits for covered executives in
excess of those permitted under the tax-qualified Retirement Plan. Biogen, Inc.’s funding policy for the plans
has been to contribute amounts deductible for federal income tax purposes. Funds contributed to the plans
have been invested in fixed income and equity securities. At October 31, 2003, Biogen, Inc. ceased allowing
new participants into the plans. Effective December 31, 2003, Biogen, Inc. amended the plans so that no
further benefits would accrue to participants.

We credited participants’ cash balance accounts under the Retirement Plan for compensation and interest
earned through December 31, 2003. After that date, no further compensation credits will be made, but interest
credits will be made until the Retirement Plan benefits have been distributed to participants.

We credited participants’ accounts under the: SERP for compensation and interest earned through
December 31, 2003. No further compensation credits will be made, but interest credits will be made until the
SERP is terminated.

In connection with the termination of the Retirement Plan, we requested an Internal Revenue Service, or
IRS, ruling that the Plan’s termination did not adversely affect its tax-qualified status. During 2004, our
management decided to accelerate the payment and to pay out participants’ benefits as soon as administra-
tively possible. In December 2004, we began distributing to employees their respective Retirement Plan
benefits. Participants had the following options with respect to the value of their Plan distribution: (a) to
receive an immediate lump sum payment which may be rolled over into the Biogen Idec 401 (k) Savings Plan
(401 (k) plan) or other designated qualified plan, or (b) to receive an annuity that would begin either
immediately or at a deferred date.

During 2004, we incurred charges of approximately $2.1 million related to transition benefits associated
with the termination of the plans, and plan curtailment costs and additional premium costs related to the
annuity transfer of approximately $3.0 million, which are included in our results of operations for 2004, At
December 31, 2004, we had a liability of $14.1 million related to these plans, including $7.7 million related to
transition benefits associated with the plan terminations. In January 2005, we funded approximately
$1.2 million to cover the remaining lump sum benefit payments under the Retirement Plan.

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Meésqres

We use non-GAAP gross margin of product sales measure in the “Cost of Product Revenues™ section
and non-GAAP effective tax rate measures in the “Income Tax Provision” section. These are non-GAAP
financial measures. The most directly comparable GAAP financial measures of each non-GAAP financial
measure as well as the reconciliation between each non-GAAP financial measure and the GAAP financial
measure are presented in the discussions of the non-GAAP financial measures. We believe that the non-
GAAP financial measures provide useful information to investors. In particular, we believe that the non-
GAAP financial measures allow investors to monitor and evaluate our ongoing operating results and trends
and gain a better understanding of our past performance as well as period-to-period performance.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The following summarizes our contractual obligations (excluding contingent milestone payments totaling
$332.5 million under our collaboration and license agreements, and construction commitments disclosed




separétely under “Financial Condition™) at December 31, 2004, and the effects such obligations are expected

to have on our liquidity and cash flows in future periods:" - .
’ ‘ ‘ ‘ : Payments Due by Period

Total Less than = 1-3 4-5 After

R ' e ‘ ‘ . Years 1 Year - Years Years S Years

. ! . (In thousands)
Non- cancelable operatmg leases........ $133,626 $28,112  $40,123 $27,814 $37,577
Other long -term obljgations.......... 46,862 25,696 < 16,462 4,704 —
| Tot‘lal"contrdctual cash obligations. . . .. $180,488 $53,808 $56,585  $32,518  $37,577

‘All matenal mtercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. We do not have any other
relatlonsh1ps with- unconsohdated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as
structured finance or spec1al purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating
off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As such, we are not exposed
to any ﬁnancmg, 11qu1d1ty, market or credit nsk that could anse if we had engaged in such relationships.
Collaboration and' License Agreements ’ ' '

In connection with our research-and development efforts, we have entered into various collaboration
arrangements which. provide us with rights to-develop, prodiice and market products using certain know-how,
technology and‘patent Tights maintained by the parties. Terms of the various license agreements may require
us to make milestone payments upon the achievement of certain product development objectives and pay
royalt1es on future sales if any, of commercial products resulting from the collaboration.

In October 2004, we entered into a development and license agreement with ImmunoGen, Inc., or
ImmunoGen, for .a worldwide, exclusive license to develop and commercialize anticancer therapeutics that
comprise an- antibody, that we have .developed to an undisclosed tumor cell target and ImmunoGen'’s
proprietary TumorfActivated Prodrug (TAP) technology. As .part of the agreement, we paid ImmunoGen an
upfront fee of $1.0 million, which was recorded as. a research and development expense. Upon the
achievement of certein predetermined milestones, we would be required to pay ImmunoGen up to a total of
$42.0 million plus toyalties over the life of the agreement, ImmunoGen will also receive compensation from us
for product development research done on its behalf, as well as for the production of prechmcal and initial
c11n1cal matenals

In August 2004 we entered into a collaborative agreement with Sunesis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or
Sunesis,’ to, d1scover and develop small molecule cancer therapeutics targetmg primarily kinases. Under the
agreement, we acqu1red exclusive licenses to develop and commercialize certam compounds resulting from the
collaboration. Upon s1gnmg the agreement, we pa1d Sunesis a .non-refundable upfront license fee of
$7.0 mrllron which was recorded in research and development expenses in the third quarter of 2004. Under
the terms of this agreement, we purchased approximately 2.9 million shares of preferred stock of Sunesis for
$14.0 m1111on the fair value of the shares. In December. 2002, Biogen, Inc. entered into a collaboration
agreement | w1th Sune51s related to the dlscovery and development of oral therapeutics for the treatment of
1nﬁammatory and aut01mmune d1seases Under the terms of this agreement, we purchased 1.25 million shares
of preferred stock of Sunesrs for $6.0 million, the fair value of the shares. We acquired certain exclusive
licenses to. develop and commercialize certain compounds resulting from the collaboration. Our investments in
Sunesis are mcluded in investments and other assets. We account for our investments in Sunesis using the cost
method of accountmg, subject to periodic review -of impairment. Under the terms of the December 2002
agreement, we will pay’ ‘Sunesis a quarterly license maintenance fee of $357,500 during the period January 1,
2005 through July. 1, 2005. Additionally, we have a Credit ‘Facility Agreement with Sunesis under which we
are obligated to loan: Sunesis up to $4.0 million. At December 31, 2004, there is $3.2 million of borrowings
outstémdmg We have committed to paying Sunesis additional amounts upon the completion of certain future
research, mllestones and first and second indication, development milestones. If all the milestones were to be
achieved in: both: .agreements, we would be requlred to pay up to an addmonal $121.0 million over the life of
the agreéments, excludmg royalties. - ‘
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In July 2004, we and Elan entered into a patent license agreement with Genentech for a non-exclusive
license to certain Genentech patents related to the manufacture of licensed products, including TYSABRI. As
a part of the agreement, we and Elan paid a $1.0 million license grant fee upon execution of the agreement,
which was charged to research and development expenses, and will pay an additional $1.0 million on the first
anniversary of the agreement. In addition, we and Elan each have to pay a development milestone fee of
$2.5 million related to the approval of TYSABRI by the FDA in November 2004, half of which was paid in
2004 upon approval of TYSABRI and half of which is payable on the anniversary of such approval. At
December 31, 2004, our $2.5 million total milestone fee is included in intangible assets, net on the
consolidated balance sheets and is being amortized to cost of product revenues over the life of the patent. The
agreement also requires that we or Elan pay royalties on net sales of TYSABRI and other licensed products.

In June 2004, we entered’into a collaborative research and development agreement with Vernalis ple, or
Vernalis, aimed at advancing research into Vernalis’ adenosine A2A receptor antagonist program, which
targets Parkinson’s disease and other central nervous system disorders. Under the agreement, we receive
exclusive worldwide rights to develop and commercialize Vernalis’ lead compound, V2006. We paid Vernalis
an initial license fee of $10.0 million in July 2004, which was recorded in research and development expenses
in the second quarter of 2004. Terms of the collaborative agreement may require us to make milestone
payments upon the achievement of certain program objectives and pay royalties on future sales, if any, of
commercial products resulting from the collaboration. We made an immediate investment of $5.5 million
through subscription for approximately 6.2 million new Vernalis common shares, representing 4.19 percent of
Vernalis’ post-financing issued share capital, and committed to purchase an additional $4.0 million in the
event of future Vernalis financing. Our investment in Vernalis is included in investments and other assets. We
account for our investment in Vernalis using the cost method of accounting, subject to periodic review of
impairment. Excluding royalties, total potential payments to Vernalis could exceed $100.0 million.

In June 2004, we entered into a licénse agreement with BioWa, Inc., or BioWa, for a worldwide, non-
exclusive license for research purposes and a worldwide, exclusive license for development and commercializa-
tion purposes to certain BioWa intellectual property rights related to monoclonal antibodies. As part of the
agreement, we have committed to paying BioWa certain amounts upon the achievement of certain research
and clinical milestones. If all the milestones were to be achieved, we would be requlred to pay-BioWa a total of
$18.8 million plus royalties over the life of the agreement. .

In May 2004, we entered into a limited partnership agreement as a limited partner with MPM
Bioventures 111 GP, LP, to create MPM Bioventures Strategic Fund, LP, or the Strategic Fund. The purpose
of the Strategic Fund is to make, manage, and supervise investments in biotechnology companies with novel
products or technologies that fit strategically with Biogen Idec. The Strategic Fund takes only minority
positions in the equity of its investments, and does not seek to engage in day-to-day management of the
entities. We have committed $65.0 million to the Strategic Fund over a three-year period. During 2004, we
contributed $5.5 million to the Strategic Fund.

In April 2004, we became a limited partner in MPM Bioventures 111-QP, LP, or the LP, a limited
partnership that invests in entities that are engaged in the research, development, manufacture, marketing
and/or sale of novel biological products or technologies. We have committed to contribute $4.0 million to the
limited partnership. Through December 31, 2004, we have contributed $1.8 million into the LP, which is
included in investments and other assets in our consolidated balance sheets.

In September 2003, Biogen, Inc. entered into a license agreement with Fumapharm AG, or Fumapharm,
under which Biogen, Inc. obtained exclusive rights to develop and market a second-generation fumarate
derivative with an immunomodulatory mechanism of action, which is currently in clinical trials in Europe.
Under the terms of this agreement, we have an'exclusive worldwide marketing and distribution license for
psoriasis, and a production and exclusive marketing and distribution license for the entire world for MS.
During 2004, we made payments totaling $4.2 million to Fumapharm for the achievement of. certain
milestones, which were expensed .to research and development expense. We have committed to paying
Fumapharm additional amounts upon the completion of certain future research milestones and first and
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second 1nd1cat10n development milestones. If all the milestones weré to be achieved, we would be required to
pay up, to-an addrtronal 20.0 million Swiss francs plus royaltres over:the remaining life of the agreement.

In! August 2003 Blogen Inc. entered into a collaboratron agreement with Vetter Pharma- -Fertigung
GmbH & Co. KG or Vetter, for the fill-finish of our products Under the terms of this agreement, we made a
partial advance payment to Vetter of 35.0 million Euros in return for reserving certain capacity at Vetter’s fill-
finish: facility. Astof December 31, 2004, we have made payments totaling $22.7 .million to Vetter for the
achievement of certain milestones achieved under the terms of our:supply agreement for reserving certain
capacrty at Vetter’s fill-finish facility. These ‘payments .are recorded in- investments and other assets on our
consolidated balance sheets. The asset will be amortized to cost of product revenues -over the units produced
upon delivery to Brogen Tdec. We have total potential milestone payments of approximately 16. 0 m1llron €uros
remaining as paft of the agreement.

In September 2001, we entered into a collaborative development agreement with Mitsubishi Pharma to
support clinical development of anti-CD80 (anti-B7.1) antibody products developed using our Primatized®
antibody technology: Under the terms of-an existing license agreement with Mitsubishi Pharma, entered into
in Novémber 1993, Mitsubishi Pharma had an exclusive licensé in Asia'to 'develop-and commercialize anti-
CD8O (anti-B7. 1) antibody products. These agreements were terminated in Décember 2003. As a result of the
termination of these agreements, we have no continuing financial obligations under these agreements. During
2003 and 2002, we recoghized revenues from these agréements of $1.5 million' and $1'4 million, respectively,
which ate; mcluded in corporate partner revenues. Under these agreeinents, amounts ¢arned by us and
recognized as revenue for contract résearch and development approxrmated the research and development
expenses 1ncurred under the related agreement IR

In August 2000 Brogen Inc. entered into a development and marketmg collaboratlon agreement with
Elan to collaborate in the development, manufacture and commercialization of TYSABRI. In November
2004, we recerved approval by the FDA to market TYSABRI as:a treatment for relapsing forms of MS to
reduce frequency of clinical relapses. We are also developing TYSABRI as a potential treatment for Crohn’s
drsease and RA. In February 2005, we and Elan voluntarily suspended the marketing and commercial
drsmbutron of TYSABRI and suspended dosrng in clinical trials of TYSABRI. See “Overview” for a
descnptron of the suspension and related events. Under the terms of this agreement, we share costs with Elan
for on-going 'development activities. 'As of Detember- 31, 2004, Elan owed us $34.4 million, representing
commercialization and development expenses that we 1ncurred which is included-in other current assets on
our consolldated balance: sheets We recelved the entire $34 4 mrllron from Elan in the first quarter of 2005
related to the recervable K o . N !

In, June 1999 we entered into a collaboratron and lrcense agreernent with Schering AG, or Sehenng,
almed at.the development :and commercialization of ZEVALIN, ‘Under. the terms of the agreement, we may
receive. milestone and research and development support, payments totaling up to $47.5 million, subject to the
attainment,of product development objectives. Schering received ‘exclusive marketing and distribution rights
to ZEVALIN outside the U.S., and we will receive royalties on:product-sales by Schering. Under the terms of
a separate supply agreement, we are obligated to meet Schering’s clinical and commercial requirements for
ZEVALIN. Schering may terminate -these agreements;iforany reason. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we
recognized revenues-from-our agreements with Schering:of $10.0 million, $0:2 million and $0.3 million,
respecthely,iwh‘ich iare .included in corporate partner revenues. In the first quarter of 2004, we received a
$10.0 millionpayment from Schering for the EMEA grant of marketing approval of ZEVALIN in the EU.
The payment. represented in part, a milestone payment to compensate us for preparing, generating, and
collecting data that was critical to the EMEA marketing approval process, and to which we have no continuing
involvement., Under the above agreement, amounts earned by us and recognized as revenue for contract
research and development approxrmate the research and development expenses incurred under the related
agreement o

el 1o | o o ORI R i 2 .

in December 1994, we entered into a collaborative. development agreement and a license agreement with
Seikagdku, 1aimed: at-the development and commercialization of an'anti-CD23 antibody using Primatized
antibody technology.'During 2003 and 2002, we recognized revenues frot our agreement with Seikagaku of
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$0.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively, which are included in corporate partner revenues. Although this
agreement was terminated effective January 17, 2004, we have certain continuing obligations under the
agreement that we expect to fulfill in the first half of 2005 and for which we would receive revenue from
Seikagaku. Under the above agreement, amounts earned by us and recognized as revenue for contract research
and development approximate the research and development expenses incurred under the related agreement.

As part of previous agreements that Biogen, Inc. had with Targeted Genetics Corporation, or Targeted,
for gene therapy research and development, we own approximately 12.1 million shares of Targeted’s common
stock with a fair value of $18.8 million, which is included in investments and other assets in our consolidated
balance sheets. In the third quarter of 2004, we recognized a $12.7 million charge for the impairment of our
Targeted investment that was determined to be other than temporary. We have no remaining commitments or
obligations with Targeted. ’

Legal Matters

On March 2, 2005, we, along with William H. Rastetter, our Executive Chairman, and James C. Mullen,
our Chief Executive Officer, were named as defendants in a purported class action lawsuit, captioned Brown v.
Biogen Idec Inc., et al, filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts. The complaint
alleges violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder. The action is purportedly brought on behalf of all purchasers of our publicly-traded
securities between February 18, 2004 and February 25, 2005. The plaintiff alleges that the defendants made
materially false and misleading statements regarding potentially serious side effects of TYSABRI in order to
gain accelerated approval from the FDA for the product’s distribution and sale. The plaintiff alleges that these
materially false and misleading statements harmed the purported class by artificially inflating our stock price
during the purported class period and that company insiders benefited personally from the inflated price by
selling our stock. The plaintiff seeks unspecified damages, as well as interest, cost and attorneys’ fees. A
substantiaily similar action, captioned Grill v. Biogen Idec Inc., et al., was filed on March 10, 2005 in the same
court by another purported class representative. We believe that the actions are without merit and intend to
contest them vigorously. At this stage of litigation, we cannot make any estimate of a potential loss or range of
loss. ‘ '

On March 4, 2005, a purported shareholder derivative action, captioned Halpern v. Rastetter, et al;-was
filed in the Court of Chancery for the State of Delaware, in New Castle County, on our behalf of Biogen Idec
Inc., against us as nominal defendant, our Board of Directors and our former general counsel. The plaintiff
derivatively claims breaches of fiduciary duty by the Board of Directors for inadequate oversight of our
policies, practices, controls and assets, and for recklessly awarding executive bonuses despite alleged
awareness of potentially serious side effects of TYSABRI and the potential for related harm to our financial
position. The plaintiff also derivatively claims that our Executive Chairman, former general counsel and a
director misappropriated confidential company information for personal profit by selling our stock while in
possession of material, non-public information regarding the potentially serious side effects of TYSABRI, and
alleges that our Board of Directors did not ensure that appropriate policies were in place regarding the control
of confidential information and personal trading in our securities by officers and directors. The plaintiff seeks
unspecified damages, profits, the return of all bonuses paid by us, costs and attorneys’ fees. A substantially
similar action, captioned Golaine v. Rastetter, et al., was filed on March 14, 2005 in the same court. Neither of
the plaintiffs made presuit demand on our Board of Directors prior to filing their respective actions. As
required by applicable law, we and our Board of Directors are considering the derivative claims in the
complaints and will respond in a time and manner consistent with applicabie Delaware statutory and common
law. The purported derivative actions do not seek affirmative relief from the company.

On March 9, 2005, two additional purported shareholder derivative actions, captioned Carmona v.
Mullen, et al. and Fink v. Mullen, et al., were brought in the Superior Court of the State of California, County
of San Diego, on our behalf, against us as nominal defendant, our Board of Directors and our chief financial
officer. The plaintiffs derivatively claim breach of fiduciary duties, abuse of control, gross mismanagement,
waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment against all defendants. The plaintiffs also derivatively claim
insider selling in violation of California Corporations Code § 25402 and breach of fiduciary duty and

64




misappropriation’ of: information against certain deferidants who sold our securities during the period of
February. 18 2004..to. the date of the complaints. The plaintiffs allege that the defendants caused and/or
allowed us o issue, and conspired, aided and abetted and acted in concert in concealing that we were issuing,
false and misleading. press releases about the safety of TFYSABRI and its financial prospects which resulted in
legal claims. bemgrasserted against us, irreparable harm to our corporate image, depression of our stock price
and impairment of our ability to raise capital. The plaintiffs also allege: that certain defendants sold personally
owned shares of our stock while in possession of material, undisclosed, adverse information. The plaintiffs seek
unspecrﬁed darnages treble damages for the purported. insider tradrng in violation of California Corporate
Code §25402 equltable relief including restriction of the defendants “trading proceeds or other assets,
rest1tut1on disgorgernent and costs, including attorneys’ fees and expenses Neither of the plaintiffs made
presuit demand on our Board of Directors prior. to filing their respective actions. As required by applicable law,
we and our Board of Directors are considering the derivative claims in the complaints and will respond in a
time and marnnér consrstent with applicable statutory and common law The purported derivative actions do
not seek aﬁirmanve relref from the company.

Our Board of Drrectors has received letters dated Mareh 1 and 15, 2005, respectively, on behalf of
~purported owners of our securities purportedly constituting demands under Delaware law. A supplement to the
March 1 letter was received on March 2, 2005. The letters: .generally allege that certain of our officers and
directors breached their fiduciary duty to us by selling personally held shares our securities while in possession
of material, non-public information about potential serious side effects; of TYSABRI. The letters generally
request that our Board of Directors take action on our behalf to recover compensation and profits from the
officers’ and drrectors, consider enhanced corporate governance controls related to the sales of securities by
insiders, ‘and pursue ‘other such equitable relief, damagés, and other remedies as may be appropriate. As
required by apphcable law, our Board, of Directors is currently consrdermg the letters and will respond in a
trme and manner cons1stent with Delaware law. ’ ;

We are: provrdmg 1nformat10n to the SEC regarding | the SEC S 1nformal inquiry into the suspension of
marketing and commercial distribution of TYSABRI and: tradmg in our securities by certain of our directors,
officers and. employees ,.

On July 15 2003 Brogen Inc. (now Biogen Idec MA, Inc one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries}, along
with Genzyme Corporatron and Abbott Bioresearch Center, Inc filed suit against The Trustees of Columbia
University in the C1ty of New York, or Columb1a in the U S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts
contendlng that we- ho longer have any obligation to pay royalt1es to Columb1a on sales of our products under a
1993 hcense agreement between us and Colunibia related to U.S. Patent Nos. 4,399,216, 4,634,665, and
5,179, 017, also referred to as the Original Patents, or under a newly issued patent U.S. Patent No. 6,455,275,
also referred to as the ‘275 patent (the 2003 actlon) Based in part; on the court $ subsequent finding that we
had made a strong showrng that we mrght prevarl in proving. the 275 patent is invalid under the doctrine of
non- statutory double patentmg, Columbia has since covenanted not to sue B1ogen Idec MA, Inc. on any claim
of the ‘275 patent and anfy claim that is the same or substantrally the same as the claims of the 275 patent if
such claim(s) emerge from'the reexamination or reissue proceedlngs currently pending before the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Oﬁice, or USPTO, with respect to the ‘275 patent. As'a result of Columbia’s covenant not to
sue, and Columb1a s assertion that Biogen Idec MA, Inc.'is a hcensee in good standing, the court issued an
order on November 5 2004 in which it dismissed Blogen Idec MA Inc.’s claims for declaratory relief for lack
of subject matter _]uI‘lSdlCthH At this t1me we are unable to pred1ct whether any claims will issue from the
USPTO on the reexariination or reissue proceedings concerning the 275 patent, or whether if any claims do
issue, such clarms will'p pose a risk of 1nfr1ngement wrth respect to our activities.

On September 17, 2004 Biogen Idec Inc., Biogen Idec MA, Inc., and:Genzyme Corporation, filed suit
against Columbia in the U.S. District Court for the District-of Massachusetts (the 2004 action). In the 2004
action we reasserted some of the contentions made in our complaint in the action filed in 2003 action. For
example that we are’'seeking a declaratory judgment that'we have mo obligation to pay any further royalties
under the thcense agreement. because the Original Patents. have expired and the ‘275 patent is invalid and
unenforceable and- that Columbia should be permanently enjoined from' demanding any further royalties
based on the ‘275 patent or on any pendmg continuations, continuations-in-part, or divisional applications of
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the Original Patents. We have also asserted claims for relief based on abuse of process, breach of contract,
violation of Massachusetts laws concerning unfdir and deceptive trade practices, prosecution laches and
inequitable conduct. To date, Columbia has refused to extend its covenant not to sue on the ‘275 patent to
Biogen Idec Inc. In the event that we are unsuccessful in the present litigation and Columbia asserts a claim
for.infringement against Biogen Idec Inc., we may be liable for damages suffered by Columbia with respect to
unpaid royalties and such other relief as. Columbia may seek and be granted by the Court. At this stage of the
litigation, we cannot make any estimate of a potential loss or range of loss.

~ On August 10, 2004, Classen Immunotherapies, Inc. filed suit against us, GlaxoSmithKline, Chiron
Corporation, Merck & Co., Inc., and Kaiser-Permanente, Inc., in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Maryland, contending that we induced mfnngcment of U.S. patents 6,420,139, 6,638,739, 5,728,385, and
5,723,283, all of which are directed to various methods of immunization or determination of immunization
schedules. The inducement of infringement claims are based on allegations that we “provided instructions
and/or récommendations on a proper immunization schedule for vaccines” to other defendants who are
alleged to have directly infringed the patents at issue. We are investigating the allegations, however, we do not
believe them to be based in fact. Under our 1988 license agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, GlaxoSmithKline
is obligated to indemnify and défend us against these claims. In the event that the nature of the claims change
such that GlaxoSmithKline is no longer obligated to indemnify and defend us and we are unsuccessful in the
present litigation we may be liable for damages suffered by Classen and such other relief as Classen may seek
and be granted by the court. At this stage of the litigation, we cannot make any estimate of a potentlal loss or
range of loss.

. Along with several other major pharmaceuucal and blotechnology companies, Blogen Inc. (now Biogen
Idec MA, Inc., one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries) or, in certain cases, Biogen Idec Inc., was named as a
defendant in lawsuits filed by the County of Suffolk, New York, the County of Westchester, New York, the
County of Rockland, New York, the County of Nassau, New York, the County of Onondaga, New York, the
County of Chenango, New York, the County of Erie, New York, the City of New York, and the County of
Chautauqua, New York. All ‘of the cases are pending in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Massachusetts, with the exception of the Onondaga, Chenango and Chautauqua lawsuits, which are expected
to be transferred to the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts, and the Erie lawsuit, which is
pending in the Supreme Court of the State of New York for the County of Erie. The complaints allege that
the defendants fraudulently reported the Average Wholesale Price for certain drugs for which Medicaid
provides reimbursement, also referred to as Covered Drugs; marketed and promoted the sale of Covered Drugs
to provxders based on the providers’ ability to collect inflated payments from the government and Medicaid
beneficiaries that exceeded payments possible for competing drugs; provided financing incentives to providers
10 over-prescribe Covered Drugs or to pres(:ribe Covered Drugs in place of competing drugs,; and overcharged
Medicaid for illegally inflated Covered Drugs reimbursements. The complaints allege violations of New York
state law and advance common law claims for unfair trade practices, fraud, and unjust enrichment. In
addition, all of the complaints, w1th the exception of the County of Erie, allege that the defendants failed to
accurately report the “best price” on the Covered Drugs to the Secretary of Health and Human Services
pursuant to rebate agrecments entered into with the, Secretary of Health and Human Services, and excluded
from their reporting certain drugs offered at discounts and other rebates that would have reduced the “best
price.” The Suffolk, Westchester, Rockland, and Nassau County complaints also claim that Biogen violated
the Racketeering Influence and Corrupt Orgamzatlons Act (RICO) 18 US.C. §1962(c). In September
2003, Biogen joined other named, defendants in filing 2 motion to dismiss the Suffolk County complaint.
Biogen also separately filed a motion on its own behalf arguing that the plaintiffs made no specific factual
allegations against Biogen to connect it with the alleged scheme. In September 2004, the court, in ruling on
defendants’ joint motion to dismiss, allowed the motion, in part, and dismissed the RICO claim, the Medicaid
best price claim, the breach of contract claim, and the'common law fraud claim. The court did not dismiss the
claims. brought under the New York State Medicaid and Social Services statutes, the unfair trade practices
claim, or the claim for unjust enrichment. In October 2004, the court issued a partial decision on Biogen’s
individual motion to dismiss. The court dismissed all of the state law claims against Biogen based on the
alleged failure to report best price; but deferred ruling-on the fraud-based claims and ordered Suffolk County
to produce all documents in support of its fraud-based claims. Suffolk .County subsequently produced
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documents in response to the court’s request and Biogen renewed its motion to dismiss. Neither Biogen nor
the other defendants have answered or responded to the other complaints, ‘as all of the plaintiffs except Erie
County have agreed to stay the ‘time to respond until the resolution of the pending motion to dismiss the
Suffolk County complamts Biogen Idec intends to defend itself vigorously against all of the allegations and
claims in these Iawsurts At this stage of the litigation, we cannot make any estimate of a potential loss or
range of loss.

o0 e .

In addltlon werare 1nvolved in certain other legal proceedings generally incidental to our'normal business
activities. Whrle theioutcome of any of these proceedings cannot be accurately predicted, we do not believe the
ultimate resoliition of any of these existing matters would have a material adverse effect on our business or
ﬁnancral condmon ST ‘ :

Caoh T INEN o .

Crltlcal Accountmg Estimates

The preparatron of consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that
may affect Lthe reported)amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of
contmgent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to
revenue. recogn1t1on and Telated allowances, marketable securrtles derivative and hedging activities, invento-
ries, patents,. income taxes including the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, impairment for intangible
assets and goodwill,'valuation of long-lived assets and investments, research and development, loans, pensions,
retiree medrcal plan,: contmgencres and litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basrs for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent frorn other.sources. Actual results may dlﬁer from these esnmates under different assumpnons or

condmons i_,,;m LR r 1y

We beheve the followmg critical accountmg polrcres affect our more sxgmﬁcant Judgments and esumates
used in’ the preparatron of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recogmtron and Accounts: Recervable - e S

SEC StalT Accountmg Bulletin No 101 or SAB 101, superceded in part by SAB 104, provides guidance
on the recognmon presentatron and disclosure of revenue in financial statements. SAB 104 establishes the
SEC’s view that it is not appropriate to recognize revenue unt1l all of the followmg criteria are met: persuasive
evidénce of anlarrangement exists; dehvery has occurred ¢ or services have been rendered; the seller’s price to
the buyer:i is fixed or’ determmable and collectrblllty is reasonably assured. SAB 104 also requires that both
title and the msks and rewards of ownership be transferred to the buyer before revenue can be recognized. We
believe that- our revenue recogmtlon policies are in compliance with SAB 104.

Produet revenuelconsrsts of sales from our four products AVONEX AMEVIVE, ZEVALIN, and
TYSABRI The tlrmng ‘of distributor orders and shipments can cause vanabrhty in earnings. Revenues from
product sale$ are recogmzed when product is shipped and title and risk of loss has passed to the customer,

typrcally uf)on delrvery Revenues are recorded net of applicable allowances for returns, patient assistance,

trade term dlspounts Medrcard rebates, Veteran’s Administration rebates, and managed care discounts and
other appllcaple allowances Included in our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003, are
allowances for retums rebates discounts and other allowances which totaled $33.8 million and $20.8 million,
respectrvely u[élt December 31, 2004, our allowance for product returns was $5.2 million. At December 31,
2004, total dlscounts and allowances were approximately 1.8% of total curfent assets and less than 1% of total
assets. We ‘prepare our ¢stimates for sales returns and allowances drscounts and rebates quarterly based
prlmarrly on ';hlstoncal_‘experlence updated for changes in facts and c1rcumstances, as appropnate If actual
future results vary, W may need to adjust our estimates, which could have an impact on earnings in the period
of adJustment In the past our estimates based on hrstoncal expenence have not materially differed from

actual results

We closely momtor levels of 1nventory in the drstnbutlon channel. At December 31, 2004, we had
approxrmately, on average 1.to 3 weeks of inventory in the, d1str1but10n channel. The shelf life dssociated with
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our products is long (15-to 30 months, depending on the product); therefore obsolescence: due to dating
expiration has not been a historical concern, given the rapidity in which our products move through the
channel. Changes due to our competitors’ price movements have not adversely affected us. We do not provide
incentives to our distributors to assume add1t10nal inventory levels beyond what is customary in their ordinary
course of business.

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, we recorded $169.3 million, $13.9 million and
$0.7 million, respectively, in our consolidated statements of income related to sales returns and allowances,
discounts, and rebates. Our sales returns andallowances, discounts, and rebates in 2004 were substantially
higher than 2003, since sales returns and allowances, discounts, and rebates related to AVONEX and
AMEVIVE were included in our results of operations for all of 2004 as opposed to 2003, when sales returns
and allowances, discounts, and rebates related to AVONEX and AMEVIVE were included in our results of
operations only for the period from November 13, 2003 through December 31, 2003. In 2004, the amount of
product returns was approximately 1% of product revenue for all our products. Product returns were
$17.4 million, $3.7 million and $0.5 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Product returns in 2004
included $3.2 million related to product sales made prior to 2004. During 2004, we had encountered problems
in manufacturing our pre-filled syringe formulation of AVONEX. As a result, we had an increase in our
expected level of returns related to batches that failed to meet specifications.

In November 2004, we received regulatory approval in the U.S. of TYSABRI for the treatment of MS
and paid a $7.0 million approval-based milestone to Elan. Upon approval, we also became obligated to provide
Elan with $5.3 million in credits for payments on certain purchases of TYSABRI and for reimbursement of
commercialization costs. Elan can apply $1.5 million of the credits per year. The approval and credit
milestones were capitalized upon approval in investments and other assets and are being amortized over the
remaining patent life of 15.7 years. The amortization of the approval and credit milestones is being recorded as
a reduction of revenue. In February 2005, in consultation with the FDA, we and Elan voluntarily suspended
the marketing and commercial distribution of TYSABRI, and informed physicians that they should suspend
dosing of TYSABRI until further notification.

Under our agreement with Elan, we manufacture TYSABRI and, in the U.S. prior to the suspension, sold
TYSABRI to Elan who then distributed TYSABRI to third party distributors. In the U.S., we record revenue
when TYSABRI is shipped from Elan to third party distributors. In December 2004, we recorded $3.1 million
of product revenues related to sales of TYSABRI to Elan. Additionally, as of December 31, 2004, we deferred
$1.9 million in revenue related to sales of TYSABRI, which had not yet been shipped by Elan. As of
December 31, 2004, Elan owed us $34.4 million, representing commercialization and development expenses
incurred by us to be reimbursed by Elan, which we received from Elan in the first quarter of 2005

Revenues from unconsolidated joint business cons1st of our share of the RITUXAN pretax copromotion
profits generated from our copromotion arrangement with Genentech, reimbursement from Genentech of our
RITUXAN-related sales force and development expenses and royalties from Genentech for sales of
RITUXAN outside the U.S. by Roche and Zenyaku. Under the copromotion arrangement, all U.S. sales of
RITUXAN and associated costs and expenses are recognizeéd by Genentech and we record our share of the
pretax copromotion profits on a quarterly basis, as defined in our amended and restated collaboration
agreement with Genentech. Pretax copromotion profits under the copromotion arrangement are derived by
taking U.S. net sales of RITUXAN to third-party customers less cost of sales, third-party royalty expenses,
distribution, selling and marketing expenses and joint development expenses incurred by Genentech and us.
Our profit-sharing formula with Genentech has two tiers; we earn a higher percentage of the pretax
copromotion profits at the upper tier once a fixed pretax copromotion profit level is met. The profit-sharing
formula resets annually at the beginning of each year to the lower tier. In June 2003, we amended and restated
our collaboration agreement with Genentech to include the development and commercialization of one or
more anti-CD20 antibodies targeting B-cell disorders, in addition to RITUXAN, for a broad range of
indications. Upon approval of the first new anti-CD20 product, the pretax copromotion profit-sharing formula
for RITUXAN and other anti-CD20 products will change over a period of time to a fixed annual profit-
sharing percentage at the lower tier. Currently, we record our share of expenses incurred for the development
of new anti-CD20 products in research and development expense until such time as a new product is approved,

68




at which tlme we w1ll record our share of pretax copromotion profits related to the new product in revenues
from unconsohdated joint business. We record our royalty revenues.on sales of RITUXAN outside the
U.S. on.a:cdsh basis.. .Under the amended and restated collaboration agreement, we will receive lower royalty
revenue from Genentech on sales by Roche and Zenyaku of new anti-CD20 products and only for the first

eleven years from the date of ﬁrst commercial sale-of such new anti-CD20 products.

In February 2002 the FASB Emergmg Issues Task Force or ElTF ‘released EITF Issue No. 01-09 or
EITF 01 09 “Accountlng for Con51derat10n G1ven by a Vendor to.a Customer (Including a Reseller of the
Vendors Products) ? EITF 01-09 states that’ cash cons1derat1on (1nclud1ng a sales incentive) given by a
vendor to a’customer 1s presumed to be a reduct1on of the sellmg prices of the vendor’s products or services
and, therefore should be ¢haracterized as a reduction of reveriue when recognized in the vendor’s income-
statement, rather than a sales and marketing expense. We have various contracts with distributors that provide
for discounts and rebates.. These contracts are classified as a reduction of revenue. We also maintain select
customer. service contracts with distributors and other customers in:the distribution channel. In accordance
with EITFY’Ql -09; we have established ‘the fair valué of these contracts ‘and, as provided by EITF 01-09,
classified these customer service contracts as sales and marketing expense..If we had concluded that sufficient
evidence of the fairvalue did not extst for these contracts, we. would have been required to classify these costs
as a reductlon of revenue.. | ' ‘ ) :

We rece1ve royalty revenues under 11cense agreements w1th a number of third parties that sell products
"based 0 .on technology developed by us or to wh1ch the we have rlghts The license agreements provide for the
payment%of royaltles to us based on sales of the licensed product We record these revenues based on estimates
of the sales. that occurred during_ the. relevant period. The relevant penod estimates of sales are based on
mtenm data prov1ded by hcensees and. analys1s of historical royaltres paid to us (adjusted for any changes in
facts and c1rcumstances as appropnate) We maintain regular commumcat1on with our licensees in order to
gauge the reasonableness of our estlrnates Drﬁ'erences between actual royalty revenues and estimated royalty
revenues are reconcrled and adjusted for i in ‘the pCI‘lOd which they become known, typically the following
quarter Hlstoncally, adjustments have not been material based on actual amounts paid by licensees. There are
no future performance obligations on’ our part under these license agreements Under this pohcy, revenue can
vary due t factors such as resolution of royalty dlsputes and arbitration. - - ,

We marntam allowances for doubtful accounts for estrmated losses resultlng from the inability of our
customers to make requrred payments. I the ﬁnan01al cond1t1on of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting
in an 1mpaurment of their ability to make payments addltlonal allowances may be required, which could aﬂ'ect
future earnmgs G CL e ,
' o e - W S BETEE A

' Biogen, Inc. Puréhase Price Allocation ‘ oo |

The purchase price related to the Merger was allocated to tangible and identifiable intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair market values as of the acquisition date. An
independent, th1rd party valuation firm was engaged to assist in determining the fair values of in-process
researchiand development, identifiable intangible assets, inventory and certain property, plant and equipment,
and in- determmmg the useful lives of such tangible andidentifiable intangible assets acquired. Such a
valuatron requrres srgmﬁcant estimates and assumpt1ons 1nclud1ng but not limited to: determining the timing
and expected costs to complete the in- process projects, determlmng the product life and term of estimated
future cash’ ﬂows and’ developmg appropriate costs, expenses deprec1at10n and amortization assumptions, tax
rates, drscount rates and probablhty rates by’ proyect We beheve the fair values assigned to the assets acquired
and’ lrab1l1t1es assumed are based on reasonable assumptrons These assumptions are based on the best
available 1nformat1on that we had at ‘the timeé. Additionally, certain éstimates for the purchase price allocation
related to 1ncome taxes may change as subsequent lnformatlon becomes available.

| N
i

Marketable $QCUfltles
IR IVEE TR o
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Wet invest our excess cash balances. in short term. and long-term marketable securities, principally:
corporate, notes and government securities. At December 31, 2004, substantially all of our securities were
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classified as “available-for-sale”. All available-for-sale securities are recorded at fair market value and
unrealized gains and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income in shareholders’
equity, net of related tax effects. Realized gains and losses and declines in value, if any, judged to be other than
temporary on available-for-sale securities are reported in other expense. In 2004, we recognized a charge of
approximately $5.7 million for certain unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities that were determined
to be other-than-temporary, because we believe the securities will be sold prior to a potential recovery of their
decline in value. Any future determinations that unrealized losses are other than temporary could have an
impact on earnings. The cost of available-for-sale securities sold is based on the specific identification method.
We have established guidelines that maintain safety and provide adequate liquidity in our available-for-sale
portfolio. These guidelines are periodically reviewed and modified to take advantage of trends in yields and
interest rates.

As part of our strategic product development efforts, we invest in equity securities of certain biotechnol-
ogy companies with which we have collaborative agreements. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 115, or SEAS 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” addresses the
accounting for investment in marketable equity securities. As a matter of policy, we determine on a quarterly
basis whether any decline in the fair value of a marketable security is temporary or other than temporary.
Unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities are included in other comprehensive income in
shareholders’ equity, net of related tax effects. If a decline in the fair value of a marketable security below our
cost basis is determined to be other than temporary, such marketable security is written down to its estimated
fair value with a charge to current earnings. The'factors that we consider in our assessments include the fair
market value of the security, the duration of the security’s decline, and prospects for the company, including
favorable clinical trial results, new product initiatives and new collaborative agreements. In 2004, we
recognized a $12.7 million charge for the impairment of an investment that was determined to be other than
temporary. Any future determinations that unrealized losses are other than temporary could have an impact
on earnings. At December 31, 2004, we had no unrealized losses related to these marketable securities. The
fair market value of these marketable securities totaled $29.4 million at December 31, 2004.

We also invest in equity securities of certain companies whose securities are not publicly traded and fair
value is not readily available. These investments are recorded using the cost method of accounting and, as a
matter of policy, we monitor these investments in private securities on a quarterly basis, and determine
whether any impairment in their value would require a charge to current earnings, based on the implied value
from any recent rounds of financing completed by the investee, market prices of comparable public companies,
and general market conditions. At December 31, 2004, we included approximately $33.9 million of
investments in private securities in investments and other assets. There were no significant charges to current
earnings in 2004, 2003 or 2002 for impairments of these investments. Recognition of impairments for these
securities may cause variability in earnings.

Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost determined under the first-in, first-out
(“FIFO”) method. Included in inventory are raw materials used in the production of pre-clinical and clinical
products, which are expensed as research and development costs when consumed.

Our policy is to capitalize inventory costs associated with our products prior to regulatory approval, when,
based on management’s judgment, future commercialization is considered probable and the future economic
benefit is expected to be realized. Our accounting policy addresses the attributes that should be considered in
evaluating whether the costs to manufacture a product have met the definition of an asset as stipulated in
FASB Concepts Statement No. 6. We assess the regulatory approval process and where the particular product
stands in relation to that approval process including any known constraints and impediments to approval,
including safety, efficacy and potential labeling restrictions. We evaluate our anticipated research and
development initiatives and constraints relating to the product and the indication in which it will be used. We
consider our manufacturing environment including our supply chain in determining logistical constraints that
could possibly hamper approval or commercialization. We consider the shelf life of the product in relation to
the expected timeline.for approval and we consider patent related or contract issues that may prevent or cause
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delay in ‘commercialization We are sensitive to the significant commitment of capital to scale up production
and to launch commer01ahzatron strategles We also base our Judgment on the viability of commercialization,
‘trénds i 1n the marketplace and market acceptance criteria. Finally, we consider the reimbursement strategies
that may preva11 w1th respect to the product and assess the economic benefit that we are likely to realize.

There is; a ris mherent in these Judgments which i is the reason we drsclose the risk and the potentral fora
change in Judgment‘ At December 31, 2004, all products 1ncluded 1n 1nventory have been approved for sale by
elther the EMEA or FDA ) .

In,Febrdary 2005 'we and Elan voluntanly suspended the marketmg and commercial distribution of
TYSABRf based on reports of two serious adverse events that oceurred in patients treated with TYSABRI in
comb1nat1on w1th AVONEX in MS clinical studles These events mvolved two cases, of PML, a rare and
frequently fa ‘al demyehnatmg disease of the central nervous system. ][n hght of the two reports of PML, the
compames 1n1t1ated a sy}stematrc review of the TYSABRI safety database On March 30, 2005, we and Elan
announced that the review of the safety database'led a senous “adverse event previously reported by a clinical
1nvest1gator rn a chmcal study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s. dlsease to be reassessed as PML. The case was
ongmally reported by the 1nvest1gator as malignant astrocytoma in July 2003. The patrent dred in. December
2003. The patrent had recetved 3 doses ‘of TYSABRI ovef an 18 month penod and prior medication history
included multiple coutses of 1mmunosuppressant agents. We and Elan are working with clinical investigators
to evaluate patients treated with TYSABRI in clinical studies and are consulting with leading experts to better
understand the poss1ble risk of PML, The outcome of these evaluations will be used to determine future
commercial avallabﬂtty We cannot predict the outcome of these evaluations. An unfavorable or inconclusive
outcome could result in the permanent w1thdrawa1 of TYSABRI from the market and termination of clinical
studies of ')I'YSABRt or the re-mtroductlon of TYSABRI to the market with srgmﬁcant restrictions on its
permissible uses, blackbox or other s1gn1ﬁcant safety warnlngs in. its label and such other restrictions,
requrrernerits andllmltattons as the FDA may requrre Whlle we presently beheve that we will be able to find a
path forward for TYSABRI there are no assurances as to the hkehhood of success. In hght of our inability to
predrct to the requlred degree of certainty that our TYSABRI, 1nventory ‘will.be realized in commercial sales
prior to the explratlon of its shelf life, we have written down all of the $19.1 million of TYSABRI inventory
that had been 1ncluded on. the ‘balance sheet as of December 31,-2004, whtch was charged to. cost of product
revenues We are, contmumg to manufacture TYSABRI Because of the uncertainty described above, in the
first quarter of 2005 we also expect to- expense ‘between $22 million and $25 million of TYSABRI that was
rnanufactured in the ﬁrst quarter of 2005. In subsequent perlods we will continue to assess TYSABRI to
determine if it needs to be ‘expensed in light of existing information related to the potential future commercial
availability of TYSABRI and applicable accounting standards. See “Forward Looking Information and Risk
Factors That May Affect Futures Results — Safety Issues with TYSABRI Could Slgmﬁcantly Affect Our
Growth.” .

'
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We penodlcatly rev1ew our. 1nventor1es for excess or obsolete mventory and write down obsolete or
otherw1se unrnarketable inventory to its est1mated net reahzable value. If the actual realizable value is less
than that estimated by us, or if there are any further determmatlons that inventory will not be marketable
based on.estimates of demand, additional inventory write-offs may be required. This periodic review led to the
write- downs of TYSABRI inventory.as of Décember 31;°2004 and the expensmg of TYSABRI expected to
occur in the first. quarter of 2005, as described-above, and may lead us to expense TYSABRI in subsequent
periods. ‘Alsolincluded in product cost ‘of revenues were .write-downs of commercial inventory that did not
meet:quality. speciﬁc‘ations or became obsolete-due to dating-expiration, in all cases this product inventory was
wntten—down o its net realizable value. Weiwrote<down $46.7 million of unmarketable inventory during 2004,
which “was - rcharged to cost of product revenues-and consisted ‘of $16.2 million related to AVONEX,
$9.7 million related tto ZEVALIN, $1.7 million related to AMEVIVE and $19.1 million to TYSABRI. The
AVONEX: and AMEVIVE inventory was written-down to net realizable value when it was determined that
the inventory dld not meet quality specifications. The'ZEVALIN.inventory was written-down to net realizable
value when 1t'vvas deterrn_med that the inventory did not-meet-quality specifications as well as a determination
thattcertain of| the iriventory will not be*marketable based on estimates of demand.
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Income Taxes

Income tax expense includes a provision for income tax contingencies, which we believe is adequate and
appropriate.

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we estimate our income tax liability in each of the
jurisdictions in which we operate by estimating our actual current tax expense together with assessing
temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes.
These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our consolidated balance
sheets. Significant management judgment is required in assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets. In
performing this assessment, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become
deductible. In making this determination, under the applicable financial accounting standards, we are allowed
to consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and the effects of
viable tax planning strategies. Our estimates of future taxable income include, among other items, our
estimates of future income tax deductions related to the exercise of 'stock options. In the event that actual
results differ from our estimates or we adjust our estimates in future periods, we may need to establish a
valuation allowance, which could materially impact our financial position and results of operations.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses are comprised of costs incurred in performing research and
development activities including salaries and benefits, facilities costs, overhead costs, clinical trial and related
clinical manufacturing costs, contract services and other outside costs. Research and development costs,
including upfront fees and milestones paid to collaborators, are expensed as incurred. The timing of upfront
fees and milestone payments in the future may cause variability in future research and development expense.
Clinical trial costs include costs associated with contract research organizations, or CROs. The invoicing from
CROs for services rendered can lag several months. We accrue the cost of services rendered in connection
with CRO activities based on our estimate of management fees, site management and site monitoring costs,
and data management costs. We maintain regular communication with our CRO vendors to gauge the
reasonableness of our estimates. Differences between actual clinical trial costs and estimated clinical trial costs
have not been material and are adjusted for in the period which they become known. Under this policy,
research and development expense can vary due to accrual adjustments related to clinical trials.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

We have operations in Europe, Japan, Australia and Canada in connection with the sale of AVONEX.
We also receive royalty revenues based on worldwide product sales by our licensees. As a result, our financial
‘position, results of operations and cash flows can be affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
(primarily Euro, Swedish krona, British pound, Japanese yen, Swiss Franc and Canadian dollar).

We use foreign currency forward contracts to manage foreign currency risk and do not engage in currency
speculation. We use these forward contracts to hedge certain forecasted transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, or SFAS 133,
requires that all derivatives be recognized on the balance sheet at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives are recorded each period in current earnings or other comprehensive income, depending on
whether a derivative is designated as part of a hedge transaction and, if it is, the type of hedge transaction. We
assess, both at their inception and on an on-going basis; whether the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting the changes in cash flows of hedged items. We assess hedge
ineffectiveness on a quarterly basis and record the gain or loss related to the ineffective portion to current
earnings to the extent significant. If we determine that a forecasted transaction is no longer probable of
occurring, we discontinue hedge accounting for the. affected portion of the hedge instrument, and any related
unrealized gain or loss on the contract is recognized in current earnings. Under this policy, and in accordance
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with SFAS, 133 eammgs may vary if the forecasted transaction does not occur, or if there is material hedge
meffectweness or if the hedge ceases to be highly effective. . '
" \ , 5 ' '

Impalrment of Long-leed Assets

Long hved assets to be held and used, including intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes ini circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets might not be recoverable.
Condmons that would necessitate an impairment assessment include a significant decline in the observable
market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or a significant
adverse.change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an’asset or group of assets is not recoverable.
Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the
use of the asset and its eventual disposition. In the event that such cash flows are not expected to be sufficient
to recover, the carrying amount of the assets, the assets are written down to their estimated fair values. Long-
lived assets to be disposed of are carried at fair value less costs. to sell.

In the thlrd quarter of 2004, management determined that certain clinical trials would be discontinued or
would not be initiated which indicated that the carrying value ‘of certain core technology intangible assets
might not be recoverable. As a result, in the third quarter of 2004, we recorded a charge of approximately
$27.8 million to amortization of intangible assets, which reflects the'adjustment to the valuation of certain core
technology intangible assets related to AMEVIVE to its net realizable value. If future events or circumstances
indicate that the can‘ymg value of certain of these remaining assets may not be recoverable, we may be
requlred to record ‘additional charges to our results of operations.

" In February 2005 ‘we and Elan voluntanly suspended the marketlng and commercial distribution of
TYSABRI' based on reports of two serious adverse events that have occurred in patients treated with
TYSABRI i in combination with AVONEX in MS clinical studies. These:events involved two cases of PML, a
rare and frequently fatal, demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. In light of the two reports of
PML, the compames initiated a systemic review of the TYSABRI safety database. On March 30, 2005, we
and Elan’ announced that the review of the safety database led a serious adverse event previously reported by a
clinical 1nvest1gator in a clinical study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s disease to be reassessed as PML. The case was
onglnally reported by the investigator as malignant astrocytoma in July 2003, The patient died in December
2003. The patlent had received 8 doses of TYSABRI over an 18 month period and prior medication history
1ncluded multlple courses of 1mmunosuppressant agents We and Elan are working with clinical investigators
to evaluate patlents treated with TYSABRI in clinical studies and are consultlng with leading experts to better
understand the poss1b1e risk of PML. The outcome of these evaluations w111 be used to determine possible
re- 1n1t1at10n of dosmg in chmcal studies and future commercial avallablhty We cannot predict the outcome of
these evaluatlons ‘An unfavorable or inconclusive outcome could result in the permanent withdrawal of
TYSABRI from the market and termination of clinical studies of TYSABRI, or the re-introduction of
TYSABRI to the ‘market with significant restrictions on its perrn1351ble uses, blackbox or other significant
safety warnings in its:label and such other restrictions, requirements and limitations as the FDA may require.
As a result'of these events, we have assessed our long-lived assets related to TYSABRI, which include
intangible assets and facilities, and have determined that there are-no impairments related to these assets as a
result of the suspension of the marketing of TYSABRI. However, should new information arise, we may be
required to take impairment charges related to certain -of our long-lived assets. See *“Forward-Looking
Information :and Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results—Safety Issues with TYSABRI Could
Slgmﬁcantly Affect our Growth ”?

Goodwnll

Goodwﬂl associated with the Merger represents the difference between the purchase price and the fair
value of the 1dent1ﬁable tangible and intangible net assets when accounted for by the purchase method of
accounting.. Goodwill is noet amortized, but rather subject to periodic review for impairment. Goodwill is
reviewed annually.and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
goodwill ‘might not be recoverable. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we performed an assessment of our goodwill,
and concluded that' goodwill was not impaired at October 31, 2004.

73




As a result of the voluntary suspension of TYSABRI in February 2005, we have performed an interim
review for impairment. We believe that the fair value of our legacy Biogen, Inc. reporting unit exceeds its
carrying value and therefore, we believe goodwill is properly valued as of the date of the filing of our 2004
Form 10-K. However, should new information arise, we may need to reassess goodwill for impairment in light
of the new information and we may be required to take impairment charges related to goodwill. See “Forward-
Looking Information and Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results — Safety Issues with TYSABRI
Could Significantly Affect our Growth.”

Notes Payable

In connection with our senior and subordinated notes payable, we capitalized certain issuance costs,
which are being amortized to interest expense over the estimated outstanding term of the notes, according to
EITF 86-15, “Increasing-Rate Debt.” We currently expect that holders of the senior notes due in 2032 will
require us to purchase all or a portion of the senior notes on April 29, 2005. As a result, we have reassessed the
estimated term of this debt, and recorded additional interest expense of approximately $7.1 million in the
fourth quarter of 2004. We have also classified our senior notes as current liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2004. The remaining unamortized issuance costs of approximately
$9.7 million will be amortized through April 29, 2005.

Contingencies and Litigation

There has been, and we expect there may be significant litigation in the industry regarding commercial
practices, regulatory issues, pricing, and patents and other intellectual property rights. Certain adverse
unfavorable rulings or decisions in the future, including in the litigation described under “Legal Matters,”
could create variability or have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations and financial
position.

New Accounting Standards

EITF 03-01, *“The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain
Investments,” was issued in February 2004. EITF 03-01 stipulates disclosure requirements for investments
with unrealized losses that have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impairments. We have complied
with the disclosure provisions of EXTF 03-01. In September 2004, the FASB staff issued two proposed FASB
Staff Positions: Proposed FSP EITF Issue 03-01-a, which provides guidance for the application of para-
graph 16 of EITF Issue 03-01 to debt securities that are impaired because of interest rate and/or sector spread
increases, and Proposed FSP EITF Issue 03-01-b, which delays the effective date of Issue 03-01 for debt
securities that are impaired because of interests rate and/or sector spread increases. We are currently
monitoring these developments and assessing the impact these will have on our results of opérations.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 1ssued SFAS 123(R), “Share-
Based Payments,” which replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and
supercedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123(R) will require all
share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the
statement of operations based on their fair values. SFAS 123(R) will be effective for public companies for
fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005 and offers alternative methods for determining the fair value. We
expect that SFAS 123(R) will have a significant impact on our financial statements. At the present time, we
have not yet determined which valuation method we will use.

The FASB has proposed amending SFAS 128, “Earnings per Share,” to make it consistent with
International Accounting Standard 33, “Earnings per Share”, and make earnings per.share, or EPS,
computations comparable on a global basis. Under the proposed amendment, the year-to-date EPS
computation would be performed independently from the quarterly computations. Additionally, for all
contracts that may be settled in either cash or shares of stock, companies must assume. that settiement will
occur by the issuance of shares for purposes of computing diluted EPS, even if they intend to settle by paying
cash or have a history of cash-only settlements, regardless of who controls the means of settlement. Lastly,
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under the prbposed amendment, shares that will be issued upon conversion: of a mandatory convertible security
must be included in the weighted-average number of shares outstanding used in computmg basic EPS from
the date that conversion becomes mandatory, using the if-converted method, regardless of whether the result
is anti- d11ut1ve The proposed amended standard is expected to be issued during the first quarter of 2005.
Retrospective application in all periods presented would. be required, and could require the conformance of
previously reportéd EPS. We do.not expect the prov1s1ons of the aménded SFAS 128 will have a significant
1mpact on: our results of operations. : ‘

In Novemben 2004 the FASB 1ssued SFAS 151, “Inventory Costs; an amendment of ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4 ”‘ which amends the guidance in ARB: No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the
accounting‘for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material
(spoilage) ;i This Statement amends: ARB 43,. Chapter 4, to clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense, freight, handling costs, and:wasted. materials .(spoilage) should be recognized as current-period
charges.. In addition, this Statement requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of
conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The provisions of this Statement shall
be effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. We do not expect
the. prbviSions of SFAS 215‘1 will have a significant impact on our results of operations.

In December 2004 the FASB issued SFAS 153, “Exchanges of Non-Monetary Assets, an amendment of
APB Opmton No. 29,” which eliminates the exception from fair value measurement for nonmonetary
exchanges of 51m11ar productlve assets in paragraph .21(b) of APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for
Nonmonetary Transactlons and replaces it with an exceptxon for exchanges that do not have commercial
substance This Statement spec1ﬁes that a nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash
flows of the ent1ty are expected to change 51gn1ﬁcant1y as'a result of the' exchange The provisions of this
Staternent shall be effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after
J une 15 2005 We do not expect the provisions of SFAS 153 will have a s1gmﬁcant impact on our results of

peranons o . ‘

In December 2004 the FASB reached consensus ‘on EITF Issue No. 02- 14 “Whether an Investor
Should Apply the' Equlty Method of Accounting to Investments Other Than Common Stock,” which requires
an investor that has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the
investee to apply the equity method of accounting only when it has an investment(s) in common stock and/or
an investment that is in-substance common stock. The Task Force also reached a consensus on the definition
of in- substance common stock and related guidance. The, provisions of EITF 02-14 are effective for reporting
periods. beglnmng after September 15,.2004, and have not had any 1rnpact on our accounting for investments
as of Dccemberdl 2004 ! : ’ o ;

Under‘ EITFI No 04-01, “Accounting for Preemstmg Relatlonshlps between the Parties to a Business
Combmatlon > the EITF reached a consensus that the consummation of a business combination between
part1es»w1th‘ a preexisting 'relationship should: be evaluated to determine if a settlement of a preexisting
relationship exists, thus requiring accounting separate from the business combination. Under EITF 04-01, the
acqulsmon of a rlght that the acquiring entity had prevxously granted to the acqu1red entity to use the
acquirer’s recogmzed or'unrecognized 1ntang1ble assets (for example rights to the acquirer’s trade name under
a franchise ‘dgreement or rights to the acquirer’s technology under a techriology licensing agreement) should
be included as part.of the business combination and recorded by the acquiring entity as an intangible asset at
fair value. If the contract giving rise to the reacquired right includes terms that are favorable or unfavorable
when compated to pricing (for example, royalty rates) for current market transactions for the same or similar
items, an entlty should measure a settlement gain or loss as the lesser of (a) the amount by which the contract
is favorable or unfavorable to market terms from the perspective of the acquirer or (b) the stated settlement
prov151ons of the Contract available to the counterparty to which the contract is unfavorable. EITF 04-01 is
effective’ for All Business combinations consummated and goodwill impairment tests (i.e., in step 2 of the
impairment-test) performed in reporting periods beginning after :October 13, 2004. The provisions of
~ EITF 04-01 have not had any significant impact on -our results of operations in 2004.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Controls and Procedures

We have carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and the participation of our management,
including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act), as of December 31, 2004.
Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of
the end of that period, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in providing reasonable assurance
that (a) the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the
Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
the SEC’s rules and forms, and (b) such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, our
management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and our management necessarily
was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting .

We evaluate the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in order to comply with
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Section 404 requires us to evaluate annually the effectiveness
of our internal controls over financial reporting as of the end of each fiscal year beginning in 2004, and to
include a management report assessing the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in all
annual reports beginning with this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In evaluating our internal control over
financial reporting, we have identified a number of changes that need to be made to our internal controls,
primarily related to better documentation of internal controls, and related changes to information systems used
in financial reporting. We continued to make these changes during the fourth quarter of 2004. The changes
during the fourth quarter of 2004 did not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material effect on our
internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, a
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by a company’s board of directors, -
management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with. generally
accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that:

+ pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of our assets;

« provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts
and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and
directors; and

+ provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of the our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
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| . ) .
controls may become inadequate because of changes iri ¢onditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of “ourinternal * ¢ontrol ovér financial rep‘orting as—of
December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsonng Orgamzatrons of the Treadway Commtssron (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated
Frameworh: | ‘}‘;‘ S . ~ \’f' A

Based on our assessment our management has. concluded that as of December 31, 2004, our mternal
control. overtﬁnancral reporting is effective based on.those criteria. Our management’s . assessment of ‘the
effectiveness ofl our internal control over financial reporting as of December. 31, 2004.has been-audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,. as- stated in therr report
Wthh appears on ‘page F-51 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. o

PR 0 . AT : ; i

Item 7A. Quanmatlve and Qualztatlve Dtsclosures About Market Risk’

- See the sections from “Item 1 — Business — Forward Lookmg Informatron and Rrsk Factors that May
Affect, Future Results” ‘entitled “We are Subject to-Market ‘Risk,” “Our Financial Position, Results of
Operations and: ‘Cash Flows can be Affected by Fluctuations i in Forexgn ‘Currency Exchange Rates,” and“We
are Exposed to Risk of Interest Rate Fluctuations.” BRI : ol

T . B
. PR

Item 8 Consolfdated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The 1nformat10n required by this Item 8 is contamed on pages F-1 through F-53 of this Annual Reéport on
Form 10- K ‘

A : 4! R

- 7

Item 9. 'Changés in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accoun‘t_‘i‘ng‘:qnd Financial Disclosure

Not apphcable
hi “‘ ! [NE “w"“l “ ' ' P ; ) i o B A " s Lo :‘J‘} R

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

r’l"he‘_information;required by this Item is contained in the section.'Disclosure Controls and Procedures
and. Internal Control over Financial Reporting” beginning on page.76 of this Anriual Report on-Form 10-K.
Item 9B. Other Information
Not applicable. - a '. Y

B o : ce .

RN
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PART II -

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

‘ The 1nformat10n concerning our executive oﬂicers is set forth in Part I of this Form.10-K. The text of our
code of business conduct, which includes the code of ethics that applies to our principal executive offjcer,
principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller and persons performing similar functions, is
posted on our ‘website, www.biogenidec.com, under the. “Corporate Governance” subsection of the
“Company” section of the site. Disclosure regarding any amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of our
code of business conduct, if required, will be included in a Current Report on Form 8-K within four business
days following the date of the amendment or waiver, unless website posting of such amendments or waivers is
permitted by the rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Our corporate governance principles (also posted on
www.biogenidec.com) prohibit our Board of Directors from granting any waiver of the code of ethics for any of
our directors or executive officers. We include our website address in this Annual Report on Form 10-K only
as an mactWe textual reference and do not intend it to be an active link to our website.

'

Thc response to thc remain‘der of this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive
thereto in the sections labeled “Proposal.1 — Election of Directors — Information about our Directors” .and
“Stock Ownership — Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” contained in the Proxy
Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the
section labeled “Executive Compensation and Related Information” contained in the Proxy Statement for our
2005 Annual Meeting ‘of ‘Stockholders. ‘ S

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters . ‘

The response to this item is- incorporated by reference ffqm the discussion responsive thereto in the
sections labeled “Stock Ownership” and “Disclosure with Respect to our Equity Compensation Plans”
contained in the Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the
sections labeled “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors -— Information about our Board of Directors and its
Committees,” “Executive Compensation and Related Information — Employment Agreements and Change
of Control Arrangements,” and “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” contained in the
Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the

sections labeled “Proposal 2 — Ratification of the Selection of our Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm” contained in the Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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‘ o S s+ PART IV
Item 15. Exhzbtts, Fmanctal Statement Schedules
‘a. (1) Consolzdated Financial Statements and Schedule A ‘

T'he Financial State‘ments required to be ﬁled by Item 8 of this ‘Annual Report on Form 10-K, and
filed in this Item 15, are as follows:

Page Number

o . - ) o : in This
Financial Statements ‘ ‘ - o Form 10-K
Consolidated Statements of Income ....... S s e F-2
ConsohdatedBalanceSheets.....l....................Q .......... e F-3
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows ....................... D F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity . . ... PR U F-5
Notes to: Consohdated Financial Statements ......... EE P F-6

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accountmg Firms........... e F-51
(2)" Fmanczal Statement Schedules ‘
“The followmg ﬁnanclal statement schedule is included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Page Number

: . o 3 in This
Fmanclal Statement Schedule[s] : - ' " e ‘ ‘ ‘ Form 10-K
Schedule II — Valuatlon and Quahfymg Accounts and Reserves. T F-30

(3) Exhzbzts

The following‘f;exhibits are referenced or included in this Form 10-K.
Exhlblt Number [ : ‘ Description
Exhibit Number . , Description

i

2. 1(12) Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 20, 2003, by and among us, Bridges Merger
Corporatlon and Blogen, Inc. ‘

3.1 (24) " Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatlon

3.2(24) ;. Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Cemﬁcate of Incorporation, dated as of
. May 21, 2001 ‘ ,

3.3(24) _:;fd Certificate Increasing the Number of Authorized Shares of Series X Jumor Participating
Preferred Stock, dated as of July 26, 2001

3.4(24) | X Certlﬁcate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated as of
- ' November 12, 2003

3.5(24) Bylaws
3.6(24) ) Amendment to Bylaws, dated as of December 21, 2001
3.7(24) Lo Amendment to Bylaws, dated as of November 12, 2003

41 Reference is made to Exhibit 3.1 for a- description of the rights preferences and privileges of
B our Senes A Preferred Stock and Series X Junior Part1c1patmg Preferred Stock

42024) Spec1men Common Stock Certificate - ‘

4.3(6j y ‘ Indenture dated as of February 16, 1999 between us and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust
AR Company, National Association, as Trustee

44(4) Forrn of Registered Liquid Yield Option™ Note due 2019
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Exhibit Number
4.5(9)

4.6(12)
47(11)
4.8(11)

49(11)
10.1(13)*

10.2(5)
10.3(2)t

10.5(13)

10.6(3)%
10.8(1)* .
10.9(6)

10.10(11)
10.11(7)+
10.12(8)%
10.13(24)*
10.14(10) %
10.15(14)%

10.16(15)*
10.17(15)*
10.18(21)*

10.19(18)

10.20(19)

10.21(19)

Description
Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of July 26, 2001 between us and Mellon
Investor Services LLC

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated nghts Agreement dated as of June 23, 2003
between us and Mellon Investor Services LLC -

Indenture dated as of Aprll 29, 2002 between us and JP Morgan Trust Company, N.A., as
Trustee

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2002, between us and Merrill Lynch,
Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated

Form of Liquid Yield Option™ Note dated April 29, 2002

IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation 1988 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated

through February 19, 2003
Letter Agreement between the Registrant and Genentech, Inc., dated May 21, 1996

License Agreement between us and Coulter Immunology (now Corixa Corporation), dated
May 16, 1991 r .

1993 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan as amended and restated through Febru-
ary 19, 2003

‘Expression Technology Agreement -between us and Genentech. Inc., dated March 16, 1995

Form of Indemnification Agreement for certain directors and executive officers

Indenture dated as of February 16, 1999 between us and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust
Company, National Association, as Trustee

Indenture dated as of April 29, 2002 between us and JP Morgan Trust Company, N. A as
Trustee

Collaboration & License Agreement between us and Schering Aktiengesellschaft, dated
June 9, 1999

Isotope Agreement between us and MDS Nordion Inc. as amended by a first amendment on

“January 21, 2000 and a-second amendment on-March 16, 2001

Voluntary Executive Supplemental Savmgs Plan (as amended and restated; effective Janu-
ary 1, 2004) : ‘

.Third Amendment to ‘Agreement between MDS Canada Inc.,, MDS Nordion division, ‘

successor to MDS Nordion Inc. and us dated November 12, 2001

:Commercial Supply :Agreement between us and Baxter Pharmaceutical Solutions LLC dated

June 1, 2002
2003 Omnibus Equity Plan
2003 Performance Based Management Incentive Plan

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Blogen Inc. and certain directors and executive
officers >

' Cambridge Center Lease dated October 4, 1982 between Mortimer Zuckerman, Edward H.

Linde and David Barrett, as Trustees of Fourteen Cambridge Center Trust, and B. Leasmg,

. Inc.

F1rst Amendment to Lease dated January 19 1989, amendlng Cambndge Center Lease dated
October 4, 1982

Second Amendment to Lease dated March 8, 1990, amendmg Cambridge Center Lease dated
October 4, 1982
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Exhibit “Num‘ber
10.22(19);

‘10.23(205?:
1.0.24(126) ( )
10,;5_‘ | R :
10.2‘6(22)‘*:
10.27(22)*‘
1o.2§(24;* j‘

10.29(24)%,
10.30(22)F

1031(16)*
10.32(16)*
10.33(17)

;1'0.315(24);‘%%\ :

10:36(24)*1

10.37:(23j;%é'
10».38‘:(2‘5);1;."
1'0.3§‘(26j‘t%:
10.40(2‘6)t‘ !

1041(27)%

10.42% Ly

12.1

2110
By
232

Description

Thu'd Amendment to Lease: dated September 25, 1991, amending Cambndge Center Lease
dated October 4, 1982 : .

Fourth ! 'Amendment to Lease dated. October 6, 1993, amending Cambndge Center Lease
dated October 4, 1982

: thth Amendment to Lease dated October 9,1997, amendmg Cambndge Center Lease dated

October4 1982 Dol RN

Lease dated April 1, 1990 between Biogen, Inc. and Steven D. Rosenberg as Trustee of the
Fifth Realty Trust of 300 Bent ‘Street '

B10gen Inc. 1985 Non-Quahﬁed Stock Optlon lPlan (as amended and restated through
February 7, 2003) g

Blogen ‘Inc. 1987 Scientific ,Board Stock Opt1on Plan- (as amended and restated through
February T, 2003) ,

Voluntary Board of Dlrectors Savmgs Plan (as amended and restated effectrve January 1,
2004)

wExecutlve Severance Policy — Senior/ Execut1ve Vrce Presidents

ANTEGREN (now TYSABRI) Development and Marketing Collaboratron Agreement
between ‘us and Elan Pharma Intematlonal Limited, dated August 15, 2000

Employment Agreement between us and James C Mullen, dated June 20, 2003
Employment Agreement between us and William R. Rastetter, Ph. D dated June 20, 2003

Arhended and Restated Collaborat1on Agreement between us and Genentech Inc., dated

‘ ~June 19,2003 R
10.34(24) 1.

lFourth Amendment to Agreenient between us, MDS: (Canada) Inc., MDS Nordlon division,
‘successor to MDS Nordion Inc., dated June 10, 2003

Fifth Amendment to Agreement between us, MDS, (Canada) Inc., MDS Nordion division,
successor to MDS Nordion Inc., dated December 17, 2003 .

Form of letter agreement regardmg employment arrarigement between us and our Executtve
V1ce Presidents

Letter agreement regarding: employment: -drrangement of Peter N. Kellogg, dated June 21,
2000 S RN

‘Lease agreement between Biogen Idec BV, a wholly-owned sub51d1ary of the reg15trant and
TUG Vastgoed B.V., dated as of September 24, 2004 : .

Amendment to the IDEC Pharmaceuiticals Corporation 1988 Stock Opt1on Plan, as amended
and restated through February 19 2003 .

Améndment to ‘Biogen Idec Inc Execut1ve Severance- Policy ~ Seniof/Executive Vice
Presrdents \

‘Letter ‘agreement regarding - use: of company-owned condominium of Wllham H.
Rastetter, Ph.D., dated January 5, 2005

Board :of Directors — Annual Retamer:Summary Sheet
Computanon of Ratto of Earnmgs to ]thed Charges
1Subsrdlarles

Consent of PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP — an Independent Reg1stered Public Accountmg
Firm .

Consent of KPMG LLP —an Independent Reglstered Pubhc Accountmg F1rrn
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Exhibit Number . Description

311 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Sectlon 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

32.1 . Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Ofﬁcer pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Reference to “our” in these cross-references mean filings made by Biogen Idec and filings made by IDEC
Pharmaceuticals Corporation prior to the merger with Biogen, Inc.
* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
++ Confidential Treatment has been granted with respect to portions of this agreement
™  Trademark of Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.

(1) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Registration Statement on Form 8-B filed on
June 2, 1997.

(2) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Registration Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 33-40756.

(3) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 1995. ,

(4) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Registration Statement on Form S-3/A, File
No. 333-85339, filed on November 10, 1999.

(5) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 6, 1996.

(6) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1998.

(7) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 1999. :

(8) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2001.

(9) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Registration Statement on Form 8-A, File
No. 333-37128, dated July 27, 2001.

(10) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2001. .

(11) Incorporated by reference: from an exhibit filed with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2002.

(12) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 23,
2003.

(13) Incorporated by reference from an appendix filed with our Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A
filed on April 11, 2003.

(14) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2002.

(15) Incorporated by reference from an exhlblt filed w1th our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 12, 2003.

(16) Incorpor‘éted by reference from an exhibit filed with our Registration Statement on Form S-4, File
No. 333-107098, filed with the SEC on July 16, 2003.

(17) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 31, 2003
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(18) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with'Biogen, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
Flle No 2-81689.. e e

‘(19) Jncorporated by reference from an exh1b1t ﬁled wrth Blogen Inc.’s. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1992, File No. 0- 12042.

(20)- Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with Biogen, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1997,-File No. 0-12042.

(21) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with Biogen, Inc s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1988, File No. 0-12042.

(22) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with Biogen, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2002, File No. 0-12042.

(23) Incorporated by féference frorn an exh1b1t filed with Biogen, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
. year | ended December 31, 2001 F1le No 10:12042.

(24) Incorporated by reference from an exh1b1t filed with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003.

(25) Incorporated by reference from an, exh1b1t ﬁled with, our Current Report on Forrn 8-K filed on
September 29 2004 ‘ L ‘

26) Incorporated by reference from an exh1b1t ﬁled w1th our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2004.

(27) Incorporated by reference from .an -exhibit. filed with our Current Report on Form 8 K filed on
‘ January6 2005. ’ )
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.SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly causéd this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BIOGEN IDEC INC.

" By: /s/ James C. MULLEN |

James C. Mullen
Chief Executive Officer and President

Date: March 31, 2005
Pursuant to the requirements the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Nanmie L " Capacity Date

/s/ WILLIAM H. RASTETTER, Pu.D. ' Director, Executive: Chairman " March 31, 2005
William H. Rastetter, Ph.D.

/s/  Jamges C. MULLEN Director, Chief Executive Officer and March 31, 2005
James C. Mullen President (principal executive officer)

/s/ PETER N. KELLOGG . Executive Vice President, Finance and  March 31, 2005
Peter N. Kellogg o Chief Financial Officer (principal

financial and accounting officer)

/s/ ALAN BELZER _ Director March 31, 2005
Alan Belzer '

/s/ LAWRENCE C. BEST ' ' Director March 31, 2005
Lawrence C. Best

/s/ ALAN B. GLASSBERG, M.D. ' Director March 31, 2005
Alan B. Glassberg, M.D.

/s/ Mary L. Goop, Pu.D, Director March 31, 2005
Mary L. Good, Ph.D.

/s/ TaoMAs F. KELLER, PH.D. Director March 31, 2005
Thomas F. Keller, Ph.D.

/s/ ROBERT W. PANGIA ' Director March 31, 2005
Robert W. Pangia '

/s/ BRUCE R. Ross ‘ Director March 31, 2005
Bruce R. Ross




_ Name ] Capacity ) Date

March 31, 2005

/s/” LYNN SCHENK = Director
Lynn Schenk :

/s/ PHILLIP A. ‘SHAR.P, Pu.D. Diréctor March 31, 2005

Phillip A. Sharp, Ph.D.

March 31, 2005

/s/  WiLLiaM D. YOUNG Director
William D. ‘Young o ‘
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BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, AN D SCHEDULE
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Consohdated Balance Sheets ......c.o..... P, e AP
Consohdated Statements of Cash Flows............. JR T,

Consohdated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity.....: S O N ‘

Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements .. ... ...oournen st s i .
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BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME - .~

For the Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues: ‘ _ . ‘ v
CPIOGUOE. L eeeeo... 81486344 S 171,561 $ 13,711
Revenue from unconsolidated joint business .................. 615,743 493,049 385,809
Royalties .. .. .o e 98,945 12,010 —_
Corporate Partier .. ... ....uuuuinitriiiiieeeeraeas 10,530 2,563 4,702
Total revenues .. ..o ot it 2,211,562 679,183 404,222
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product TeVenues ..............uuuuurrneeennn.n. 548,702 283,813 1,457
Cost of royalty revenues . .......... e 5,617 926 —
Research and development ........... ... ..., 687,663 233,337 100,868
Selling, general and administrative ..............cc.vvinnn.. 578,487 174,596 88,021
Acaquisition of in-process research and development............ — 823,000 —
Amortization of acquired intangible assets.................... 347,677 33,180 —
Total costs and eXpenses .............oveerinrernnneeennn, 2,168,146 1,548,852 190,346
Income (loss) from operations ............. ... i, 43,416 (869,669) 213,876
Other income (expense), Net. .. .......iiiineeininanenn. 20,677 (10,955) 17,646
Income (loss) before income taxes (benefit) ................. 64,093 (880,624) 231,522
Income taxes (benefit) ....... ..., 39,007 (5,527) 83,432
Net Income (LOSS) .. urette et .. 8 25086 $(875,097) $148,090
Basic earnings (loss) pershare ..............c...oviveniennn. $ 007 $  (492) $ 095
Diluted earnings (loss) per share ........... ... ... ..oi.... $ 007 $§ (492) $ 085
Shares used in calculating: |
Basic earnings (loss) pershare ........... .. ... . ... . ... 334,996 177,982 153,086
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare ........................... 343,475 177,982 176,805

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Current. assets'

BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED! BALANCE. SHEETS

ASSETS .

Cash and cash: equivalents ................... . o . .V ....... _‘ ..... e
Marketable securitigs avallable for-sale............ R S
Accounts recelvable less allowances of $35 882 and $22 830 at Deccmber 31,

2004 and 2003, respectrvely e e e e e

Due from unconsolidated joint business ... ...... e P
Dcferrcd tax ASSEtS, ittt e P T,
TRVENOTY . . oo d e e e N S e
Othercurrcntassets.....................................3.;;;.' ......

Total current assets .............. e e S

Marketable sccuntles avarlablc for=sale....... .. o

Property and equipment; net............ P
Intangible assets, net e e P
- Goodwill. 'z, ...y e e
Investmcnts and other asscts ............. P [ B

Current, habﬂrtres ‘ -
Accounts payable . L P e _

r
!4' | FEETEI
R | o

. LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY

‘Deferredrcvenue.;‘ ..... PR e
Current. taxes. payable ........ PRI PR PR P TI

Sl

Notes payable,.'. e e P e
Accrued expenses and other ..o i VS R

" Total current‘hablhtres ............. S SR U LR

Notes payable . ... .niseenn. . PR e P
- Long-term deferred tax- habrhty ........... e IR P
. Other long-term hab111t1es ........ e e e e
" Commitments and COMHNEENCIES .« .o\ v vt eteeeae et PP

Shareholders’ equlty N

Convertible preferred, stock, par value $0.001 per share (8 shares authonzed

1ssued and outstandmg at December 31,2004 and 2003; $551 hquldatlon

Common; stocK, par valuc $0.0005: per share (1,000, 000 shares authorized;

Additional paid-in capital . . ... e e -
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income ................ e :

336, 700 shares and.;330,410 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2004.and 2003, FESPECHIVELY) .+ ottt et

Deferred stock-based compensation .. ............voiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaa
Accumulated deﬁc1t ................... e e e

Less trcasury stock at ‘cost; 8,766 and 2, 209 shares at December. 31, 2004

and 2003 respectrvely PR e

Total sharcholdcrs equity ... S '

As of December 31,

2004

2003

(In thousands, except per
share amounts)

$ 209,447

$ 314,850

848,495 521,109
278,637 198,524
137,451 117,342
86,880 123,945
251,016 496,349
119,118 166,545

1,931,044 1,838,664

1,109,624 1,502,327

1,525,225 1,252,783

3,2923827 3,638,812

1,151,105 1,151,066
© 155,933 120,293

.$9,165,758  $9,503,945

$ 121471 $ 63364
13,695 7,155
129,330 94,176
748,430 —
247,802 240,130

1,260,748 404,825
101,879, 887,270
921,771 1,108,318
54,959 50,204

5 173 166

8,184,979 7,801,170

v (6,767) 1,054
(36,280) (2,141)

. (801,094)  (611,921) .

7,341,011 7,188,328

514,610 135,000
6,826,401 7,053,328
$9,165,758  $9,503,945

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-3




BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net INCome (LOSS) - - vttt ettt ettt et et e et e $ 25086 $§ (875,097) $ 148,090
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows from operating
activities )
Write-off of acquired in-process research and development .................... — 823,000 —
Depreciation and amortization ... ... e e 439,435 61,308 10,156
Stock based compensation .......... ... it i e 16,795 — —_
Non-cash interest EXPense . ........ouuuutuunruerrririerrerereeens . 55,002 41,226 26,905
Deferred iNCOME tAXES . ..o vv it iee ettt (135,553) (27,267) (39,922)
Tax benefit from stock options. . ... ..ot i e 144,550 23,373 114,337
Realized loss (gain) on sale of marketable securities available-for-sale .......... 4,090 (2,153) (2,779)
Write-down of inventory to net realizable value ............................. 43,358 173,896 -
Impact of InVeRtOTy SEEP-UP .. ..ottt i 289,505 79,097 —
Impairment of INVESIMENTS . . ... ..o\ttt ittt 18,482 - —
Loss on disposition of @ssets. .. ........ooviuiiineeiiii i 2,577 — —
[ 17> o P 830 2,643 1,665
Changes in, net of assets and liabilities acquired:
Accounts receivable. . . ... . L i e (76,529) 22,618 (3,927)
Due from unconsolidated joint business . ...... ... ..o ittt (20,109) (17,054) (32,637)
LA 117" o P (90,804) (8,720) (33,141)
Other current and other assets..............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiin, (63,894) (35,076) (27,434)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities............... ... 63,870 (66,775) 24,648
Deferred revenue .. ... e 6,540 2,700 (1,575)
Other long-term liabilities. .. ... 4,755 (27,752) 12,333
Net cash flows from operating activities . .............cooei i, 727,986 169,967 196,719
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Cash received from acquisition of Biogen, Inc., net of cash paid ................. = 136,793 —
Purchases of marketable securities available-for-sale ........................... (3,187,717)  (1,233,251)  (1,501,404)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities available-for-sale ... ... 3,200,386 - 1,118,775 841,225
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, net............ ... ... ... (361,013) (301,248) (165,904)
Restricted cash. .. ...ooviiii i e — 22,500 (17,498)
Acquisitions of intangible assets............... e (8,750) — —
Increase in investments and other assets . .............oiiiiiineinnnnennnnn. (25,334) . — (13,071)
Net cash flows from investing activities ............. .o, (382,428) (256,431) (856,652)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable, net............... ..., — — 696,004
Purchases of treasury Stock .........ootiiiiii i (734,427) — (135,000)
Issuance of common stock for option exercises and employee stock purchase plan .. 132,977 24,439 23,059
Issuance of treasury stock for option exercises and employee stock purchase plan . . 140,558 — —
Change in cash overdraft ...... ... . i . i 9,931 26,746 —
Net cash flows from financing activities . ........ .. ....ccvviinnn... e (450,961) 51,185 584,063
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents............ ... ouiiiiiiireeneeann (105,403) (35,279) (75,870)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year ................ccoviiiini it 314,850 350,129 425,999
Cash and cash equivalents, end of theyear ......... ... ... .. i $ 209447 § 314850 $ 350,129

Supplemental Cash Flow Data
Cash paid during the year for:
841 () O $ — 3 — 8 —
IR COMMIE LKL . ittt ittt ettt et et e e e e e e $ 1,215 $ 41,249 § 356

For information associated with assets and liabilities assumed in the Merger with Biogen, Inc., see Note 2.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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‘ ' BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
' NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{ 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
" Overview

Biogen Idec creates new standards of care in oncology and immunology. As a global leader in the
development, manufacturing, and commercialization of novel therapies, we transform scientific discoveries
- into advances in human healthcare. We currently have five products:

* AVONEX® (interferon beta-la) for the treatment of relapsing forms of multiple sclerosis, or MS.

« RITUXAN® (rituximab) and ZEVALIN® (ibritumomab tiuxetan), both of which treat certain B-cell
non-Hodgkin’s lymphomas, or B-cell NHLs. We collaborate with Genentech Inc., or Genentech, on
the development and commercialization of RITUXAN. RITUXAN is the trade name in the United
States, or U.S., Canada and Japan for the compound Rituximab. MabThera is the tradename for
rituximab in the European Union, or EU. In these financial statements, we refer to rituximab,
RITUXAN and MabThera collectively as RITUXAN, except where we have otherwise indicated.

+ TYSABRI?® (natalizumab), formerly known as ANTEGREN®, which was approved by the U.S. Food
and Drug Administration, or FDA, in November 2004 to treat relapsing forms of MS to reduce the
frequency of clinical relapses. In February 2005, in consultation with the FDA, we and Elan
Corporation plc, or Elan, voluntarily suspended the marketing and commercial distribution of
TYSABRI, and informed physicians that they should suspend dosing of TYSABRI until further
notification. In addition, we suspended dosing in clinical studies of TYSABRI in MS, Crohn’s disease
and rheumatoid arthritis, or RA. These decisions were based on reports of two serious adverse events
that have occurred in patients treated with TYSABRI in combination with AVONEX in MS clinical
studies. These events involved two cases of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, or PML, a
rare and frequently fatal, demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. Both patients received
more than two years of TYSABRI in combination with AVONEX. In light of the two reports of PML,
the companies initiated a systematic review of the TYSABRI safety database. On March 30, 2005, we
and Elan announced that the review of the safety database led a serious adverse event previously

~ reported by a clinical investigator in a clinical study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s disease to be reassessed
as PML. The case was originally reported by the investigator as malignant astrocytoma in July 2003.
The patient died in December 2003. The patient had received 8 doses of TYSABRI over an 18 month
period and prior medication history included multiple courses of immunosuppressant agents. We and

. Elan are working with clinical investigators to evaluate patients treated with TYSABRI in clinical
studies and are consulting with leading experts to better understand the possible risk of PML. The
outcome of these evaluations will be used to determine possible re-initiation of dosing in clinical studies
and future commercial availability.

B AMEVIVE® (alefacept) for the treatment of adult patients with moderate-to-severe chronic plaque
. psoriasis who are candidates for systemic therapy or phototherapy.

We also receive royalty revenues on sales by our licensees of a number of products covered under patents
that we control, including on sales by Schering AG of ZEVALIN in EU. In addition, we have a number of
ongoing research and development programs in our core therapeutic areas and in other areas of interest.

_ Merger

On November 12, 2003 IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Biogen, Inc. completed a merger
transaction, or the Merger, resulting in Biogen, Inc. becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of IDEC
Pharmaceuticals Corporation. 'The Merger was treated as an acquisition of Biogen, Inc. by IDEC
Pharmaceuticals Corporation for accountmg purposes. In connection with the Merger IDEC Pharmaceuticals
Corporation changed its name to Biogen Idec Inc.
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BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Prmctples of Consolzdatzon

The consohdated ﬁnancral statements ‘include our financial statements and those of our wholly owned
subsidiaries. We also consolidate a limited partnership investment, in which we are the majority investor. All
material mtercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. On'November 12, 2003, we completed
the Merger and changed our name to Biogen Idec. Inc. (see Note 2, Merger of IDEC Pharmaceuticals
Corporatlon and Biogen, Inc.). Our results of operatrons for the year ended December 31, 2003 include the
results of operat1ons of Brogen Inc. from November. 13, 2003 through December 31, 2003.

[T

Use of Estimates‘

The preparatron of consolidated financial statements requires our management to make estimates and
judgments; that may affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related
drsclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those
related to revenueirecognition and related allowances, marketable securities, derivatives and hedging activities,
mventones patents, impairment of intangible assets and goodwill, income taxes including the valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets, valuation of long-lived assets and investments, research and development,
loans, pensrons retrree medical plan, contingencies and htlganon We base our estimates on historical
expenence and on vanous other assumptions that are beheved to be reasonable, the results of which form the
basis for maktng Judgments about the carrying values of assets and. lrabrlmes Actual results may differ from
these estrmates under different assumptrons -or conditions.

o

Translation of Foveign Currencies

' The functional currency for most of our foreign subsidiaries is the local currency. Assets and liabilities are
translated at current rates of exchange. Income-and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the.year. Adjustments resulting from the translation of the financial statements of our foreign operations
into U.S. dollarsiare excluded from the determination of net income and are accumulated in a separate
component of shareholders equity. The U.S..dollar is the functional currency for certain foreign subsidiaries.
Our subsidiaries that have the U.S. dollar as the functional currency are remeasured into U.S. dollars using
current rates of exchange for monetary assets and liabilities and historical rates of exchange for nonmonetary
assets. Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses are included in the results of operations in other income
(expense), net. We had foreign exchange galns totaling $5.4 mrlhon and $1.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. »

[ "'l l‘

Cash and Cash Equzvalents

We cons1der only those investments which are h1ghly liquid, readily convertlble to cash and which mature
w1thrn ,three months from date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

o ,l.
4 ' [H v

Fazr Value of Fmanctal Instruments

The carrymg amounts reflected in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, dug ifromunconsolidated joint business, other current assets, accounts payable, and accrued
expenses ‘and other, approximate fair value due to their short-term: maturities. Qur marketable securities
available- for-sale -are .carried at fair value based on quoted market prices. The fair values of our foreign
CUIrency forwardtcontracts are based on quoted market prices or pricing models using current market rates. At
December 31, 12004, the fair value of our senior and subordinated notes were $778.7 million and $591.0 mil-
lion, respectively:;. . '
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BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Inventovies

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost determined under the first-in, first-out
(“FIFO”) method. Included in inventory are raw materials used in the production of pre-clinical and clinical
products, which are expensed as research and development costs when consumed.

The components of inventories for the periods ending December 31 are as follows:

2004 2003
{In thousands)
Raw materials. . ... ..ot e $ 48,465 $ 36,247
WOrK i PrOCESS . o oottt 157,947 443,666

Finished goods .................. e 44,604 16,436
' ' ' $251,016  $496,349

Our policy is to capitalize inventory costs associated with our products prior to regulatory approval, when,
based on management’s judgment, future commercialization is considered probable and the future economic
benefit is expected to be realized. Our accounting policy addresses the attributes that should be considered in
evaluating whether the costs to manufacture a product have met the definition of an asset as stipulated in
FASB Concepts Statement No. 6. We assess the regulatory approval process and where the particular product
stands in relation to that approval process including any known constraints and impediments to approval,
including safeiy, efficacy and potential labeling restrictions. We evaluate our anticipated research and
development initiatives and constraints relating to the product and the indication in which it will be used. We
consider our manufacturing environment including our supply chain in determining logistical constraints that
could possibly hamper approval or commercialization. We consider the shelf life of the product in relation to
the expected timeline for approval and we consider patent related or contract issues that may prevent or cause
delay in commercialization. We are sensitive to the significant commitment of capital to scale up production
and to launch commercialization strategies. We also base our judgment on the viability of commercialization,
trends in the marketplace and market acceptance criteria. Finally, we consider the reimbursement strategies
that may prevail with respect to the product and assess the economic benefit that we are likely to realize.

There is a risk inherent in these judgments, and we would be required to expense previously capitalized
costs related to pre-approval inventory upon a change in such judgment, due to, among other potential factors,
a denial or delay of approval by necessary regulatory bodies.

In February 2005, we and Elan voluntarily suspended the marketing and commercial distribution of
TYSABRI based on reports of two serious adverse events that occurred in patients treated with TYSABRI in
combination with AVONEX in MS clinical studies. These events involved two cases, of PML, a rare and
frequently fatal, demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. In light of the two reports of PML, the
companies initiated a systematic review of the TYSABRI safety database. On March 30, 2005, we and Elan
announced that the review of the safety database led a serious adverse event previously reported by a clinical
investigator in a clinical study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s disease to be reassessed as PML. The case was
originally reported by the investigator as malignant astrocytoma in July 2003. The patient died in Decem-
ber 2003. The patient had received 8 doses of TYSABRI over an 18 month period and prior medication
history included multiple courses of immunosuppressant agents. We and Elan are working with clinical
investigators to evaluate patients treated with TYSABRI in clinical studies and are consulting with leading
experts to better understand the possible risk of PML. The outcome of these evaluations will be used to
determine future commercial availability. We cannot predict the outcome of these evaluations. An unfavora-
ble or inconclusive outcome could result in the permanent withdrawal of TYSABRI from the market and
termination of clinical studies of TYSABRI, or the re-introduction of TYSABRI to the market with
significant restrictions on its permissible uses, blackbox or other significant safety warnings in its label and
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S ;fj . BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCJIA]L S’JTATEMENTS — (Continued)

such‘ other restnctlons requirementsrand- l1m1tat1ons as the FDA mayr require. While we presently believe that
we- w1ll bé able:to-find a path forward for TYSABRI, there are no-assurances as.to the likelihood of success: In
hght of our 1nab111ty to: pred1ct to the requrred degree’ of, certamty that our. TYSABRE: inventory will be realized
in commerc1al sales prior to the expiration of its shelf rhfe,l we have: written down all of the $19.1 miillion of
TYSABRl 1nventory that had been included on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2004, which was
charged to. costr of product revenues. We are contlnumg to manufacture TYSABRI. Because of the
uncertainity. descnbed above, in the first quarter of 2005, we also expect to expense between $22 million
" (unaudited) and $25 million (unaudited) of TYSABRI that was manufactured in the first quarter of 2005. In
subsequent. penods we will continue to assess TYSABRI to determine if it needs to be expensed in light of
existing-information related 1o0.the. potential future -comimercial ava11ab111ty of TYSABRI and applicable
-accourting standards. See “Forward- Looking Informationrand Risk Factors That May Affect Future
Results = Safety lssues with TYSABRI Could Slgmﬁcantly Affect Our Growth.”

i L H( '.

. We had 10, napproved products capltahzed to 1nventory as of December 31, 2004 or 2003. At
December' 31 2 04 and 2003 all products that we capxtallze to mventory have been approved for sale by either
, ;the European ‘ drcmes Agency, the regulatory authonty in the EU or EMEA, or FDA

Clwe penodrcally review: our inventories for excess or obsolete mventory and write down obsolete or
‘otherw1sev unmarketable inventory to its estimated net réalized value. If‘the actual realizable value is less than
that estimated” by us,or if there aré any further determinationis that: inventory will not be marketable based on
“estimates of demand, additional inventory write-offs may be required. This periodic review led to the write-
down of TYSABRI inventory as of December 31, 2004 and the expensmg of TYSABRI expected to occur in
the first quarter of 2005, as descrlbed above,’ and may Tead us to expense TYSABRI in subsequent penods
‘Also 1ncluded in product cost of 1 revenues were write- downs of commercial inventory that did not meet quality
'_spec1ﬁcat10ns or become obsolete due t6 datmg expiration, 'in all cases this product inventory was written-down
to/its het reahzable value. We wrote-down $46.7 million of unmarketable inventory during 2004, which was
‘charged to cost of product revenues and ‘consisted of $l6 2 million related to AVONEX, $9.7 ‘million related
to ZEVALIN $1 ¥/ m1ll1on related’ to AMEVIVE and $19.1 mxlhon related to TYSABRI. The AVONEX
and AMEVIVE 1nventory was wntten down when it was determmed that the 1nventory did not meet quality
;spec1ﬁcatlons The ZEVALIN invéritory was written- down when it was determmed that the inventory did not
meet quahty spec1ﬁcatlons or when it was ‘determinéd” that the mventory will not be marketable based on
,estlmates of demand . e

A S [PI ! BN v ": et 4

We wrote down $l73 9 millibn of unimarketable inventory durmg 2003 wh1ch was charged to cost of
product revenueSrand consisted of $160.8 million related.to" AVONEX %) m1lhon related to AMEVIVE and
$12.1 ‘niillion ' related to' ZEVALIN. Of the $160.8 million wnte—down related to"AVONEX, $149.6 million
'represented the: 1ncrease ‘to fair market value in connect1on w1th the Merger and $11.2 million represented the
hlstoncal"manufacturmg costs. ZEVALIN was wrltten down t6 net realizable value due to product expiration.

The AVONEX inventory that was written- down had been assessed as commerc1ally viable and saleable
and there were, no known contingent issues at the acquisition -date. This inventory was recorded at the
estimated- selling .price less' the costs' to complete, costs of disposal and a reasonable distribution profit
allowance! Ourwproducts are required to meet numerous stringent quality.specifications that are agreed upon
withithe FDA. at' various times prior.to and after approval Based on quahty testing performed subsequent to
thes Merger date- we became aware' of certain lots of our pre-filled. syringe formulation of AVONEX that
prev10usly hadtbeen .approved for sale, but after additional testing no:longer met the established quality
specifications. Substant1ally all of the AVONEX inventory write:downiwas:related to.our pre-filled syringe
formulauon of'*AVONEX in which certain lots had ‘aggregate. levels. that exceeded the approved specifica-
tions. As a result of extensive discussions with the: FDA,a new set of testing protocols were agreed to and
- certain lots were deemed unmarketable. Upon management s determrnatlon that the inventory was unmarket-
able we wrote oﬂ' the carrylng value of the inventory to earn1ngs in the fourth quarter of 2003 because the cost
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of the inventory would not be recoverable. In 2004, we developed. a new pre-filled syringe formulation of
AVONEX, which was approved by the EMEA in'November 2004 and the FDA in March 2005. We do not
expect to experience interruption in the supply of AVONEX. However, we expect to write-down between
$6 million and $8 million of the remaining supphes of the older formulation in the first quarter of 2003, related

to the FDA approval

Marketable Securmes

We invest-our excess- cash balances in short-term and long-term marketable securities, principally
corporate notes and government securities. At December 31, 2004, substantially all of our securities were
classified as “available-for-sale”. All available-for-sale securities are recorded at fair market value and
unrealized gains and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income in shareholders’
equity, net of related tax effects. Realized gains and losses and declines in value, if any, judged to be other than
temporary on available-for-sale securities are reported in other expense. The cost of available-for-sale
securities sold is based on the specific identification method. We have established guldehnes that maintain
safety and provide adequate liquidity in our available-for-sale portfolio. These guidelines are periodically
reviewed and modified to take advantage of trends in yields and interest rates. In 2004, we recognized a charge
of approximately $5.7 million for certain unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities that were deter-
mined to be other than temporary, because we believe the securities will be sold prior to a potential recovery of

their decline in value.

As part of our strategic product development efforts, we invest in equity securities of certain biotechnol-
ogy companies with which we have collaborative agreements. As a matter of policy, we determine on a
quarterly basis whether any decline in the fair value of a marketable security is temporary or other than
temporary. Unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities are included in other comprehensive (loss)
‘income in shareholders’ equity, net of related tax effects. If a decline in the fair value of a marketable security
below our cost basis is determined to be other than temporary, such marketable security is written down to its
“estimated fair value with a charge to current earnings. The factors that we consider in our assessments include
the fair market value of the common stock, the duration of the stock’s decline, , prospects for favorable clinical
"tnal results, new product 1n1t1at1ves and new collaborative agreements.

We also invest in equity securities of certain companies whose securities are not publicly traded -and fair
value is not readily available. These investments are recorded using the-cost method of accounting and are
adjusted only for other- than-temporary “declines in fair value, distributions of earnings and additional
investments. As a matter of policy, we monitor these investments in private securities on a quarterly basis and
determine whether any impairment in' their value would require a charge to current earnings, based on the
implied value from any recent rounds of financing completed by the investee, and general market conditions.

Property and Eqmpment

Property and equlpment are carrlcd at cost, subject to review of impairment for significant assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be
recoverable. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
‘Leéasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the useful life or the term of the respective lease.
Maintenance costs.are expensed as incurred. Buildings and building components are depreciated over
.estimated useful lives ranging from 15 to 45 years, machinery and equipment from 5 to 15 years, and furniture
and fixtures 7 years. We capitalize certain incremental costs associated with the validation effort required for
licensing by the FDA of manufacturing equipment for'the production of a commercially approved drug. These
costs include primarily direct labor and material and are incurred in preparing the equipment for its intended
use. The validation costs are amortized over the life of the related equipment.
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_ The timing of the ‘anticipated licensing and use of the Oceanside facrllty and the Hillerod facility is
dependent upon the- commerc1al availability and potentral market acceptance of TYSABRI. If TYSABRI is
permanently thhdrawn from the market we would need: to evaluate our long-term plans for these facilities. If
we aré able to reintroduce TYSABRI to the market, we would need to evaluate our requirements for existing
inventory and additional ‘manufacturing capacity in l1ght of the approved label and our judgment of the
potent1al U.S. market:acceptance of TYSABRI in MS, the probability of obtaining marketing approval of
TYSABR][ m MS in the'EU and othier jurisdictions, and the probability of obtaining marketing approval of
TYSABRI m addmonal rndtcanons in the U.S., EU and other jurisdictions.

Intangtble Assets and Goodwzll )
. oo N N . ;

In connectlon with the Merger (see Note 2), we recorded intangible assets related to patents, trademarks
and core technology as part of the purchase price. These intangible assets were recorded at fair value and at
Decernber 31, 2004 net of accumulated amortization ‘and impairments. Intangible assets related to out-
lrcensed patents and core technology are amortized over'their remaining. estimated useful lives, ranging from
11.to 19 'years, based on the greater of the strarght line method Or. economic consumptron each period. These
amort1zat10n costs are included in “Amortlzatron of acqurred 1ntang1ble assets” in the accompanying
consohdated statements of income. Intangrble assets related to trademarks haye indefinite lives, and as a result
are not amortrzed but are subject to review for 1mpa1rment ‘We review,_our 1ntang1ble assets for impairment
penodrcally and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may
not be recoverable In the third-quarter of 2004, management- determmed that certain clinical trials would not
contmue Wthh “mdrcated that the carrying, value of gertain . core teehnology intangible assets related to
AMEVIVE .may not be recoverable. As a result, we recorded a charge of approximately $27.8 million to
amortrzanon of ‘acquired intangible assets, which reflects the adjustment to net realizable value of core
technology mtangrble assets related to’ AMEVlVE ‘

Goodwﬂl a55001ated with the Merger represents the d1ﬁ'erence between the purchase price and the fair
value of the identifiable’ tangible and mtangrble net assets when aécounted for by the purchase method of
accountmg Goodwrll is not amortized, but rather subject 10 periodic review for impairtment. Goodwill is
reviewed annually ‘dnd whenever events or changes in cifcumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
goodwill might not be recoverable. In‘the fourth quarter of 2004, we performed an assessment of our goodwill,
and concluded that goodwill was not 1mpa1red as'of October 31, 2004 As'a result of the voluntary suspension
of TYSABRI in' February 2005, we have performed ar interim review for impairment. We believe that the fair
value’of our legacy Biogen reporting unit exceeds its carrying value and therefore, we believe goodwill is
properly valued; 'However, should new information arise,- we may need to reassess goodwill for impairment in
hght of the new, mformatron and we may be requrred to take 1mpa1rment charges related to goodwill.

l‘l

A h
b

As of December 31 2004 and 2003 mtangrble assets and goodwﬂl net of accumulated amortization and
1mpa1rment charges, are as follows, (amounts in thousands)

- Accumulated

.:“December 31, 2004 E ‘ v Estlmnted ere | Falr Value Amortizatlon Net '
Out lrcensed patents e . 12 years. - . .§ 578 000l $ 54, 589 © § 523411
‘ "Core/developed technology R 15-20'years' 2,993,000 . 297,269 2,695,731
Trademarks & tradénames ... .. e .‘.‘ . Indeﬁnite"“ ~‘6l4,00‘0 o —_ 64,000
‘In ltcensed patents ................... 7-14 years - _ - 12,482 2,797 9,685
Total B PP : $3,647,482  $354,655  $3,292,827
- Goodwill . e . Indefinite  $LI5L,105 $  —  $1,151,105
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. Accumulated

December 31, 2003 Estimated Life Fair Value Amortization Net
Out-licensed patents .............. .. 12 years $ 578,000 $ 6,422 $ 571,578
Core/developed technology ........... . 15-21 years 3,022,000 26,758 2,995,242
Trademarks & tradenames ............ Indefinite © 64,000 .. — 64,000
In-licensed patents. . ................. 7-12 vears 9,482 1,490 ’ 7,992

Total ........... e . 0 $3,673.482  $34,670  $3.638,812
Goodwill .............. TR Indefinite $1,151,066 $ —  $1,151,066

Amortization on intangible assets is expected to be in the range of approximately $276 million to
$323 million for each of the next five years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets o

Long-lived assets to be held and used, including intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenéver
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the dssets might not be recoverable.
Conditions that would necessitate an impairment assessment include a significant decline in the observable
market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or a significant
adverse change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets is not recoverable.
Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the
use of the asset and its eventual disposition. In the event that such cash flows are not expected to-be sufficient
to recover the carrying amount of the assets, the assets are written-down to their estimated fair values. Long-
lived assets to be disposed of are carried at fair value less costs to sell.

In February 2005, we and Elan voluntarily suspended the marketing and commercial distribution of
TYSABRI based on reports of two serious adverse events that have occurred in patients treated with
TYSABRI in combination with AVONEX in MS clinical studies. These events involved two cases of PML, a
rare and frequently fatal, demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. In light of the two reports of
PML, the companies initiated a systematic review of the TYSABRI safety database. On March 30, 2005, we
and Elan announced that the review of the safety database led a serious adverse event previously reported by a
clinical investigator in a clinical study of TYSABRI in Crohn’s disease to be reassessed as PML. The case was
originally reported by the investigator as malignant astrocytoma in July 2003. The patient died in December
2003. The patient had received 8 doses of TYSABRI over an 18 month period and prior medication history
included multiple courses of immunosuppressant agents. We and Elan are working with clinical investigators
to evaluate patients treated with TYSABRI in clinical studies and are consulting with leading experts to better
understand the possible risk of PML. The outcome of these evaluations will be used to determine possible re-
initiation of dosing in clinical studies and future commercial availability.

We cannot predict the outcome of these evaluations. An unfavorable or inconclusive outcome could
result in the permanent withdrawal of TYSABRI from the market and termination of clinical studies of
TYSABRLI, or the re-introduction of TYSABRI to the market with significant restrictions on its permissible
uses, blackbox or other significant safety warnings in its label and such other restrictions, requirements and
limitations as the FDA may require. We have reassessed our long-lived assets related to TYSABRI, such as
intangibles and manufacturing facilities, and have determined that there are no impairments related to these
assets as a result of the suspension of the marketing of TYSABRI. However, should new information arise, we
may be required to take impairment charges related to certain of our long-lived assets.
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Loans Receivable ‘ e . ,

In‘c‘onnection with ‘certain of our research . collaborations, we Have extended loans or made loan
comm1tments to collaborators. On a quarterly basis, the loans are monitored for potential impairment, based
on the probabrhty of the collection of the full amount due under the'loan according to each loan’s terms. If it is
_deterrmned that:it 'is not probable that we will be able to collect all .interest and prmcrpal due, we will
recogmze a correspondmg 1mparrment charge to current earmngs S

Notes Payablg”““' ! ' I ‘. : S

In connectron wrth our senior and subordinated notes payable we capttalrzed certain issuance costs which
are bemg amortrzed to interest expenses over the estimated outstandmg term of the notes, according to EITF
86- 15 “Increasmg Rate Debt.” We currently expect that holders of the senior notes due in 2032 will require
us to purchase all or a port1on of the senior notes on April 29, 2005. As a result, we have reassessed the
estrmated term of th1s debt, and recorded addltronal 1nterest .expense of approximately $7.1 million in the
fourth quarter of 2004 We have also classified our semor notes as current liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheet as. of December 31, 2004. The remamlng unamort1zed issuance costs of approxrmately
$9. 7 mrlhon will be amortized through April 29, 2005

RS B

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Statement of, Financial Accounting Standards No. 133; “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities”; (“SFAS 133”) requires that all derivatives be. recognized on the balance sheet at their
fair value./,Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded each period in current earnings or other
comprehensive (loss) income, depending on whether a derivative is designated as part of a hedge transaction
and, if'it'is, the 'type of hedge transaction. We assess, both at its inception and on an on-going basis, whether
the detivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting the changes in cash flows
of hedged items. Wi also assess hedge ineffectiveness on a quarterly basis and record the gain or loss related to
the 1nelTect1ve portion ‘to current eammgs to the extent significant. If we determine that a forecasted
transaction'is no longer probable of occurring,-we discontinue hedge accounting for the affected portion of the
hedge 1nstrument and iany related unrealrzed gain orloss on the contract is recogn1zed in current earnings.

b
NEI i

' ‘Cbmételﬁzeinsive‘{l‘ri‘come z

‘Stdtement of Financial Accounting Standards' No." 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”,
(“SFAS 130”), requ1res us to d1splay comprehensive: 1ncome and its components as part of our full set of
financial’ statements Comprehensive income is compnsed of net income (loss) and other comprehensive
(loss) income. Other comprehensive (loss) income includes certain changes in equity that are excluded from
net 1ncome '(loss), such as translation.adjustments and unrealized holding gains and losses, on available-for-
sale marketable securmes and certain derwatrve instruments, net of tax.

B E ‘ - P

~Segment Informatzon

i .
Statement of F1nancral Accounting Standards No. 131 “D1sclosures about Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Informatlon (“SFAS 131”) establishes standards for reportmg information on operating
segments in interim and annual financial statements. We operate in one segment, which is the business of
development, manufactunng and commercialization of novel therapeutics for human health care. Our chief
operating decrsron makers review our operating results on.an aggregate basis and manage our operations as a
smgle operatmg segment. bl
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Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable

SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. .101- (“SAB 101”), superceded in part by SAB 104, provides
guidance on the recognition, presentation, and disclosure of revenue in financial statements. SAB 101
establishes the SEC’s view that it is not appropriate. to recognize revenue until all of the following criteria are
met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; the
seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and collectibility is reasonably assured. SAB 104 also
requires that both title and the risks and rewards of ownership be transferred to the buyer before revenue can
be recognized. We believe that our revenue recognition policies are in compliance with SAB 104.

Product revenue consists of sales from our four products: AVONEX, AMEVIVE, ZEVALIN, and
TYSABRI. The timing of distributor orders and shipments can cause variability in earnings. Revenues from
product sales are recognized when product is shipped and title and risk of loss has passed to the customer,
typically upon delivery. Revenues are recorded net of applicable allowances for returns, patient assistance,
trade term discounts, Medicaid rebates, Veteran’s Administration rebates, and managed care discounts and
other applicable allowances. Included in our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003, are
allowances for returns, rebates, discounts and other allowances which totaled $33.8 million and $20.8 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2004, our allowance for product revenues was $5.2 million. In 2004, total
discounts and allowances were approximately 1.8% of total current assets and less than 1% of total assets. We
prepare our estimates for sales returns and allowances, discounts and rebates quarterly based pnmanly on
historical experience updated for changes in facts and circumstances, as appropriate.

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, we recorded $169.3 million, $13.9 million and
$0.7 million, respectively, in our consolidated statements of income related to sales returns and allowances,
discounts, and rebates. In 2004, the amount of product returns was approximately 1% of product revenue for
all our products. Product returns were $17.4 million, $3.7 million and $0.5 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Product returns in 2004 included $3.2 million related to product sales made prior to 2004. During
2004, we had encountered problems in manufacturing our pre-filled syringe formulation of AVONEX. As a
result, we had an increase in our expected level of returns related to batches that failed to meet specifications.

In November 2004, we received regulatory approval in the U.S. of TYSABRI for the treatment of MS
and paid a $7.0 million approval-based milestone to Elan. Upon approval, we also became obligated to provide
Elan with $5.3 million in credits for payments on certain purchases of TYSABRI and for reimbursement of
commercialization costs. Elan can apply $1.5 million of the credits per year. The approval and credit
milestones were capitalized upon approval in investments and other assets and are being amortized over the
remaining patent life of 15.7 years. The amortization of the approval and credit milestones is being recorded as
a reduction of revenue. In February 2005, in consultation with the FDA, we and Elan voluntarily suspended
the marketing and commercial distribution of TYSABRI, and informed physicians that they should suspend
dosing of TYSABRI until further notification.

Under our agreement with Elan, we manufacture TYSABRI and in the U.S. prior to the suspension, sold
TYSABRI to Elan who then distributed TYSABRI to third party distributors. In the U.S., we record revenue
when TYSABRUI is shipped from Elan to third party distributors. In December 2004, we recorded $3.1 million
of product revenues related to sales of TYSABRI to Elan. Additionally, as of December 31, 2004, we deferred
$1.9 million in revenue related to sales of TYSABRI which had not yet been shipped by Elan. As of
December 31, 2004, Elan owed us $34.4 million, representing commercialization and development expenses
incurred by us, which is included in other current assets on our consolidated balance sheets. We received the
entire $34.4 million from Elan in the first quarter of 2005 related to the receivable.

Revenues. from unconsolidated joint business consist of our share of the pretax copromotion profits
generated from our copromotion arrangement with Genentech, reimbursement from Genentech of our
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[ :

RITUXAN-related sales -force and development expenses and royalties from Genentech for sales of
RITUXAN: outside the U.S. by Roche and Zenyaku. Under the copromotion arrangement, all U.S. sales of
RITUXAN; and assocrated costs and expenses are recognized by Genentech and we record our share of the
pretax copromotion :profits on a quarterly basis, as defined in our amended and restated collaboration
agreement‘wnh Genentech. Pretax-copromotion profits under the copromotion arrangement are derived by
takmg U.S. net sales of RITUXAN +to third-party customers less cost.of sales, third-party royalty expenses,
distribution, selhng and marketing expenses and joint development expenses incurred by Genentech and us.
Our profit- shanng formula with Genentech has two- tiers; we earn- a higher percentage of the pretax
copromotlon proﬁts at'the upper tier once a fixed pretax copromotion profit level is met. The profit-sharing
formula resets annually at the beginning of each year to the lower tier. In June 2003, we amended and restated
our collaboration agreement with Genentech to include the development and commercialization of one or
more anti- CD20 antrbodles targeting B-cell disorders, in addition to RITUXAN, for a broad range of
indications. Upon approval of the first new anti-CD20 product the pretax copromotion profit-sharing formula
for RITUXAN and other anti-CD20 products will change over a period of time to a ﬁxed annual profit-
shanng percentage at the lower tier. Currently, we record our share of expenses incurred for the development
of. new antr-CDZO products in reséarch-and development éxpense until such time as a new product is approved,
at whrch time we will record our share of pretax copromotion- proﬁts related to the new product in revenues
from unconsolldated joint business. We record our royalty revenue on sales of RITUXAN outside the U.S. on
a cash. basis. Under the amended and restated collaboration agreement, we will receive lower royalty revenue
from Genentech on'sales by Roche and Zenyaku of new anti-CD20 products and only for the ﬁrst eleven years
from the date of first commercial sale of such new ant1 CD20 products. -

In February 2002 the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, released EITF Issue No. 01- 09

(“EITF 01- 09”) “Accountrng for Consrderatlon Given' by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of

the Vendor S Prodhcts)” EITF 01- 09 states that cash consrderatlon (mcludlng a sales incentive) given by a

vendor to a customer is presumed to be’a reduction of the sellmg pnces of the vendor’s products or services
and, therefore should be. characterized as a reductlon of revenue when recognized in the vendor’s income
statemerit, rather than a sales and marketrng expense. We have various contracts with distributors that provide
for dlscounts and’ rebates These contracts are classified as a reductron of revenue. We also maintain select
customer sérvice ‘contracts with distributors and other customers in the distribution channel. In accordance
with EITF 01- 09, .we have established the fair value of these contracts and, as provrded by EITF 01-09,
classified these customer service contracts as sales and marketing expense. If we had concluded that sufficient
evidence of the fair value did not exist for these contracts, we would have been required to classify these costs
as a reduction of revenue.

We receive royalty revenues under license agreements with a number of third parties that sell products
based on technology we have developed or to which we have rights. The license agreements provide for the
payment of royaltres to us based on sales of the licensed product. We record these revenues based on estimates
of the sales that occurred during the relevant period. The relevant period estimates of sales are based on
interim data provided by licensees and analysis of historical royalties we have been paid (adjusted for any
changes in facts and circumstances, as appropriate). We maintain regular communication with our licensees
in order to gauge the reasonableness of our estimates. Differences between actual royalty revenues and
estimated royalty revenues are reconciled and adjusted for in the period which they become known, typically
the following quarter. Historically, adjustments have not been material based on actual amounts paid by
licensees. There are no future performance obligations on our part under these license agreements. To the
extent we do not have sufficient ability to accurately estimate revenue, we record it on a cash basis.

Cl

Research and Developrﬁent Expenses

Research and development expenses are comprised of costs incurred in performing research and
development activities including salaries and benefits, facilities costs, overhead costs, clinical trial and related
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clinical manufacturing costs, contract services and other outside costs. Research and development costs,
including upfront fees and milestones paid to collaborators, are expensed as incurred. We have entered into
certain research agreements in which we share costs with our collaborator. We have entered into other
collaborations where we are reimbursed for work performed by our collaborative partners. We record these
costs as research and development expenses. If the arrangement is a cost-sharing arrangement and there is a
period during which we receive payments from the collaborator, we record payments by the collaborator for
their share of the development effort as a reduction of research and development expense. If the arrangement
is a reimbursement of research and development costs, we record the reimbursement as corporate partner
revenue, ‘ .

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications of prior years amounts have been made to conform to current year presentation.

Earnings per Share

We calculate earnings (loss) per share in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 128, “Earnings per Share,” or SFAS 128, and EITF 03-06, “Participating Securities and the Two-
Class Method Under SFAS 128.” SFAS 128 and EITF 03-06 together require the presentation of “basic”
earnings (loss) per share and “diluted” earnings (loss) per share. Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed
using the two-class method. Under the two-class method, undistributed net income is allocated to common
stock and participating securities based on their respective rights to share in dividends. We have determined
that our preferred shares meet the definition of participating securities, and have allocated a portion of net
income to our preferred shares on a pro rata basis. Net income allocated to preferred shares is excluded from
the calculation of basic earnings (loss) per share. For basic earnings (loss) per share, net income (loss)
available to holders of common stock is divided by the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding. For purposes of calculating diluted earnings (loss) per share, net income (loss) is adjusted for the
after-tax amount of interest associated with convertible debt and net income allocable to preferred shares, and
the denominator includes both the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding and the
number of dilutive common stock equivalents such as stock options, unvested restricted stock awards and
other convertible securities, to the extent they are dilutive. '

'
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‘Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the periods endmg December 31 are calculated as follows
(table in thousands)

‘ 2004 2003 2002
Numerator t ‘ , o :

Net mcome (loss)[ ................................. $ 25,086  $(875,097) $148,090
‘Adjustment for net income allocable to preferred stock... - . 37 — 2,687
Net'é lnconie;{,(l'c‘)ss) used in calculating basic earnings

'(loss) pet share B R FRRIREEE $:25,049  $(875,097) $145,403
‘ Adjustment for intérest, net of interest capitalized and tax — - 4,926
‘ Net income (loss) used in calculatmg diluted earnings - ‘ :

 (loss) per share....... PP - $ 25,049  §$(875,097) $150,329

Denommator : : .
- Weighted - average number of common shares outstanding 334,996 177,982 153,086
Eﬂect of dilutive securities: ‘

Stock OPHONS . L R 7,600 — 9,783
Resmcted stock awards ... - 879 — —
Convemble prormssory notes due 2019 ....... ... .. . — — 13,936
Dtlutlve potenttal COMMON SHATES . . . oo vvsee e, 8,479 — 23,719

‘Shares used in calculatmg dtluted eammgs (loss) per share 343,475 177,982 176,805
Sl g0 ‘ : ‘

The following amounts were not included in the calculation of net income (loss) per share because their
effects were anti-dilutivé for the periods ending December 31 (table in thousands):
R o

2004 2003 2002
Numerator ‘ ‘ ‘
Net income allocable to preferred shares................... - $ 37 $ —  $2,687
Adjustment for interest, net of tax ............ e 3,762 9,378 5,605
o Total e .o $3799 $9378  $8292
Denommator :
- Stoek’ optlons AV e - 5080 . 7,103 —
- ‘Convertible preferred stock . ................. e 247 2,173 2,829
. “Convertible“ promissory notes due 2019 ................ e 4,563 13,935 —
, Convertible promissory notes due 2032 . e 2,165 8,661 5,917

N e e e e 12,055 31,872 8,746

Accountmg for Stock Based Compensatzon

“We. have several stock-based compensatlon plans which are descnbed more fully in Note 12. We apply
APB Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to' Employees” in accounting for our plans and apply
Statement+of Financial Accounting ‘Standards No. 123 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” or
SFAS 123, as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-
Based {Compensation — Transition and Disclosure”, or SFAS: 148;: for disclosure purposes only. The

SFAS 123 disclosures include pro forma net income and earnings per share as if the fair value-based method
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of accounting had been used. Stock-based compensation issued to non-employees is accounted for in
accordance with SFAS 123 and related interpretations.

If compensation cost for awards issued in 2004, 2003 and 2002 under the stock-based compensation
plans, including costs related to prior years’ awards, had been determined based on SFAS 123, as amended by
SFAS 148, our pro forma net income (loss), and pro forma earnings (loss) per share for the years ending
December 31, would have been as follows: :

2004 . 2003 . 2002
. (In thousands, except per share data)
Reported net income (1oSs) .. ... vviiii e $ 25,086  $(875,097) $148,090
Stock based compensation included in net income (loss) 16,795 — —
Pro forma stock compensation expense, net of tax ......... (76,421) (51,850) = (54,662)
Pro forma net income (108S) . ............ e, $(34,540) $(926,947) $ 93,428
Reported basic earnings (loss) per share ................. $ 007 $ (492) $ 095
Pro forma basic earnings (loss) pershare ................ $ (O.IO) $§ (5.21) § 0.60
Reported diluted earnings (loss) per share ............... $§ 007 $ (492) § 0.85
Pro forma diluted earnings (loss) per share .............. $ (010) § (521) $§ 0.53

The fair value of each option granted under our stock-based compensation plans and each purchase right
granted under our employee stock purchase plan is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: _
. Option Grants

2004 2003 2002
Expected dividend yield . ......... ... ... i i 0% 0% 0%
Expected stock price volatility . .. .........ooiviiiire . 42% 41%  48%
Risk-free interest rate . ... ...vvurr ottt i, - 3.4% 2.8% 2.7%
Expected option life in years . ... 5.4 5.8 5.8
Per share grant date fair value .............. .. ... cviiini... $19.93 $16.41  $28.90

Purchase Rights

2004 2003 2002

Expected dividend yield ............cooiiirnnnen... 0% 0% 0%
Expected stock price volatility ....................... - 4% 48% 48%
Risk-free interest rate ... ......ccoviieveeeennnnnn.n. 1.4% 1.3% 1.0%
Expected option term in years ..............ooveenn... 0.24-1.5 0.13-20 03-20
Per share grant date fairvalue .. ..................... $ 1134 § 2146 § 1973

The effects of applying SFAS 123 in this pro forma disclosure are not indicative of future amounts.
SFAS 123 did not apply to awards prior to 1995, and additional awards in future years are anticipated.
Additionally, in December 2004, new accounting guidance was issued which will require all share-based
payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the statement of
income based on their fair values, effective June 15, 2005. See “Note 17 — New Accounting Pronounce-
ments” for a more complete description of this new accounting guidance and the potential impact it will have
on our financial statements.
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2. Merger of IDEC Pharmaceutlcals Corporation and Bioger, Inc. o

On November 12 12003, IDEC Pharmaceutrcals Corporation and- ~Biogen, Inc. entered into the Merger.
The., Merger -wasi ltreated as an. acquisition: of Biogen; In¢. by IDEC.Pharmaceuticals ' Corporation for
accounting purposes. In connect1on with the Merger, IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation changed its name to
Biogen Idec Inc t

As a result of the Merger Blogen Inc. stockholders recelved 1.15 shares of Biogen Idec common stock
for each‘ share of Brogen Inc. common stock. As a result, Biogen Idec issued approximately 171.9 million
shares of common stock at a fair value of approximately $6.48 billion. In addition, options to purchase Biogen,
Inc. common stock outstanding at November 12, 2003 were assumed. by Biogen Idec and converted into
optionis to' purchase approximately 20.7 million shares of Biogen Idec common stock at a fair value of -
approxrmately $295: million. We paid approximately $19.9 million in-fees-for banking, legal, accounting and
tax related services related to the Merger. Merger related fees paid by Biogen, Inc. prior to completion of the
Merger are’ not included in this amount as they were expensed as incurred. The total Merger purchase price
was apprognmately $6.8 billion. The Merger qualifies as a tax- free reorgamzatron within the meaning of
Sect1on 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code ‘

t'«ll o
|

Purchase prtce ‘

The purchase prlce is as follows -(table in thousands):

Falr value of Biogen Idec.common stock....... S - $6,480,339
Fa1r value of replacement stock opt1ons e EEt L 295,399
" Cash pa1d for fractronal shares . ... oo L e 27
Acqulsrtlon related COSES . 1t D AT T 19,872
‘ Total purchase price ......... ' ................. PRI $6,795,637

The falr value of Blogen Idec’s shares used in deterrmmng the purchase price was $37.69 per share based
on the average of the closing price of IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation’s common stock for the period two
days before through two days after the announcement of the Merger on June 23,°2003. The fair value of
assurped stock ‘options was determined using the Black-Scholes option' pricing model with the following
assumpnons stock price ‘of $37.69, which is the value ascribed ‘to IDEC Pharmaceutical Corporation’s
common ‘stock in; determlnrng the purchase price; volatrhty of 40%; risk-free interest rate of 1.8%; and an
expected hfe of 4 () years. e , . :

F-19




BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Purchase price allocation

The purchase price has been allocated to the acquired tangible and intangible assets and liabilities based
on their fair values as of November 12, 2003 thc date that the Merger was consummated (table in
thousands): : Co

TIVEIOTY « « « e v e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 706,957

Accounts receivable . .. .........oeieiiii s RN e 216,221
Property, plant and equipment . . ..... P e e PR e 713,719
Acquired identifiable intangible assets .. ... U ,“ ......... e B 3,664,000
Goodwill ~......... ... i e R 1,151,105
In-process research and development .......... e 823,000
Deferred stock-based compensation.... ......... P U 2,261
Other current dnd long-term assets ........... e 1,106,112
Assumed liabilitiés . . .. . . [T U I L (424,648)
Increase benefit plan liability to fair value ................. e o (26,650)
Deferred tax liabilities arising from fair value adjustments...................... - {1,136,440)
Total purchase price ...........c.oceerreuruennrunans e e $ 6,795,637

The allocation of the purchase price was based, in part, on a third-party valuation of the fair value of in-
process research and development, identifiable intangible assets, and certain property, plant and equipment.
The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired is allocated to goodwill.
We believe the fair values assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on reasonable
assumptions. These assumptions are based on the best available information that we had at the time.

Identifiable mtangzble assets

The amount allocated: to acqulred identifiable 1ntang1blc assets has been attributed to the following
categories (table in thousands): . .

Paténts......‘.......;..3‘...‘ ........ ...... ....... $ 578,000
Trademarks . .. ..ovntin i SN 64,000
Core TeChnolOogy . ...\ttt e e e e 3,022,000

‘ $3,664,000

The estimated fair value attributed to core technology, which relates to Biogen, Inc.’s existing FDA-
approved products, was determined based on a discounted forecast of the estimated net future cash flows to be
generated from the technology. The estimated fair value attributed to core technology will be amortized over
15 to 20 years, which is the estimated period over which cash flows will be generated from the technology.

The estimated fair value attributed to patents represents only those patents from which Biogen, Inc.
derives cash flows through contractual third-party out-licensing activity and not patents related to Biogen,
Inc.’s current product portfolio or in-process research projects. The estimated fair value was determined based
on a discounted forecast of the estimated net future cash flows to be generated from the patents. The
estimated fair value attributed to patents is being amortized over 12 years, which is the estimated period over
which cash flows will be generated from the patents.

The amount allocated to in-process research and development, or [IPR&D, represents an estimate of the
fair value of purchased in-process technology for research projects that, as of the date of the Merger, had not
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reached technological feasibility and have no alternative future use. Only those research projects that had
advanced to a stage of development where management believed reasonable net future cash flow forecasts
could be-prepared and a reasonable likelihood of technical success existed were included in the estimated fair
value. As‘of the date of the ‘Merger, the IPR&D primarily represented the estimated fair value of TYSABRI,
which is currently in Phase III development for Crohn’s disease, and was approved by the FDA in November
2004 for MS. In February 2005, we suspended the marketing and commercial distribution of TYSABRI, and
suspended dosing of TYSABRI in clinical trials. See *Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies — Overview” for a.discussion on the TYSABRI suspension. The estimated fair value of the IPR&D
was determined ‘based on a discounted forecast of the estimated net future cash flows for each project,
adjusted for the estimated probability of technical success and FDA approval for each research project.
IPR&D was expensed immediately following consummation of the Merger.

Pro fomlna‘ resultsjof operations ( unaudited)

LY

The following ‘unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of the historical consolidated
statements of income of IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Biogen, Inc. for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 and 2002, giving effect to the merger as if it occurred on J anuary 1, 2002 and 2003 (in thousands,
except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

o 2003 2002
Product sales. e e e e e $1,228,493  $1,048,068
Totalrevenue..........................,..............., ..... 1,853,233 . 1,552,586
NEt10SS . . o viee e e e el e L (243929)  (168,476)
Pro forrha ejarnings (loss) per share: ‘ ‘
BASIC e it e . I (0.75) (0.52)
CDHIBEEd s (075)  (0.52)

The' pro ‘forjrri‘a net income (loss) and income (loss) per share for the periods presented exclude the
acquired IPR&D charge of $823.0 million. Amortization of the acquired intangibles is included on a straight-
line basis! This unaudited pro forma information does not purport to indicate the results that would have
actually been obtained had.the Merger been completed on the assumed date or for the period presented, or
which may be realized in the future. To produce the pro forma financial information, Biogen Idec allocated
the purchase, price.using its best estimates of fair value. These estimates are based on the information that was
available at the purchase date.

3. Fmanclal Instruments

Fmanmal mstruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk are accounts receivable
and marketable securities. Wholesale distributors and' large pharmaceutical companies account for the
majority of our accounts receivable and collateral is generally not required. We also. sell ZEVALIN to
radlopharmameS throughout the U.S,, and collateral is generally not required. To mitigate the risk, we monitor
the financial performance and credit worthiness of our customers. We invest our excess cash balances in
marketable debt securities, primarily U.S. government securities and corporate bonds and notes, with strong
credit ratlngs We limit the amount of investment exposure as to institution, maturity and investment type.

The average matunty of our marketable securities as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 was 20 months and
16 months, respectlvely Proceeds from maturities and other sales of marketable securities, which were
primarily remvested for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 were approximately $3.2 billion,
$1.1 bllhon and $841 0 million, respectively. Realized losses on these sales for the years ended December 31,
2004,.2003, and 2002 were $4.1 million, $2.1 million, and $2.8 million, respectively.
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The following is a summary of marketable securities:

Gross Gross

Unrealized  Unrealized Amortized
Fair Value Gains Losses Cost
(In thousands)
December 31, 2004:
Corporate debt securities
CUITERL - oot e e et ii it $ 436719 § 2 $ (405) $ 437,122
NONCUITENT &+ v vttt it i i ie e iee e 619,454 90 (3,793) 623,157
U.S. Government securities
CUITERL .\ vttt it e et 411,776 8 (203) 411,971
NONCUITENL © v vttt i it ie e eeens 490,170 333 (4,657) 494,494
Total securities available-for-sale ....... $1,958,119 $ 433 $(9,058) $1,966,744
Other marketable securities, noncurrent .. ... $ 29,434 $7,369 $ — § 22065
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Amortized
Fair Value Gains Losses Cost
(In thousands)
December 31, 2003:
Foreign debt
CCUITENT & o vttt $ 10,102 $ 30 $ — § 10,072
Corporate debt securities
L3 1) vy -} ¢} S 347,865 883 (9) 346,991
‘Noncurrent ....coovvviiiiniiiiiian 768,840 3,280 (520) 766,080
~ U.S. Government securities ‘
CUCUITENE .« vttt 163,142 733 (4) 162,413
Nonecurrent .......0. .ot 733,487 2,680 (511) 731,318
Total securities available-for-sale ....... $2,023,436 $7,606 $(1,044) $2,016,874
Other marketable securities, noncurrent ..... $ 27,115 $ 138 $(2,789) § 29,766

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of securities available-for-sale at December 31, 2004 by
contractual maturity are as follows:

Amortized Cost

Estimated Fair Value

Due in one year of 168 . ... ...o.oveeenreraneenannns. $ 849,093 $ 848,495
Due afterone year ...ttt 1,117,651 1,109,624
' $1,966,744 $1,958,119
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Urlreali.zed losses for which other-than-temporary losses have not been recognized at December 31, 2004
consist of the following (in thousands): ‘
: Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total

e 4 ) ’ . - Fair _ Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
F e T : Value Losses - Value - Losses: Value Losses
Corporate debt securmes ...... ' $ 865,097 $(3,796) $ 57,097 $(402) $ 922,194 $(4,198)

US, Government securities. . 672,839 . .(4,393) 111,560  (467) 784,399  (4,860)
2 o $1,537, 936 $(8, ‘189) $168,657 $(869) $1,706,593 $(9,058)

- e

Unreahzed losses relate to various debt securities, including U.S. government issues, corporate bonds and
asset-backed securities. The unrealized losses on these securities were primarily caused by higher interest
rates, and! represent less than 1% of the total fair value of the portfolio. We believe these unrealized losses are
not other-than- -temporary, and have the intent and ability to hold these securities with unrealized losses to
maturity ‘or to recovery. In'2004, we recognized a charge of approximately.$5.7 million for certain unrealized
losses.on available-for-sale securities that were determined to be other-than-temporary, because we beheve
the securities. will be sold prior to a potential recovery of their decline:in value

We have forergn currency forward contracts to hedge specific forecasted transactions denominated in
foreign currencies. All foreign currency forward contracts have durations of minety days to 12 months. These
contracts. have been. designated as cash flow hedges and accordingly, to the extent effective, any unrealized
gains or lesses on.these. foreign currency forward contracts are reported. in other comprehensive .income.
Realized igains and losses for the effective portion are recognized with the underlying hedge transaction. We
a85€8S hedge 1neﬁectrveness on a quarterly basis and record the gain or loss related to the ineffective portion to
current earnings to the extent significant. If we determine that a forecasted. transaction is no longer probable of
occurring, we discontinue hedge accounting for:the affected portion of the hedge instrument and any related
unrealized gain or 'loss on the contract is recognized in current earnings. The notional settlement amount of
the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding at December 31, 2004 was approximately $164.3 million.
These contracts’ hadia fair value of $18.1 million, representing an- unreahzed loss, and were included in other
current liabilities at December- 31, 2004. The notional settlement amount of the foreign currency forward
contracts outstandmg at -December 31, 2003 was approximately $109.4 million. These contracts had a fair
value of $5.9! million, representing an unrealized loss, and were included in other current habrlmes at
December 31, 2003. . . - . .

In 2004, approximately $O 9 million of losses were recogmzed in earnings due to hedge 1netfect1veness
We recognized,$5.5 million of losses in product.revenue and $0.5 million of losses in royalty revenue for the
settlement. of certam effective cash flow hedge instruments.at December 31, 2004. These settlements were
recorded in the same period as the related forecasted transactions affecting eamings We expect approximately
$18.1 rmlhon of unrealized losses at December 31, 2004 to affect earnings in 2005 related to our foreign
currency forward contracts. .

In 2003, there were no losses recognized in earnings due to hedge meffectweness or as a result of the
discontinuance “of .cash: ﬂow hedges upon determining that it was no-longer probable that the original
forecasted transactron would occur. We recognized $1.3 million of losses.in product revenue and $0.5 million
of losses in royalty revenue for the settlement of certain effective cash flow hedge instruments at December 31,
2003. These settlements were recorded in the same penod as the related forecasted transactions affecting
earnings.. .. 't IR 1 ’ ‘

We' had‘ no forward currency forward contracts dunng 2002.

’ [

(K
" L
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4. Notes Payable

In Apri} and May 2002, we issued 30-year senior convertible promissory notes, or senior notes, for gross
proceeds of approximately $714.4 million, or $696.0 million net of underwriting commissions and expenses of
$18.4 million. Simultaneously with the issuance of the senior notes, we used a portion of the proceeds to fund
the repurchase of $135 million of our outstanding common stock. The senior notes are zero coupon and were
priced with a yield to maturity of 1.75% annually. We will pay contingent cash interest to the holders of these
senior notes during any nine-month period commencing on or after April 30, 2007 if the average market price
of the senior notes for a five-trading-day measurement period preceding such nine-month period equals 120%
or more of the sum of the issue price and accrued original issue discount for such senior note. The contingent
interest payable per senior note with respect to any quarterly period within such nine-month period where
contingent interest is determined to be payable will equal the greater of (1) the amount of regular cash
dividends paid by us per share on our common stock during that quarterly period multiplied by the then
applicable conversion rate or (2) 0.0625% of the average market price of a senior note for the five-trading-day
measurement period preceding such nine-month period, provided that if we do not pay regular cash dividends
during a semiannual period, we will pay contingent interest semiannually at a rate of 0.125% of the average
market price of a senior note for the five-trading-day measurement period immediately preceding such nine-
month period.

Upon maturity, the senior notes will have an aggregate principal face value of §1.2 billion. Each $1,000
aggregate principal face value senior note is convertible at the holder’s option at any time through maturity
into 7.1881 shares of our common stock at an initial conversion price of $82.49, resulting in total potential
common shares to be issued upon conversion of 8.7 million shares. In addition, holders of the senior notes may
require us to purchase all or a portion of the senior notes on April 29, 2005, 2007, 2012 and 2017 at a price
equal to the issue price plus the accrued original issue discount to the date of purchase, payable in cash. We
expect that on April 29, 2003, holders of the senior notes will require us to purchase all or a portion of the
senior notes which could result in a cash outflow of approximately $809 million. This outflow includes
payments of the aggregate purchase price of the notes of approximately $753 million plus the payment of tax
for which deferred tax liabilities have been previously established related to additional deductible interest
expense. As a result, these senior notes are included in notes payable under current liabilities in our
consolidated balance sheets. In addition, if a change in control in our company occurs on or before April 29,
2007, holders may require us to purchase all or a portion of their senior notes for cash. We have the right to
redeem, at a price equal to the issue price plus the accrued original issue discount to the date of redemption,
all or a portion of the senior notes for cash at any time on or after April 29, 2007.

In February 1999, we raised through the issuance of our subordinated notes, approximately $112.7 mil-
lion, net of underwriting commissions and expenses of $3.9 million. The subordinated notes were priced with a
yield to maturity of 5.5% annually. Upon maturity, the subordinated notes issued in February 1999 had an
aggregate principal face value of $345.0 million. As of December 31, 2004, our remaining indebtedness under
the subordinated notes was approximately $219.2 million at maturity, due to conversion of subordinated notes
into common stock. .

Each $1,000 aggregate principal face value subordinated note is convertible at the holders’ option at any
time through maturity into 40.404 shares of our common stock at an initial conversion price of $8.36 per share.
Additionally, the holders of the subordinated notes may require us to purchase the subordinated notes on
February 16, 2009 or 2014 at a price equal to the issue price plus the accrued original issue discount to the
date of purchase, with us having the option to repay the subordinated notes plus accrued original issue
discount in cash, common stock or a combination of cash and stock. We have the right to redeem at a price
equal to the issue price plus the accrued original issue discount to the date of redemption all or a portion of the
subordinated notes for cash at any time. During 2004, holders of subordinated notes with a face value of
approximately $125.7 million elected to convert their subordinated notes to approximately 5.1 million shares
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of our common stock To date, in the first quarter of 2005, holders of subordlnated notes.with a face value of

apprommately. 318. L mllhon elected to convert their subordinated notes to approximately 0.7 million shares of
our common, stock o :

No‘tes‘_ payable vat;\l)c‘,cernber 31, consists of the following: -

T = | 2004 _ 2003
S 1"11 P ‘ o o o (In thousands)
Currcnt l1ab111t1es - A ;
30-year semor convemble promlssory notes due 2032 at 1.75% ....... $748,430 §$ —
o 1l | ‘ RN Lo :, i ;)- T " $748,430 ‘.$ —

Long term l1ab111t1es Co . t
20-year subo “1nated convemble promissory notes due 2019 at 5. 5% $101,879  $151,772
30 year semor convemble promxssory notes, due 2032 at 1.75% ....... — 735,498

$101,879  §887,270

[
i

5 Consohdated Balance Sheets Detalls

Property and equl‘pinLent y . e S :
T T DR S T S :‘,"l‘ T ' . December 31,
T e T AT R I L I 2004 __2003
S g;}l,; AT R I TS S e (In thousands) _
.Land y: L O PP e 80127, 411 $ 90,282
A Bu1ld1ngs R e 476,615 305,326
Leasehold 1rnprovements ................ e AP, e 58,945 . 57,907
Fumlture and ﬁxtures e e . e e 36,348 ' 15,808
Machmery and equ1pment T A PSP SR U 546,101 401,642
Constructlon in 'progress ......iuh. ... Ve oot e 436,750 450,122
Total cost . . ;.' el L L 682170 1,321,087
Less accumulated deprecxatlon e R e T 156,945 68,304
;;‘,A_nr.,t S N ST $1,525225  $1,252, 783‘

Depremahon expense was. $920 m1ll1on $267 mllhon and $102 mxlhon for 2004, 2003 and 2002
respectwely l;‘“f‘.‘m dpe L C . o

Durlng 2004 and 2003 we capitalized to construction in progress approximately $8.8 million and
$6.8 million, respectxvely, of interest costs primarily related to the development of our West Coast
headquartcrs and research and development campus in San Dlego Cilifornia and our large-scale manufactur-
ing. facnhty 1n‘Oceans1de, Cal1forn1a
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Accrued expenses and other: e S N . ‘
R . C " December 31,

2004 . 2003
o . ) . (In thousands)
Employee compensation and benefits ................... J $ 68,002 $ 55277
Royalties and licensing fees .............. it 45,201 42,074
Clinical development €Xpenses ...........ovveiiiiiinieeneeaann., 20,564 19,303
Construction costs .................. e - 21,888
Legal settlement costs . ........co.o.vvuuenn. PR . — 20,000
Unrealized losses on foreign currency contracts U 18,051 5,926
10 7411 P 95,984 75,662

$247.802  $240,130

6. Employee Benefit Plans
401(k) Employee Savings Plan

We maintain a 401 (k) Savings Plan, or 401 (k) Plan, an employee savings plan, available to substantially
all U.S. regular employees over the age of 21. Participants may make voluntary contributions. We make
matching contributions according to the 401 (k) Plan’s matching formula. The matching contributions vest
over four years of service by the employee. The Plan also provides for certain transition contributions on behalf
of participants who previously participated in the Biogen, Inc. Retirement Plan. Employer contributions for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 totaled $11.4 million, $2.4 million and $1.8 million,

respectively:

Deferred Compensation Plan

We maintain the Voluntary Executive Supplemental Savings Plan, a non-qualified deferred compensa-
tion plan that allows a select group of management and highly compensated U.S. employees to.defer a portion
of their compensation and that provides for certain company credits to participants’ accounts. The deferred
compensation amounts are accrued when earned but are unfunded. Such deferred compensation is distributa-
ble in cash in accordance with the Plan. Deferred compensation amounts under such plan at December 31,
2004 and 2003, totaled approximately $33.4 million and $17.6 million, respectively, and is included in other
long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Participant contributions are immedi-
ately 100% vested. Certain employer credits ito participants’ accounts are subject to vesting schedules.
Distributions to participants can be either in a one lump sum payment or annual installments as elected by the
participants.

}

"Retiree Medtcal Plan

I

We have had a program since 2003, prior to the Merger in which we provrde medical plan beneﬁts to
former IDEC retirees under 65. In 2004, former Biogen retirees began participation in this plan. Qur
obligation is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis and there are no plan assets Our liability at December 31, 2004
related to this program was approximately $2.4 million.

Pension

In connection with the Merger, we assumed Biogen, Inc’s Retirement Plan, a tax-qualified defined
benefit pension plan. Prior to November 13, 2003, we did not have a pension plan. Prior to the Merger, the

F-26




| BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
" 'NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Reti,ren‘)ent“ Plan covered substantially.all of Biogen, Inc.’s regular U.S. employees and provided compensation
credits and intefest credits- to participants’ Retirement Plan accounts using a cash balance method.

We also assumed Biogen, Inc.’s unfunded Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, or SERP, which
covered a select group of htghly compensated U.S. employees. The plans are noncontributory. The Retirement
Plan’s beneﬁt formula was based on employee earnings and age. The SERP provided benefits for covered:
executives in excess of those permitted under the tax-qualified Rétirement Plan. Biogen, Inc.’s funding policy -
for the ‘plans has been to contribute amounts deductible for federal income tax purposes. Funds contributed to
the plans have been invested in fixed income and equity. securities. At October 31, 2003, Biogen, Inc. ceased
allowing new partlclpants into the plans. Effective December 31, 2003 we amended the Plan so that no further
benefits would accrue to participants.

We‘credl‘ted panlclpants cash balance accounts under the Retirement Plan for compensation and interest
carned through December: 31, 2003. After that date, no further compensation credits will be made, but interest
credits will.be made until Retirement Plan benefits have been distributed to participants.

We 'cfedited""f)‘articipants’ accounts under the SERP for compensation and interest earned through
December 31, 2003. No further compensation credits will be made, but interest ered1ts will be made until
SERP is termmated ‘ N

In connectlon w1th the, termination of the Retirement Plan, we requested an Internal Revenue Service, or
IRS, rulmg that the Plans’ terminations did not adversely affect its tax-qualified status. During 2004, our
management decided to accelerate the payment and to pay out participants’ benefits as soon as administra-
tively possible. In December 2004, we began distributing to employees their respective Retirement Plan
_benefits. Part1c1pants had the following options with respect to the value of their Plan distribution: (a) to
receive an immediate, lump;sum payment which may be rolled over into the 401(k) Plan or other designated
qualified plan’ or 1nd1v1dual retirement account, or (b) to receive an annuity that would begin either
immediately or at a deferred date.

l

Dunng 2004 we incurred charges of approx1mately $2.1 mllhon related to transition benefits associated
with the plan. termmatlon and plan curtailment costs and additional premium costs related to the annuity
transfer of - approx1mate1y '$3.0 million, which are included in our results of operations for 2004. At
December 31, 2004 we had a liability of $14.1 million related to these plans, including $7.7 million for related
to transition beneﬁts associated with the Retxrement Plan-terminations. .

"The components of net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are
summarized below (table in thousands): RERERT:

Pension Benefit

o S A : 2004 2003
Servncecost.,,.;¥,";‘..‘...........‘.,.....,, ....... PR R ....... § — 8§51
Interest cost ... .. 3R O PO 2,479 332
Expected return on plan assets ........ e e e (1,955) (149)
Amortlzatlon of prior service cost......... P — —
Amortization of net actuarial loss ............... [P (40) —
Net pension BOSE 1 vt e S $ 484 3 694
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Reconciliations of prOJected benefit obhganons fair value of plan assets and the funded status of the plans
as of December 31, are presented below (table in thousands): '

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2004 2003 2004 2003
Change in projected benefit obligation
Net projected benefit obligation at December 31 ‘
and November 13,2003 ................ vee $(52,444) $(51,964) $ — 8 —
Service Cost. ... viiii i i — (511) (2,430) —
Interest cost . ................ e (2,478) (332) —_ =
Actuarial gain (10SS) ........covviiiiniinn... (2,212) 353 S
Transfers ... .o 12,408 — — —_—
Gross benefits paid. . ................. e 37,212 10 22 —
Net projected benefit obligation at the end of ‘ /
the year . ..., .o (7,514)  (52,444) (2,408) —
Change in'plan assets .
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the
VEAT ottt e 38,431 28,639 — —
Actual return on plan assets ................... 433 (202) — —
Employer contributions ............. ... . ... 11,032 10,004 = —
Transfers ... ..ot i e (12,408) . — — —
Gross benefits paid. .. ........ooooeeeeeeeo... (37212)  (10) — —
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 276 38,431 — —
Reconciliation of funded status _
Funded status at the end of the year............ (7,239) (14,013) (12,676) —
Unrecognized net actuarial gain................ - 796 (2) 2,689 —
Unrecognized prior service cost ................ — — 7,579 —

Net amount recognizéd at the end of the year.. § (6,443) $(14,015) $ (2,408) $ —

Weighted average assumptions at the end of the year
Discount rate ......... ... .c i, 5.56% - 5.68% 475% 6.25%

Expected return on plan assets................. 5.12% 5.63% — —
Rates of compensation increase ................ —_— — — —

As of December 31, 2004, the unfunded supplemental retirement plan has a projected benefit of
$4.8 million. At December 31, 2003, the unfunded supplemental retirement plan had a projected benefit of
$6.6 million.
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b
'

Amounts recogmzed in the statements of financial position consist of {in thousands):

R ;: ( _ " Pension Benefits Other Benefits

b ’ o 20047 2003 2004 2003
Prepald Beneﬁt Cost‘ e $ — 3 —_ 5 - 5
Accrued Benefit Cost ........... D e (7,239)  (14015)  (2,408) —
Intanglble ASSEtS .. e sl — — — _
Accumulated other comprehens1ve 1ncome ............ 796 — -
Net ‘A‘rnou‘nt RecOgmzed . ..ot $(6,443) $(14,015) $(2,408) $—

The aeeumulated}berieﬁt obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $7.5 million at December 31,
2004. The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $52.4 million at
December ‘3,1? 2003.

Assumptions |
The weightedLaverage assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for 2004 and the period
November 12, 2003 through December 31, 2003 were:

, ‘ ‘ 2004 2003
DlscountRate.'.,........................‘.............;....,., ............ 5.69% 5.63%

Expected long-term return on plan -assets ... . .. e e e 5.12% 5.00%
Rate of compensation increase .............. ... .. ..... DU F N/A N/A

Thei‘ expected return on assets was determined based on the average rate of earnings expected to be
earned reflecting the plan’s current allocation.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine pension benefit obligations were:
e e
December 31, December 31,

S . ) 2004 2003
Dlscount Rate.............oooiiii R o 5.56% 5.69%
Rate of compensatlon increase .......... e N/A N/A

Welghted-average assumptlons used to determine postretirement benefit obligation for the medical plan
NN

were:
- December 31, December 31,
' ) ‘ ‘ 2004 2003
Discount ‘Rate AN ...... e e e e ‘ 4.75% 6.25%
Health Care L el 9.00% 10.00%
Years to Ultlmate Trend Rate .....ooovvuneeenanennnnni cee 4.0 5.0

The dlscount rates used for the retiree medlcal plan were based on an average yield of bonds between the
10" to 90™ percentile in the six to eight year matunty group. A 1% decrease in the assumed health care trend
rate would have the effect of approximately $1.7 million on the postretirement benefit obligation, and
approximately $O 2 mﬂhon on the total service cost and interest:
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Plan Assets

The Bibgen Retirement Plan weighted-average asset allocations by asset category are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2004 2003

Equity securities ........... L — —

Debt SECUMIES . oottt i it e et e e e e —_— 11.9%

Real estate....... P P — —

Cash and cash equivalents. . ......... ... i, 100.0% 88.1%

Total. o e 100.0% 100.0%
Contributions

In January 2005, we made a contribution of $1.2 million to the Biogen Retirement Plan to cover the
remaining lump sum benefit payments. We do not expect to make any additional contributions to the Plan in

2005. :

Expected Benefit Payments

Benefit payments of approximately $1.8 million are expected to be paid out from the Retirement Plan
during 2005, which should complete the distribution of remaining benefit payments.

7. Other Income (Expense), Net

Total other income (expense), net consists of the following:

December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
Interest iNCOMe ... ... oo $ 57,225 $ 33610 $ 34,528
Interest expense. ...t (18,898)  (15,182)  (16,073)
Other eXpense . ......coviii i it (17,650)  (29,383) (809)
-Total other income (expense), met . ............cocovu.n. $ 20,677 $(10,955) $ 17,646

Other expense included the following:

December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Impairments of marketable securities ....................... $(18,482) § — $ —
Foreign exchange remeasurement gains e 5,353 1,319 —_
Loss on sale of marketable securities available-for-sale......... (4,090) — —
Gain on investments in executive deferred compensation plan. .. 1,029 — —
Donation to Biogen Idec Foundation........................ — . {10,000) —
Settlement of patent disputes ............. ... ., — (20,668) —
Miscellaneous . .. ...t e e (1,460) (34) (809)
Total otherexpense ......... ... i, $(17,650) $(29,383) $(809)
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In 2004, we recorded charges totaling $18:5 million to other expense when it was determined that certain
marketable secuntles were 1mpalred on an other-than-temporary basis.

In October 2002, Brogen Inc. established The Biogen Foundation, a private, U.S. based, non-profit
phllanthroprc organlzatlon In December 2002, Biogen, Inc. made a charitable contribution of $15.0 million to
fund the Biogen Foundation. As a result of the Merger, we changed the name of the foundation to The Biogen
Idec Foundatlon and, in December 2003 contributed an additional $10.0 million. The foundation is to operate
exclusrvely for the benefit of funding charitable, educational and scientific causes. Certain executive officers
and other. employees serve as directors and oﬁicers of the foundatron We classify charitable contributions to
other 1ncome (expense)

In December 2003, we recorded charges of $2.5 million and,$18.2 million to other expense related to the
final settlement of ppatent infringement disputes with Apoxis S.A. and Corixa Corporation, respectively.

8. Income Taxes I

The components of i 1ncome (loss) before income taxes (benefit) and of income tax expense (benefit) for

each of the three years ended December 31 are as follows:

f , : 2004 - 2003 2002

. (In thousands) . - .-

Income (loss) before income taxes (benefit): : ‘ » ‘
Domestlc et e e $ 108,298  $(846,711) $231,522
Forelgn ....... i e (44,205) (33,913) —

LT g 64093 $(880624) $231522

Income ‘taxt‘e)‘ipense (benefit):

Current . : t
 Federal................ e PR S $151,552  $ 15075 $ 65,653
CState L e 17,648 6,872 14,414
Foreign......l...... PR R 5,360 192 —
S $ 174,560 $ 22,139 § 80,067
Deferred “13?" . o '

--Federal | /7. ... D L $(121,343) $ (31,988) $ 6,195
State A S (14,210 4,322 (2,830)
| :’ . © (135553)  (27,666) 3,365
" Total income tax expense (benefit) .................... $ 39007 $ (5527) $ 83432

: ey . . I Lot . ' . . ' '
Cor R ce . . L .. .o
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Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following at December 31:

2004 2003

. ) (In thousands)
Tax credits ................. e e $ 103,651 $§ 86,263
Net operating loss carryforwards ... .. e e e : - 1,439
Inventory and other reserves. . .. .. S P 26,343 21,656
Capitalized COStS ..ot e 42,774 49,013
TRtangibles, NEt. . ... oo vt et 13,688 2,414
OtheT . . o e 17,184 1,756
Unrealized loss on investments and cumulative translation '

AdJUSTMENt . ...t e 6,101 —
Deferred tax asSetS. . o v v vt e et e $ 209,741 $ 162,541
Fair value adjustment ....... AP . $ (867,907) §(1,055,358)
Interest expense on notes payable ............ e P (54,951) (31,776)
Depreciation, amortization and other. .......................... (121,774) (45,844)
Unrealized gain on investments and cumulative translation

AdjUSTIMENE .. .ot —_— . (13,936)
Deferred tax liabilities . .. ... PP $(1,044,632) $(1,146,914)

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate for the periods ending
December 31 is as follows:

2004 2003 2002
SHATULOTY TALE . . o ottt ettt et e e 35.00% 35.00% 35.00%
Inprocess R&D ... i e —  (32.71) —
S HATE TAKES .« . o ettt e e 275 (0.83) 3.20
Change in valuation allowance .......... ... ... i, — —  (0.80)
FOreign taXes .. oot ve et e e e e (49.36) 1.28 —
Credits and net operating loss utilization ......................... (8.98) 0.71 . (1.60)
Fair value step-up.................. e N 74.81 (2.74) —
Non-deductible items .. ....... .. 4.54 — —
O heT e e e e 2.10 (0.08) 0.20
EfTECHVE 1AX FALE .+« v v v vt e e et e et e 60.86%  0.63% 36.00%

At December 31, 2004, we had general business credit carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of
approximately $88 million, which expire from 2020 through 2024. Additionally, for state income tax purposes,
we had research credit carryforwards of approximately $23 million that have no prescribed expiration period.

In assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets, we have considered whether it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred
tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those
temporary differences become deductible. In making this determination, under the applicable financial
reporting standards, we are allowed to consider the scheduled reversal of ‘deferred tax liabilities, projected
future taxable income, and tax planning strategies. Our estimates of future taxable income takes into
consideration, among other items, our estimates of future income tax deductions related to the exercise of
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stock optrons Based upon the level of historical taxable income and income tax liability and projections for
future, taxable 1nc0me over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are utilizable, we believe it is more
likely than ot that we ‘will realize the benefits of our entire deferred tax assets. In the event that actual results
differ from: our estimates or we adjust our estimates in/future periods, we may need to establish a valuation
allowance whrch could: ‘aterially . 1mpact our financial posrtron and results of operatrons

As of December 31 2004, und1str1buted foreign earnrngs of non- U S subsidiaries included in consoli-
dated. retamed earmngs aggregated $624.4 million, exclusive of earnings that would result in little or no net
income tax expense; under current U.S. tax law. We intend to reinvest these earnings indefinitely in operations
outsrde the!U.S. It'is not practicable to estimate the amount of addltlonal tax that might be payable if such
eanungs were remltted to the U.S. ‘ .

On October 22 2004 the Amencan Jobs Creation Act of 2004, or the Act, was srgned into law. The Act
creates a temporary 1ncent1ve for U.S. multmatronals to repatriate. accumulated income earned outside the
uUs. at an eﬁ”ectrve tax rate that could be as low as 5.25%. On Decembet 21,2004, the FASB issued FASB
staff posmon 1092, “Accountmg and Disclosure Guidance for-the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision
within the Arnerrcan Jobs Creation Act of 2004” or ESP 109-2. FSP 109-2 allows companies additional time
to evaluate the eﬁ"ect of the law on whether unrepatriated foreign earnings continue to qualify for SFAS 109’s
exceptron to recogmzmg deferred tax liabilities.and require explanatory disclosures from those who need the
addltlonal ‘time. Through December 31, 2004, we have not recognized deferred taxes on foreign earnings
because such earnings were, and continue to be, indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. Whether we will
ult1mately take advantage of the above temporary tax incentive depends on a number of factors including
reviewing future Congressional or other Governmiental guidance with respect to certain aspects of the new
legislation’ that' requ1re clarification before an informed decision can be made. Until such clarification is
received, we, will ‘continue our plan and intention to indefinitely reinvest accumulated earnings of its foreign
subsidiaries. If we decide to avail ourselves of this temporary incentive, up to $500, million could be repatriated
under the Act, and we could incur a. one-time tax charge to our consolidated results of operations of up to
approxrmately $32 million.

Another 1mp0rtant prov151on of the Act relates to the deductron for domestic manufacturmg In principle,
this should provrde a favorable impact on future cash taxes and on our effective tax rate. Biogen Idec is still in

the process of evaluaung this provision and has not quantlﬁed the impact on its effective rate.
Sl NS

.

9, -Researcll Collaborations and Strategicanestments

. In ‘co‘nnection with our research and development efforts, we have entered into various collaboration
arrangements which provide us with rights to develop, produce and market products using certain know-how,
technology: and ‘patent rights maintained by the parties. Terms.of the various license agreements may require
us to make milestone payments upon the achievement of certain product development objectives and pay
royaltres on future sales if any, of commercral products resultmg from the collaboration.

In October 12004, ‘we entered 1nto a development and hcense agreement w1th ImmunoGen, Inc., or
IrnmunoGen, for a worldwide, exclusive license to. develop and commercialize anticancer therapeutics that
comprise’ an' antrbody that we have developed to an, undisclosed tumor cell target and ImmunoGen’s
proprietary Tumor-Actlvated Prodrug (TAP). technology, As part of the agreement, we paid ImmunoGen an

upfront fee. of $1.0 million, which was recorded as a research and development expense. Upon the
ach1evement of ‘certain predetermined milestones, we would be required to pay ImmunoGen up to a total of
$42.0. million plus royalties over the life of the agreement, ImmunoGen will also receive compensation from us
" for productndevelopment research done. on its behalf, as'well as for the productron of preclinical and initial

clinical matenals Lo o =

RERE t

"o
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In August 2004, we entered into a collaborative agreement with Sunesis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or
* Sunesis, to discover and develop small molecule cancer therapeutics targeting primarily kinases. Under the
agreement, we acquired exclusive licenses to develop and commercialize certain compounds resulting from the
collaboration. Upon signing the agreement, we paid Sunesis a non-refundable upfront license fee of
$7.0 million, which was recorded in research and development expenses in the third quarter of 2004. Under
the terms of this agreement, we purchased approximately 2.9 million shares of preferred stock of Sunesis for
$14.0 million, the fair value of the shares. In December 2002, Biogen, Inc. entered into a collaboration
agreement with Sunesis related to thé discovery and development of oral therapeutics for the treatment of
inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Under the terms of this agreement, we purchased 1.25 million shares
of preferred stock of Sunesis for $6.0 million, the fair value of the shares. We acquired certain exclusive
licenses to develop and commercialize certain compounds resulting from the collaboration. Our investments in
Sunesis are included in investments and other assets. We account for our investments in Sunesis using the cost
method of accounting, subject to periodic review of impairment. Under the terms of the December 2002
agreement, we will pay Sunesis a quarterly license maintenance fee of $357,500 during the period January 1,
2005 through July 1, 2005. Additionally, we have a Credit Facility Agreement with Sunesis under which we
are obligated to loan Sunesis up to $4.0 million. At December 31, 2004, there is $3.2 million of borrowings
outstanding. We have committed to paying Sunesis additional amounts upon the completion of certain future
research milestones and first and sécond indication development milestones. If all the milestones were to be
achieved in both agreements, we would be requlred to pay up to an additional $121.0 million over the life of
the agreements excluding royalties. ‘

In July 2004, we and Elan entered into a patent license agreement with Genentech for a non-exclusive
license to certain Genentech patents related to the manufacture of licensed products, including TYSABRI. As
a part of the agreement, we and Elan paid a $1.0 million license grant fee upon execution of the agreement,
which was charged to research and development expenses, and each will pay an additional $1.0 million on the
first anniversary of the agreement. In addition, we and Elan each have to pay a development milestone fee of
$2.5 million related to the approval of TYSABRI by the FDA in November 2004, half of which was paid in
2004 upon approval of TYSABRI and half of which is payable on the anniversary of such approval. At
December 31, 2004, our $2.5 million total milestone fee is included in intangible assets, net on the
consolidated balance sheets, and is being amortized to cost of product revenues over the life of the patent. The
agreement also requires that we or Elan pay royalties on net sales of TYSABRI and other licensed products.

In June 2004, we entered into a collaborative research and development agreement with Vernalis plc, or
Vernalis, aimed at advancing research into Vernalis’ adenosine A2A receptor antagonist program, which
targets Parkinson’s disease and other central nervous system disorders. Under the agreement, we receive
exclusive worldwide rights to develop and commetcialize Vernalis’ lead compound, V2006. We paid Vernalis
an initial license fee of $10.0 million in July 2004, which was recorded in research and development expenses
in the second quarter of 2004. Terms of the collaborative agreement may require us to make milestone
payments upon the achievement of certain program objectives and pay royalties on future sales, if any, of
commercial products resulting from the collaboration.- We made an immediate investment of $5.5 million
through subscription for approximately 6.2 million new Vernalis common shares, representing 4.19 percent of
Vernalis’ post-financing issued share capital, and committed to purchase an additional $4.0 million in the
event of future Vernalis financing. Our investment in Vernalis is included in investments and other assets. We
account for our investment in Vernalis using the cost method of accounting, subject to periodic review of
impairment. Excluding royalties, total potential payments to Vernalis could exceed $100.0 million. -

In June 2004, we entered into a license agreement with BioWa, Inc., or BioWa, for a worldwide, non-
exclusive license for research purposes and a worldwide, exclusive license for development and commercializa-
tion purposes to certain BioWa intellectual property rights related to monoclonal antibodies. As part of the
agreement, we have committed to paying BioWa certain amounts upon the achievement of certain research
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and clqucalrn;lestones I {&ﬂl the milestones were to be aéhieved, we would be required to pay BioWa a total of
$18.8. fnill‘iqn, plus Toyalties: over the life of the agreement. - IS R '

~In ;:;Ma,y,é‘2004;iv;'\jvéﬂ entéred into a limited partnership’ agre’eniérft’f as a limited partner with MPM
Bioventures 11T GP,LP, to create MPM Bjoventures Strategic Fund, LP,or the Strategic Fund. The purpose
of the Strategic Fund is to make, manage, and supervise investments in biotechnology companies with novel
products 1j«f:Sf;j"iﬁch:n‘blbgié:"s that fit strafegically with Biogen: Idec. The' Strategic Fund takes only minority
A positior‘i‘s‘in]‘:t:l.‘l;e equity of its investments, and does not seek to ‘engage in day-to-ddy management of the
ent_i_ti‘evs‘fWg have committed $65.0'million to the Strategic Fund over a three-year period. During 2004, we
contributed $5.5 rhillion to the Strategic Fund. . - . | S . :
CIn ‘April “2004,‘?':’,We.‘bec‘am¢ a vl'im.i,‘\ted partner in MPM Bi‘dVehti;fés III-QP, LP, or the LP, a limited
partxieféhjb ‘that :iril";\(‘ést‘sg in’entities 't‘ﬁ?iare engaged in the res‘éal‘"éh,“development, manufacture, marketing
and7or salé.of novel biological products or technologies. We have committed to contribute $4.0 million to the
limited: partnership. Through December-31, 2004, we have contributed $1.8 million into the LP, which' is
included in i;ivcstfl?éﬁts and other assets in"dlir ¢onsolidated balance sheets. P ‘
-I'n‘:-‘Septgmber};QOO.3’,”Biogen, Inc. entered into a license agreement with F umapharm AG, or Fumapharm,
under 'Wh‘ii:h;:Biogén,;,In‘c‘.;;obtained exclusive  rights to develop and market a second-generation fumarate
derivative with an immiinémodulatory mechanism of action, currently in clinical trials in Europe. Under the
terms of thisiagreement; we obtained an exclusive worldwide marketing and distribution' license for psoriasis,
and a production,and exclusive marketing and distribution; license-for the entire world for MS. During 2004,
we made -p‘aymen“cs'jztotaljihg $4.2 million to Fumapharm for the achievement of certain milestones, which were
expeﬁséd to research and development expense. We have committed to paying Fumapharm additional
amounts ;'ip_dni:théf‘completion of certain future research milestones and first and second indication develop-
ment nilestones. | If all the ‘milestones were to be achieved, we would be required to pay up to an additional
20 million’ wass francs plus royalties-over the remaining life of the agreement. L ’
AR R T IR T T R L R Co .
ﬁ ‘Ijn;Ailgli's‘t; 2003, 'Biogen, Inc. entered into_a collaboration agreement with Vetter Pharma-Fertigung
GmbH' & Co! KG, or! Vetter, for the fill-finish of Biogen Idec products. Under the terms of this agreement,
Biogen;’ Inc.i paid.arpartial _édvance payment to Vetter of.35 million. Euros in return for reserving certain
capacity at Vetter’s fill-finish facility. As of December 31, 2004, we have made payments totaling $22.7 mil--
“lion to.V etter: for the’achievement of certain milestones achieved under the terms of our supply agreement for
reserving certain capacity at Vetter’s fill-finish facility. These payments are recorded in investments and other
assets on our consolidated balance sheets. The, asset will be amortized to cost of product revenues over the
uni-t»sﬁji)r“bdd‘céd,‘upon;adeli\{ery to Biogen-Idec. We have total potential milestone payments of approximately
16.0-million euros remaining as part of ‘the agreement. - . S .
R T A . .

-~ In September 2001, we eritered ihi9 a collaborative developinent agreement with Mitsubishi Pharma to
suppb;ft"jglypiéal dfevf‘qloprfr'jen¥_of anti-CD80 (anti-B7.1) antibody products’ developed using our Primatized®
antibody technology. Under the térms of an existing license agreement with Mitsubishi Pharma, entered into
in November 1993, Mitsubishi Pharmahad an exclusive license in Asia to develop and commercialize anti-
CD80 (anti-B7:1) antibody products. These agreements were terminated in,December 2003. As a result of the
tc;miné;ibn.df thqsg:agreemgnts, we have no continuing financial o_bligatié)ns under these agreements. During
2003°and 2002, we récognized revenues from these agreements of $1.5 million and $1.4 million, respectively,
whichi are! included 'in corporate partner revenues. Under these agreements, amounts earned by us and
recognized'as' reventie* for contract research and developrhent approximatéd the research and development
éXpef;(se.sTfin‘giurréd gnder the related agreement. o Lo '

~ In Aﬁgust*20001"Biogen, Inc. entered into a developxﬁent and marl{e‘t’in‘g collaboration ‘agreement with
Elan ‘t‘q,cql‘laborat‘e‘ in' the .development; manufacture and .commercialization of TYSABRI. In November
2004, we received apﬁroval by the FDA to market TYSABRI as a treatment for relapsing forms of MS to
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reduce frequency of clinical relapses. We are also developing TYSABRI as a potential treatment for Crohn’s
disease and RA. In February 2005, we and Elan voluntarily suspended the marketing and. commercial
distribution of TYSABRI and suspended dosing in clinical trials of TYSABRI. Under the terms of this
agreement we share costs with Elan for on-going development activities. As of December 31, 2004, Elan owed
us $34.4 million, representing commercialization and development expenses that we incurred, which is
included in other current assets on'the consolidated balance ‘sheets We réceived the entire $34 4 mrlhon from
Elan in the first quarter of 2005 related to the recervable

In June 1999, we entered into a collaboratron and license agreement with Schering AG, or Scherrng,
aimed at the development and commercialization of ZEVALIN. Under the terms of the agreement, we may
receive milestone and research and development support payments totaling up to $47.5 million, subject to the
attainment of product development objectives. Schering received exclugive .marketing and distribution rights
to ZEVALIN outside the U.S., and we will continue to receive royaltles on product sales by Schering. Under
the terms of a separate supply agreement, we are obligated to meet Scherrngs clinical and commercial
requirements for ZEVALIN. Schering may terminate these agreements for any reason. During 2004, 2003
and 2002, we recognized revenues from our agreements with Schering of $10.0 million, $0.2 million and
$0.3 million, respectively, which are included in corporate partner revenues. In the first quarter of 2004, we
received a $10.0 million payment from Schering for the EMEA. grant of marketing approval of ZEVALIN'in
the EU. The payment represented, in part, a milestone payment to compensate us for preparing, generating,
and collecting data that was critical to the EMEA marketing approval process, to which we have no continuing
involvement; Under' the above agreement, amounts earned by us:and recognized as revenue for contract
research and development appr0x1mate the research and development expenses incurred under the related
agreement S

. In December 1994, we entered into a collaborative development agreement and a license agreement with
Seikagaku Corporation, or Seikagaku, aimed .at the development and. commercialization of an anti:CD23
antibody using Primatized antibody technology. During 2003 and 2002, we recognized revenues from our
agreement with Seikagaku of $0.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively, which are included in corporate
partner revenues. Although this agreement was terminated effective January 17, 2004, we have certain
continuing obligations under thé'agreement that we expect to fulfill in the first half of 2005 and for which we
“would receive revenue from Seikagaku. Under the above agreement, amounts earfied by us and recognized as
revenue for contract research and development approxunate the research and development expenses 1ncurred ‘
under the related agreement. : .

As part of previous agreements that Biogen, Inc. had with Targeted Genetics Corporation; or Targeted,
for gene therapy research and development, we own approximately 12.1 million shares of Targeted common
stock with a fair value of $18.8 million, which is included in investments and other assets. In the third quarter
of 2004, we recognized a $12.7 million charge for the impairment of our Targeted investment that was
determmed to be other than temporary We have no remaining commrtments or obhgatlons with Targeted

10. Unconsolidated rJoint Business Arrangement

In June 2003 we amended and restated our collaboratron agréement with Genentech to 1nclude the
development and commercialization of one or more antr-CD20 antibodies targeting B-cell drsorders in
addition to RITUXAN, for a broad range of indications. The original collaboration agreement was entered
into in 1995 for the clinical development and commercialization of RITUXAN Under the terms of the
amended and restated agreement, we continue to receive a share of the pretax operating profits in the
U.S. from RITUXAN -and will share in the pretax operating profits or losses in the U.S. relating to any new
products developed under the agreement. In connection with the agreement; in 2003, we pard Genentech
$20.0 million which we recorded: as research and development expense.
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We copromote RITUXAN with- Genentech ‘and share responsibility with Genentech for continued
development of RITUXAN, in the U. S. Such continued development includes conducting supportive research
and post- approval clinical studies and seeking potential approval for additional indications. Genentech

providés the support functlons for the’commercialization of RITUXAN in the U.S., including marketing,
" customer service, order entry, distribution, shipping and billing, as well as fulfilling all worldwide manufactur-
ing responsibilitics, We share responsibility with Genentech for development in the U.S. of any new products
developed under the agreement, and we will also copromote with Genentech any such new products in the
UsS.. :

The amended and restated collaboration agreement provrdes that upon the occurrence of a Biogen Idec
change-in-control as described in the agreement, Genentech may present an offer to us to purchase our rights
to RITUXAN We must then accept Genentech’s offer or purchase Genentech’s rights to RITUXAN for an
amount proportloned (using the profit sharing ratio between us) to Genentech s offer. If Genentech presents
such an-offer in such a situation, then Genentech will be deemed concurréntly to have exercised a right, in
exchange for a share in the operatmg profits or net sales in the U.S. of any new .products developed under the
agreement tol purchase our interest in each such product

Concurrent wrth the orrgmal collaboratron agreement we also entered into an expressron technology
license agreement wrth Genentech (for a proprietary gene expressxon technology developed by us) and a
preferred stock purchase agreement provrdmg for certain .equity investments in us by Genentech (see
Note 12— Shareholders Equity). : . ) .

Under the terms of separate agreements with Genentech, commer¢ialization of RITUXAN outside the
U.S. is the responsrbthty of Roche, except inJapan’ where it ‘copromotes' RITUXAN in collaboration with
Zenyaku, We receive royalties from-Genentech on sales by'Roche and Zenyaku of RITUXAN outside the
USs, except m Canada Royaltles on sales of RITUXAN in Canada are received directly from Roche (and
are mcluded in, revenues, from unconsolidated joint busmess arrangement in the accompanying consolidated
statements of 1ncome) Under our amended and restated collaborative: agreement with Genentech, we will
receive lower royalty revenue from Genentech on sales by Roche and Zenyaku of new anti-CD20 products and
only for the ﬁrst eleven years from the date of ﬁrst commercxal sale of such new anti-CD20 products

. Dunng 2003 we purchased certam clinical data frorn Roche related to RITUXAN supporting potential
label expansion.. Addltlonally, in 2003, Genentech and IDEC agreed that payments were owed to Columbia
University for, royaltres related to past sales of RITUXAN'i in the U.S, As a result, we recognized $2.6 million
in royalty: payments”and $0 5 mtlhon in interest charges related to these royalties.

Total revenues frorn unconsolidated )omt business for the years ended December 31 consist of the
following ;(in thousands) . o

SR o o U 2004 , 2003 2002

Coprdmotron proﬁ'ﬁs S R S S ... $457.025 ° $419,197  $324,498
Re1mbursement of sellmg and development expenses.'.‘ ..... p 37,710 18,400 15,879
Royalty revenue on sales of RITUXAN outs1de the US. ... ' 121 008 67,869 45,432
RITUXAN clmlcal data;purchased from Roche . b — (9,353) R
Columbiai patenttiroyalty'and interest payment ..... i, == (3,064) —

o | $615,743 . $493,049° §$385,809
11 Commltments and Contmgencres ,. S CEREE B
. A b "\‘ K % . ' 1 . vl

We' rent laboratory and office space and certam equ1prnent under noncancellable operating leases The
rental expense under these leases, which terminate at various dates through 2015, amounted to $35.4 million
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in 2004, $12.9 million in 2003, and $9.8 million in 2002. The lease agreements contain various clauses for
renewal at our qption and, in certain cases, ‘escalation clauses linked generally to rates of inflation.

At December, 31, 2004, minimum annual rental commitments under noncancellable leases were as
follows (in thousands):

Year

2005 L e e i $ 28,111
2006 . . e e 20,931
200 e e 19,193
2008 . e e e 15,366
2000 L e e e 12,448
TRETEAtEr . I ittt et 37,577
Total minimum lease péyments .............................................. $133,626

In August 2004, we restarted construction of our large-scale biologic manufacturing facility in Hillerod,
Denmark to be used to manufacture TYSABRI and other products in our pipeline. The cost of the project is
estimated to be $372.0 million. As of Décember 31, 2004, we had committed approximately $129 million to
the project, of which $17.3 million has been paid. We expect this facility to be substantially complete in 2007
and available for commercial production in 2008. As of March 31, 2005, we determined that we would no
longer proceed with the fill-finish component of our large-scale biologic manufacturing facility in Hillerod. As
a result, we expect to write-off in the first quarter of 2005 to research and development expense approximately
$6.5 million of engineering costs which had previously been capitalized.

In June 2004, we commenced construction to add additional research facilities and administrative space
to one of our existing buildings in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The cost of the project is estimated to be
$65.0 million. As of December 31, 2004, we had committed approximately $29.0 million to the project, of
which $18.5 million had been paid. The project is expected to be substantially complete in late 2005.

In September 2001, we purchased approximately 42.6 acres of land in San Diego, California for
approximately $31.7 million in cash where we are building a consolidated research and development and
administration campus. We have substantially completed construction and took occupancy in the building in
the fourth quarter of 2004. The estimated total cost of the project is $169.0 million. As of December 31, 2004,
we have committed approximately $168.0 million to the construction of these facilities, of which $167.0 mil-
lion has been paid.

In September 2000, we purchased a 60-acre site in Oceanside, California for approximately $18.9 million
in cash. In December 2002, we purchased an additional 27 acres of land at the Oceanside site for $7.9 million.
We are building a large-scale manufacturing facility at this location, which we anticipate using to manufacture
TYSABRI and other commercial products. We have completed construction of this facility and obtained the
certificate of occupancy in the fourth quarter of 2004. Commissioning and validation is expected to continue
through 2005. We expect the facility to be licensed in 2006. Including start-up costs, total costs of this facility
upon completion are estimated to be $480.0 million. As of December 31, 2004, we have committed
approximately $413.0 million to the construction of this large-scale manufacturing facility, of which
$388.4 million has been paid.

In May 1999, we entered into an arrangement with MDS (Canada) Inc., MDS Nordion Division,
successor to MDS Nordion Inc., or MDS (Canada), under which MDS (Canada) agreed to supply us
yttrium-90, a radioisotope used in connection with administering ZEVALIN. MDS (Canada) initially
supplied product for use in the ZEVALIN clinical trials. In anticipation of commercial launch of ZEVALIN,
we subsequently determined that  additional commercial production capacity for yttrium-90 would be
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necessary. ‘To obtain.a commitment from MDS (Canada) that sufficient commercial supply would be
available, we' agreed to minimum purchase commitments of $55.0 million, and to make periodic cash
payments’ totaling $25.0 million into an escrow account. The. supply agreement was amended in November
2001 to glve effect'to these mutual commitments.

In December 2003 in lrght of the reduced expeetatrons for ZEVALIN sales levels we agreed to release
the $250 million of escrowed funds to MDS (Canada), and MDS (Canada) agreed to eliminate the
minimum, purchase comm1tments from the- supply arrangement. MDS (Canada)’s obligation to supply
yttnum 90 remams in effect. We are amortizing the prepayment over the economic life of the agreement.

On March 2, 2005 we, along with William H. Rastetter, out Executive Chairman, and J ames C. Mullen,
our Chief Executrve Officer, were named as defendants in a purported class'action lawsuit, captioned Brown v.
Biogen Idec Inc., et al., filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts. The complaint
alleges violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder The action is purportedly brought on behalf of all purchasers of our publicly-traded
securities between February 18, 2004 and February 25, 2005. The plarntlﬁ' alleges that the defendants made
matenally false and mlsleadrng statements regardrng potentially serious side effects of TYSABRI i in order to
gain accelerated approval from the FDA for the product’s distribution and sale. The plaintiff alleges that these
matenally false and m1slead1ng statements harmed the purported class ‘by.artificially inflating our stock price
durmg the purported class period and that company insiders benefited personally from the inflated price by
selling ‘our stock. The plamtrff seeks unspecified .damages, as well as interest, cost and attorneys’ fees. A
substantrally similar action, captioned Grill v. Biogen Idec Inc., et al., was filed on March 10, 2005 in the same
court by another purported class representative. We believe that.the actions are without merit and intend to
contest them vrgorously At this stage of litigation, we cannot make any estlmate of a potential loss or range of
loss.

On March 4, 2005 a purported shareholder denvatlve actron captroned Halpern V. Rastetter et al., was
filed in the Court of Chancery for the State of Delaware, in New Castle County, on our behalf of Biogen Idec
Inc., against us as nominal defendant, our Board of Directors and our former general counsel. The plaintiff
derivatively. ¢laims breaches of fiduciary duty by the Board .of Directors for inadequaté oversight of our
policies; ' practices,” Controls' and assets; and for recklessly .awarding iéxecutive bonuses despite alleged
awareness:of ;potent’ially» serious side effects of TYSABRI and the potential for related harm to our financial
position: iThe plaintiff also derivatively claims that our Executive -Chairman, former general counsel and a
directorimisappropriated confidential company information for personal profit by selling our stock while in
possession of ‘material, non-public information regarding the potentially serious side effects of TYSABRI, and
alleges that-our, Board of Directors did not ensure that appropriate policies were in place regarding the control
of confidential information and personal-trading in our securities by officers and directors. The plaintiff seeks
unspecified damages; profits, the return of all bonuses paid by wus, costs and attorneys’ fees. A substantially
similar action, captioned Golaine v. Rastetter, et al, was filed on March 14, 2005 in the same court. Neither of
the plaintiffs made: presuit demand on our Board of Directors prior to filing their respective actions. As
required: by applicable law, we and our Board of Directors are considering the derivative claims in the
complaints and will respond in a time and manner consistent with applicable Delaware statutory and common
law. These purported derivative actions did not seek affirmative relief from the company:

On March 9, 2005 two addrtronal purported shareholder denvatrve actrons captioned Carmona v,
Mullen et al. and Fink v. Mullen et al., were brought in the Supenor Court of the State of California, County
of San Diego, on our behalf, against us as nominal defendant, our Board of Directors and our chief financial
officer. The plaintiffs derivatively claim breach of fiduciary duties, abuse of control, gross mismanagement,
waste of corporate :assets and unjust enrichment against all defendants. The plaintiffs also derivatively claim
insider : selling "in- violation of California Corporations Code § 25402 and' breach: of . fiduciary duty and
misappropriation of information against certain defendants who, sold ouf securities during the period of
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February 18, 2004 to the date of the complaints. The plaintiffs allege that the defendants caused and/or
allowed us to issue, and conspired, aided and abetted and acted in concert in concealing that we were issuing,
false and misleading press releases about the safety of TYSABRI and its financial prospects which resulted in
legal claims being asserted against us, irreparable harm to our corporate image, depression of our stock price
and impairment of our ability to raise capital. The plaintiffs also allege that certain defendants sold personally
owned shares of our stock while in possession of material, undisclosed, adverse information. The plaintiffs seek
unspecified damages, treble damages for the purported insider trading in violation of California Corporate
Code § 25402, equitable relief including restriction of the defendants’ trading proceeds or other assets,
restitution, disgorgement and costs, including attorneys’ fees and expenses. Neither of the plaintiffs made
presuit demand on our Board of Directors prior to filing their respective actions. As required by applicable law,
we and our Board of Directors are considering the derivative claims in the complaints and will respond in a
time and manner consistent with applicable statutory and common law. These purported derivative actions did
not seek affirmative relief from the company.

Our Board of Directors has received letters, dated March 1 and 15, 2005, respectively, on behalf of
purported owners of our securities purportedly constituting demands under Delaware law. A supplement to the
March 1 letter was received on March 2, 2005. The letters generally allege that certain of our officers and
directors breached their fiduciary duty to us by selling personally held shares our securities while in possession
of material, non-public information about potential serious side effects of TYSABRI. The letters generally
request that our Board of Directors take action on our behalf to recover compensation and profits from the
officers and directors, consider enhanced corporate governance controls related to the sales of securities by
insiders, and pursue other such equitable relief, damages, and other remedies as may be appropriate. As
required by applicable law, our Board of Directors is currently cons1der1ng the letters and will respond in a
time and manner consistent with Delaware law.’

We are providing information to the SEC regarding the SEC’s informal inquiry into the suspension of
marketing and commercial distribution of TYSABRI and tradlng in our securities by certain of our directors,
officers and employees.

On July 15, 2003, Biogen, Inc. (now Biogen Idec MA, Inc., one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries), along
with Genzyme Corporation and Abbott Bioresearch Center, Inc., filed suit against The Trustees of Columbia
University in the City of New York, or Columbia, in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts,
contending that we no longer have any obligation to pay royalties to Columbia on sales of our products under a
1993 license agreement between us and  Columbia related to U.S. Patent Nos. 4,399,216, 4,634,665, and
5,179,017, also referred to as the Original Patents, or under a newly issued patent, U.S. Patent No. 6,455,275,
also referred to as the ‘275 patent (the 2003 action). Based, in part, on the court’s subsequent finding that we
had made a strong showing that we might prevail in proving the ‘275 patent is invalid under the doctrine of
non-statutory double patenting, Columbia has since covenanted not to sue Biogen Idec MA, Inc. on any claim
of the ‘275 patent and any claim that is the same or substantially the same as the claims of the ‘275 patent if
such claim(s) emerge from the reexamination or reissue proceedings currently pending before the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office, or USPTO, with respect to the ‘275 patent. As a result of Columbia’s covenant not to
sue, and Columbia’s assertion that Biogen Idec MA, Inc. is a licensee in good standing, the court issued an
order on November 5, 2004, in which it dismissed Biogen Idec MA Inc.’s claims for declaratory retief for lack
of subject matter jurisdiction. At this tlme we are unable to predict whether any claims will issue from the
USPTO on the reexamination or reissue proceedings concerning the 275 patent, or whether, 1f any claims do
issue, such claims will pose a risk of 1nfnngcment with respect to our activities.

On September 17, 2004, Biogen Idec Inc Biogen Idec MA, Inc., and Genzyme Corporation, filed suit
against Columbia in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts (the 2004 action). In the 2004
action we reasserted some of the contentions made in our complaint in the action filed in 2003 action. For
example, that we are seeking a declaratory judgment that we have no obligation to pay any further royalties
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under the hcense agreement because the Original Patents have expired and the 275 patent is invalid and
unenforceable and. that Columbia should be permanently enjoined from demanding any further royalties
based on the' ‘275 patent or on any pending continuations, continuations-in-part, or divisional applications of
the Original Patents, We have also asserted claims for relief based on abuse of process, breach of contract,
violation :of Massachusetts laws concerning unfair and: deceptive trade practices, prosecution laches and
inequitable, conduct To date, Columbia has refused to extend its covenant not to sue on the 275 patent to
Biogen:Idec Inc. In the event that we are unsuccessful in‘ the present litigation and Columbia asserts a claim
for infringement against Biogen Idec Inc., we may be liable for damages suffered by Columbia with respect to
unpaid, royaltles and’such other relief as Columbia may seek and be granted by the Court. At this stage of the
htlgatton we; cannot make any estimate of a potential loss or range of loss:

On August 10 2004 Classen Immunotheraples Inc filed suit against us, GlaxoSmlthKhne Chiron
Corporanon Merck & Co., Inc., and Kaiser-Permanente, Inc., in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Maryland, contendmg that we induced infringement of U.S. patents 6,420,139, 6,638,739, 5,728,385, and
5,723,283, all of which:are directed to various methods of immunization or determination of immunization
schedules. The mducement of infringement claims are based on allegations that we prov1ded instructions
and/or recommendatlons on a proper immunization schedule ‘for vaccines” to other defendants who are
alleged to have d1rectly 1nfr1nged the patents at issue. We are investigating the allegations, however, we do not
believe them to be based in fact. Under our 1988 license agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, GlaxoSmithKline
is obligated to 1ndemn1fy and defend us against these claims. In the event that the nature of the claims change
such that GlaxoSmithKline is no longer obligated to indemnify and defend us and we are unsuccessful in the
present lltlgaUOIl we may be liable for damages suffered by Classen and such other relief as Classen may seek
and be granted by the court At this stage of the litigation, we cannot rnake any estimate of a potential loss of
range of loss

Along with several other major pharmaceutical and blotechnology companies, Biogen, Inc. (now Biogen
Idec MA Inc one .of our wholly-owned subsidiaries) or, in certain cases, Biogen Idec Inc., was named as a
defendant in lawsuits filed by the County of Suffolk, New York, the County of Westchester, New York, the
County of Rockland, New York, the County of Nassau, New York, the County of Onondaga, New York, the
County of Chenango, New York, the County of Erie, New York, the City of New York, and the County of
Chautauqua, New York All of the ‘cases .are pending in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Massachusetts, with, ithe exception of the Onondaga, Chenango and Chautauqua lawsuits, which are expected
to be transferred to: the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts, and the Erie lawsuit, which is
pending in the Supreme Court of the State of New York for the County of Erie. The complaints allege that
the defendants fraudulently reported the Average Wholesale Price for certain drugs for which Medicaid
provides reimbursement, also referred to as Covered Drugs; marketed and promoted the sale of Covered Drugs
10 providers“based:on\_thc providers’-ability to collect inflated payments from the government and Medicaid
beneficiaries that exceeded payments possible for competing drugs; provided financing incentives to providers
to over-prescribé Coyered Drugs or to prescribe Covered Drugs in place of competing drugs; and overcharged
Medicaid for 111ega11y mﬂated Covered Drugs reimbursements. The complaints allege violations of New York
state law..and, advance ,common law claims for unfair trade practices, fraud, and unjust enrichment, In
. addition, all of the complamts, w1th the exception of the County of Erie, allege that the defendants failed to
accurately report the “best price” on the Covered Drugs to the. Secretary of Health and Human Services
pursuant to rebate agregments entered into with the Secretary of Health and Human Services, and excluded
from thelr reportmg certain .drugs offered at discounts and other rebates that would have reduced the “best
price.’ TheySuﬁ”olk ‘Westchester, Rockland, and Nassau County complaints also claim that Biogen violated
the Racketeering Influence and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) 18 U.S.C. §1962(c). In September
2003, Biogen Jomed other named defendants in filing a motion to dismiss the Suffolk County complaint.
Biogen also! tseparately filed.a; motion on its own behalf arguing that the plaintiffs made no specific factual
allegatlons against B:ogen 1toiconnect it with the alleged scheme. In September 2004, the court, in ruling on
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defendants’ joint motion to dismiss, allowed the motion, in part, and dismissed the RICO claim, the Medicaid
best price claim, the breach of contract claim, and the common law fraud claim. The court did not dismiss the
claims brought under the New York State Medicaid and Social Services statutes, the unfair trade practices
claim, or the claim for unjust enrichment. In October 2004, the court issued a partial decision on Biogen’s
individual motion to dismiss. The court dismissed all of the state law claims against Biogen based on the
alleged failure to report best price, but deferred ruling on the fraud-based claims and ordered Suffolk County
to- produce all documents in support of its fraud-based claims. Suffolk County subsequently produced
documents in response to the court’s request and Biogen renewed its motion to dismiss. Neither Biogen nor
the other defendants have answered or responded to the other complaints, as all of the plaintiffs except Erie
County have agreed to stay the time to respond until the resolution of the pending motion to dismiss the
Suffolk County complaints. Biogen Idec intends to defend itself vigorously against all of the allegations and
claims in these lawsuits. At this stage of the litigation, we cannot make any estimate of a potential loss or
range of loss. ‘

In addition, we are involved in certain other legal proceedings generally incidental to our normal business
activities. While the outcome of any of these proceedings cannot be accurately predicted, we do not believe the
ultimate resolution of any of these existing matters would have a material adverse effect on our business or
financial condition. \ : o

12. Shareholders’ Equity

Convertible Preferred Stock: Qur convertible preferred stock, which is held solely by Genentech, is
convertible into shares of our common stock at anytime at the option of the holder. At December 31, 2003,
Genentech converted 3,000 of the Series A-2 preferred shares and 22,993 of the Series A-3 preferred shares
into approximately 1.7 million common shares.

The terms of our cqn\-/ertible‘ preferred stock and the number of issued and outstanding shares at
December 31, 2004 are as follows:

Preferred
Nonvoting Shares Liquidation
Convertible Issued and Preference Per Common
Preferred Stock Issue Date ~ Outstanding Share - Conversion

Series A-2 - August 1995 8,221 $67.00 60 shares

Stockholder Rights Plan: Effective July 26, 2001, our Board of Directors amended and restated the
termis of our stockholder rights plan, originally adopted by the Board of Directors in 1997. Under the plan, we
declared a dividend distribution of one “Right” for each outstanding share of our common stock to
stockholders of record at the close of business on August 11, 1997. Since that time, we have issued one Right
with each newly issued share of common stock. As amended, each Right, when exercisable, entitles the holder
to purchase from us one one-thousandth of a share of our Series X Junior Participating Preferred Stock at a
purchase price of $500.00. In general, under the amended and restated plan, if a person or affiliated group
acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our shares of common stock, then each Right (other than
those held by such acquiring person or affiliated group) will entitle the holder to receive, upon exercise, shares
of common stock (or, under certain circumstances, a combination of securities or other assets) having a value
of twice thé underlying purchase price of the Right. In addition, if following the announcement of the
existence of an acquiring person or affiliated group we are involved in a business combination or sale of 50% or
more of our assets or earning power, each Right {other than those held by the acquiring person or affiliated
group) will entitle the holder to receive, upon exercise, shares of common stock of the acquiring entity having
a value of twice the underlying purchase price of the Right. The Board of Directors also has the right, after an
acquiring person or affiliated group is identified, to cause each Right to be exchanged for common stock or
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substitute conslderatfbn ‘We:may redeem the Rights at a price of $0.001: per Right prior to the identification of
an acqmnng person or afﬁhated group. The Rights exp1re on July 26, 2011.

. ‘.\Hr.

Stock Opuon Plans ‘We currently have five stock optron plans,

Dzrectors Plan e ‘

We malntaln the 1993 Non-Employee D1rect0rs Stock Optlon Plan; or the Directors Plan. Options
granted: annually under the Directors Plan have a term of up to ten years and vest one year from the date of
grant. Opt1ons granted to directors upon their appointment or election to the Board of Directors have a term of

up to ten years and vests over four years from the date of grant. The options are exercisable at a price per share
not less than the “‘fair market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. As of December 31,
2004, the aggregate number of shares authorized for issuance under the Directors Plan was 3.1 million shares.

Ommbus Plan

We mamtarn thel 2003 Omnibus Equlty Plan or the Ommbus Plan Awards granted from the Omnibus
Plan may mclude optlons "shares of restricted stock, shares of phanfom stock, stock bonuses, stock
apprecratron nghts \and-other awards in such amounts and with such terms and conditions subject to the
provisions ‘of the Plan, Options granted under the plan have a term of up to ten years and are exercisable at a
price per share not less than' the fair market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. At
December 31, 2004 the maximum number of shares of Common Stock reserved for i issuance under the
Omnibus’ Plan was 17 4 million shares.

Other Plans

We also marntarnw the 1988 Stock Optlon Plan, the B1ogen Inc. 1985 Non-Qualrﬁed Stock Option Plan
and the Brogen Inc. 1987 Sc1ent1ﬁc Board Stock Option Plan, We have not issued any shares from these plans
since the Merger and do not 'intend to issue any shares from these plans in.the, future. Under the 1998 Stock
Option Plan optlons for the purchase of our common stock were granted to key employees (including oﬂicers)
and directors. Optrons were |designated - as incentive stock: options or as nonqualified :stock options and
generally vest over four, years, except undef a provision of this plan which, under certain circumstances, allows
accelerated: vesting due, to change in control events, Options under this plan, which have a term of up to ten
years, are exerc1sable ata pnce per share flot less than the fair.market value of the underlying common stock
on the date ‘of grant Optrons under the plans assumed from Biogen, Inc. were granted at no less than 100% of
the fair market value on the date of grant. These options generally' are exercisable over various periods,
typically 4 to 7 years for employees and 3 years for directors and former scientific board members, and have a
maxrmurn term of 10 years.
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A summary of stock option activity is presented in the following table (shares are in thousands):’

All Option Plans
Weighted

Average
Exercise
Shares Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2001 ............... PR - 19,978 -21.83
CGTANEEA . . e e 4964 . - 52.49
Exercised............... e . S, (3,015) 6.58
Cancelled .......... FE T __(814) _44.02
Outstanding at December 31,2002 .. ... ..., 21,113 . $30.36
Granted . . .. e e e 4,872 34.29
Granted to Biogen, Inc employees (including 11.5 million vested options) .. 20,728 37.56
EXerCiSea . . oo e e (2,254) 9.04
Cancelled ................ (936)  46.08
Qutstanding at December 31,2003 ...... ... ... . .ol . 43,523  $35.01
Granted .......o.iii T P 7,054 46.27
Exercised........coiiii i e S ~o (12,263) 21.28
Cancelled .. ... i e e {3,191) 45.98
Outstanding at December 31,2004 ................... G 35,123 $41.07

The following table summarizes combined information about options outstanding under all our stock
option plans as of December 31, 2004 (shares are in thousands):

Options Qutstanding ‘ Options Exercisable
Weighted

Average Weighted . . Weighted
Remaining Average ) Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices - Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
$0.00—$10.00 ... ............. 2,183 319§ 651 2,183 $ 651
10.01 — 2000 ............... .. 1,950 2.13 15.09 1,944 15.08
2001 — 3000 ....... ... ..., 1,036 5.55 25.21 876 - 24.86
3001 — 4000 ................. 10,251 7.08 35.55 5,995 35.68
40.01 — 5000 ................. 11,869 7.75 45.60 6,155 46.40
5001 — 6000 ................. 4,299 6.78 55.58 2,930 55.25
60.01 — 7000 ................. 3,367 6.51 64.00 2,562 64.03
Over 7000 ......... ... itt, 168 4.80 74.74 160 74.71
Total ..o 35,123 6.64 $41.07 22,805  $39.58

At December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, options to purchase 22.8 million, 28.3 million, and 13.3 million
shares, respectively, were exercisable at weighted average exercise prices of $39.58, $30.88, and $19.26 per
share, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan: We also maintain the 1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or the
Purchase Plan. As of December 31, 2004, a total of 0.5 million shares of our common stock were available for
issuance. Under the terms of the Purchase Plan, employees can elect to have up to ten percent of their annual
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compensation withheld to purchase shares .of our common stock. The purchase price of the common stock is
at 85 percent of the lower of the fair market value of the common stock at the enrollment or purchase date.
Dunng‘ 2004, 2003’ and 2002, 0.4 million, 0.2 million and 0 1 million shares respectrvely, were 1ssued under the
Purchase Plan
Cot g s . S N .

Restrzcted Stock Awards: In 2004, we granted a total of 1.3 million shares of restricted common stock to
employees under our 2003 Omnibus Equity Plan. The restricted stock will vest 100% three years from the
grant date, provided the employee remains continuously employed with us. During the vesting period,
shareholders have full voting rights, even though the restricted stock remains subject to transfer restrictions
and w111 generally be forféited upon termination of employment prior to vesting. Approximately 0.1 million
grants have béen forfeited as of December 31,2004 due to employee terminations. At December 31, 2004,
deferred stock based compensation related to restricted stock was $35.1 million and was included in
shareholders equrty For 2004 we recorded $15.9. mrllron of stock compensation charges related to the
restrrcted stock

. . . L LI v v
R o ‘ . P Ty !

Stock ‘Re‘purchds'é Programs:

In February 2004, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 12.0 million shares of our
common stock. During 2004, we repurchased all 12.0 million shares at a cost of $698.4 million, completing
this program. The repurchased stock provided us with treasury shares to be used for general corporate
purposes such as common “stock to be 1ssued under employee equrty and stock pufchase plans

~In October 2004 our Board of Directors authonzed the repurchase of up to 20.0 million shares of our
common stock. The repurchased stock will provide us with'treasury shares for general corporate purposes,
such as common stock to be issued under our employee equity and stock purchase plans. This repurchase
program wrll exprre no- later than October 4, 2006. During the fourth quartcr of 2004, we repurchased
0.6 mrllron shares at a cost of $36.0 million. Approxrmately 19.4 million shares remain' authorized for
repurchase under thrs program at December 31, 2004 In. the ﬁrst _quarter of 2005, we repurchased
approxrmately 3.5 rmlllon shares under this program at a cost of $168.5 million.

13. Segment Informatron
ﬂ IR A

We operate in‘one-segment, which is the business of development, manufacturing and commercialization
of novel therapeutics for human health care. Our chief operating decisiori-makers review our operating results
on an aggregate basis and manage our operations as a single operating segment. We currently have five
commercial products: AVONEX and TYSABRI for the treatment of relapsing MS, RITUXAN and
ZEVALIN, both’of whrch treat certain B-cell non- Hodgkin’s lymphomas, or B-cell NHLs, and AMEVIVE
for the’ treatment of adult patrents wrth moderate-to-severe chromc plaque psoriasis who are candidates for
systemlc therapy‘or phototherapy We. also receive revenues from royalt1es on sales by our licensees of a
number of products covered under patents that we control mcludmg sales of RITUXAN outside the
U.s. Revenues are pnmarrly attributed from extemal customers to 1ndrv1dual countnes where earned based on

locatron of the customer or lrcensee

ot ”,rrH.
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Our geographic information is as follows (table in thousands):

December 31, 2004 ‘ Us Europe Asia Other Total
Product revenues from éxtemal ‘

CUSTOTIETS . o\ v vt ee e e ennns $ 986,050 $406,898 $ — $ 93,396 $1,486,344
Revenues from upconsolidated joint o :
~ ‘business-. . ... PP e - $ 494,735 $121,008 § — § — § 615,743
Royalty revenues from external . o
' Acustdmers ................... U008 61,957 $ 25389 $10,584 $ 1,015 $ 98,945
'C'orporate partner revenues e $ . 530 $10000 $§ — 3 — $ 10,530
Long-lived assets............. e $6,645,692 $433,895 $ 1,569 $153,558 $7,234,714

In 2004, we recorded revenue from one specialty distributor and three wholesale distributors accounting
for a total of 17%, 17%, 16%, and 14% of total product revenue. Approximately 28%, 73%, and 95% of our total
revenues in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively, are derived from our joint business arrangement with
Genentech (see Note 10). ‘

14. Severance Obligations

In 2004 and 2003, we accrued $2.3 million and $10.2 million, respectively, of restructuring costs related
to the relocation of our European headquarters, in selling, general and administrative expense. During 2004,
we made payments of $11.5 million related to this relocation obligation. At December 31, 2004, we had a
remaining accrual of approximately $1.1 million related to this relocation obligation.

In 2003, we accrued $2.1 million of restructuring costs in selling, general and administrative expense
related to severance obligations for certain employees affected by the Merger in our Cambridge facilities, and
accrued an additional $1.0 million of charges in 200'4' During 2004, we made payments of $2.9 million related
to the Cambridge severance obligations and, at December 31 2004, we had a remalmng accrual of
approximately $0.2 million.

During 2004, we recorded charges of $4.4 million in selling, general and administrative expense related to
severance obligations for certain employees affected by the Merger in our San Diego facilities. During 2004,
we made payments of $4.0 million related to the San Diego restructuring obligations and, at December 31,
2004, we had a remaining accrual of approximately $0.4 million.

15. Guarantees

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an
interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34", or
FIN No. 45. FIN No. 45 elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim and annual
finanicial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. It also requires that a
guarantor recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value ‘of certain guarantees. The
initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 are applicable on a prospective basis to
guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002, Since January 1, 2003, we have not issued or modified
any guarantees as defined by FIN No. 45.

We enter into indemnification provisions under our agreements with other companies in the ordinary
course of business, typically with business partners, contractors, clinical sites and customers. Under these
provisions, we generally indemnify and hold harmless the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by
the indemnified party as a result of our activities. These indemnification provisions generally survive
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termination 10f -the ‘underlyl_ng -agreement. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could. be
required to make under these indemnification provisions is unlimited, However, to date we have not incurred
matenal costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification provisions. As a result, the
estlmated fa1r value of these agreernents is m1n1mal Accordmgly, we have no habllmes recorded for ‘these

agreements as of December 31, 2004 Han

16. Qliargerly Elnancial‘Data (Unaﬂdited) g

HER ) _First ~ ,, Second Thrrd ] Fourth K ,
. ' Quarter  Quarter " Quarter Quarter . Total Year

K ‘ ' " " (In thousands, except per share amounts)

‘ g yob o
2004 O o .

 Total fevenuies ... .......... L. $541,742 8538763 $543276 $ 587,781 $2,211,562
: Product revenué | e e 372,537 363,186 359,692 390,929 1,486,344
Royaltles revenue ...... e 25,213 24,297 123860 25,575 98,945
- Total expenses and taxes ...... 1. .. 594,666 544,349 ' 504,935 563,203 2,207,153
Other i 1ncome (expense), net........ 11,726 6,413 3 (1,573) 4,111 20,677
Net'income (loss) .......... A ©(41,198) 827 . -"’36‘,768 28,689 . 25,086
Basic ¢arnings (loss) per share ... ... - (0.12) 000 S0 - 0.09 0.07
Drlu‘ted earnlngs (loss) per share ... (012) } 000 010 1 0.08 0.07
L2003 : ‘ R ‘ T
“Total revenues ,..,.............. .. $117,246$123,562. $138,530, $ 299,845 $§ 679,183
. Eroduc,t revenue ..... e 5,663 , - L4980 . 4,427 156,491 . 171,561
Royalties revenue ............ S Co— = — 12,010 12,010
Total expenses and taxes ........... 79,356 98,049 ' 95016 1,270,904 1,543,325
Other:income- (expense), net........ .. 3,310 3,253 - 1,986 (19,504)-  (10,955)
i+ Net i 1ncome (loss) .o e © 41,200 28,766 " 45,500 (990,563)  (873,097)
' Basi¢ earmngs (loss) per share .. .... - 0. 27 019 - 029 (4.03) (4.92)
Dlluted earmngs (loss) per share o 0.24 o017 Y 0,%6 (4.03) ' (4.92)

17. New Accountmg Pronouncements

EITF 03-01, “The Meaning of Other-Than- Temporary Impalrment and Its Application to Certain
Investments,” was issued in February 2004. EITF 03-01 stipulates disclosure requirements for investments
with unrealized losses that have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impairments. We have complied
with the’ d1sclosure provisions of EITF 03-01..In September 2004, the FASB staff issued two proposed FASB
Staff Pos1t1ons ‘Proposed FSP EITF Issue 03-01-a, which prov1des guidance for the application of para-
graph;16 of; EITF Issue 03-01 to debt securities that are 1mpa1red because of interest rate and/or sector spread
increases, -and Proposed FSP EITF Issue 03-01-b; which delays the effec_nve date of Issue 03-01 for debt
securities that are impaired because of interests rate and/or sector spread increases. We are currently
monitoring“these developments and assessing the impact these will have on our results of operations.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS 123(R), “Share-
Based Payments,”! twhich replaces FASB Statement No.: 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and
supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123 (R) will require all
share<based. payments'to; employees, .including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the
statement of operations based on their fair values. SFAS 123(R) will be effective for public companies for
fiscal periods beginning after June 15,2005, and offers alternative methods for determining the fair value. We
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expect that SFAS 123(R) will have a significant impact on our financial statements. At the present time, we
have not yet determined which valuation method we will use. -

The FASB has proposed amending SFAS 128, “Earnings per Share,” to make it consistent with

" International Accounting Standard 33, “Earnings per Share”, and make earning per share, or EPS,

computations comparable on a global basis. Under the proposed amendment, the year-to-date EPS
computation would be performed independently from the quarterly computations. Additionally, for all
contracts that may be settled in either cash or shares of stock, companies must assume that settlement will
occur by the issuance of shares for purposes of computing diluted EPS, even if they intend to settle by paying
cash or have a history of cash-only settlements, regardless of who controls the means of settlement. Lastly,
under the proposed amendment, shares that will be issued upon conversion of a mandatory convertible security
must be included in the weighted-average number of shares outstanding used in computing basic EPS from
the date that conversion becomes mandatory, using the if-converted method; regardless of whether the result
is anti-dilutive. The proposed amended standard is expected to be issued during the first quarter of 2005.
Retrospective application in all periods presented would be required, and could require the restatement of
previously reported EPS. We do not expect the provisions of the amended SFAS 128 will have a significant
impact on our results of operations. ‘

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 151, “Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4,” which amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the
accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material
(spoilage). This Statement amends ARB 43, Chapter 4, to clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period
charges. In addition, this Statement requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of
conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The provisions of this Statement shall
be effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. We do not expect
the provisions of SFAS 151 will have a significant impact on our results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 153, “Exchanges of Non-Monetary assets, an amendment of
APB Opinion No. 29,” which eliminates the exception from fair value measurement for nonmonetary
exchanges of similar productive assets in paragraph 21(b) of APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for
Nonmonetary Transactions,” and replaces it with an exception for exchanges that do not have commercial
substance. This Statement specifies that a nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash
flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. The provisions of this
Statement shall be effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after
June 15, 2005, We do not expect the provisions of SFAS 153 will have a significant impact on our results of

operations.

In December 2004, the FASB reached consensus on EITF 1Issue No. 02-14, “Whether an Investor
Should Apply the Equity Method of Accounting to Investments Other Than Common Stock,” which requires
an investor that has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the
investee to apply the equity method of accounting only when it has an investment(s) in common stock and/or
an investment that is in-substance common stock. The Task Force also reached a consensus on the definition
of in-substance common stock and related guidance. The provisions of EITF 02-14 are effective for reporting
periods beginning after September 15, 2004, and have not had any impact on our accounting for investments
as of December 31, 2004.

EITF No. 04-01, “Accounting for Preexisting Relationships between the Parties to a Business Combina-
tion,” the EITF reached a consensus that the consummation of a business combination between parties with a
preexisting relationship should be evaluated to determine if a settlement of a preexisting relationship exists,
thus requiring accounting separate from the business combination. Under EITF 04-01, the acquisition of a
right that'the acquiring entity had previously granted to the acquired entity to use the acquirer’s recognized or

F-48




, BIOGEN IDEC INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
' NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

unrecognized intangible assets (for example, rights to the acquirer’s trade name under a franchise agreement
or rights to the acquirer’s technology under a technology licensing agreement) should be included as part of
the, business combination and recorded by the acquiring entity as an intangible asset at fair value. If the
contract g1v1ng rise to the reacqulred right includes terms that are favorable or unfavorable when compared to
pricing (for example, royalty rates) for current market transactions for the same or similar items, an entity
should measure a. settlement gain or loss as the lesser of (a) the amount by which the;contract is favorable or
unfavorable to market terms from the perspective of the: acquirer or (b) the stated settlement provisions of the
contract available to the counterparty to which the contract is unfavorable. EITF 04-01 is effective for all
business combinations consummated and goodwill 1mpa1rmcnt tests (i.e., in step 2 of the impairment test)
performcd In reportlng periods beginning after October 13, 2004. The provisions of EITF 04-01 have not 'had
any s1gn1ﬁcant impact on our results of operations in 2004.

18. Subsequent Event

In March 2005 we recelved FDA approval for a new pre-filled syringé formulation 'of AVONEX, which
had previously received EMEA approval. As a result of the FDA approval, we expect to write-down between
$6 million and $8 million of the remaining inventory of the older formulation, related to the FDA approval and
which w111 no longer bc available for commercial sale. ThlS write- down will be tecorded during the first quarter
of 2005.

As of March 31; 2005, we determined that we would no longer proceed w1th the ﬁll finish component of
our large-scale ‘biclogic manufacturing facility i m Hillerod. As a result, we expect to write-off in the first
quarter of 2005 to research and development expense approximately $6.5 million of engineering costs which
had prev10usly been capltahzed
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< ‘ ‘ SCHEDULE I
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
' : Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

‘ Balance at

Beginning Other Balance at

Description of Year Additions Additions (1) Deductions End of Year
’ . (In thousands) :
Allowance for Doubtful accounts(2) :
Year Ended December 31, 2004 ......... $ 2074 § — 5 — $ — $ 2,074
Year Ended December 31,2003 ......... $ 361 $ 2277 $ — $ ,565 $ 2,074
Year Ended December 31,2002 ........ 3 — 3 361 N J— $ — $ 361
Sales Returns & Allowances, Discounts,
and Rebates(3)

Year Ended December 31, 2004 . ........ $20,756  $188,525  J— $175,473 $33,808
Year Ended December 31, 2003 ......... $ 371 $ 14,729 $18,816 $ 13,161 $20,756

Year Ended December 31, 2002 ......... $ 99 3 767 $ — $ 495 $ 371

(1) As a 'rcsult-' of the merger, we assumed sales returns and allowances, discounts and rebates of
$18.8 million from Biogen, Inc. as of the Merger date.

(2) Additions to allowance for doubtful accounts are recorded as an expense.

(3) Additions to sales returns and allowances, discounts, and rebates are recorded as a reduction of revenue.




I ,‘ s ~Reéport of Independent Registered Public Accountlng Flrm
To the' Board of D1rectors and Shareholders of Blogen Idec Inc.: ‘

We have completed an 1ntegrated audit of Biogen Idec Inc.’s 2004 consohdated ﬁnanc1al statements and
of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and audits of its 2003 consolidated
financial statements in accordance w1th the standards of the Public Company Accountmg Oversrght Board
(Umted States) Our op1n1ons based on our audlts are presented below '

G0

Consolidated iﬁnancial statements and Financial Statement Schedule’

In our.¢pinion; the: consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15a.(1)
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Biogen Idec Inc. and ifs subsidiaries at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years
in the penod ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of Amenca In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the index
appearing'’ under Item 15a.(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when
read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

" Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance ‘about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial
statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluatmg the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opmxon

Internal control over ﬁnancnal reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in the accompanymg “Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,” that the Company maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO0), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
COSO. The Company s Tanagement is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal conttol over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over
financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An
audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness’ of int'ernal\ control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the
circumstances.' We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s ‘internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance reg‘arding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(ii) prov1de reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
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the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 31, 2005
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" . g . Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Dlrectors and Stockholders of Biogen Idec Inc.:

We have audlted the accompanying consolidated statements of -income, stockholders’ equlty, and cash
flows for;Biogen: Idec, In¢. and subsidiaries (formerly known‘as IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation) for the
yeat.ended December 31, 2002. In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we have
also audltcd the: consohdated financial statement schedule for the year ended December 31, 2002, as listed in
the :accompanying . ‘index. These consolidated financial statements and consolidated financial statement
schedule. arej the respon51b1hty of the Company’s management. Our responSIblhty is to express an opinion on
these consohdated financial statements and schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audlt in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accountmg Oversight
Board' (Unltcd States) Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test bas1s evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also 1ncludes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluatmg the overall financial statement presentatlon We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opmlon

In our op1n1on the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects,. the. results of operations and cash flows of IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation and subsidiaries for
the year ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in

-our opinion; the! related consolidated financial statement. schedule when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated ﬁnaneial statements taken as a whole presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein. :

/s KPMG LLP

San Diego, California
January 29, 2003
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3
(No. 333-89792), Registration Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-107098) and Registration Statements on
Form S-8 (Nos.-333-97211, 333-106794, 333-65494, 333-47904, 333-81625, 333-110432 and 333-110433) of
Biogen Idec.Inc. of our report dated March 29, 2005 relating to the financial statements and financial
statement schedule, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

PWMLLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 31, 2005




Exhibit 23.2

* Consent of Independent Registefed Public Accounting Firm

The Board: of Dlrectors and Shareholders
Biogen Idec Inc

We consent Jto 1ncorporat10n by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-110432, 333-110433,
333- 106794 1333- 97211 :333-65494, 333-47904 and 333- 81625) on Form S-8, in the registration statement
(No. 333- 107098) on Form S-4 and in the reglstratlon statement (No. 333- 89792) on Form S-3 of Idec
Pharmaceuticals : Corporatlon and subsidiaries of our report dated January 29, 2003, relatlng to the
consohdated statements ofi incorme, shareholders’ equity and cash flows of Biogen Idec Inc. and subsidiaries for
the year ended December 31, 2002, and the related consolidated financial statement schedule, which report

appears in ‘the 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-K of Idec ]Pharmaceuncals Corporation.

i - KeMe uwp

San Diego, California
March' 31 2005 y -
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Exhibit 31.1

I, James C. Mullen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report of Biogen Idec Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

" 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; '

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted.accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/  James C. MULLEN

James C. Mullen
Chief Executive Officer and President

Date: March 31, 2005




et | Exhibit 31.2
I, Peter N. Kello‘gg,‘certify that:

1.1 have rev1ewed thrs annual report of Blogen Idec Ifc;
Rt _

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a matenal fact necessary to make the statements made, in hght of the circumstances under which such
statements were made not mlsleadrng with respect to the. perlod covered by this report;

3, Basedﬁon‘ my”knowledge the financial 'statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly presentr in all material respects the financial condition, results of operanons and cash flows of the
registrant: ‘as of and’ Jfor the periods presented in this report . B '

4. Thet regrstrant s other certrfymg officer(s) and I are responsrble for estabhshmg and maintaining
dlsclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over, ﬁnancral reporting (as deﬁned ‘in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
regrstrant and have:

. dpgs e
: a) desrgned such drsclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our superv151on to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

" b): designed- such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reportmg to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
relrabrhty of findncial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accountrng principles;

I
- c), hevaluated the effect1veness of the registrant’s drsclosure controls and procedures and presented in
.'thls Teport our,conclusrons about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the penod covered by this report based ‘on such evaluation; and
d) disclosed in this report any change 'in the registrant’s 1nternal control over financial reportmg that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the reglstrant s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
‘of an annual, report)' that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.!The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors -(or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a). all signiﬁcant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely. to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

N b)f‘any fraud,‘whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ PETER N. KELLOGG

Peter N. Kellogg ,
‘ ‘ Executive Vice President, Finance and
o ‘ Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 31, 2005




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 .
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant . to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350,
chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each of the undersigned officers of Biogen Idec Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (the “Form 10-K”) of the
Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act-of
1934, and the information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 31, 2005 /s/  JAMES C. MULLEN

James C. Mullen
Chief Executive Officer and President
[principal executive officer]

Date: March 31, 2005 | /s/ PETER N. KELLOGG

Peter N, Kellogg

Executive Vice President, Finance and
Chief Financial Officer

[principal financial officer]

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request. ‘




